

Rôles de l'autophagie dans l'homéostasie des cellules souches intestinales

Coralie Trentesaux

▶ To cite this version:

Coralie Trentesaux. Rôles de l'autophagie dans l'homéostasie des cellules souches intestinales. Hépatologie et Gastroentérologie. Université Paris Saclay (COmUE), 2018. Français. NNT : 2018SACLS361 . tel-02977151

HAL Id: tel-02977151 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02977151

Submitted on 24 Oct 2020

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





Rôles de l'autophagie dans l'homéostasie des cellules souches intestinales

Thèse de doctorat de l'Université Paris-Saclay préparée à L'Université Paris Sud

École doctorale n°582 Cancérologie, Biologie, Médecine, Santé Spécialité de doctorat: aspects moléculaires et cellulaires de la biologie

Thèse présentée et soutenue à Paris, le 23 octobre 2018, par

Coralie TRENTESAUX

Composition du Jury :	
Claude BOUCHEIX DR, Institut André Lwoff (Inserm U936)	Président
Danijela VIGNJEVIC DR, Institut Curie (CNRS UMR 144)	Rapporteur
Philippe JAY DR, Institut de Génomique Fonctionnelle (CNRS UMR 5203, Inserm U119	1) Rapporteur
Patrice CODOGNO DR, Institut Necker Enfants-Malades (Inserm U1151, CNRS UMR 8253)	Examinateur
Philippe SANSONETTI DR, Institut Pasteur (Inserm U1202)	Examinateur
Béatrice ROMAGNOLO DR, Institut Cochin (Inserm U1016)	Directeur de thèse





Role of Autophagy in Intestinal Stem Cell Homeostasis

Thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Phylosophy of the Université Paris-Saclay prepared at the Université Paris Sud

Doctoral school n°582: Oncology, Biology, Medecine, Health Thesis specialty: molecular and cellular aspects of biology

Thesis presented and defended in Paris, on the 23rd of october 2018, by

Coralie TRENTESAUX

Jury members:		
Claude BOUCHEIX DR, Institut André Lwoff (Inserm U936)		President
Danijela VIGNJEVIC DR, Institut Curie (CNRS UMR 144)		Reviewer
Philippe JAY DR, Institut de Génomique Fonctionnelle (CNRS UMR 5203, Inserm U119	91)	Reviewer
Patrice CODOGNO DR, Institut Necker Enfants-Malades (Inserm U1151, CNRS UMR 8253)		Examiner
Philippe SANSONETTI DR, Institut Pasteur (Inserm U1202)		Examiner
Béatrice ROMAGNOLO DR, Institut Cochin (Inserm U1016)	Thesis	Supervisor











"A painting is not thought out in advance. While it is being done, it changes as one's thoughts change. And when it's finished, it goes on changing, according to the state of mind of whoever is looking at it" –Pablo Picasso on *Guernica*



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Ce manuscrit représente pour moi l'occasion de mettre en valeur quatre belles années de recherche scientifique et d'apprentissage. Il représente également l'occasion de remercier toutes les personnes ayant participé à cette recherche et sans qui ce travail n'aurait pu être réalisé.

Tout d'abord je souhaiterais remercier les membres de mon jury d'avoir accepté d'évaluer mon travail de thèse. Mes rapporteurs Danijela Vignjevic et Philippe Jay, pour l'attention qu'ils ont accordé à la relecture de mon manuscrit et leurs commentaires encourageants. Mes examinateurs : Patrice Codogno, pour tout ce que j'ai pu apprendre aussi bien scientifiquement qu'humainement lors de mon Master et des dernières années. Philippe Sansonetti, je suis heureuse d'avoir eu la chance d'assister aux discussions avec vous et votre équipe au cours de ces dernières années et d'avoir à nouveau cette chance lors de ma soutenance. Claude Boucheix, c'est avec grand plaisir que je ferais votre rencontre, merci d'avoir accepté de prendre le temps d'assister à ma soutenance et d'apporter une nouvelle perspective sur mon travail.

Un énorme merci à Christine Perret, tout d'abord de m'avoir accueilli dans ton équipe mais aussi pour tout ton soutien, scientifique et autre, au cours de ces années. Tu es pour moi un véritable exemple, tu as toujours su me guider sans le rendre évident et te rendre abordable malgré tes connaissances impressionnantes.

Merci surtout à Béatrice Romagnolo, de m'avoir confié ce projet que j'ai adopté au cours des 4 dernières années mais qui est ton bébé depuis très longtemps. Je te remercie de ton encadrement, tu m'as soutenue et poussée lorsque j'en avais besoin et m'as aussi accordé ta confiance et la liberté qui m'ont permis d'avancer et prendre confiance en moi au cours de cette thèse. Merci aussi pour toutes les opportunités que tu m'as données : les congrès, les revues, l'encadrement d'étudiants, les collaborations et tous les conseils qui ont également rendu cette thèse une expérience enrichissante. Je continuerais à prendre exemple sur ta persévérance (même si je reste convaincue qu'au-delà d'un marathon, c'est de la folie), ta capacité à te lancer dans de nouveaux domaines sans hésitation, et ta passion lorsque tu parles de science et de tes idées et folies.

Merci tout particulièrement à toutes les personnes de l'équipe intestin, petite au début mais en pleine croissance, et à toute l'équipe Perret !

Marie, je l'ai déjà dit, je pense que je ne retrouverai jamais une collègue comme toi. Merci d'avoir été aussi patiente avec moi et de m'avoir accordé une seconde c**h**ance (et toutes les suivantes) malgré ma très mauvaise première impression et toutes mes bêtises. Sans toi, je ne serais clairement pas allée très loin, tu as été indispensable tout au long de ce projet : tu étais dessus bien avant que j'arrive, tu m'as formée, tu as continué à gérer une énorme partie de ce pr**o**jet en parallèle du tien et en plus de toute ton implication pour l'équipe, tu as toujours proposé ton aide même quand je n'osais pas **d**emander, tu es sans doute la seule en qui je fais c**o**nfiance sans hésiter pour les manips, et tu as souvent été la première personne que j'allais voir pour discuter

de manips et projets. J'ai aussi toujours pu compter sur toi pour me motiver quand il le fallait, ou pour partir en délire après une longue journée. En dehors de tout ça tu es une véritable amie, ta porte a toujours été ouverte que ce soit pour rigoler ou pour pleurer, tu as toujours su être juste et franche et c'est aussi pour ça que je demande beaucoup tes conseils. Il va falloir qu'on aille prendre beaucoup de verres pour que je te pardonne de m'abandonner en premier. J'ai hâte que ce soit ton tour pour que tout le monde (y compris toi même !!) se rende compte de ce dont tu es capable, et je suis sûre que tu trouveras la suite sans problème et qu'ils se rendront très vite compte aussi de tout ce que tu vaux. J'espère par-dessus tout te voir heureuse, bébé !

Julie, mes deux premières années n'auraient pas été pareil sans toi et sans tout ton travail. Il faut dire que j'ai perdu non seulement une aide indispensable mais aussi une source de rires et chansons et potins quand tu nous as quitté pour tes moutons !

Luana, je suis sûre que tu assureras la suite de ce projet qui me tient tant à cœur. Ça a été un vrai plaisir d'apprendre à te connaître ces derniers mois, je suis heureuse d'avoir encore quelques mois à tes côtés avant de devoir lâcher le bébé, je ne pouvais pas partir sans avoir eu le temps de perfectionner mon accent italien (pomodoro !).

Nadia, tu as été ma grande sœur de labo : je t'ai adorée dès le début même si tu me détestais et j'ai beaucoup pris exemple sur toi tout au long de me thèse. Grâce à toi, je me suis vite sentie intégrée et j'ai pu me faire de vrais amis à Cochin. Tu es quelqu'un de brillant, d'extrêmement gentil (même si tu te crois méchante), de bosseur, de droit dans ses baskets, tu as toujours su me reprendre quand il le fallait et j'ai toujours pu discuter ouvertement avec toi même quand on n'était pas du même avis (c'est mon esprit de contradiction ça...). Je crois que je risque de te copier jusqu'au bout, et si c'est le cas (cadanstabouche) j'espère qu'on se reverra bientôt !

Mathilde, je suis tellement **h**eureuse que tu aies rejoint notre équipe et surtout qu'on ait pu former notre super tri**o**! Tu es brillante et rigoureuse, et je suis certaine que tous ceux qui auront la chance de travailler à tes côtés s'en ren**d**ront très vite compte et que tu auras une magnifique carrière après ta thèse. Merci d'avoir gentiment ri à toutes mes blagues de papa et subi mes pétages de cable réguliers et d'être toujours prête à m'aider quand j'ai des questi**o**ns bêtes ou même juste des calculs à fai**r**e. Au-delà du côté scientifique et professionnel, la thèse nous aura permis de nous rencontrer et de devenir amies et je pense que je me souviendrai plus de ça que de tous les côtés « peineux » dans quelques années.

Sara et Shirley (le duo inséparable), je suis contente d'avoir pu partager ces 4 années de thèse avec vous du début jusqu'à la fin (± quelques mois), ça n'aurait pas été pareil sans tous les déjeuners et pauses café (très occasionnelles, bien sûr) ensembles. Sara, ça n'a pas été facile de te voir partir avant moi, mais tu es bien la preuve que de belles choses nous attendent. Shirley, à très bientôt ton tour !

Romain, heureusement que tu es là, sinon on manquerait sérieusement de testostérone !!! Mais plus sérieusement, ça a été un plaisir de travailler avec toi et d'apprendre à te connaitre ces deux dernières années, à toi de porter le flambeau des thésards intestins maintenant (oui, c'est très bizarre, mais bon, c'est dit) ...

Clément, heureusement que tu es si discret vu toutes les fois où je débarque dans votre bureau en disant des conneries ! En tout cas je suis ravie de t'avoir eu dans les parages ces derniers mois, il y a certaines scènes que je ne suis pas prête d'oublier !

Pascalette, merci pour toute ton aide et tous tes conseils, tu es une source de connaissances incroyables sur la science et sur le monde, et tu es toujours disponible pour aider les autres, quelque chose dont j'ai beaucoup bénéficié au cours des 4 dernières années. Hélène, merci pour ta gentillesse qui m'a marqué dès mon premier lab meeting et pour tous tes conseils au cours des années. Benoit Terris, d'avoir à plusieurs occasions pris le temps de regarder nos phénotypes parfois étranges et de nous avoir pointé dans la bonne direction ou réconforté dans nos idées.

Merci également à tous les stagiaires qui sont passés par notre labo, qui m'ont permis d'avancer plus vite et qui m'ont appris à apprendre aux autres !

Merci à tous les membres des plateformes de l'institut que j'ai beaucoup embêté et sur qui j'ai beaucoup compté tout au long de ce projet. Je pense notamment à HistIM, CYBIO (en particulier Emmanuelle Maillard, Karine Bailly, et Muriel Andrieu), GENOM'IC (Sébastien Jacques, Angéline Duché, Franck Letourneur), IMAG'IC (Thomas Guilbert et Valérie), la plateforme de microscopie électronique (Alain Schmitt), et un énorme merci aux animaleries de Cochin (en particulier Nadia Boussetta, JB Houille, et Christophe Dez).

Roro et Mariangela (encore un duo inoubliable), je suis tellement heureuse d'avoir partagé chaque étape de nos thèses ensembles ! Que ce soit dans le bureau de Nadia, à la formation expérimentation animale (RIP pauvre petite souris), où quelque part entre l'harmonie et l'académie, vous êtes devenues de vraies amies et j'espère qu'on continuera à partager toutes les étapes à venir !

Un énorme merci à tous les collègues et les amis qui ont pu m'aider, me soutenir, me conseiller, partager des bières, ou tout simplement rendre ces 4 dernières une aussi belle expérience au quotidien. En particuliers aux gens de la Fac : Patricia, les Colnots, les Maires, les Desdouets, les Peysonnaux, les Vaulont/Violets, les filles de la laverie et bien sûr les agents spéciaux !

Un énorme merci aux amis de l'ENS, de m'avoir obligée à avoir une vie quand même en dehors du boulot, de m'avoir fait découvrir la culture française et de véritables chef d'œuvres cinématographiques, d'avoir écouté mes histoires de souris et de caca, et d'avoir partagé cette aventure avec moi !

Antonin, je ne pourrais jamais te remercier assez pour les bactéries compétentes que tu m'as filé en deuxième année. Sans toi, je n'aurais pas pu faire la figure 1d. C'est cool, merci. Bon il faut dire que tu as aussi supporté mon stress, ma mauvaise humeur, mes nuits et weekends au labo, ma fatigue, mon stress, mon côté très légèrement psychopathe et un tout petit peu chiante, ma vaisselle sale et mon courrier qui trainent, mon stress, et tout ce qui venait avec ces six dernières années. Je suis sûre que tu serais capable de soutenir à ma place tellement tu as passé de temps à m'écouter parler de cette thèse. Et malgré le fait que tu vivais la même chose de ton côté, tu as su être l'homme le plus patient du monde et t'occuper de moi (et me faire plein de bons repas). Je ne pourrais jamais assez te remercier pour tout ce que tu fais pour moi, que ce soit me montrer comment transfecter des bactéries ou passer la soirée à regarder des séries et à rien faire ensemble. J'ai hâte de commencer notre prochaine aventure ensemble !

Finalement, je tiens à remercier ma famille, qui supportent mon stress et mon humeur depuis bien avant la thèse, et qui pourtant continuent à m'encourager et à m'offrir des peluches de souris. Et dire que j'aurais pu faire architecte ! (mercipapamamanpipitoto)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures	4
Abbreviations	5
Summary in French	11
INTRODUCTION	13
Foreword	15
CHAPTER I: Physiopathology of the Intestinal Epithelium	17
1. Structure and Function of the Intestine	19
1.1. Overview of the adult digestive system & gastrointestinal tract	19
1.2. Structural organization of the intestine	21
1.3. The Intestinal Epithelium	22
1.3.1. Enterocytes	23
1.3.2. Goblet cells	24
1.3.3. Paneth cells	25
1.3.4. Enteroendocrine cells	25
1.3.5. Tuft cells	26
1.3.6. Microfold cells	27
1.3.7. Cup cells	27
2. Intestinal stem cells and their defining niche	29
2.1. Models and markers of intestinal stem cells	29
2.1.1. Markers for crypt basal columnar cells	29
2.1.2. Markers for +4 stem cells	31
2.1.3. Progenitors as potential stem cells: plasticity in the intestinal crypt	32
2.2. Signaling pathways regulating crypt homeostasis	33
2.2.1. WNT/β-catenin signaling	33
2.2.2. Notch signaling	36
2.2.3. Hedgehog and BMP signaling	37
2.3. Organoid culture and the experimental niche	38
2.4. The intestinal stem cell niche	39
2.4.1. The epithelial niche: Paneth cells and deep crypt secretory cells	39
2.4.2. The mesenchymal niche	42
2.4.3. The microbial niche	44
2.5. Regulation of intestinal stem cell integrity	48
2.5.1. Crypt monoclonality and neutral drift	49
2.5.2. p53 and apoptosis	50
2.5.3. Reactive oxygen species	52
3. Colorectal cancer	55
3.1. Prevalence and risk factors	55
3.2. Tumorigenesis and progression	56
3.3. Types of colorectal cancer	57
3.4. Treatment	59
3.5. Intestinal stem cells and colorectal cancer	59
3.5.1. Intestinal stem cells as the founder cells of colorectal cancer	59
3.5.2. Colorectal cancer stem cells	60
3.5.3. Intestinal stem cell niche components in colorectal cancer	61

Снар	rer II: Autophagy	65
1.	Mechanisms and regulation of autophagy	
	1.1. Overview of autophagy	67
	1.1.1. Molecular machinery of autophagy	
	1.1.2. Selective autophagy	
	1.2. Regulation and functional consequences of autophagy	72
	1.2.1. Growth factors, nutrients, and energy levels: mTOR signaling	73
	1.2.2. Apoptotic signals: BCL2 and p53	75
	1.2.3. Endoplasmic reticulum stress	76
	1.2.4. Hypoxia	77
	1.2.5. Oxidative stress	78
	1.2.6. DNA damage	79
	1.2.7. Infection, inflammation and immunity	
2.	Autophagy in physiology and pathology	
	2.1. Autophagy in health and disease	
	2.1.1. Development	
	2.1.2. Metabolic disease	
	2.1.3. Neurodegeneration	
	2.2. Autophagy in adult stem cells	
	2.3. Autophagy and aging	91
	2.4. Autophagy in cancer	92
	2.4.1. Autophagy in pre-malignant cells	92
	2.4.2. Autophagy supports tumor growth and metabolism	93
	2.4.3. Autophagy and resistance to therapy	96
	2.4.4. Autophagy and cancer stem cells	97
	2.4.5. Autophagy and the tumor microenvironment	97
3.	Autophagy and the intestinal epithelium	
	3.1. Autophagy in secretory cells of the intestinal epithelium	99
	3.2. Xenophagy	
	3.3. Autophagy, the microbiota and inflammation	100
	3.4. Autophagy in intestinal pathology	102
	3.4.1. Autophagy in Crohn's disease	102
	3.4.2. Autophagy in colorectal cancer	102
Resu	LTS	105
1.	Research context	
2.	Article	
3.	Figures and legends	
4.	Supplementary figures and legends	
Disc	USSION	137
1	Autonhamy as a protective stress response in intestinal stem colle	120
1.	1.1 Autophagy protects intestinal stom calls from avidative stress	129 120
	1.1. Autophagy protects intestinal stem cells from DNA damage	139 110
	1.2. Autophagy protects intestinal stem cells from microanvironmental stress	140 117
າ	1.5. Autophagy protects intestinal stelli cells irolli illici delivirollillental stress Other models of <i>Ata</i> depletion in the intestinal enithelium	142 110
۷. ۲	Replenishment of the autophagy-deficient intestinal stem cell pool	143 1 <i>4.</i> 4
3. 4	Autonhagy and n53 in intestinal stem cell maintenance and tumor initiation	145
1.	Theophany and pool in meddinal stem cen manifematice and famor milliation	

Appendix		
References		
 Colon stem cells and autophagy Autophagy and tumor progression 		

- 1. *Review:* Trentesaux et al. (2017). L'autophagie, l'homéostasie intestinale et ses pathologies [Contribution of autophagy to intestinal homeostasis and pathology].
- 2. *Book chapter :* Trentesaux and Romagnolo. (2018). Intestinal stem cells and their defining niche.

LIST OF FIGURES

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER I: Physiopathology of the Intestinal Epithelium

FIGURE 1. The human digestive system	. 20
FIGURE 2. Organization of the intestinal wall and anatomy of the mucosa	21
FIGURE 3. Topography of the intestinal epithelium	24
FIGURE 4. The four predominant differentiated cell types of the intestinal epithelium	26
FIGURE 5. Establishment of Lgr5 as an intestinal stem cell marker	30
FIGURE 6. Intestinal organoid culture from isolated Lgr5+ ISC	30
FIGURE 7. Plasticity in the intestinal crypt after injury	33
FIGURE 8. Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway in the intestine	34
FIGURE 9. β-catenin staining reveals active Wnt signaling	. 35
FIGURE 10. Notch signaling pathway in the intestine	37
FIGURE 11. Hedgehog and BMP signaling pathways	. 38
FIGURE 12. The Paneth cell niche is dispensable in vivo but essential for ISC function ex-vivo	41
FIGURE 13. Distribution and composition of the gut microbiota	45
FIGURE 14. Common Pattern Recognition Receptors and downstream signaling pathways	47
FIGURE 15. Neutral competition between intestinal stem cells	. 50
FIGURE 16. Response to irradiation in the small intestinal crypt	. 51
FIGURE 17. Reactive oxygen species production and scavenging	. 53
FIGURE 18. Incidence and mortality associated with the ten most common cancer types	55
FIGURE 19. Classical sequence of genetic changes underlying the development of CRC	57
FIGURE 20. Classification of human colorectal cancer	. 59
FIGURE 21. Demonstration of Lgr5+ ISC as the drivers of colorectal adenoma growth	61

CHAPTER II: Autophagy

FIGURE 22. Morphology of macroautophagic vacuoles	58
FIGURE 23. Autophagic pathways in mammals	58
FIGURE 24. Schematic representation of (macro)autophagy	70
FIGURE 25. Examples of selective autophagy in mammals	71
FIGURE 26. mTOR-dependent regulation of autophagy	74
FIGURE 27. Coordinated stimulation of apoptosis and autophagy	76
FIGURE 28. Keap1-Nrf2 regulation by autophagy	79
FIGURE 29. Single-stranded and double-stranded DNA damage repair mechanisms	31
FIGURE 30. Autophagy regulation of double-stranded break repair	33
FIGURE 31. Roles of autophagy in physiology and pathology	38
FIGURE 32. Tumor-suppressive and tumor-promoting roles of autophagy	92
FIGURE 33. Effects of autophagy inhibition in mouse models of pancreatic cancer) 5
FIGURE 34. 61 ongoing clinical trials on autophagy and cancer by cancer type) 6
FIGURE 35. Effects of the loss of Atg7 in secretory intestinal epithelial cells)0

ABBREVIATIONS

+4SC	+4 label-retaining stem cells
αSMA	α smooth muscle actin
β-TrCP	8-transducin repeats-containing proteins
4E-BP1	Inhibitor of the eukarvotic intiations factor 4E binding protein 1
40HT	4-hvdroxy-tamoxifen
5-FU	5-fluorouracil
53BP1	Tumor protein p53 binding protein 1
JUDI I	
ALPI	Intestinal alkaline phosphatase
AMP	Antimicrobial peptide
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
AOM	Azoxymethane
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
ASCL2	Achaeate-scute homologue 2
ATB	Antibiotics
ATF6	Activating transcription factor 6
ATG	Autophagy-related gene
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATOH1	Atonal BHLH transcription factor 1, Math1 in mice
BAD	Bcl2 antagonist of cell death
BCL-XL	B cell lymphoma extra large
BER	Base-excision repair
BID	BH3-interacting domain death agonist
BiP	Binding immunoglobulin protein
BMP	bone morphogenic protein
BMPR1	type 1 BMP receptor
BMPR2	type 2 BMP receptor
BNIP3	Bcl2 interacting protein 3
BNIP3L	BCL2 interacting protein 3 like, also called NIX
CaMKII	Calcium calmodulin kinase II
CBC	Crypt basal columnar cells
СНК	Checkpoint kinase
СНОР	c/EBP homologous protein
CIMP	CpG island methylation phenotype
CIN	Chromosome instability
CK1a	Casein kinase 1α
СМА	Chaperone-mediated autophagy
CMS	Consensus molecular subtypes
CQ	Chloroquine
CRC	Colorectal cancer
CRCSC	Colorectal cancer subtyping consortium
DAMP	Danger-associated molecular pattern
DAPK1	Death-associated protein kinase 1
DCAMKL1	Doublecortin like kinase 1

DCS	Deep crypt secretory
DDB2	DNA damage-binding protein 2
DDR	DNA damage repair
DEPTOR	DEP-domain containing mTOR-interacting protein
DKK	Dickkopf
DLL	Delta-like
dMMR	Deficient MMR
DNA-PK	DNA-dependent protein kinase
DRAM	Damage-regulated autophagy modulator
DSB	Double-stranded break
DSS	Dextran Sulfate Sodiun
DT	Diphteria toxin
DTR	Diphteria toxin receptor
DUOX2	Dual oxidase 2
ECM	Extra-cellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	EGF receptor
eIF2α	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2α
eIF4e	Inhibitor of the eukaryotic intiations factor 4E
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERO1α	ER oxidoreductase 1α
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complex required for transport
FAP FIP200 FOXL1 FOXO FZD	Famililal adenomatous polyposis Focal adhesion kinase family-interacting protein of 200 kDa Forkhead box L1, also known as Fkh6 Forkhead box family, class O Frizzled
GABARAP	Gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-associated protein
GALT	Gut-associated lymphoid tissue
GAP	GTPase-activating protein
GSEA	Gene set enrichment analysis
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase 3 ^β
HCQ	Hydroxychloroquine
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HIF1	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1
HMGB1	High mobility group box 1, a chromatin-associated protein
HNPCC	Hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer, or Lynch syndrome
НОРХ	Homeodomain-only protein
HP1α	Heterochromatin protein 1α
HK	Homologous recombination
ПЭС ИСС70	Heat shock cognate 70 kDa protain
113670	Heat SHOCK COgnate / 0 KDa protein
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IFN	Interferon
IgA	Immunoglobulin A
IHH	Indian Hedgehog

IL ILC IMM IPA IR IRE1α IRE1α IRGM ISC	Interleukin Innate lymphoid cells Inner mitochondrial membrane Ingenuity pathway analysis Ionizing radiation Inositol-requiring enzyme 1α Interferon-inducible immunity-related GTPase family M member 1 Intestinal stem cells
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinases
KAP1 KEAP1	Krüppel associated box associated protein 1 Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1
LAMP2 LC3 LEF LGR5 LIG4 LIR LPR LPS LRIG1 LRRK2 LTA	Lysosome-associated membrane protein 2Microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3Lymphoid enhancer factorLeucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein-coupled transmembrane receptor 5Ligase 4LC3 interacting regionLipoprotein-related proteinLipopolysaccharideLeucine rich repeats and immunoglobulin like domains 1Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2Lipoteichoic acid
M cells MAMPs MAPK MCL1 MDP MLH1 mLTS8 MMR MNV MSH2 MSH2 MSH6 MSI MSS mTOR mTORC1 MyD88 MYH11	Microfold cells Microbe-associated molecular patterns Mitogen activated protein kinase Myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1 Muramyl dipeptide MutL homolog 1 Mammalian lethal with SEC13 protein 8 Mismatch repair Murine norovirus MutS homolog 2 MutS homolog 6 Microsatellite instability, MSI-H or -L for High or Low MSI Microsatellite stable Mammalian target of rapamycin Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 Myosin heavy chain 11
NAC NBR1 NCID NDP52 NER NFĸB NHEJ NK	N-acetyl Cysteine Neighbor of BRCA1 gene 1 Notch intracellular domain Nuclear dot protein 52 Nucleotide-excition repair Nuclear factor kB Non-homologous end joining Natural killer

NLR	NOD-like receptor
NOX1	NADPH oxidase 1
NRF2	Nuclear factor erythroid 2
NSC	Neural stem cells
OLFM4	Olfactomedin 4
OMM	Outer mitochondrial membrane
n70 S6V	Pibecomal protain S6 kinasa 1
p/0-30K	Ribusoniai proteini so kinase-1
	Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase 1
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PE	Phosphotidylethanolamine
PERK	Protein kinase RNA-like ER kinase
PGC1a	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α coactivator 1α
PI(3)P	Phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3 Kinase
PINK1	PTEN-induced kinase 1
PKR	Protein kinase R
POLD1	DNA polymerase δ
POLE	DNA polymerase ε
PolyIC	Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ
PRAS40	Proline-riche Akt substrate of 40 kDa
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
РТСН	Patched
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
PTPN2	Protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 2
	Dag valated protoing in brain Qa
RADOa	Ras-related CTD hinding protoin
	Ras-related GTP-Dinding protein
RAPIUR	Regulatory-associated protein of millor
REG3	Regenerating Islet-derived protein 3
REG4	Regenerating islet-derived 4
RHEB	Ras homolog enriched in the brain
RNF168	Ring finger protein 168
RNF3	Ring finger 3
RNF43	Ring finger protein 43
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROS	Reactive oxygens species
SCNA	DNA somatic copy number alterations
SHH	Sonic Hedgehog
SLC	Solute carriers
SMO	Smoothened
SMOC2	SPARC related modular calcium binding 2
SNAP	Soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein
SNARE	Soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein recentors
SOD	Superovide dismutase
SOD SOSTM1	Sequestosome1 or n62
SUSTINI	sequestosonie1, or poz

SSA STAT3	Sessile serrated adenomas Signal transduce and activator of transcription 3
TA TAX1BP1 TCF	Transit amplifying Tax-1 binding protein 1 T cell factor
TCGA	The cancer genome altlas
TERT	Telomerase reverse transcriptase
TFEB	Transcription factor EB
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TIM	Translocase of the inner mitochondrial membrane
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
ТОМ	Translocase of the outer mitochondrial membrane
TRIF	Toll-IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon
TRMP5	Transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily M member 5
TSA	Traditional serrated adenomas
TSC	Tuberous sclerosis complex
ULK	Unc51-like autophagy activating kinase
UPR	Unfolded protein response
UVRAG	UV radiation resistance-associated gene protein
VEGFR	Vascular endotherlial growth factor
VMP1	Vacuole membrane protein 1
VPS34	Vacuolar protein sorting 34
XBP1	X-box binding protein 1
XPC	Xeroderma pirmentosum, complementation group C
XRCC4	X-ray repair cross complementing 4
ZNRF3	Zinc and Ring Finger 3
ZNRF43	Zinc and ring finger 43
	-

Resume en Français

Le renouvellement de l'épithélium intestinal repose sur la prolifération incessante de cellules souches intestinales (CSI). Le maintien de ces dernières est donc essentiel à l'homéostasie de l'épithélium intestinal mais aussi à sa régénération suite à des dommages. Ces CSI sont également considérées comme étant à l'origine de la transformation et l'initiation tumorale. L'étude des mécanismes impliqués dans la protection des CSI face à différents stress est donc essentielle pour mieux comprendre l'homéostasie et les pathologies intestinales. Notre équipe a précédemment pu démontrer, à la fois dans des échantillons de cancers colorectaux humains et dans un modèle murin prédisposé à développer des tumeurs intestinales, une induction de l'autophagie dans le tissu tumoral. L'autophagie est un mécanisme hautement conservé au cours de l'évolution et permettant la dégradation de différentes composantes cytoplasmiques par la voie des lysosomes. Ce mécanisme est impliqué dans de nombreux types de cancers ainsi que dans l'homéostasie de différentes populations de cellules souches adultes, telles que les cellules souches hématopoïétiques, les cellules souches neuronales, ou encore les cellules satellites. Grâce à des modèles murins permettant l'invalidation d'un gène clé du processus autophagique, Atg7, spécifiquement dans l'épithélium intestinal, l'équipe a pu démontrer un rôle clé de ce processus dans l'initiation et la croissance des tumeurs intestinales, ainsi que dans l'homéostasie microbienne de l'intestin. Suite à ces travaux, mes travaux de thèse visent à étudier le rôle de ce processus catabolique dans l'homéostasie des CSI. Pour ce faire, nous utilisons des modèles murins génétiquement modifiés et des cultures d'organoïdes afin d'étudier les effets de l'inhibition de l'autophagie dans l'homéostasie intestinale et en particulier dans les CSI.

Nos travaux indiquent que l'inhibition de l'autophagie par l'invalidation du gène *Atg7* conduit à une activation de p53 et à une apoptose spécifique des CSI. De même, les cryptes invalidées pour *Atg7* ont une survie moindre que des cryptes contrôles en culture, ce qui souligne d'avantage un défaut de cellules souches. L'invalidation simultanée du gène *Tp53* empêche la mort des CSI déficientes en autophagie. De plus, au long terme, ces souris doublement invalidées pour *Atg7* et *Tp53* développent des tumeurs, contrairement aux souris invalidées uniquement pour les gènes *Atg7* ou *Tp53*. Nous avons donc émis l'hypothèse que l'inhibition de l'autophagie sensibilisait les CSI à l'apoptose suite à une accumulation de dommages cytotoxiques.

Par une analyse d'expression génique des CSI issues de cryptes contrôles et invalidées pour le gène *Atg7*, nous avons mis en évidence une altération des réponses associées au stress oxydant et à la réparation de l'ADN. Confirmant ces signatures, nous avons observé des dommages de l'ADN dans les cryptes déficientes en autophagie et un défaut de réparation de ces dommages suite à une irradiation. Nous observons également une accumulation d'espèces réactives de l'oxygène dans les CSI déficientes en autophagie associée à une atténuation de la réponse antioxidante médiée par NRF2. Des traitements antioxydants améliorent la survie des CSI invalidées pour *Atg7* autant *ex-vivo* sur cultures d'organoides qu'*in vivo*. Ces expériences soutiennent l'implication des espèces réactives de l'oxygène accumulées suite à la perte de l'autophagie dans la mort des CSI.

Par ailleurs, l'inhibition de l'autophagie induit des défauts de défense antimicrobienne, notamment au niveau de la sécrétion de peptides antimicrobiens par les cellules de Paneth, type sécrétoire retrouvé au fond des cryptes intestinales à proximité des CSI. Grâce à des traitements antibiotiques à large-spectre, nous avons observé un rôle important de la flore intestinale sur la survie des CSI déficientes en autophagie *in vivo*. Ce résultat est confirmé par la survie normale d'organoides inhibés pour l'autophagie seulement une fois en culture (et donc isolé du microenvironnement intestinal), mais cette survie est réduite en présence de certains signaux microbiens.

Nos travaux indiquent donc un rôle important de l'autophagie dans la protection et le maintien des CSI, de par son contrôle des espèces réactives de l'oxygène, du microenvironnement bactérien et des voies de réparation de l'ADN. Cependant, malgré la mort en continu des CSI déficientes en autophagie, un pool de CSI est maintenu en continu, ce qui permet le renouvellement normal de l'épithélium et souligne une plasticité importante au sein des cryptes épithéliales. L'ensemble de ces travaux suggèrent que l'autophagie pourrait être une cible thérapeutique prometteuse pour traiter les cancers colorectaux sans pour autant empêcher la fonction homéostatique de l'épithélium.

INTRODUCTION

Foreword

The work of my host team and Dr. ROMAGNOLO's group focuses on the physiopathological renewal of the intestinal epithelium. For years, the group has investigated the molecular mechanisms involved in both the homeostatic regeneration of this highly proliferative epithelium and its deregulation in colorectal cancer. Among these, the WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway is both a crucial driver of proliferation and differentiation in the intestinal crypt and a critical target of oncogenic processes resulting in tumor development. Importantly, this pathway is essential for the maintenance and function of intestinal stem cells, which drive homeostatic proliferation in the epithelium and have also been implicated in tumor initiation and growth. Using both mouse models of intestinal tumorigenesis through WNT/ β -catenin hyperactivation and human colorectal cancer samples, our group identified a crucial role of autophagy, a highly conserved cellular catabolic mechanism, in intestinal tumorigenesis. They further showed that blocking autophagy in the intestinal epithelium dramatically hindered tumor development and tumor growth, in part by affecting the gut's microbiota and immunity. Interestingly, autophagy inhibition also affected the intestinal stem cell compartment of the non-tumoral epithelium. The work of my thesis aimed to understand the physiological functions of autophagy in the homeostatic intestinal epithelium and, more specifically, in intestinal stem cells.

This introduction will focus on the two principal aspects of my thesis work. First, the current knowledge on the intestinal epithelium at homeostasis and the rupture of this homeostasis in colorectal cancer will be reviewed. Particular attention will be paid to intestinal stem cells and the mechanisms regulating their maintenance, self-renewal, and proliferation. Second, we will explore the mechanisms and cellular functions of autophagy and its physiological impact. In both of these fields, major advancements have been made using invertebrate models such as *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Caenorhabditis elegans* or, in the case of autophagy, in unicellular eukaryotes like *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Nevertheless, throughout this introduction, we will focus primarily on mammalian systems and, whenever possible, on *in vivo* studies.

CHAPTER 1: PHYSIOPATHOLOGY OF THE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

I. STRUCTURE & FUNCTION OF THE INTESTINE

1.1 OVERVIEW OF THE ADULT DIGESTIVE SYSTEM & GASTROINTESTINAL TRACT

The adult digestive system consists of the organs along the length of the digestive tube – the mouth, esophagus, stomach, small intestine, and large intestine (or colon) – as well as several accessory organs including the tongue, salivary glands, liver, pancreas and gallbladder **[FIGURE 1]**. Along the route of ingested food from the mouth to the anus, the digestive tube plays two principal functions: it allows the breakdown of food and absorption of nutrients (digestion), and it acts as a physical and chemical barrier between the outside luminal environment and the organism.

Digestion begins directly upon ingestion of food, in the mouth. The chewing and grinding action of the teeth (mastication) helped by the muscular action of the tongue allow the mechanical breakdown of food into smaller pieces. This increases the surface area accessible to the digestive enzymes in saliva, produced in the salivary glands. In addition to digestive enzymes, saliva also contains antimicrobial proteins, antifungal proteins and immunoglobulins, which act as early defense against microbes arriving in the gastrointestinal tract along with the ingested food. Saliva also softens the food, transforming it into a soft bolus, and facilitating its passage through the pharynx and into the esophagus upon swallowing.

The esophagus is a muscular tube carrying the bolus to the stomach through rhythmic contractions called peristalsis that will continue along the rest of the gastrointestinal tract. Two sphincters at the top and bottom of the esophagus open upon swallowing and prevent backflow from the stomach, respectively. Once in the stomach, the bolus is further broken down by the action of numerous digestive enzymes. Gastric acid (mainly hydrochloric acid) creates an acidic pH that both allows pepsin proteases to work and kills most ingested bacteria. The whole of the gastrointestinal tract, and particularly the stomach, is covered by mucus that lubricates the passage of digested food and protects the underlying, single-layered columnar epithelium. Along with the enzymatic digestion, mechanical churning helps transform the bolus into chyme.

It is at this stage, approximately one to two hours after ingestion, that the partially-digested food enters the small intestine through the pyloric sphincter. The majority of digestion and absorption occurs in the small intestine. The segment directly connected to the stomach is called the duodenum. Bile produced by the liver and stored in the gallbladder is released into the duodenum upon the arrival of the chyme to help break down fats. The pancreas also releases pancreatic juice rich in bicarbonate and digestive enzymes into the duodenum to neutralize the acidic chyme from the stomach and continue the digestion of carbohydrates, proteins and lipids into monosaccharides, amino acids and fatty acids, respectively. As nutrients are taken up by the organism, the muscular walls of the intestine help slowly pass the chyme along the relatively short duodenum and the other two segments of the small intestine: the jejunum and ileum.

The intestinal wall contains many folds, which allow the intestine to stretch and contract as food passes along. To increase the surface area of absorption, the small intestinal epithelium consists

of a single layer of cells folded upon itself creating finger-like protrusions called villi. Moreover, the absorptive cells of the epithelial lining, called enterocytes, have densely packed microvilli on the luminal side to further increase surface area. These cells express additional digestive enzymes at their surface, as well as transporters that take up monosaccharides, amino acids, some vitamins and ions. Fatty acids, other vitamins and water, on the other hand, can diffuse passively across the epithelium and into the bloodstream. Once in the bloodstream, nutrients and other substances absorbed in the intestine are directly sent to be processed by the liver.

The majority of nutrients are thus absorbed in the duodenum and jejunum. Along with the amount of available nutrients, the length of the epithelial villi decrease from the jejunum to the ileum **[FIGURE 2]**. Remaining water, salts, and undigested materials are passed on to the large intestine, or colon, through the ileocecal valve. The colon is subdivided into several segments; the first pouch is called the cecum, followed by the proximal and distal colon – subdivided in humans into the ascending, transverse, descending, and sigmoid colon – leading to the rectum. Salts and remaining water are absorbed while undigested materials are packed into feces to be excreted by contractions of the rectum. The colon epithelium lacks villi entirely, and is progressively smoother from the proximal to the distal end **[FIGURE 2]**.



FIGURE 1. The human digestive system.



FIGURE 2. Organization of the intestinal wall and anatomy of the mucosa in different segments of the mouse intestine (hematoxilin & eosin staining).

1.2 STRUCTURAL ORGANIZATION OF THE INTESTINE

The different elements that make up the intestinal wall work together to accomplish the two major functions of this organ in digestion and as a barrier.

The intestinal lumen is home to a large amount of microorganisms, altogether known as the gut microbiota, particularly present in the colon. Although technically an environmental factor, the notion of the gut microbiota as an essential symbiont for host development and physiology has become more and more accepted over the last decade. Bacteria dominate the microbiota, which also includes archea, viruses, fungi, and protozoa. Colonization of the gut at birth is important for the development of the intestinal mucosa, including the maturation of vasculature (Stappenbeck et al., 2002; Reinhardt et al., 2012) and of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) (Macpherson et al., 2000; Macpherson, 2004; Bouskra et al., 2008; Uematsu et al., 2008; Gaboriau-Routhiau et al., 2009; Sanos et al., 2009; Atarashi et al., 2011; Kawamoto et al., 2012; Olszak et al., 2012). In the adult intestine, the microbiota notably contributes to digestion as it helps break down undigested products (ie. polysaccharides into short-chain fatty acids). In addition to metabolizing otherwise indigestible nutrients, the microbiota plays an important role in metabolizing xenobiotics – including drugs or pollutants (Koppel et al., 2017). Lastly, the gut commensals, through competition for nutrients and production of virulence factors, protect their host against infection by opportunistic pathogens (Kamada et al., 2012).

Although a single-layered epithelium is advantageous in terms of absorption, it only provides a thin barrier between the luminal contents and the host tissues. The barrier function of the mucosa therefore depends on intracellular junctions, especially tight junctions, that seal neighboring epithelial cells together (Buckley and Turner, 2018). Furthermore, specialized cells

protect the epithelial lining, including mucus-producing goblet cells antimicrobial peptideproducing Paneth cells. As an additional protective measure, the lining of the intestine is continuously regenerated; in fact, the intestinal epithelium renews itself almost entirely every 4 to 5 days (Cheng and Leblond, 1974; Wright and Irwin, 1982) – faster than any other tissue. The regenerative capacity of the gut epithelium depends on a pool of actively dividing intestinal stem cells (ISC) and their highly proliferative transit amplifying (TA) progenitors, all located in epithelial pockets away from the lumen called crypts of Lieberkühn.

The intestinal epithelium is surrounded on the basal side by a connective mesenchyme called the lamina propria. The basal side of intestinal epithelial cells is in direct contact with a network of extra-cellular proteins that form the basement membrane, including type IV Collagen, Laminin and proteoglycans. Basement membrane components are produced both from the epithelium and mesenchymal cells in the lamina propria. Beneath the basement membrane, the mesenchyme comprises a complex extra-cellular matrix (ECM) composed of similar components including type I Collagen and Fibronectin. Embedded in this ECM are various mesenchymal cell types, including various fibroblast populations, myofibroblasts, a layer of smooth muscle called the muscularis mucosa which contributes to peristalsis, endothelial cells of the blood and lymphatic networks, pericytes, and enteric neurons [FIGURE 2]. In addition to these, the lamina propria houses various innate and adaptive immune cells and structures altogether comprising the GALT, capable of mounting an appropriate inflammatory or tolerogenic response to passing antigens. These include B cells (especially immunoglobulin A (IgA)-producing plasma cells), T cells (including pro-inflammatory Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells as well as anti-inflammatory regulatory T cells), neutrophils, natural killer (NK) cells, macrophages and dendritic cells. In addition to these, specialized subsets of T cells (intra-epithelial lymphocytes) and some dendritic cells are found between the intestinal epithelial cells, where they continuously sample luminal contents.

The submucosa contains blood vessels, lymphatic vessels, and nerves embedded in a matrix of fibres and collagen. Beneath those, two layers of smooth muscle, one circular and one longitudinal, also aid in peristalsis. Finally, the intestinal wall is surrounded by a loose layer of connective tissue called the serosa, and the whole of the intestine is held in place in the peritoneum by the mesentery.

1.3 THE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

The single-layered mammalian intestinal epithelium is folded upon itself creating finger-like protrusions towards the lumen called villi, beneath which lie small pockets towards the lamina propria called the crypts of Lieberkühn. The small intestinal crypts are almost entirely composed of proliferative cells, with the exception of Paneth cells, a secretory lineage first recognized for their ability to secrete antimicrobial peptides (AMP). The adult mouse intestine contains approximately 1.1 million crypts, with around two-thirds of the cells of each crypt dividing every twelve hours, producing over 300 million new cells each day (Gordon et al., 1992). This astounding regenerative capacity relies on three to sixteen (depending on the study) actively dividing ISC localized at the crypt bottom alongside Paneth cells (in the small intestine)

or related secretory cells (in the colon) (Bjerknes and Cheng, 1981a; Altmann, 1983; Potten and Loeffler, 1987; Sato et al., 2011a; Sasaki et al., 2016). ISC give rise both to new ISC and to TA progenitor cells that will rapidly proliferate and progressively differentiate as they migrate up the crypt. TA daughters will either be absorptive-lineage progenitors, giving rise to enterocytes, or secretory progenitors that will give rise to Paneth cells, goblet cells, or enteroendocrine cells (Schmidt et al., 1985; Bjerknes and Cheng, 1999). In the small intestine, cells become terminally differentiated upon reaching the villus, and then continue their columnar migration to the tip of the villus, where they are expelled into the lumen and die in a process termed anoikis **[FIGURE 3]**. The entire process of proliferation, differentiation, and expulsion of intestinal epithelial cells takes only 4-5 days (Cheng and Leblond, 1974; Wright and Irwin, 1982).

The villus epithelium therefore contains exclusively differentiated cells, over 80 percent of which are absorptive enterocytes. In addition to these, the differentiated compartment of the epithelium contains the secretory cells mentioned above (with the exception of Paneth cells), as well as three rarer cell types: tuft cells (Gerbe and Jay, 2016), cup cells (Madara, 1982) and microfold (M) cells associated with lymphoid follicles called Peyer's patches (Kraehenbuhl and Neutra, 2000). Each of these differentiated cell types will be discussed in more detail below. The colon has a flat surface with no villi; instead, the bottom third of colonic crypts contains proliferative cells while the upper crypt is differentiated with a considerably high ratio of goblet cells [FIGURE 3]. Paneth cells are notably absent in the colon.

1.3.1 ENTEROCYTES

Enterocytes are the predominant cell type of the intestinal epithelium, making up over 80% of epithelial cells. They are highly polarized absorptive cells characterized by their columnar shape and a brush border of microvilli at the apical pole that increases the surface area of absorption **[FIGURE 4]**. On the surface of these microvilli, enterocytes express digestive enzymes that play a role in the final breakdown of food particles before they are selectively taken up by the cell and transited to the basal pole. The uptake of nutrients can be active via specific transporters – as is the case for ions, sugars, amino acids, or water-soluble vitamins – or passive – as is the case for water, lipids, and lipid-soluble vitamins. Enterocytes also transport IgA from plasma cells in the lamina propria in the opposite direction; these are endocytosed on the basolateral surface and released into the intestinal lumen.

Differentiation into either the absorptive lineage or secretory lineage depends on NOTCH signaling in the crypt. Expression of the NOTCH target gene *Hes1* is required for enterocyte differentiation, whereas it represses expression of NOTCH ligands and of *ATOH1* (atonal BHLH transcription factor 1, *Math1* in mice), both key to secretory lineage commitment (Yang et al., 2001; Stanger et al., 2005).


FIGURE 3. Topography of the intestinal epithelium in the small intestine (A) and colon (B). Adapted from Barker, 2014.

1.3.2 GOBLET CELLS

Goblet cells, as previously noted, are secretory ligneage cells scattered throughout the epithelium that produce and secrete mucus to both facilitate movement of luminal contents and protect the epithelium. Contrary to enterocytes, these cells depend on *ATOH1* expression early in their lineage commitment. They contain characteristic mucin-containing secretion granules in their apical cytoplasm **[FIGURE 4]** and release these granules into the lumen by exocytosis.

The main component of the intestinal mucus layer is the mucin MUC2. Before secretion, mucins are highly glycosylated in the golgi apparatus of goblet cells, giving them the capacity to bind water and form a gel-like network once secreted (Johansson et al., 2011). *Muc2*-deficient mice have bacteria in direct contact with the epithelium as well as bacterial infiltration across the epithelium (Van der Sluis et al., 2006; Johansson et al., 2008). This results in inflammation and symptoms of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Interestingly, these mice also develop spontaneous intestinal adenomas (Velcich et al., 2002).

The proportion of mucin-producing goblet cells in the epithelium and the thickness of the mucus layer increases from the proximal small intestine (~4%) to the distal colon (~16%) (Cheng, 1974) in direct correlation with the density of the microbiota. In the small intestine, the mucus layer is discontinuous but is supported by the secretion of antimicrobial peptides by Paneth cells. In the colon, two structurally distinct layers of mucus are found: the firm inner layer is considered to be relatively sterile (Johansson et al., 2008; Li et al., 2015a), while the thicker outer layer, made looser by proteolytic dispersion of mucin polymers, houses a distinct subset of bacterial species that can digest complex glycoproteins (Johansson et al., 2011; Li et al., 2015a), therefore creating a unique microbial niche (Li et al., 2015a).

Recent studies have also shown that goblet cells have the ability to endocytose luminal substances and transfer them to antigen-presenting cells in the lamina propria (McDole et al., 2012).

1.3.3 PANETH CELLS

Paneth cells are the major secretory cell type of the small intestinal crypt. Like goblet cells, differentiation of Paneth cells depends upon the expression of the *ATOH1* transcription factor. Paneth cells, unlike the other progenitor lineages, terminally differentiate as they migrate down to the bottom of the crypt and remain at the crypt bottom throughout their uniquely long 6- to 8-week lifespan (Ireland et al., 2005). The position of a Paneth cell is therefore linked to its maturity, with the oldest and more mature Paneth cells found at the crypt base (Bjerknes and Cheng, 1981b). These cells have a characteristic pyramidal shape with prominent, large granules filling their cytoplasm on the apical side. They also have an extensive endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi network, in link with their secretory functions [FIGURE 4].

The distinguishing apical granules of Paneth cells were later shown to contain Defensins, Lysozyme, REG3 (regenerating islet-derived protein 3, REG3A in humans, REG3 γ and REG3 β in mice) and other AMPs, establishing the role of Paneth cells in innate imunity. Although Paneth cells constitutively express Defensins under the control of WNT signaling (van Es et al., 2005a; Andreu et al., 2008), production of other AMPs is up-regulated in response to microbial signals (Mallow et al., 1996; Ayabe et al., 2000; Pütsep et al., 2000; Vaishnava et al., 2008) or pro-inflammatory cytokines like Interferon gamma (IFN γ) (Farin et al., 2014). These secreted AMPs not only protect the crypt epithelium from enteric pathogens (Vaishnava et al., 2008), but also directly affect the composition of the microbiota (Salzman et al., 2010).

Due to their strategic localization at the crypt bottom alongside ISC, a tight functional link between Paneth cells and ISC was proposed early on (Cheng and Leblond, 1974). Indeed, Paneth cells also play an important role in the ISC niche by producing essential trophic factors like WNT ligands, NOTCH ligands, and EGF (Gregorieff et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2011a). The role of Paneth cells in the ISC niche will be discussed in more detail in the following section.

1.3.4 Enteroendocrine Cells

Enteroendocrine cells are secretory lineage cells specified by *ATOH1* and Neurogenin-3 expression (Jenny, 2002). They secrete hormones like Serotonin (which notably affects

gastrointestinal motility) and the insulinotropic hormone Glucagon-like peptide-1. There exists up to 15 different subtypes of enteroendocrine cells, depending on their morphology and the hormones they produce. These represent about 1% of epithelial cells, dispersed throughout the differentiated tissue.



FIGURE 4. The four predominant differentiated cell types of the intestinal epithelium. Adapted from Alberts et al., 2008.

1.3.5 TUFT CELLS

Tuft cells were identified by electron microscopy based on their unique tubulovesicular system and apical bundle of microfilaments connected to a tuft of microvilli that are longer and thicker than those of enterocytes. In light of their morphology, tuft cells were thought to be secretory cells (Sato and Miyoshi, 1997) but whether they are derived from the secretory lineage specified by ATOH1 is still a matter of debate (Gerbe et al., 2011; Bjerknes et al., 2012). Despite their discovery more than 60 years ago (Jarvi and Keyrilainen, 1956; Rhodin and Dalhamn, 1956), their function was only very recently brought to light. The first identified function of tuft cells was the secretion of opioids (Kokrashvili et al., 2009; Gerbe et al., 2011). Then, in 2016, three independent groups published studies identifying tuft cells as essential to trigger a type 2 immune in response to parasitic infections in the gut (Gerbe et al., 2016; Howitt et al., 2016; Von Moltke et al., 2016). Mechanistically, this involves signal transduction via the TRMP5 (Transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily M member 5) cation channel and Interleukin (IL) -25 alarmin production (Gerbe et al., 2016; Howitt et al., 2016; Von Moltke et al., 2016). In the intestinal epithelium, tuft cells are much less frequent than the previous four differentiated cell types, as they make up only about 0.4% of epithelial cells. However, during infections with helminthes Nippostrongylus brasiliensis, Heligmosomoides polygyrus or the protozoa Tritrichomonas muris, tuft cell numbers expand dramatically, as do goblet cell numbers and epithelial cell cytokine production, leading to the recruitment of type 2 helper T cells and group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC) in the lamina propria. The loss of tuft cells or of their function (by deleting either the Trpm5 or Il25 genes) prevents each of these responses and delays the resolution of the infection. More recently, the tuft cell-ILC2 circuit was shown to be basaly activated by commensal protozoan-derived metabolites as a way to prevent infection (Schneider et al., 2018). Tuft cells therefore play a unique role in the context of parasite infection.

1.3.6 MICROFOLD CELLS

M cells are specialized cells found on follicle-associated epithelium such as that found over Peyer's patches. These cells owe their name to their characteristic apical membrane, which lacks microvilli and instead has a microfold topography (Kraehenbuhl and Neutra, 2000). M cells are believed to act as sentinels that take up antigens from the lumen and transport them to the underlying GALT. In line with this, their basolateral membrane is invaginated to form pockets that reduce the intracellular distance of antigen transport from the apical membrane and harbor infiltrating lymphocytes. In this way, M cells help the intestinal immune system mount either inflammatory or tolerogenic responses to foreign antigens. M cells are thought to differentiate from absorptive-lineage progenitors in response to stimuli from the underlying lymphoid tissue, namely NF-κB signaling (Knoop et al., 2009; Kanaya et al., 2018).

1.3.7 CUP CELLS

Cup cells can be distinguished by light or electron microscopy due to their lighter cytoplasm and shorter brush border compared to neighboring enterocytes, creating the cup-like apical indentation that gave them their name (Madara, 1982). They are absent in the jejunum but relatively abundant ($\sim 6\%$ of villus epithelial cells) in the ileum of rodents, although less so in primates. To date, the function of these cells remains unknown.

II. INTESTINAL STEM CELLS AND THEIR DEFINING NICHE

2.1 MODELS AND MARKERS OF INTESTINAL STEM CELLS

Although the localization of ISC at the crypt bottom has long been established, the identity of ISC has remained a subject of debate over the past decades. Two historical models of ISC have been originally proposed but direct evidence to illustrate their stemness was put forward only in the last decade. Pioneer work by Cheng, Bjerknes and Leblond using electron microscopy, ³H-thymidine incorporation and clonal mutagenesis demonstrated the presence of undifferentiated proliferative cells capable of giving rise to the different intestinal epithelial lineages (multipotent) at positions 1-4 from the bottom of the intestinal crypt, which they called crypt basal columnar cells (CBC) (Cheng and CP., 1974; Bjerknes and Cheng, 1999, 2002). At the same time, works led by Potten's group recognized cells at the fourth position from the crypt bottom (+4) as capable of long-term ³H-thymidine label retention (Potten et al., 1978), an established property of tissue stem cells. Without specific molecular markers to isolate them at the time, it remained unclear whether the mitotically active CBC or the relatively quiescent +4 label-retaining cells (+4SC) ought to be considered as the bona fide ISC.

2.1.1 MARKERS FOR CRYPT BASAL COLUMNAR CELLS

In 2007, the Clevers lab and collaborators identified LGR5 as a marker for CBC. Lgr5 encodes a leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein-coupled transmembrane receptor first identified as a Wnt/ β -catenin target gene. Although LGR5 immuno-labelling has proved difficult due to its low expression levels, the development of a mouse model in which an EGFP and a tamoxifeninducible Cre recombinase cassette was knocked in at the *Lgr5* locus (Lgr5-EGFP-*ires*-CreER^{T2}) has allowed characterization of *Lgr5*-expressing cells. In the adult small intestine, Lgr5⁺ cells are located at the base of the crypt, intermingled with Paneth cells [FIGURE 5B]. They are rapidly cycling since within 24 hours almost all Lgr5⁺ cells of a crypt undergo mitosis. In the colon, Lgr5⁺ cells are also found at the crypt bottom interspersed with secretory cells [FIGURE 5F] but have slower cycling kinetics than in the small intestine. The generation of *in vivo* lineage tracing from Lgr5⁺ cells using an Lgr5-EGFP-*ires*-CreER^{T2}/Rosa26lacZ mouse model indicated that Lgr5⁺ cells transmit LacZ staining to their progeny and repopulate the entire epithelium during homeostasis [FIGURE 5]. Furthermore, Lgr5⁺ cells are long-lived and contribute to tissue renewal over the entire lifetime of the mouse. Therefore, LGR5 is a reliable marker of CBC (Barker et al., 2007), and Lgr5-EGFP-*ires*-CreER^{T2} mice a valuable tool to understand their regulation. The ultimate proof of Lgr5⁺ CBC as ISC is the capacity of single isolated Lgr5⁺ cells cultured *in vitro* in matrigel to generate intestinal organoids that mimic the structure of the *in vivo* epithelium, with Lgr5⁺ cells found at the bottom of the proliferative crypt domains [FIGURE 6A-D]. Importantly, these organoids contain the four major differentiated lineages of the intestinal epithelium [FIGURE 6E-H] and self-renew, as shown by continuous passages (Sato et al., 2009).



FIGURE 5. Establishment of Lgr5 as an intestinal stem cell marker (A) Generation of mice expressing EGFP and creERT2 from a single bicistronic message by gene knock-in into the first exon of Lgr5. SA, splice acceptor; UTR, untranslated region. (B,F) Confocal GFP imaging counterstained with the red DNA dye ToPro-3 confirming that Lgr5 expression is restircted to the 6-8 slender cells at the crypt bottom in the small intestine (B) and in the colon (F). (C-E) Histological analysis of LacZ activity in the small intestine 1 day after induction (C), 5 days after induction (D) and 60 days after induction (E). (G-I) LacZ activity in the colon 1 day after induction (G), 5 days after induction (H) and 60 days after induction (I). Adapted from Barker et al., 2007.



FIGURE 6. Intestinal organoid culture from isolated Lgr5+ ISC sorted from Lgr5-EGFP-IRES-CreERT2 mice (A) Two positive populations, GFP^{High} and GFP^{Low}, are discriminated from Lgr5-EGFP-IRES-CreERT2 intestines. FSC, forward scatter. (B) Example of a single GFP^{High} cell successfully growing into an organoid. Numbers above the images are the days of growth. (C) 14 days after sorting, organoids from isolated GFP^{High} cells have Lgr5-GFP positive cells at the bottom of the crypt domains. (D) Organoids cultured with EdU (red) for 1h incorporate EdU only in the crypt domains. Counterstain, DAPI (blue). (E-H) Confocal image for villin (E, green, enterocytes), lysozyme (F, green, Paneth cells), Muc2 (G, red, goblet cells), and chromogranin A (H, green, enteroendocrine cells). Adapted from Sato et al., 2009.

A CBC stem cell signature using gene expression and proteome profiling has been determined using FACS-purified Lgr5⁺ cells from the Lgr5-EGFP-*ires*-CreER^{T2} model. Indeed, comparison between Lgr5⁺ CBC and their direct TA progeny sorted by different levels of EGFP (high in CBC and low in their TA progeny) provided a comprehensive Lgr5⁺ ISC signature of approximately 500 genes (Muñoz et al., 2012). The signature contains many Wnt/ β -catenin modulators and target genes such as Lgr5, Sox9, Ascl2 (achaeate-scute homologue 2), EphB2, Troy/Tnfrsf19, Axin2, Znrf43 (zinc and ring finger 43) (Hao et al., 2012) and Rnf3 (ring finger 3) (Koo et al., 2012). This and subsequent Lgr5⁺ cell signatures (van der Flier et al., 2009a; Muñoz et al., 2012) along with candidate-approach studies also provided several other verified CBC markers. Among the new markers identified, some have been confirmed as ISC markers by lineage tracing: *Smoc2* (SPARC related modular calcium binding 2) (Muñoz et al., 2012), Musashi-1 (Potten et al., 2003), Prominin-1 (Zhu et al., 2009) and notably Olfm4 (Olfactomedin 4), which is highly expressed in the small intestine compared to other mentioned CBC markers and therefore allows easier detection of CBC (van der Flier et al., 2009b; Schuijers et al., 2014). Ascl2, a basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor was identified as a master regulator of CBC maintenance. The conditional deletion of Ascl2 results in the loss of CBC and its overexpression promotes drastic expansion of the ISC compartment (van der Flier et al., 2009a; Reed et al., 2012; Schuijers et al., 2015).

2.1.2 MARKERS FOR +4 STEM CELLS

The first +4SC marker investigated by lineage tracing was BMI1, a polycomb-repressing complex member essential in hematopoietic and neural stem cell self-renewal. In intestinal homeostasis, *Bmi1* is expressed at the +4 position in a minority of small intestinal crypts (around 10%) and particularly in the duodenum. By *in vivo* lineage tracing using a Bmi1-CreER^{T2}/Rosa26lacZ mouse model and organoid culture experiments, Bmi1⁺ cells were shown to self-renew and give rise to the different epithelial lineages but with much slower cycling kinetics compared to Lrg5⁺ CBC (Sangiorgi and Capecchi, 2008; Yan et al., 2012). In addition, ablation of Bmi1⁺ cells using targeted expression of diphteria toxin (DT) caused crypt loss consistent with a stem cell defect.

Ablation of the Lgr5⁺ CBC using targeted expression of the DT receptor (DTR), on the other hand, caused an increase of Bmi1⁺ cells which can regenerate the Lgr5⁺ stem cell population and maintain intestinal homeostasis (Tian et al., 2011). Thus, these relatively quiescent +4SC, have been considered as reserve stem cells in case of damage to the active CBC stem cells. In support of the mobilization of the +4SC following injury, after high dose of radiation (up to 12 Gy), Lgr5⁺ cells are rapidly lost whereas Bmi1⁺ cells expand and allow epithelial recovery though replenishment of Lgr5⁺ cells (Yan et al., 2012). In fact, BMI1 has been shown to play a role in DNA damage response signaling; it may therefore play a direct role in the resistance of reserve stem cells to irradiation (Ismail et al., 2010; Ginjala et al., 2011; Pan et al., 2011). Nevertheless, the restoration of a pool of active Lgr5⁺ ISC pool by reserve stem cells appears to be an essential step for epithelial repair following injury, as depletion of Lgr5-expressing cells during radiation-induced damage and subsequent repair is detrimental to the epithelium (Metcalfe et al., 2014).

However, BMI1-expressing cells are only present in a small proportion of crypts in the proximal small intestine and are not responsible for the post-injury regeneration throughout the distal

small intestine or colon in these contexts (Tian et al., 2011; Yan et al., 2012). Other markers must therefore be used to identify the reserve stem cells in these regions. Coincidentally, TERT (telomerase reverse transcriptase) also labels single cells at the +4 position that are slowly cycling, label-retaining, resistant to radiation and capable of regenerating the epithelium and Lgr5⁺ cells following injury (Breault et al., 2008; Montgomery et al., 2011). Other reported markers of +4SC include HOPX (homeodomain-only protein) (Takeda et al., 2011), LRIG1 (leucine rich repeats and immunoglobulin like domains 1) (Powell et al., 2012), and, debatably, DCAMKL1 (doublecortin like kinase 1, also an established Tuft cell marker) (May et al., 2008, 2009). Remarkably, cells expressing these markers can give rise to CBC and, conversely, Lgr5⁺ cells can give rise to +4SC (Takeda et al., 2011).

2.1.3 PROGENITORS AS POTENTIAL STEM CELLS: PLASTICITY IN THE INTESTINAL CRYPT

The plasticity of progenitor cells represents another source of potential ISC. In 2012, a study by van Es et al. demonstrated that secretory progenitors expressing Delta-like (Dll) 1, a NOTCH ligand, can revert to multipotent stem cells. Using a Dll1-GFP-CreER^{T2}/Rosa26lacZ mouse model, lineage tracing indicated that secretory progenitors can de-differentiate into Lgr5+ ISC upon ablation of CBC by irradiation. Furthermore, these progenitors are able to form Lgr5+ ISCcontaining organoids *ex vivo* in the presence of WNT signals (van Es et al., 2012a). Similarly, Buczacki and colleagues used an elegant model to mark only label-retaining cells by using a fluorescent-labelled histone H2B reporter construct (H2B-YFP) (Buczacki et al., 2013). They demonstrated that during homeostasis, label-retaining cells express +4SC markers including *Lrig1, Tert* and *Hopx*, but also *Lgr5* as well as markers of early Paneth cells and enteroendocrine cells and remain quiescent. However, upon epithelial injury induced by irradiation or chemotherapeutic treatment, label-retaining cells proliferate and act as ISC, giving rise to all differentiated cell lineages. This study therefore indicates that committed secretory precursors are a subpopulation of Lgr5⁺ cells that can act as a potential ISC pool upon injury. More recently, enterocyte progenitors have also been shown to provide an alternative source of potential ISC. Using lineage tracing experiments based on intestinal alkaline phosphatase (Alpi) expression, a marker for absorptive progenitors and differentiated enterocytes, Tetteh et al. demonstrated that upon eradication of Lgr5+ cells through DT treatment, the proliferating crypt Alpi+ cells but not differentiated villus Alpi⁺ cells were able to de-differentiate and to generate all differentiated cell types, thereby acting as an alternative source of ISC (Tetteh et al., 2016). Two new studies from the groups of Kuo and Shivdasani categorize Bmi1-expressing cells as enteroendocrine progenitors, and further demonstrate the capacity of progenitors from this lineage to dedifferentiate and replenish the Lgr5⁺ ISC pool in case of injury (Jadhav et al., 2016; Yan et al., 2017).

Taken together, all these studies call into question the existence of a dedicated reserve stem cell population and rather highlight the plasticity of the intestinal epithelium along with the importance of maintaining the active ISC pool. Questions regarding the molecular drivers and the degree of this plasticity remain open. One predominant hypothesis is that upon injury leading to loss of CBC, surviving reserve stem cells or early progenitors regain direct contact



with the stem cell niche, which drives their de-differentiation back into Lgr5⁺ ISC [FIGURE].

FIGURE 7. Plasticity in the intestinal crypt after injury. Adapted from Barker, 2014.

2.2 SIGNALING PATHWAYS REGULATING CRYPT HOMEOSTASIS

The stem cell niche is defined by a complex network of signals and niche cells that presumably delimit the "positional address" of ISC and support their activity. Proliferation, differentiation and migration along the crypt-villus axis are tightly regulated by an array of interconnected signaling pathways involving both epithelial signals and epithelial-mesenchymal crosstalk. The principal and best-characterized pathways essential to ISC homeostasis and the pathological consequences of their deregulation are discussed below.

$2.2.1 \text{ Wnt}/\beta$ -catenin Signaling

The major regulatory pathway of the ISC compartment is the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway. In the absence of WNT signals, free cytosolic β -catenin is recognized by a protein complex containing the tumor suppressors APC (adenomatous polyposis coli), AXIN1, CK1 α (casein kinase 1α) and GSK-3 β (glycogen synthase 3β), called the β -catenin destruction complex. CK1 α and GSK-3 β will phosphorylate serine and threonine residues of the β -catenin N-terminus, leading to its ubiquitination by E3 ubiquitin ligases β -TrCP (β -transducin repeats-containing proteins) and subsequent proteosomal degradation. WNT ligands bind a Frizzled (FZD) receptor and co-receptor lipoprotein-related proteins (LRP5/6 in the intestine). This interaction triggers a cascade of events involving phosphorylation of Disheveled and membrane sequestration of AXIN1, which, through mechanisms that remain unclear, inhibits the destruction complex and prevents β -catenin degradation. β -catenin is therefore free to translocate to the nucleus, where it will bind TCF/LEF (T cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor) transcription factors to induce Wnt/ β -catenin target genes (Logan and Nusse, 2004), including *c*-Myc, CyclinD1, and Axin2 **[FIGURE 8].** Wnt/ β -catenin signal strength is dependent on several agonists and antagonists, which may contribute to the very context-dependent transcriptional response of the pathway. In ISC, LGR5 and its homologs act as receptors for R-spondins, potent WNT signal enhancers that work by neutralizing RNF43 (ring finger protein 43) and ZNRF3 (Zinc And Ring Finger 3), two transmembrane E3 ligases that remove Wnt receptors from the cell surface (de Lau et al., 2011).



FIGURE 8. Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway in the intestine. Adapted from Morgan et al., 2018.

β-catenin was first identified as a component of cell-adhesion complexes, linking E-cadherin to α -catenin and the Actin cytoskeleton. Consequently, throughout the intestinal epithelium, β-catenin is mainly localized to the plasma membrane between epithelial cells, but also displays strong nuclear staining at the crypt bottom **[FIGURE 9A]**. Indeed, Wnt/β-catenin signaling is particularly active in ISC and Paneth cells and exhibits a decreasing gradient of activity from the crypt bottom up. This Wnt activity gradient is in part established by the localized production of Wnt ligands. Crypt epithelial cells produce WNT3, WNT9b, and WNT6 (Gregorieff et al., 2005; Farin et al., 2012). Of these, WNT3 is specifically expressed in Paneth cells. The intestinal mesenchyme also produces Wnt ligands, namely WNT2b, WNT4 and WNT5a. Furthermore, the mesenchyme near the differentiated epithelium produces Wnt antagonists like DKK (Dickkopf) in a localized manner (Gregorieff et al., 2005). All this combined makes for a rather intricate regulation of Wnt signaling resulting in a Wnt activity-permissive niche in the stem cell and Paneth cell compartment and repression of canonical Wnt signaling in the differentiated epithelium.

Wnt/ β -catenin signaling plays an essential role in regulating proliferation of ISC and their daughters in the crypt. Multiple studies have demonstrated that the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is essential for the maintenance and proliferation of CBC. In the intestine, disruption of the pathway by deletion of either *Tcf4* or the β -catenin gene *Ctnnb1* or more upstream disruption of the pathway by ectopic expression of the Wnt antagonist DKK1 results in a fatal disruption of intestinal architecture with ablation of the proliferative crypts (Korinek et al., 1998; Pinto et al., 2003; Ireland et al., 2004; Kuhnert et al., 2004; Muncan et al., 2006; Fevr et al., 2007; van Es et al., 2012b). Conversely, overstimulation of the pathway by removing *Apc* or by injecting recombinant R-spondin1 into mice induces rapid crypt proliferation involving β -catenin stabilization (Sansom et al., 2004; Andreu et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2005). Lgr5+ CBC were shown to be highly responsive to such modulations in Wnt signaling, expanding upon stimulation by R-spondin1 or *Apc* loss and dying upon DKK1-mediated inhibition of the pathway (Barker et al.,

2009; Yan et al., 2012).

In addition to proliferation, Wnt/ β -catenin signaling also affects differentiation of ISC daughters. Both the localization of Paneth cells at the crypt bottom and their expression of lineage-specific genes are affected by modulations at different levels of the pathway (Crawford et al., 1999; van Es et al., 2005a; Andreu et al., 2008). Moreover, intestinal tumors in mouse models overexpress Paneth cell-specific genes, and this surprisingly also applies to human colorectal tumors despite the absence of these cells in the healthy colonic mucosa (Crawford et al., 1999; Andreu et al., 2005, 2008; van Es et al., 2005b). Finally, this pathway also affects migration along the cryptvillus axis by promoting expression of EphB receptors and repressing the expression of their Ephrin-B ligands, creating a gradient of their expression along the crypt-villus axis co-inciding with β -catenin activity. Since the interaction between EphB receptors and Ephrin-B ligands has a repellant effect, this mechanism keeps EphB-expressing Paneth and ISC restricted to the crypt bottom and prevents the downward migration of differentiating progenitors (Batlle et al., 2002).

The major indicator of the role of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in the intestinal epithelium is the extensive effects of its deregulation. The conditional deletion of both alleles of *Apc*, the most commonly mutated gene in colorectal cancer (CRC), in the mouse intestinal epithelium leads to β -catenin accumulation and re-localization to the nucleus, intense cell proliferation in the crypt compartment, along with impaired migration and differentiation (Sansom et al., 2004; Andreu et al., 2005). Due to the lack of differentiated cells in the intestinal epithelium, these mice die from malnutrition within days. Genetically engineered mouse models carrying a single *Apc*-mutant allele (Apc^{+/ Δ} mice) have been useful to modeling CRC as certain crypts will sporadically acquire mutations on the other allele of *Apc* and form polyps and adenomas with high β -catenin activity **[FIGURE 9B]** (Colnot et al., 2004; Taketo and Edelmann, 2009).



FIGURE 9. β -catenin staining reveals active Wnt signaling (determined by nuclear β -catenin staining) in the crypt bottom in the normal intestinal epithelium (A) and throughout adenomatous tissue of Apc^{+/ Δ} mice (B). Adapted from van der Flier and Clevers, 2009.

2.2.2 NOTCH SIGNALING

The Notch pathway is also key to ISC maintenance and daughter cell fate determination. Unlike other signaling pathways, Notch signaling works by lateral inhibition between two adjacent cells. Notch ligands DLL1, DLL4, or JAGGED1 at the cell surface will bind the NOTCH1 or 2 receptors on neighboring cells (Schröder and Gossler, 2002; Sander and Powell, 2004). Upon ligand binding, the receptor is cleaved by a γ -secretase complex, shedding its extracellular portion and releasing its intracellular domain (NICD), which translocates into the nucleus and promotes transcription of target genes involved in proliferation and differentiation. As previously mentioned, the best characterized NICD target, *HES1*, represses transcription of Notch ligands and of *ATOH1*, both of which are key to secretory lineage commitment [FIGURE 10] (Yang et al., 2001; Milano et al., 2004; Stanger et al., 2005).

Lineage tracing experiments reveal active Notch signaling in ISC (Fre et al., 2011; Pellegrinet et al., 2011). Signal inhibition at any step of the pathway converts all proliferative cells in the crypt into post-mitotic secretory cells [FIGURE 10] (Milano et al., 2004; van Es et al., 2005a; Riccio et al., 2008; Pellegrinet et al., 2011; VanDussen et al., 2012; Tsai et al., 2014; Carulli et al., 2016). This includes Lgr5+ ISC, which are consequently lost (VanDussen et al., 2012; Carulli et al., 2016), leading to lack of epithelial regeneration, nutrient malabsorption, weight loss, and death. On the other hand, expression of a constitutively active NCID results in increased proliferation and secretory cell depletion (Fre et al., 2005; Stanger et al., 2005). Math1 deletion also results in depletion of all secretory lineages (Yang et al., 2001; Durand et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012). NOTCH signaling therefore maintains the proliferating ISC pool and suppresses secretory lineage engagement. Beyond this, however, Notch signaling does not appear necessary for absorptive lineage differentiation as simultaneous *Math1* deletion and Notch disruption does not prevent enterocyte differentiation (Kazanjian et al., 2010; van Es et al., 2010; Kim and Shivdasani, 2011). Furthermore, while the effects of Notch activation on proliferation are only possible in Wnt-activated cells, its effects on differentiation are Wnt-independent (Fre et al., 2009). The current model postulates that Wnt-induced stem cells are maintained in a Notch-high state by neighboring Notch ligand-expressing cells, and that upon exit from the ISC niche, the bimodal nature of the pathway will result in some daughters' expression of *Dll1* and *Math1* and repression of *Notch*, leading to their secretory lineage commitment. These cells will then repress such a commitment in their neighboring TA cells, ensuring an appropriate absorptive-tosecretory lineage ratio. Paneth cells express Notch ligands (Sato et al., 2011a) and thereby sustain active Notch signals in their neighboring ISC, although other sources of Notch ligands also likely exist in the crypt as stem cells are maintained despite the absence of Paneth cells in the colon and in the small intestine of *Math1*-knockout mice (Durand et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012).

Unsurprisingly, Notch signaling has been detected in both human and mouse intestinal adenomas, and aberrant Notch activation promotes adenoma formation in *Apc*-mutant mice (van Es et al., 2005a; Fre et al., 2009; Peignon et al., 2011). The opposite, however, is not true, as blocking Notch signaling does not prevent the initiation of *Apc*-mutant tumors, suggesting that β -catenin activation overrides the expected forced differentiation of proliferative cells (Peignon et al., 2011). Notably, Notch signaling is weaker in more advanced human carcinomas compared to adenomas, and its activation never leads to adenocarcinoma formation in *Apc*-mutant mice, indicating that Notch activation may be favorable (although not required) for tumor development but not for malignant progression (Fre et al., 2009).



FIGURE 10. Notch signaling pathway in the intestine. Inhibition of Notch signaling favors differentiation into secretory lineage cells, including goblet cells (Periodic Acid Schiff/Alcian Blue staining), enteroendocrine cells (Chromogranin A staining), and Paneth cells (Lysozyme staining). Adapted from Demitrack and Samuelson, 2016.

2.2.3 HEDGEHOG AND BMP SIGNALING

Hedgehog-family proteins and bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs, part of the transforming growth factor beta or TGF- β superfamily) link epithelial homeostasis to mesenchymal signals. The Hedgehog receptor, Patched (PTCH), normally inhibits the constitutively active Smoothened (SMO) receptor, thereby permitting cleavage of GLI transcription factors into their repressive forms. Upon Hedgehog binding, PTCH is repressed, and SMO signaling allows GLI-mediated transcriptional activation of Hedgehog target genes. Hedgehog signaling is exclusively paracrine in the adult intestine; Indian Hedgehog and Sonic Hedgehog (IHH and SHH), the main Hedgehog ligands in the intestine, are secreted by enterocytes and bind PTCH receptors on neighboring mesenchymal cells, inducing BMP production from these cells (Madison et al., 2005; van Dop et al., 2009). Binding of BMP to its type 2 receptor, BMPR2, results in the phosphorylation and activation of its type 1 receptor, BMPR1, which subsequently phosphorylates SMAD proteins 1, 5, or 8. These will then heterodimerize with SMAD4 before translocating to the nucleus to induce

transcription of target genes **[FIGURE 11]**. In the intestine, BMP2 and BMP4 are produced by intravillus and intercryptic mesenchymal cells, and BMPR1 is expressed in differentiated cells and ISC but not in the proliferative TA cells (Haramis et al., 2004; He et al., 2004). BMP antagonists like Noggin or Gremlins are expressed in subcryptic myofibroblasts and smooth muscle (He et al., 2004; Kosinski et al., 2007). As a consequence, BMP activity affects only the differentiated compartment of the epithelium.

The constitutive activation of Hedgehog signaling results in increased BMP signaling and depletion of proliferative cells and ISC (van Dop et al., 2009). Conversely, either inhibition of Hedgehog or deregulation of the BMP pathway results in expansion of the ISC compartment, excessive crypt formation, and the formation of hamatomatous polyps (Haramis et al., 2004; He et al., 2004; Madison et al., 2005; Davis et al., 2015; Qi et al., 2017). Explaining this phenomenon, BMP signaling was shown to directly interfere with Wnt-mediated β -catenin activation through a mechanism involving PI3K (Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase) and PTEN (Phosphatase and tensin homolog) (Waite et al., 2003; He et al., 2004). Hedgehog and BMP signaling therefore act in conjunction to determine regionalization of the epithelium by restraining proliferation and promoting differentiation.



FIGURE 11. Hedgehog and BMP signaling pathways

2.3 ORGANOID CULTURE AND THE EXPERIMENTAL NICHE

Whole small intestinal crypts can be cultured *ex vivo* in matrigel and using a supplemented medium, leading to the formation of intestinal organoids that, as previously noted, mimic the structure of the *in vivo* epithelium. Although this has often been labelled as "niche-independent" growth of ISC, it highlights the importance of a minimal molecular niche for proper ISC function. Among the key supplements to organoid culture medium are Wnt agonist and LGR5 ligand R-spondin1, the BMP antagonist Noggin, and EGF (epidermal growth factor) (Sato et al., 2009). When isolated ISC rather than whole crypts are cultured, exogenous Wnt ligands (typically WNT3a) must be added to the culture medium. Although this allows for ISC maintenance and proliferation, the resulting organoids no longer contain all the differentiated cells of the

homeostatic epithelium but rather seem to consist largely of undifferentiated progenitors that form a spheroid structure (Sato et al., 2011a). This is likely due to the ubiquitous delivery of Wnt ligand, as opposed to the more homeostatic gradient created by co-culture with Paneth cells.

Isolated colon crypts produce insufficient amounts of Wnt ligands to maintain colonic ISC in culture, therefore WNT3a must be added for colonic organoid growth (Sato et al., 2011b). Like small intestinal organoids with exogenous WNT, however, these do not properly differentiate. In the case of human small intestinal and colon crypts, addition of further factors is required for efficient long-term culture – Gastrin, Nicotinamide, an ALK receptor inhibitor and an inhibitor of p38 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) – suggestive of additional important pathways in human ISC function. A final component that must not be neglected for ISC maintenance and organoid growth is the substrate upon which crypts or ISC are plated. *In vivo*, the epithelium is surrounded by an ECM enriched in Laminin at the crypt base. For organoid growth, ISC are embedded in Laminin-rich matrigel. Furthermore, isolated epithelial cells die by anoikis, and the addition of ROCK (Rho-associated protein kinase) signaling inhibitor Y-27632 to the culture medium also improves organoid formation (Sato et al., 2009).

The implication of different signaling pathways in intestinal homeostasis can be tackled *in vitro* as organoids recapitulate the *in vivo* epithelial response. Organoid culture also has the added advantage of easier manipulation of treatments and the possibility to follow epithelial response over time while excluding the mesenchymal response. Recently, Yin et al. found that combined treatment with the GSK3 β inhibitor CHIR99021 and the histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor Valproic acid resulted in organoids containing almost exclusively proliferative Lgr5-EGPF-positive cells. Conversely, different combinations of Wnt or Notch inhibitors can be used to force differentiation into the different lineages of the epithelium (Yin et al., 2014). These models could therefore be used to analyze epithelial cell-type specific responses. Morevover, co-culture of intestinal organoids with lamina propria fibroblasts or lymphocytes has also been used to characterize epithelial-mesenchymal cell interactions in the intestine (Farin et al., 2012; Kabiri et al., 2014).

2.4 THE INTESTINAL STEM CELL NICHE

2.4.1 THE EPITHELIAL NICHE: PANETH CELLS AND DEEP CRYPT SECRETORY CELLS

One epithelial cell type stands out with regards to its involvement in the ISC niche. In addition to AMPs, Paneth cells also produce many of the essential trophic factors regulating the ISC niche, including WNT3, WNT6, WNT9, DLL4, DLL1, EGF and TGF- α (transforming growth factor alpha) (Gregorieff et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2011a). Recently, Farin et al. examined the establishment of the WNT gradient observed *in vivo* from Paneth cells. Surprisingly, they found that WNT3 acts not as a diffusible gradient but as a FZD-bound signal on the basolateral membrane of cells at the crypt bottom that is diluted up the crypt by cell division (Farin et al., 2016). They also report that WNT3 does not localize in Paneth cell granules along with AMPs, implying that it is secreted through another mechanism. This is in agreement with a previous report that put forward a

RAB8a (Ras-related proteins in brain 8a) vesicle-dependent secretion of Wnt ligands (Das et al., 2015).

It has been proposed that the Paneth cell zone defines the ISC niche. As ISC divide and their numbers increase, they will neutrally compete to either remain between Paneth cells and therefore maintain an ISC identity or drift out of the niche and adopt a TA fate (Snippert et al., 2010; Ritsma et al., 2014). An opposing hierarchical model argues that intestinal stem cells divide mostly asymmetrically, giving rise to both a new stem daughter and a TA daughter independently of niche specification. Consistent with Paneth cells delimiting the ISC niche, partial ablation of Paneth cells results in a decrease in the number of Lgr5⁺ ISC, with the remaining ISC crowded around the remaining Paneth cells (Sato et al., 2011a). Surprisingly, however, the total elimination of Paneth cells does not result in the loss of ISC [FIGURE 12A] (Shroyer et al., 2007; Durand et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012). The space normally occupied by Paneth cells is instead filled by ISC with active Wnt/β-catenin signaling. In fact, proliferation is increased in Paneth-cell deficient crypts (Shroyer et al., 2007; Durand et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012) and the regenerative capacity of ISC following irradiation is not affected (Durand et al., 2012). Paneth cells are therefore not required for ISC survival and proliferation. They are also not essential for stem cell localization, as ISC are retained at the crypt bottom despite the lack of Paneth cells. In fact, the small intestines of certain mammalian species, namely dogs and pigs, completely lack Paneth cells (Potten et al., 1997).

In vitro, however, Paneth cell-deficient crypts cannot form organoids (Durand et al., 2012). The same is true of Paneth cell-derived WNT3, the expression of which is dispensable for stem cell maintenance *in vivo* but essential for the growth of intestinal organoids *ex vivo* (Farin et al., 2012). *Wnt3*- or Paneth cell- deficient organoids can be maintained in culture by addition of exogenous WNT3a or by co-culture with intestinal mesenchymal cells [FIGURE 12B] (Sato et al., 2011a; Durand et al., 2012; Farin et al., 2012; Kabiri et al., 2014). The absence of Paneth cells *in vivo* must therefore be compensated by other niche cells likely providing Wnt ligands. WNT2b is the only Wnt ligand normally expressed by the mesenchyme capable of rescuing *Wnt3*- or Paneth cell-deficient organoid growth; it has therefore been suggested as the potential compensatory Wnt signal *in vivo* (Farin et al., 2012). Of course, the existence of another compensating for the loss of Paneth cells will be discussed in the next section. Of note, exogenous WNT6 or WNT9b also rescue *Wnt3*-deficient organoid growth, suggesting that the amount produced by the crypt epithelial cells is not sufficient to compensate WNT3 depletion.

Paneth cells have been shown not just to provide growth factors for ISC, but also to orchestrate their response to nutrient availability. It makes sense for the intestinal epithelium to be highly responsive to diet and nutrient availability. In response to calorie restriction, villi shorten along with the TA compartment, while ISC numbers increase. This increase in ISC numbers and proliferation is accompanied by an increase in Paneth cells. Inhibition of mTORC1 (mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1) is a classically described cellular response to nutrient deprivation. In 2012, Yilmaz et al. showed that the augmented ISC renewal following calorie

restriction is dependent on reduced mTORC1 activity in Paneth cells, resulting in increased extracellular cyclic ADP ribose production (Yilmaz et al., 2012). Igarashi and Guarente complemented this study by showing that this paracrine signal activates Sirtuin1 and mTORC1 signaling in ISC, promoting their self-renewal. Paneth cell signaling therefore overrides direct nutrient sensing in ISC to coordinate an adapted response (Igarashi and Guarente, 2016). A new study by Rodriguez-Coman et al. showed that while Lgr5+ ISC have high mitochondrial activity, Paneth cells are highly glycolytic. Blocking glycolysis in Paneth cells hindered their ability to support organoid formation in culture, and blocking oxidative phosphorylation in ISC also reduced organoid formation. On the other hand, providing lactate to isolated Lgr5+ ISC enhanced organoid formation. The authors therefore propose that Paneth cells, through their high glycolytic activity, provide lactate to ISC, enabling their high mitochondrial metabolism and proliferative capacity (Rodríguez-Colman et al., 2017). Another recent study by Schell et al. challenges this notion, showing that ISC surprisingly do not depend on pyruvate and carbohydrate oxidation; in fact, blocking pyruvate transport into mitochondria enhances ISC function, as fatty acid oxidation is presumably turned to as a source of energy (Schell et al., 2017). Similarly, Mihaylova et al showed that fasting promotes ISC function and regeneration by inducing fatty acid oxidation (Mihaylova et al., 2018). Nevertheless, these findings put forward a new potential niche function of Paneth cells in supporting ISC metabolism and orchestrating their adaptation to their metabolic environment.



FIGURE 12. The Paneth cell niche is dispensable in vivo but essential for ISC function ex-vivo. (A) Following Math1 deletion, the architecture of the intestinal epithelium and ISC pool (Olfm4 mRNA in-situ hybridization) are preserved in vivo despite the absence of Paneth cells (Lysozyme mRNA in-situ hybridization. (B) Paneth cell deficient organoids from isolated Math1-knockout crypts rapidly die ex-vivo. Addition of exogenous Wnt ligand to the culture medium rescues the survival of Paneth cell-deficient organoids. Adapted from Durand et al., 2012.

Although Paneth cells are absent in the colon, Lgr5⁺ ISC are still found intercalated between secretory cells. These cells, first coined "deep crypt secretory" (DCS) cells in 1983 by G.G. Altmann, are distinct from goblet cells but still contain mucous vacuoles in their cytoplasm (Altmann, 1983). Morphologic analysis of DCS cells reveals many shared features with small intestinal Paneth cells: they have a highly developed endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and Golgi

complex, they mature as they migrate down from the midcrypt to the crypt base, and their numbers vary from the proximal to the distal colon. With this background in mind, Rothenberg et al. identified a new goblet cell type that expresses several factors involved in ISC maintenance, such as DLL1, DLL4 and EGF (Rothenberg et al., 2012). These cells can be recognized by the marker cKIT, also expressed by small intestinal Paneth cells, and intercalate between Lgr5+ ISC in the colon. These cKit⁺ cells were also shown to express *Reg4* (regenerating islet-derived 4) and correspond to Altmann's DCS cells. Just recently, Sasaki et al. characterized the gene expression profile of Reg4⁺ DCS cells and found that they express several other Notch and EGF ligands along with goblet cell markers, although their signature matches that of Paneth cells more closely than that of goblet cells (Sasaki et al., 2016). Specific ablation of DCS cells by transgenic expression of DTR and DT treatment led to a loss of Lgr5+ stem cells. Consistently, coculture of Lgr5⁺ stem cells with cKit⁺ and Reg4⁺ DCS cells improves organoid growth while the disruption of DCS cells hinders it. Finally, DCS cell numbers are regulated by Notch signaling, as is the case for Paneth cells (Rothenberg et al., 2012; Sasaki et al., 2016). One key difference stands out between the two cell types: DCS cells, unlike Paneth cells, do not produce any Wnt ligands (Sasaki et al., 2016), although colon Lgr5⁺ cells do depend on them for growth *in vitro* (Sato et al., 2011b). As in the Paneth cell-depleted small intestine, another extra-epithelial source of WNT likely exists in the colon to maintain ISC homeostasis.

2.4.2 THE MESENCHYMAL NICHE

Stromal cells have been shown to play a crucial role in the homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium as well as in its response to different physiological stresses. Several key signaling pathways regulating epithelial proliferation and differentiation involve epithelial-mesenchymal communication, although the specific mesenchymal cell types involved are not yet fully established. Indeed, the identification of different populations of stromal cells in the lamina propria and their functional interactions with the epithelium is a subject of ongoing research. During embryogenesis, interactions between the endodermal epithelium and mesodermal stroma are key to the development of the gastrointestinal tract. In the adult, stromal cells have been shown to provide Hedgehog, BMP, Wnt ligands and Wnt antagonists like DKK, R-spondins, as well as ECM components and other signals important for epithelial homeostasis. Moreover, as small intestinal organoids lack the formation of extruding villi, the lamina propria is likely also necessary for complete crypt-villus axis patterning and morphology.

Stromal cells provide Wnt signals both in the colon, where DCS cells do not produce them, and in the small intestine, in complement to Paneth cells. Similar to the epithelial deletion of *Wnt3* by Farin et al. or Paneth cell ablation by Durand et al., Kabiri and coworkers used epithelium-specific genetic ablation of *Porcn*, encoding the ER O-acetlytransferase Porcupine required for WNT secretion and activity, to demonstrate that epithelial Wnts were dispensable *in vivo* but necessary for organoid growth *ex vivo* (Durand et al. 2012; Farin et al 2012; Kabiri et al., 2014). On the other hand, pharmacologic inhibition of Porcupine (affecting both the epithelium and surrounding mesenchyme) or whole-body deletion of Wntless (another protein required for WNT secretion) results in Lgr5+ ISC loss (Kabiri et al., 2014; Valenta et al., 2016). Kabiri et al.

further demonstrate that Porcupine-deficient organoid growth can be rescued by co-culture with intestinal stromal cells (Kabiri et al., 2014). The same group later showed that this was dependent on stromal WNT production (Greicius et al., 2018).

Several studies have since aimed at identifying the WNT-producing mesenchymal cell populations involved in both the small intestine and colon ISC niche, with the inevitable setback of the lack of clearly defined mesenchymal subpopulations and corresponding markers.

Subepithelial myofibroblasts create a layer of stromal cells in very close contact with the crypt epithelium. Different markers have been used to label this population including the smooth muscle markers MYH11 (myosin heavy chain 11) and α SMA (α smooth muscle actin) as well as the PDGF (platelet-derived growth factor) receptor PDGFR α , although none of these markers are exclusive to subepithelial myofibroblasts. Pericryptal myofibroblasts secrete WNT ligands essential for neonatal crypt formation (Valenta et al., 2016; Greicius et al., 2018). However, simultaneous deletion of Porcupine in epithelial cells and myofibroblasts does not disrupt crypt homeostasis (San Roman et al., 2014), suggesting that other WNT-producing cells of the lamina propria exist.

One recent report focused on CD34⁺ GP38⁺ mesenchymal cells, which are negative for endothelial (CD31⁻), hematopoietic (CD45⁻) and myofibroblast (α SMA⁻) markers and surround crypts in both the small intestine and colon. Co-culture of organoids with these cells results in the formation of highly proliferative spheroids, similar to the addition of exogenous Wnt. Moreover, this overrules the need for R-spondin supplementation. Indeed, CD34⁺ GP38⁺ crypt stromal cells express high levels of Wnt2b, Gremlin1 and Rspo1 as compared to other lamina propria mesenchymal cell types (Stzepourginski et al., 2017). These cells could therefore be an essential mesenchymal component of the ISC niche. Another study found that depletion of mesenchymal cells expressing Foxl1 (forkhead box L1, previously known as Fkh6), disrupted epithelial morphology, including loss of stem and proliferative cells (Aoki et al., 2016). Very recently, the same group characterized Foxl1⁺ cells as telocytes with long processes called telopodes that encompass all crypt cells and are less than micrometers away from the epithelium. Foxl1⁺ cells express numerous crypt-regulating signals in a localized manner: at the crypt bottom, they express WNT2b and R-spondin3, whereas they express BMP and Wnt inhibitors higher towards the crypt-villus junction. Similar to the depletion of Foxl1⁺ cells, blocking WNT secretion specifically from those cells resulted in loss of ISC (Shoshkes-Carmel et al., 2018). Interestingly, the CD34⁺ cells identified in the former study express *Foxl1*, whereas the Foxl1⁺ cells in the latter studies express CD34, suggesting that these may be overlapping populations. A third group approached the question by looking for WNT2b-expressing cells in the lamina propria, and found that subepithelial mesenchymal cells expressing WNT2b are a predominantly GLI1-positive (Valenta et al., 2016). They recently went on to show that blocking WNT secretion from Gli1⁺ cells disrupted colonic stem cell renewal and consequently the integrity of the colonic epithelium. Although not essential at basal levels in the small intestine, these cells expand in numbers and become essential in the small intestine in the absence of

epithelial Wnt ligand production (Degirmenci et al., 2018). Of note, Gli1⁺ cells represent a heterogenous population including cells expressing CD34 and cells expressing *Foxl1*.

Stromal cells of the lamina propria have also been implicated as key players in epithelial regeneration after injury. Both the CD34⁺ and Gli1⁺ populations mentioned above were shown to play a role in epithelial regeneration following Dextran Sulfate Sodiun (DSS) treatment, commonly used to induce colonic epithelium damage and inflammation (Stzepourginski et al., 2017; Degirmenci et al., 2018). Pericriptal fibroblasts have also been shown to drive epithelial response to bacterial infection by producing IL-33, which suppresses Notch signaling and drives differentiation towards secretory lineages (Mahapatro et al., 2016). In addition to stromal cells, microvasculature endothelial cells and enteric neurons have also been shown to play a role in maintenance of the epithelium after injury (Bjerknes and Cheng, 2001; Paris et al., 2001; Maj et al., 2003).

Immune cells in the lamina propria can also interact with the epithelium and its stem cells. Defined subsets of hematopoietic cells such as $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes (Komano et al., 1995) or macrophages (Pull et al., 2005; Bansal et al., 2011; Saha et al., 2016) have been reported to affect epithelial homeostasis or recovery following infection or tissue damage, although the signals involved in these interactions remain largely unclear. In one study, stromal macrophages were shown to release extracellular vesicles containing Wnt ligands to support epithelial regeneration upon radiation injury (Saha et al., 2016). Another Wnt-independent mechanism of immune cell support to the epithelium has also been put forward: Co-culture of intestinal organoids with isolated lamina propria lymphocytes stimulates Lgr5+ ISC expansion and growth of organoids in a way that is dependent on IL-22 production. The same effect is recapitulated both with isolated group 3 ILC and with recombinant IL-22 in a dose-dependent manner. This process is independent of Paneth cells or altered Wnt, Notch, or EGF activity, instead relying on STAT3 (signal transduce and activator of transcription 3) signaling in ISC (Lindemans et al., 2015). Upon injury in vivo, crypt-adjacent ILC, which lack antigen receptors but respond to cytokine signaling, produce IL-22 while epithelial cells upregulate their expression of the IL-22 receptor, overall promoting epithelial regeneration (Hanash et al., 2012; Lindemans et al., 2015). In counterpart, exacerbated IL-22 signals can promote tumorigenesis in the intestine (Huber et al., 2012; Kirchberger et al., 2013).

2.4.3 THE MICROBIAL NICHE

An impressive number of bacteria – considered to be over 10 times the number of human cells in the body – are housed within the human intestine. Colonization begins at birth (Huurre et al., 2008; Biasucci et al., 2010; Dominguez-Bello et al., 2010), but the composition of the microbiota varies throughout the host's lifetime, largely based on environmental factors like diet, lifestyle, use of antibiotics and geography (Rothschild et al., 2018). Generally speaking, anaerobic bacteria of the Firmicutes and Bacteriodetes phyla are the most abundant residents of the intestinal tract (Qin et al., 2010). Similar to the host tissue architecture, the spatial distribution of the gut microbiota varies along two axes. Very few bacterial species survive in the stomach (where bacterial density is around 10¹ bacterial cells per gram) and duodenum (10³ cells per gram) due to the acidic luminal pH. Bacterial density then increases gradually along the cephalo-caudal axis, with approximately 10⁵ cells per gram the jejunum, 10⁸ cells per gram in the ileum, and a peak of up to 10¹² cells per gram of bacteria in the colon **[FIGURE 13]**. On the other hand, bacterial numbers gradually decrease along the second axis, from the lumen to the crypts of the epithelium. This gradient is dependent on decreasing nutrient availability from food in the lumen, increasing oxygen content and the presence of mucus, AMPs, and IgA from the host tissue. Importantly, not just the density, but the composition of the microbiota also varies along these two axes **[FIGURE 13]**. The proximal end of the intestinal tract mainly carries oxygen and acid-tolerant species, including Helicobacteraceae and Lactobacillaceae. In contrast, the colon supports anaerobic bacteria like Lachnospiraceae, Bacteroidacea, and Prevotellaceae that actively ferment complex carbohydrates into short-chain fatty acids. Similarly, the conditions along the lumen-crypt axis also favor specific types of bacteria; for example, anaerobic bacteria dominate towards the lumen, while aerobic bacteria are more common towards the crypts (Pedron et al., 2012; Sommer and Bäckhed, 2016).



FIGURE 13. Distribution and composition of the gut microbiota along the cephalo-caudal and lumen-crypt axes. Adapted from Sommer and Bäckhed, 2016.

The varying densities and types of bacteria along with the different metabolites they produce can be detected by different host cells in the epithelium and lamina propria. These signals, or combinations of signals, will induce specific responses in different host cell types; for example, microbial signals in the crypt predominantly regulate epithelial cell expression of genes involved in proliferation, cell cycle, DNA replication and repair, whereas microbial signals in the villus tip drive expression of genes involved in immunity and metabolism (Sommer et al., 2015).

Specific molecular patterns unique to a subset of microorgansisms (termed microbe-associated molecular patterns, or MAMPs) are sensed by host pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), including transmembrane Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and intrancellular NOD-like receptors (NLRs) [FIGURE 14]. These PRRs play an essential role in innate immunity by allowing host cells to distinguish between different types of microorganisms. For example, TLR4 recognizes lipopolysaccharide (LPS) on the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria whereas TLR2 binds lipoteichoic acid (LTA), a major constituent of the cell wall of Gram-positive bacteria. TLR5 distinguishes flagellated bacteria by binding Flagellin, the main structural protein of the flagellum. Most TLRs stimulate central signaling cascades like Nuclear factor κB (NF κB) or MAPK signaling through the adaptor protein MyD88 (Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88), resulting in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. As NLRs are intracellular, they detect invasive bacteria. The NLR NOD2 is particularly recognized for its role in intestinal physiology, as mutations of the *Nod2* gene are associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease (Rioux et al., 2007). NOD2 is expressed in monocytes, Paneth cells, and in ISC (Lala et al., 2003; Nigro et al., 2014) and detects muramyl dipeptide (MDP), a component of peptidoglycan (PGN) common to both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Like TLRs, NLRs stimulate NF-κB signaling but also induce activation of the inflammasome, which promotes the caspase-mediated maturation and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines [FIGURE 14].

Both intestinal epithelial cells and immune cells of the lamina propria express these PRRs. To prevent the constant activation of inflammatory responses despite the vast expression of PRR ligands by commensals, several mechanisms are put in place. First, PRR expression is kept low in intestinal epithelial cells and can be upregulated during inflammation (Abreu, 2010). Second, expression of TLRs and their co-receptors can be spatially restricted to the apical or basolateral side of the polarized epithelial cells; this way a distinction could be made between luminal commensals and pathogens that have crossed the epithelial barrier (Abreu, 2010). Third, regulated host expression of molecules that inhibit TLR signaling – like A20 (Vereecke et al., 2014), Tollip (Otte et al., 2004), or PPAR γ (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ) (Neish et al., 2000; Kelly et al., 2004; Petrof et al., 2004) – can also modulate immune responses. Finally, metabolites produced by commensal bacteria have been shown to induce anti-inflammatory signaling (Menard, 2004). The combination of all these mechanisms establishes a balance of tolerogenic and inflammatory host-microbiota interactions in the healthy gut.



FIGURE 14. Common Pattern Recognition Receptors and downstream signaling pathways. Adapted from Sartor, 2008.

In germ-free animals, the architecture of the intestinal epithelium is affected: crypts are shorter with lower proliferative rates, the microvillus brush border is impaired, and the permeability of the epithelium is higher compared to conventionally raised animals (Abrams et al., 1963; Alam et al., 1994). The epithelium of germ-free animals also have fewer goblet cells and a thinner mucus layer, and this can be reversed in the presence of MAMPs like LPS or PGN (Sharma et al., 1995; Petersson et al., 2011). Similarly, although Paneth cells appear independently of luminal contents, their production of AMPs is stimulated by the presence of the microbiota (Mallow et al., 1996; Falk et al., 1998; Ayabe et al., 2000; Pütsep et al., 2000; Liu et al., 2006; Vaishnava et al., 2008). The microbiota therefore helps maintain the barrier function of the intestinal epithelium. Furthermore, several studies have shown that TLR-mediated recognition of commensals is necessary for the regeneration of the epithelium in response to injury (Rakoff-Nahoum et al., 2004; Fukata et al., 2005).

The fact that epithelial kinetics are slowed in germ-free animals (Abrams et al., 1963; Alam et al., 1994; Reikvam et al., 2011) suggests a direct or indirect effect of the microbiota on ISC dynamics. One mechanism by which the microbiota affects ISC is through microbial metabolites, several of which were discovered to suppress colon stem and progenitor cell proliferation in a recent screen by Stappenbeck's group (Kaiko et al., 2016). Of these, butyrate, a product of bacterial dietary fiber fermentation, had the most drastic effects, suppressing proliferation at low concentrations and inducing apoptosis at concentrations closer to those found in the colon lumen. The authors postulate that the crypt architecture and colonocytes' ability to oxidize and metabolize butyrate create a luminal gradient of butyrate down the crypt regulating stem and progenitor cell proliferation. Interestingly, butyrate-mediated inhibition of proliferation

depends on epigenetic changes involving the histone deacetylase HDAC3, known to link bacterial signals to epithelial response in the intestine (Alenghat et al., 2013).

Because of their localization furthest from luminal contents in the mucus- and AMP-protected crypt bottom, it was long thought that homeostatic ISC benefited from a sterile environment. Challenging this notion, work by Sansonetti's group revealed the existence of a restricted set of bacteria in colonic crypts of healthy mice, which they termed the "crypt-specific core microbiota" (Pedron et al., 2012). Interestingly, this predominantly aerobic population resembles the microbiota found in the midgut of invertebrates, hinting at a potential coevolutionary selection of commensals favoring proper gut dynamics. Both the commensal microbiota and MyD88 activity modulate crypt proliferation at basal levels and are required for epithelial recovery from DSS-induced colitis, revealing a surprising regenerative effect of microbiota-induced PRR signaling in the gut (Rakoff-Nahoum et al., 2004). These observations were made all the more relevant by reports of direct expression of PRRs TLR4 and NOD2 by Lgr5+ ISC directly. The stimulation of these PRRs in vivo or in organoid cultures has drastically different effects on ISC; whereas treatment with TLR4 antigen LPS induces apoptosis of small intestinal Lgr5⁺ ISC (Neal et al., 2012) and favors differentiation over proliferation in colonic crypts (Naito et al., 2017), treatment with the NOD2 agonist MDP protects ISC from stress (Nigro et al., 2014). As will be discussed below, the microbiota can also affect stem cell dynamics by affecting their redox state. ISC are therefore in direct communication with the microbiota and can thereby adjust their response to the luminal microenvironment. These studies also bring a new perspective on the reported link between the presence of particular commensals and pathogens and the development of CRC (Machida-Montani et al., 2007; Castellarin et al., 2011; Kostic et al., 2012, 2013; Dejea et al., 2014).

2.5 REGULATION OF INTESTINAL STEM CELL INTEGRITY

Generally speaking, maintaining the genomic integrity of adult stem cells is crucial to prevent a mutation from becoming fixed or passed on to a substantial part of the tissue. For this reason, specific mechanisms are put in place in stem cells that often differ from those existing in downstream progenitors and differentiated cells (Mandal et al., 2011). In several tissues, like the hematopoietic system, adult stem cells are kept quiescent in a hypoxic niche with relatively low metabolic activity and low reactive oxygens species (ROS) production, which is thought protect them from accumulating DNA damage. ISC differ from this scheme in many aspects: they are highly proliferative, metabolically active and highly dependent on oxidative phosphorylation, the main intracellular source of ROS. Remarkably, despite their constant and rapid proliferation, ISC show little deterioration in functional competence as the organism ages. While the signaling pathways responsible for the renewal and differentiation of ISC are well established, the mechanisms controlling their protection and integrity throughout the organism's lifetime are far less understood.

2.5.1 Crypt Monoclonality & Neutral Drift

One of the earliest-described properties of intestinal crypts, even before ISC markers were properly defined, is the tendency of cells within a single crypt to progressively drift towards monoclonality both during development and after a mutagenic event. Using functional mutations at one locus as a read-out, it was shown that shortly after a mutagenic event presumably affecting single ISC within each crypt, both monoclonal and mixed crypts (with cells expressing either the functional or non-functional mutant read-out protein) are present throughout the epithelium. Over time, however, the number of mixed crypts decreases while the number of monoclonal crypts increases (Loeffler et al., 1993). Assuming the acquired mutation is neutral (does not provide any competitive advantage over other stem cells within the same crypt), this means that the chances of a mutation being retained are inversely proportional to the number of stem cells in the crypt. This notion has also been supported by more recent studies giving rise to the previously mentioned neutral drift hypothesis [FIGURE 15], which postulates that ISC within a crypt neutrally compete for space in their defined niche, eventually resulting in a drift towards monoclonality over time (Lopez-Garcia et al., 2010; Snippert et al., 2010; Vermeulen et al., 2013; Ritsma et al., 2014; Huels et al., 2018). In this scenario, a mutated stem cell and its daughters would stochastically be retained in the crypt or not. This remains true even if the mutation at hand were to give it a proliferative advantage and therefore induce a biased drift, as is the case for Apc loss or KRAS activation – two common mutations in CRC (Lopez-Garcia et al., 2010; Vermeulen et al., 2013; Snippert et al., 2014). This mechanism is therefore thought to protect against the acquisition of deleterious mutations. Interestingly, mutations of *Tp53* – also common in CRC – do not confer a competitive advantage to mutant ISC under normal conditions, but do benefit colon stem cells following colitis-inducing DSS treatment (Vermeulen et al., 2013), hinting at a context-dependent advantage of certain mutations. Very recently, Huels et al. added further support to neutral drift hypothesis by modulating WNT secretion and thereby the size of the niche and number of ISC (Huels et al., 2018). They show that reducing ISC numbers accelerates monoclonal conversion of the crypt and with it the fixation of pro-tumorigenic mutations.

Another hypothesis put forward by Potten et al. in 2002 postulates that ISC preserve their integrity through deterministic asymmetric divisions, where components are selectively sorted to the stem or TA daughter cell (Potten et al., 2002). For example, the mother stem cell's template DNA would be kept in the stem cell daughter whereas the more error-prone newly synthesized DNA would be passed on to differentiating cells. However, this hypothesis has been put into question in the case of ISC, which appear to segregate the majority of their DNA randomly (Escobar et al., 2011). The proposed +4SC population that keeps its genomic material safe by remaining quiescent unless the proliferative population needs to be replaced could represent another way to preserve integrity of the ISC genome.



R26R-Confetti tracing — 7 days post-induction



R26R-Confetti tracing — 4 months post-induction



FIGURE 15. Neutral competition between intestinal stem cells contributes to intestinal homeostasis. Due to restricted niche space, intestinal stem cell proliferation leads to displacement of neighboring stem cells from the niche. As a consequence, clonal expansion (arrows) is compensated by the loss of other clones, ultimately resulting in the stochastic fixation of a single clone per crypt. Mouse small intestines expressing the multicolor Cre-reporter R26R-Confetti visually illustrate the competition between individual stem cell clones, each endowed with one of four fluorescent proteins. Over time, most crypts become clonal (single colored). Adapted from Vermeulen and Snippert, 2014.

2.5.2 P53 AND APOPTOSIS

The protein p53, encoded by the gene *TP53*, is a widely recognized tumor suppressor acting as both a transcription factor and an effector protein regulating cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, or senescence in response to stress. In doing so, it either allows damaged cells to recover or, in the face of excessive damage, eliminates the potential threat to tissue integrity (Levine and Oren, 2009). The cellular outcome following stress, such as DNA damage, will therefore depend on the rate of repair and severity of the insult, which will determine the duration and robustness of p53 activation. *TP53* is mutated in a large potion of human cancers, including colorectal cancer, and p53-null mice are known to rapidly develop a wide spectrum of tumors – particularly sarcomas and lymphomas. The vast array of anti-tumoral functions played by p53 in nearly all tissues and cell types has earned it the nickname of "guardian of the genome".

At basal levels, loss of p53 in the intestinal epithelium does not result in any particular physiological changes: spontaneous apoptosis levels are unchanged (Merritt et al., 1994) and tumors do not spontaneously develop for up to 14 months (Schwitalla et al., 2013a; Chanrion et al., 2014), suggesting that additional mutagenic events are required along with the loss of p53. Also surprisingly, the loss of p53 does not favor tumor initiation or progression in Apc^{+/Δ} mice (Clarke et al., 1995; Demidov et al., 2007). However, p53 deletion prior to treatment with the carcinogen azoxymethane (AOM) prevents damage-induced apoptosis of proliferative cells in the crypt and promotes tumor development (Schwitalla et al., 2013a), indicating that an important function of p53 in the intestinal epithelium is the elimination of damaged, potentially

tumor-initiating cells. Deletion of p53 *after* AOM treatment results in more invasive tumors associated with a defect in barrier function, increased inflammatory signals, and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition signatures. Likewise, concomitant deletion of p53 and activation of Notch signaling in the intestinal epithelium leads to the development of highly invasive tumors (Chanrion et al., 2014), highlighting an additional role of p53 in tumor progression to malignancy. This is consistant with the fact that *TP53* mutations are found in 50 to 70% of human colorectal carcinomas but not in adenomas, suggesting that loss of p53 function occurs as a late event in CRC that favors genomic instability and malignant progression (Vogelstein et al., 1988; Baker et al., 1989).

As the intestine is one of the most proliferative organs, it is also one of the most sensitive to genotoxic stresses induced notably by ionizing radiation (IR) or chemotherapy. Although low doses of irradiation elicit hematopoietic syndrome, higher doses (>14Gy) result in gastrointestinal syndrome, with heavy cell death in the intestinal crypts resulting in the ultimately lethal loss of intestinal function. IR-induced death in intestinal crypts peaks at around 6 hours after irradiation and is dependent on the rapid induction of p53 and its downstream effectors of apoptosis (Merritt et al., 1994; Qiu et al., 2008). Importantly, both nuclear p53 and IR-induced cell death are concentrated in positions one to 10 from the crypt bottom, affecting primarily ISC and early TA progenitors. The fact that loss of p53 renders intestinal epithelial cells resistant to IR-induced apoptosis supports the aforementioned idea that p53 mediates the removal of damaged cells with carcinogenic potential from intestinal crypts. Interestingly, ISCs were found to repair IR-induced DNA damages more efficiently than TA progenitors or differentiated cells (Hua et al., 2012), highlighting the importance of both preserving the genomic integrity and maximizing the survival of the highly sensitive ISC pool. 24 to 48 hours after irradiation, a second peak of apoptosis occurs that is this time independent of p53 and rather associated with a G2/M cell cycle checkpoint (Merritt et al., 1997). If the damage is not detrimental, the crypts then regenerate [FIGURE 16].

Generally speaking, colonic crypts are more resistant to genotoxic insult (induced either by IR or chemotherapeutic treatment) than small intestinal crypts (Merritt et al., 1994; Tinkum et al., 2015). This has been attributed to higher expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2, which moderates the apoptosis of colon ISC not just after irradiation but also at basal levels (Merritt AJ et al., 1995), as well as to more efficient resolution of DNA damages (Hua et al., 2017).



FIGURE 16. Schematic representation of response to 12 Gy irradiation in the small intestinal crypt. Adapted from Lund, 2012.

2.5.3 REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES

Initially considered only as a toxic bi-product of cellular metabolism, ROS have since been implicated in various biological processes including proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. The most common cellular ROS are superoxide anions (O_2) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , and hydroxyl radicals (OH-) [FIGURE 17A]. Mitochondrial respiration, the main intracellular source of ROS, produces mainly superoxide during the electron transport across the inner mitochondrial membrane [FIGURE 17B]. Therefore, intracellular ROS levels can be controlled by regulating mitochondrial metabolism and diverting substrates away from oxidative phosphorylation. Membrane-bound NADPH oxidases, which consume NADPH to genereate superoxide and subsequently hydrogen peroxide, are another major source of ROS [FIGURE 17c]. In parallel, ROS levels are tightly regulated by various scavenging systems. $O_{2^{-}}$ is highly reactive and can be reduced to H_2O_2 by Superoxide dismutase (SOD), and H_2O_2 is subsequently reduced to water (H_2O) and oxygen (O_2) by Catalase or other cellular antioxidants. These include Glutathione, one of the most abundant antioxidants synthesized by the cells, and the Glutaredoxin, Thioredoxin and Peroxiredoxin systems. As H_2O_2 has a longer half-life and can freely diffuse across membranes, it is thought to be the major ROS involved in intracellular signaling. ROS can directly oxidize proteins, lipids, and nucleotides and, if unrestrained, lead to excessive damages and oxidative stress. Certain proteins, called redox sensors, can undergo conformational changes following amino acid oxidation and subsequently induce specific signaling pathways. These notably include p53, ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated), p38 MAPK, AKT and Sirtuins, among many others. Conversely, several signaling pathways modulate ROS levels, including the transcription factors NRF2 (nuclear factor erythroid 2) and FOXO (forkhead box family, class 0), both of which regulate the expression of proteins implicated in the antioxidant scavenging systems mentioned above (Bigarella et al., 2014).

In the intestine, mitochondrial activity is tightly regulated along the crypt-villus axis. Differentiated enterocytes have a high content of functional mitochondria and depend on oxidative phosphorylation, whereas the highly proliferative crypt progenitors are thought to be more glycolytic (Jeynes and Altmann, 1975; Lin et al., 2010; Stringari et al., 2012). In fact, modulating mitochondrial biogenesis and glycolysis affects villus formation during development and the ratio of proliferative crypt cells to differentiated villus cells in the adult small intestine (Lin et al., 2010; D'Errico et al., 2011; Kumar et al., 2016). As we previously noted, the inverse is true in the ISC niche, where differentiated Paneth cells are highly glycolytic and ISC have high mitochondrial activity - although their metabolic substrates remain a matter of debate (Rodríguez-Colman et al., 2017; Schell et al., 2017). In line with this, ISC have been shown to have high mitochondrial copy numbers, elevated mitochondrial ROS levels and p38 MAPK activation (Myant et al., 2013; Rodríguez-Colman et al., 2017; Schell et al., 2017). Mitochondrial ROS production plays an important role in ISC function as treatment with antioxidants blocks crypt formation in organoids. However, mitochondrial ROS production, mimicked by paraquat treatment, is not sufficient to induce organoid crypt formation (Rodríguez-Colman et al., 2017). Overall, this suggests a unique regulation of mitochondrial activity and ROS production in ISC compared to other crypt cells.



FIGURE 17. Reactive oxygen species production and scavenging. Reactive oxygen species (shown in A) including superoxide anions (O_2^-) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and hydroxyl radicals (OH^-) , are generated from both the electron transport chain during phosphorylative oxidation in the mitochondria (shown in B) and membrane-bound NADPH oxidases (the two major epithelieal NADPH oxidases, NOX1 and DUOX2, are shown in C). Various cellular antioxidant systems (shown in A), like supperoxide dismutase (SOD), Catalase, and the Glutathione system, control levels of reactive oxygen species and prevent oxidative damage to proteins, lipids, and DNA. Maintaining a balanced cellular redox state is key to intestinal epithelial homeostasis (shown in D). Adapted from Bigarella et al., 2014 and Aviello and Knaus, 2018.

ROS scavenging activity is also variable along the crypt-villus axis, with 2-3-fold higher glutathione reductase, glutathione S-transferase, and glutathione peroxidase activity in the villus compared to the crypt, but nearly 10-fold higher SOD and Catalase activity in the crypt than in the villus (Chu and Steven Esworthy, 1995; Turan and Mahmood, 2007). As a result of both high mitochondrial activity and low antioxidant activity in differentiated villus cells, accumulated ROS are thought to contribute to the induction of anoikis at the villus tip (Turan and Mahmood, 2007; D'Errico et al., 2011). On the other hand, crypt cells are considered to be better protected against oxidative damage.

Finally, intestinal epithelial cells also express NADPH oxidases at their apical membrane, in particular NOX1 (NADPH oxidase 1) and DUOX2 (Dual oxidase 2), that trigger oxidative bursts as an antimicrobial defense mechanism. ROS production from NADPH oxidases has also been shown to contribute to proliferation, regeneration, and differentiation in the intestinal epithelium (Coant et al., 2010; Jones et al., 2013; Leoni et al., 2013; Myant et al., 2013). For example, specific bacterial species (including *Lactobacillus rhamnosis* but not *Escherichia coli*) induce epithelial ROS production and subsequent crypt proliferation in a NOX1-dependent manner (Jones et al., 2013). Jones et al. further showed that this had a cytoprotective effect on crypt cells in the context of irradiation via the activation of NRF2 (Jones et al., 2015). Modulation of ROS production and antioxidant mechanisms is therefore a key mediator of microbiota-crypt interactions. As previously noted, the microbiota can also directly stimulate NOD2 signaling in

ISC, affecting their survival in response to ROS-induced stress (Nigro et al., 2014), although the cytoprotective mechanisms downstream of NOD2 remain to be elucidated.

Fine-tuned regulation of ROS not only plays a role in ISC and epithelial homeostasis, but also in tumor development. For example, the loss of *Apc* has been shown to induce transcription of both RAC1, a GTPase that plays a key role in ROS production as a component of NOX1, and TIGAR, a key enzyme of the pentose phosphate pathway, which in addition to producing nucleotides acts as a major source of reduced glutathione. Although these two enzymes play seemingly opposite roles with regards to ROS, the deletion of either *Rac1* or *Tigar* stunts proliferative responses. The effects of *Rac1* deletion can be rescued by treating mice with paraquat, while those of *Tigar* deletion can be rescued by treatment with ROS scavengers like N-Acetyl Cystein (NAC), illustrating the deleterious effects of either insufficient and excessive ROS [FIGURE 17D] (Cheung et al., 2013, 2016; Myant et al., 2013). Morevoer, both *Rac1* and *Tigar* deletion reduce tumor formation in Apc^{+/Δ} mice. Thus, whereas controlled ROS production is required for continued proliferation, ROS scavenging prevents ROS-induced apoptosis in both the homeostatic crypt and tumor cells.

III. COLORECTAL CANCER

3.1 PREVALENCE AND RISK FACTORS

CRC is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer worldwide in both men and women, with an estimated 1.36 million new cases and 694,000 deaths in 2012. In France, CRC is also the third most common cancer (after prostate and breast cancer) with over 40,000 new cases each year, and the second most lethal cancer (after lung cancer) with 17,500 deaths each year **[FIGURE 18]**.



FIGURE 18. Incidence and mortality associated with the ten most common cancer types world-wide and in France. Data from Ferlay et al., 2015.

Several factors contribute to the onset of CRC. Such risk factors include:

- Age: 95% of new cases are detected in patients aged over 50, with the mean detection age around 70 for men and 73 for women.
- Genetics: Although the majority of CRC are sporatic, 20-30% of cases occur in patients with a family history of CRC and 5% of these arise in the setting of inherited syndromes, the two most common being famililal adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and Lynch syndrome, also called hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer (HNPCC). FAP, which accounts for approximately 1% of CRC, is due to an inherited mutation on a single allele of the *APC* gene resulting the accumulation of benign adenomatous polyps throughout the intestine and particularly in the colon. In 100% of cases, CRC develops before age 40 (Miyoshi et al., 1992). Mouse models with similar mutations on a single *Apc* allele recapitulate the phenotypes found in FAP patients (Colnot et al., 2004; Taketo and Edelmann, 2009). HNPCC, causing about 2-5% of CRC, is due to inherited mutations on genes related to mismatch repair (MMR), which repairs replication errors like base-base mismatches or insertions/deletions. This results in an 80% lifetime risk of developing CRC. Mutations on genes encoding MMR proteins MSH2 (MutS homolog 2), MLH1 (MutL

homolog 1) or MSH6 (MutS homolog 6) are particularly common. Mice conditionally invalidated for *Msh2* in the intestinal epithelium rapidly and continuously accumulate microsatellite instability over time, and develop tumors with high penetrance within 12 months (Kucherlapati et al., 2010; Keysselt et al., 2017).

- Lifestyle factors like diet, obesity, smoking, and lack of physical activity also contribute to the risk of developing CRC.
- IBD: Patients with Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis are at higher risk of developing CRC, and this risk increases the longer the patient has the disease. About 1-2% of CRC arise in the context of IBD.

3.2 TUMORIGENESIS AND PROGRESSION

Cancer progression can be seen as a multistep process, where a first mutation drives tumor initiation, followed by additional mutagenic or epigenetic events that may promote growth and malignancy, altogether called tumor progression. CRC is a textbook example of such a stepwise tumor progression. The initial stage is a hyperplasia of the epithelium: the mucosa becomes thicker as a result of crypt hyperproliferation. This can develop into small polyps that can be detected by colonoscopy. The progression of these polyps to later-stage adenomas then to *in situ* adenocarcinomas and eventually malignant carcinomas that invade the basement membrane and can become metastatic is slow, often taking over 10 years. Regular colonoscopies and removal of benign polyps considerably reduces the incidence of CRC, supporting the idea of a step-wise progression of adenoma to carcinoma. Occasionally, distinct, more advanced zones can be distinguished within a single tumor, which has been interpreted as a result of the acquisition of a more malignant phenotype by individual mutant clones within the original adenomatous tumor.

Fearon and Vogelstein initially proposed a model where this sequence of histopathological changes from adenoma to carcicnoma is directly associated with certain mutations and molecular alterations [FIGURE 19] (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990). In this model, tumor initiation is driven by mutations of the APC gene, resulting in epithelium hyperplasia. About 80% of sporatic CRC as well as FAP-associated CRC present either inactivating mutations or loss of heterozygosity on both copies of the APC gene or, less frequently, mutations on genes encoding other components of the canonical Wnt pathway (Powell et al., 1992; Morin et al., 1997; Fodde et al., 2001; Koo et al., 2012; Seshagiri et al., 2012). Activation of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is therefore a central event in CRC. This is consistent with the previously mentioned evidence from models of Apc loss in the murine epithelium. The importance of Apc deficiency not just as an initiating event but also in driving tumor growth has recently been underlined by Dow et al. (Dow et al., 2015). In their study, restoring Apc expression in established tumors, even those carrying additional mutations, leads to their regression and the re-establishment of a normal epithelial architecture. On the other hand, the fact that only a few of the many Apc-mutant polyps in FAP patients progress to CRC highlights the need for additional alterations to progress to a more malignant stage. Over the course of tumor progression, additional mutations are indeed acquired; among these are activating mutations of KRAS or other components of the

EGFR (EGF receptor) pathway, loss of function mutations of SMAD2/4 or other factors of the growth-inhibitory TGF- β /BMP signaling, and loss of function of p53. LOH on genes like *SMAD2*, *SMAD4* or *TP53* are increasingly common as tumors become more advanced, suggesting that they are late events in tumor progression. Along with the increasing number of mutations and genetic instability, epigenetic defects and microenvironmental changes also arise, including changes in the tumor-associated stroma, deregulations of the microbiota (dysbiosis), or inflammation.

While the vast majority of CRC develop via this adenoma-to-carcinoma sequence, it is estimated that about 10-20% of CRC develop through a different sequence of morphological changes called the serrated pathway. Serrated polyps and premalignant tumors, characterized by unique saw-tooth pattern morphology, are classified either as traditional serrated adenomas (TSA) or sessile serrated adenomas (SSA). Due to their high molecular heterogeneity, serrated tumors are more commonly distinguished by their unique morphology, though they commonly carry *KRAS* or *BRAF* mutations (more common in TSA and more common in SSA, respectively). Importantly, CRC associated with the serrated pathway are strongly associated with poor prognosis and resistance to therapy.



FIGURE 19. Classical sequence of genetic changes underlying the development of colorectal cancer, initially put forward by Fearon and Vogelstein. Adapted from Davies et al., 2005.

3.3 TYPES OF COLORECTAL CANCER

CRC is a heterogeneous disease characterized by genetic instability arising by at least three mechanisms: one involving chromosome instability (CIN, also called microsatellite stable, or MSS), another involving instability at the level of the nucleotide sequence (microsatellite instability, MSI), and a third involving CpG island methylation (CpG island methylation phenotype, or CIMP).

- CIN, involves the presence of numerical or structural chromosomal changes, notably detectable as a high frequency of DNA somatic copy number alterations (SCNA). CIN or MSS tumors represent the vast majority (~84%) of sporadic CRC and all FAP-associated tumors. These tumors typically follow the classical adenoma-to-carcinoma mutation sequence described above.
- MSI, on the other hand, is linked to about 15% of CRC including HNPCC-associated CRC. A key mechanism for MSI is the inactivation, either through germline mutations or epigenetic silencing of genes encoding MMR machinery (called deficient MMR, or

dMMR). This leads to frequent errors in DNA replication, particularly in repeated nucleotide sequences like microsatellite repeats. MSI CRC are further divided into two types, MSI-H and MSI-L, based on their high or low level of MSI, respectively. Generally speaking, patients with MSI-H tumors have a better prognosis and lower risk of metastases than patients with MSI-L or MSS tumors.

 CIMP tumors involve epigenetic mechanisms: CpG clusters in certain promoter regions are generally unmethylated but can become methylated – typically on the promoter of tumor suppressor genes – resulting in the transcriptional inactivation of these genes. This can occur at a low level increasing with age or at a higher level.

These different pathways of CRC progression along with specific recurrent mutations have been used to classify CRC subtypes in several studies, with two notable recent classifications proposed by the cancer genome altlas (TCGA) (The Cancer Genome Atlas Network et al., 2012) and the CRC subtyping consortium (CRCSC) (Guinney et al., 2015) [FIGURE 20]. TCGA classification is based on a genome-scale genomic and transcriptomic analysis of 276 samples, divided into two major groups: about 84% of tumors were classified as MSS with a high frequency of SCNA and common mutations in APC, TP53, KRAS, SMAD4, and PIK3CA. The remaining 16% of tumors were categorized as hypermutated with MSI due either to defective MMR (\sim 13%) or DNA polymerase proofreading mutations (\sim 3%, mainly on the genes encoding DNA polymerase ε , *POLE*, or δ , *POLD1*) resulting in an ultramutated phenotype. The CRCSC brought together six independent classification systems based largely on gene expression analysis, which they combined into four core consensus molecular subtypes (CMS): CMS1 (MSI immune, 14%) includes nearly all hypermutated MSI tumors, characterized by strong immune infiltration and activation, while MSS tumors are subdivided into CMS2 CRC (canonical, 37%) with marked Wnt and Myc signaling activation, CMS3 CRC (metabolic, 13%) with clear metabolic dysregulation, and CMS4 CRC (mesenchymal, 23%) with prominent TGF-β activation, stromal invasion and angiogensis. The remaining 13% of CRC remained unclassified. Importantly, this classification of CRC should allow more accurate prognosis and better-adapted treatment of CRC.



FIGURE 20. Classification of human colorectal cancer. Adapted from Müller et al., 2016.

3.4 TREATMENT

Survival rates in CRC are highly dependent on the stage of diagnosis of the tumor. Over the past 50 years, mortality rates for CRC have improved in France and worldwide due to better detection practices and, consequently, earlier detection.

As of today, the most common approach for treating CRC remains surgical resection. Chemotherapy is the next most common approach, either after surgerical resection of the tumor to prevent recurrence or in the case of late-stage tumors. The most commonly used chemotherapies (alone or in combination) for CRC include 5-fluorouracil (5-FU, which acts by blocking thymidine synthesis), oxaliplatin (a DNA intercalating agent), and irinotecan (a topoisomerase inhibitor).

Targeted therapies are of particular interest for advanced CRC, once again either alone or in combination with chemotherapy. Anti-EGFR or anti-VEGFR (vascular endotherlial growth factor) antibodies have been used to treat patients with advanced CRC, which has greatly prolongued their overall survival, although tumors often develop resistance to this therapy. Moreover, CRC bearing *KRAS* or *BRAF* mutations do not respond to anti-EGFR therapy. New targeted therapies therefore also represent important therapeutic avenues.

As can be expected, treatments that affect the growth of CRC also have detrimental effects on the highly proliferative non-tumoral intestinal epithelium. Treatments that will potentiate the effects of current therapy in tumors are therefore promising research areas.

Unfortunately, CRC are generally not responsive to novel immune checkpoint-based therapy, with the notable exception of MSI-H CRC (Le et al., 2015; Llosa et al., 2015), for which immune checkpoint inhibitors have recently gained approval.

3.5 INTESTINAL STEM CELLS AND COLORECTAL CANCER

3.5.1 INTESTINAL STEM CELLS AS THE FOUNDER CELLS OF COLORECTAL CANCER

As has been underlined in the previous sections, the different pathways involved in the regulation of homeostatic ISC function are also heavily implicated in the development and progression of CRC. In light of the high number of proliferative cells in the intestine and comparatively low occurrence of spontaneous intestinal tumors, it has long been proposed that only mutagenic hits accumulated in ISC could result in tumor development. Although it is difficult to ascertain which cell types bear the tumor-initiating mutations in humans, studies in mice suggest that ISC are likely to be the CRC cell of origin. Direct evidence has been obtained by the inactivation of *Apc* in Lgr5⁺ ISC, leading to the rapid onset of adenomas (Barker et al., 2009). Tumors also rapidly develop upon either loss of function of APC or activation of β -catenin specifically in cells expressing other ISC markers *Bmi1*, *Lrig1* or *Prominin-1* (Sangiorgi and Capecchi, 2008; Zhu et al., 2009; Powell et al., 2012). In contrast, deletion of *Apc* or β -catenin activation in more differentiated cells results only in ectopic proliferative foci, which rarely progress to microadenomas and are generally expelled from the epithelium (Barker et al., 2009;
Schwitalla et al., 2013b). CRC therefore likely arises from ISC having undergone specific mutagenic hits. The monoclonal origin of intestinal adenomas, illustrated by Schepers et al. using R26R-Confetti mouse models, further supports this idea (Schepers et al., 2012).

It should be noted, however, that several studies have since reported that plastic progenitor cells could also de-differentiate and initiate tumorigenesis (Schwitalla et al., 2013b; Metcalfe et al., 2014; Asfaha et al., 2015). For example, the aberrant expression of BMP antagonist Gremlin1 can drive the de-differentiation of villus cells and allow the formation of neoplasias from these cells following the acquisition of additional mutations (Davis et al., 2015). Similarly, the combination of an activated β -catenin with activation of either NF κ B or KRAS signaling could induce the de-differentiation of non-ISC and accelerate tumor initiation (Schwitalla et al., 2013b; Cammareri et al., 2017). However, for the short-lived differentiated cells of the intestinal epithelium to acquire the right amount and combination of mutations is unlikely, unless most of these mutations first arose in the ISC compartment.

3.5.2 COLORECTAL CANCER STEM CELLS

ISC, in addition to acting as the tumor-initiating cells, likely also play an important role in continued tumor growth and progression. Both human CRC and genetically-induced murine adenomas express CBC markers including *Lgr5*, *Musashi-1*, *Ascl2*, *Olfm4* and *EphB2* (Potten et al., 2003; Jubb et al., 2006; Fan et al., 2010; Li et al., 2015b; Jang et al., 2016). In fact, lineage tracing of Lgr5⁺ adenoma cells revealed that they fuel the growth of adenomas by generating all the cell types present in the adenoma, indicating that they act as multipotent stem cells of the adenoma in a way that mimics the architecture of the homeostatic intestinal crypt [FIGURE 21] (Merlos-Suárez et al., 2011; Schepers et al., 2012; Cernat et al., 2014; Shimokawa et al., 2017). Furthermore, both *Lgr5* expression alone and the intestinal stem cell signature obtained from sorted Lgr5⁺ ISC were established as predictors of poor prognosis in CRC and relapse after treatment (Merlos-Suárez et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2014; Jiang et al., 2016). These findings established that the stem cell-progenitor cell hierarchies found in the crypts of the healthy epithelium are preserved in CRC, and that cells expressing ISC markers act as cancer stem cells in CRC by driving tumor growth, progression, and relapse.

This has led to the idea that LGR5 and other stem cell markers, or at least the cancer cell populations they mark, could represent promising therapeutic targets in the treatment of CRC (Vaiopoulos et al., 2012; Morgan et al., 2018). Indeed, several *in vitro* studies on CRC cell lines showed that downregulating *Lgr5* expression reduced the tumorigenic potential of these cells (Chen et al., 2014; Hirsch et al., 2014; Hsu et al., 2014). This was confirmed by different approaches *in vivo*. One study by Gong et al. used an LGR5-targetting antibody-drug conjugate to deliver a drug specifically to the cancer stem cells of xenografted CRC cells. This successfully led to the regression of tumors without harming the healthy intestinal epithelium, although about half the mice subsequently showed tumor relapse (Gong et al., 2016b). Shimokawa et al. and de Sousa e Melo et al. both used transplanted knock-in colorectal cancer organoids to inducibly ablate Lgr5+ cancer stem cells in the resulting tumors. In both studies, this also halted tumor growth during treatment. However, in both studies, the Lgr5+ cancer stem cell pool was

replenished and tumor growth re-started after treatment, suggesting that the high plasticity of intetinal crypts is also preserved within tumors (de Sousa e Melo et al., 2017; Shimokawa et al., 2017).



Figure 21. Demonstration of Lgr5⁺ ISC as the drivers of colorectal adenoma growth using Lgr5-EGFP-ires-Cre^{ERT2};Apc^{fl/fl};R26R-Confetti mice. (A) Distribution of Lgr5-EGFP⁺ stem cells and Paneth cells (labelled by Lysozyme staining in purple) at the base of wild-type (WT) crypts and similarly found towards the base of an adenoma segment, illustrated schematically below. (B) RFP⁺ R26R-Confetti adenoma traced for 35 days, then re-traced for 9 days after recombination to CFP. Within the red segment, a blue clone appears, originating at the Lgr5-EGFP⁺ base of the crypt-like structure and giving rise to a clonal ribbon of adenoma cells containing mutiple Lgr5-EGFP⁺ cells (arrowheads), Paneth cells (arrows) and Lgr5⁻ cells (asterisks). Scale bars, 50 μm. Adapted from Schepers et al., 2012.

3.5.3 INTESTINAL STEM CELL NICHE COMPONENTS IN COLORECTAL CANCER

Just as dynamics in the normal intestinal epithelial crypt are regulated by microenvironmental factors, these factors also contribute to tumor initiation and progression. In fact, several of the mutations mentioned in the previous sections as promoting the development of adenomas are involved in signaling pathways normally regulated by niche cells, including stromal BMP/TGF- β signaling and microbial or immune cell-induced NF κ B signaling.

Analogous to the ISC niche, mesenchymal cells are found in the CRC stroma, where they are thought to participate in the different stages of tumor progression. Mesenchymal stem cells migrate to and differentiate in the stroma of intestinal tumors, and can promote tumor growth and favor the formation of metastases (Shinagawa et al., 2010). Mechanistically, this could in part be due to growth factors produced by mesenchymal cells. For example, myofibroblast-secreted factors like HGF (hepatocyte growth factor) stimulate Wnt/ β -catenin signaling and subsequently clonogenicity in intestinal tumor cells. In line with this, human colon adenocarcinomas have heterogenous Wnt activity, and xenografted tumors in mice have the highest β -catenin activity preferentially in tumor cells in close contact with stromal myofibroblasts (Vermeulen et al., 2010). However, it is interesting to note that as the number of CRC-associated mutations increases in genetically-modified organoids or organoids derived

directly from human CRC, the need for growth factors in the culture medium decreases. This suggests a progressive loss of niche-dependence for growth (Drost et al., 2015; Fujii et al., 2016).

In addition to tumor growth, cancer-associated fibroblasts also contribute to invasion and metastasis. Fibroblasts isolated from the tumors of CRC patients increase the invasive capacity of cancer cells through their secretion of matrix metalloproteases, their high contractility, and their ability to interact with ECM components like fibronectin, altogether allowing them to remodel the basement membrane that tumor cells then invade (Attieh et al., 2017; Glentis et al., 2017). Interestingly, this is not systematically the case with fibroblasts isolated from non-tumoral tissue, suggesting that tumor-associated fibroblasts may consist of unique populations of stromal cells or may be primed to behave differently by epithelial tumor cells. Confirming their role in the different steps of tumorigenesis, depletion of tumor-associated fibroblasts in one study significantly reduced tumor growth and metastasis of intestinal tumors. Moreover, removing these fibroblasts also improved response to chemotherapy, presumably by reducing the amount of type I Collagen in the tumor thereby improving drug uptake (Loeffler et al., 2006).

Immune cells also play a role in intestinal tumorigenesis. In humans, chronic inflammation in IBD patients predisposes to cancer iniatiation. Likewise, DSS administation in either Apc^{+/Δ} mice or AOM-treated mice leads to a strong increase in polyp formation, hinting at an important role of the inflammatory microenvironment in tumor initiation (Tanaka et al., 2003, 2006). Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain this phenomenon. First, inflamation can lead to ROS production and thereby oxidative-stress mediated mutations or proliferation in tumor cells (Hussain et al., 2003). Another mechanism was proposed by Grivennikov et al., who showed that cytokine production from lamina propria myeloid cells and consequent intestinal epithelial STAT3 signaling protect ISC and are important for inflammation-induced tumorigenesis (Grivennikov et al., 2009). Once the tumor is established, immune cells found in the tumorassociated stroma play a key role in tumor growth and progression, although the outcome largely depends on the balance between different immune populations. For example, CD8+ cytotoxic T cells or NK cells limit cancer progression and are generally associated with better prognosis for patients, while tumor-associated macrophages and regulatory T lymphocytes are thought to promote tumor growth and immune evasion, respectively (Galon et al., 2006; Swann et al., 2009; Grivennikov et al., 2010).

Thus, the various cell types composing the niche of ISC are also implicated in tumorigenesis and tumor progression, and the microbiota is no exception. First, microbial metabolites like short chain fatty acids can suppress inflammation and cancer, whereas other microbial metabolites like secondary bile acids promote them. Second, TLR-mediated interactions with the microbiota also contribute to tumor initiation, as Myd88 deletion decreases intestinal adenoma formation in Apc^{+/Δ} mice (Lee et al., 2010). This is largely attributed to microbiota-induced inflammation. Supporting this idea, either antibiotic treatment or the absence of the gut microbiota reduced tumor incidence in colitis-associated CRC mouse models (Garrett et al., 2009; Uronis et al., 2009; Arthur et al., 2012). Morevoever, in the context of inflammation-induced CRC, several bacterial species were directly shown to promote inflammatory signals and, consequently, tumorigenesis

(Wu et al., 2009; Arthur et al., 2012). However, IBD-associated CRC represents only a small portion of human CRC. More recently, the commensal *Fusobacterium nucleatum* was shown to be enriched in patients with CRC, and particularly so in the tumoral tissue compared to neighboring healthy tissue. Colonisation with *Fusobacterium* accelerated the onset of colonic tumors in Apc^{+/Δ} mice, but not in inflammation-associated mouse models of CRC (Kostic et al., 2013). A later study confirmed *Fusobacterium* as the most abundant bacterial genus over-represented in human CRC samples compared to neighboring control tissue, and further identified a signature of 57 bacterial genera with differential abundance in CRC tissue (Warren et al., 2013). Such CRC-associated bacterial signatures not only expand our understanding of CRC progression, but also provide new opportunities both for the non-invasive detection of CRC (ie. from stool samples) or determination of prognostis and for therapy.

All in all, ISC function and integrity are highly regulated at homeostasis by a complex network of signaling pathways and niche components, and the deregulation of these same mechanisms come into play in CRC initiation and progression.

CHAPTER 2: AUTOPHAGY

I. MECHANISMS AND REGULATION OF AUTOPHAGY

1.1 OVERVIEW OF AUTOPHAGY

Cell homeostasis and efficient adaptation to cellular or environmental conditions largely depend on two types of pathways: anabolic and catabolic. Indeed, synthesis of new molecules – like proteins, nucleic acids, or lipids – is necessary to replace old cellular components with fresh, better quality ones or provide molecules adapted to a new cellular context. On the other side of the balance is degradation. Degradation of old or dysfunctional molecules ensures proper cell function through quality control and serves as a source of energy and materials. Eukaryotic cells rely on two major degradation systems. The proteasome, as its name indicates, allows the degradation of proteins, and does so in a selective manner mediated by protein ubiquitination. The lysosome, in contrast, is often considered as more "bulk" degradation, taking in a vast array of substrates to be digested by hydrolytic enzymes in this highly acidic vacuole. Lysosomal substrates include extracellular material or portions of the plasma membrane from the endocytic pathway as well as cytosolic materials or organelles through the autophagic pathway.

Autophagy, or "self-eating", was cleverly coined in 1963 by Christian de Duve, a pioneer in lysosome research and the 1974 Nobel Prize laureate in Physiology or Medicine. He used the term to describe his observations from electron microscopy studies of single- or double-membrane vesicles containing partially digested cytoplasmic content **[FIGURE 22]**. Over the 30 years that followed, autophagy remained a poorly known and little understood phenomenon. A breakthrough came in the 1990s, when Yoshinori Ohsumi, the 2016 Physiology or Medecine Nobel Prize laureate, performed genetic screens in yeast, isolating mutants defective in autophagy and identifying the first set of many autophagy-related genes (*ATGs*). This and further discoveries skyrocketed our understanding of autophagy in physiology and pathology at both the cellular and organismal level.

Three forms of autophagy have been described **[FiGURE 23]**. Microautophagy refers to the direct engulfment of cytoplasm and its components through the formation of invaginations into the lysosome directly. Chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA) involves the recognition of KFERQ-like motifs on cytosolic proteins by the chaperone HSC70 (heat shock cognate 70 kDa protein) and co-chaperones, which target the unfolded protein to the LAMP2 (lysosome-associated membrane protein 2) receptor on the lysosomal membrane that in turn delivers the unfolded protein inside the lysosome through a multimeric translocation complex. Finally, macroautophagy involves the formation of a double-membraned phagophore that will expand and engulf cytoplasmic materials and organelles then close to form a vacuole called the autophagosome. The outer layer of this vacuole will then fuse with the lysosome, allowing the degradation of the inner membrane and its content. Macroautophagy is highly conserved in eukaryotes from yeast to mammals, and can occur both in bulk or target selective substrates for degradation. This type of autophagy is the most extensively studied to date, and will be referred to simply as 'autophagy' hereafter.



FIGURE 22. Morphology of macroautophagic vacuoles by transmission electron microscopy in mouse hepatocytes. (A) An autophagosome, or initial autophagic vacuole (AVi), containing a mitochondrion, endoplasmic reticulum, and electron-dense ribosomes. The two limiting membranes of the autophagosome are visible at the upper rim of the vacuole. Below, a phagophore seems to forming and sequestrating a peroxisome. (B) A late, degradative autophagic vacuole (AVd) containing partially degraded contents, including the remnants of ribosomes (asterisks). This AV has fused with a multivesicular endosome, as indicated by the numerous small vesicles (arrows). Adapted from the Madame Curie Bioscience Database.



FIGURE 23. Autophagic pathways in mammals. Adapted from Kaushik and Cuervo, 2018.

1.1.1 MOLECULAR MACHINERY OF AUTOPHAGY

The autophagy process can be divided into sequential steps: 1) initiation and nucleation of the autophagosome, 2) expansion of the autophagosome membrane, cargo recognition and selection, 3) closure of the autophagosome and fusion with the lysosome, followed by breakdown of the cargo and release of the degradation products back into the cytosol.

Autophagy is induced through the activation of the ULK1 complex, consisting of ULK1 (Unc51like autophagy activating kinase 1) or ULK2, ATG13, FIP200 (focal adhesion kinase familyinteracting protein of 200 kDa), and ATG101 **[FIGURE 24A]**. mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) acts as a central inhibitor of autophagy in nutrient-rich conditions by phosphorylating ULK1 and ULK2, keeping them inactive. Upon mTOR inhibition by starvation or rapamycin treatment, ULK1 and ULK2 are activated, initiating autophagy. The ULK1 complex directly phosphorylates and ubiquitilates the class III PI3K (phosphoinositide 3 kinase) complex. This complex – comprising VPS34 (vacuolar protein sorting 34), VPS15, either ATG14 or UVRAG (UV radiation resistance-associated gene protein), and BECLIN1 – acts as the stage for the nucleation and assembly of the initial phagophore membrane **[FIGURE 24B]**. In addition to its interactions with autophagy proteins, BECLIN1 contains a BH3 domain through which it binds the anti-apoptotic BCL2-family proteins, thereby blocking its function in autophagy. The class III PI3K complex produces PI(3)P (phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate) that in turn binds and recruits various ATG proteins.

The source of the membrane forming the phagophore is still a matter of debate, although several potential sites have been proposed so far, including ER exit sites (Graef et al., 2013), ER-Golgi intermediate compartments (Ge et al., 2013), ER-mitochondria contact sites (Hamasaki et al., 2013), ER-plama membrane contact sites (Nascimbeni et al., 2017), and ER subdomains enriched in phospholipid synthesis enzymes (Nishimura et al., 2017). ATG9, the only membrane-spanning ATG protein, and VMP1 (vacuole membrane protein 1) cycle between the phagophore and membranes of other organelles [FIGURE 24c], likely contributing to the delivery of membrane to the expanding phagophore, although how it does so remains unclear (Mizushima, 2018).

Among the proteins recruited through PI(3)P are two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems. Ubiquitin-like ATG12 is first activated by E1-like enzyme ATG7 then transferred to E2-like enzyme ATG10, before forming a covalent conjugate with ATG5 that interacts with ATG16L1. The second ubiquitin-like conjugation system involves orthologs of the yeast protein ATG8, like LC3 (microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3) or GABARAP (gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-associated protein). These are first cleaved by ATG4 (of which four somewhat redundant isofoms called a, b, c and d exist) then activated by ATG7. Then, the E2-like enzyme ATG3, along with the ATG5-12 complex and ATG16L1, conjugates the ATG8 orthologue to the lipid phosphotidylethanolamine (PE) **[FIGURE 24D]**. The PE-conjugated protein is thus bound to the autophagosome membrane (Feng et al., 2014; Bento et al., 2016). Although the PE-conjugated ATG8 proteins are required for the continuation of the pathway, their exact role in

the process remains a matter of debate (Mizushima, 2018). They are, however, clearly involved in the recruitment of selective cargo, as will be discussed later.

The closure of the phagophore remains relatively poorly-understood process, likely involving ESCRT (endosomal sorting complex required for transport) proteins, known to play an important role in vesicle budding and membrane fission in other processes (Filimonenko et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2007; Rusten et al., 2007). The mechanism of fusion between the autophagosome and the lysosome also remains unclear. SNARE proteins (SNAP, or soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein, receptors) are large complexes known to mediate vesicle fusion. The SNARE protein Syntaxin17 is recruited to the autophagosome and mediates fusion with the lysosome by interacting with SNAP29 and the SNARE VAMP8 on the endosome/lysosome membrane [FIGURE 24E] (Itakura et al., 2012a). Cytoskeletal components, particularly the microtubule cytoskeleton, also play a role in autophagosome-lysosome fusion by mediating autophagosome trafficking towards the perinuclear region, where they meet with lysosomes (Jahreiss et al., 2008; Kimura et al., 2008). Finally, various acid hydrolases within the lysosome break down the inner autophagosome membrane and its contents [FIGURE 24F].



FIGURE 24. Schematic representation of (macro)autophagy. Adapted from Mariño et al., 2014.

It is important to note that many of these proteins are not solely involved in what is called the "canonical" autophagy pathway, and may also be involved in "non-canonical" pathways that do not require the entire repertoire of ATGs described above or play autophagy-independent functions (Subramani and Malhotra, 2013; Dupont et al., 2017; Cadwell and Debnath, 2018).

1.1.2 Selective Autophagy

Although initially considered as bulk or nonselective degredation, it has become increasingly apparent that autophagy can be highly selective. Among the growing list of selective autophagy targets are misfolded proteins or protein aggregates (targeted through a process appropriately called aggrephagy), mitochondria (mitophagy), intracellular pathogens (xenophagy),

peroxisomes (pexophagy), lipid droplets (lipophagy), ribosomes (ribophagy), ER (reticulophagy), and glycogen (glycophagy). Selection of substrates depends on the autophagy stimulus, and these targets can be specifically recognized and targeted to the autophagosome through several processes.

First, some selective substrates have domains that interact with the different orthologs of yeast ATG8, LC3 or GABARAP (called LIRs, or LC3 interacting regions) (Noda et al., 2008; Behrends et al., 2010), through which they are directly recruited to the phagophore membrane. Although the different ATG8 orthologs share a high degree of similarity, they are thought to recognize particular cargo through differences in these motifs (Rogov et al., 2017). Other selective substrates bind ATG8 proteins indirectly by recruiting autophagy receptors such as p62 (also called SQSTM1 or Sequestosome1), NBR1 (neighbor of BRCA1 gene 1), NDP52 (nuclear dot protein 52), or Optineurin. In addition to a LIR motif, adaptor proteins have other domains allowing recognition of the cargo directly or through post-translational modifications like ubiquitination. For instance, p62 contains a LIR, essential it its autophagic degradation, and a ubiquitin-associated domain that binds ubiquitinated targets. In this way, p62 contributes to aggrephagy, mitophagy, xenophagy, and pexophagy among other forms of selective autophagy. Taking aggrephagy [FIGURE 25] as an example, before p62 was recognized as a LIR-containing adaptor protein in autophagy (Ichimura et al., 2008), it was detected in misfolded and ubiquitinated protein aggregates called inclusion bodies, associated with liver injury or neurodegenerative diseases (Zatloukal et al., 2002). It was only later that p62 was shown to participate in the formation of these inclusion bodies and target them for autophagic degradation (Bjørkøy et al., 2005; Komatsu et al., 2007; Pankiv et al., 2007). Another example of this mechanism is xenophagy [FIGURE 25], which collectively describes the selective autophagy of intracellular pathogens, including viruses, bacteria or fungi. Following Salmonella typhimurium infection and release into the cytosol, bacterial proteins are rapidly ubiquitinated then recognized by p62 but also other adaptors like NDP52, and Optineurin (Thurston et al., 2009; Zheng et al., 2009; Wild et al., 2011), which then promote the sequestration of the pathogen in the autophagosome. Although several of these receptors can bind the same bacterium, they appear to play separate functions as the individual knockout of each of these proteins enhances bacterial replication.

Second, recognition of selective substrates can happen independently of interactions with ATG8 proteins. One such way is to recruit the ULK1 complex to the target (Kamber et al., 2015).



FIGURE 25. Examples of selective autophagy in mammals. Adapted from Gatica et al., 2018.

Sometimes several of these mechanisms cooperate, as is the case for mitophagy [FIGURE 25]. Mitochondria are a major site of intracellular ROS production and a hub for apoptotic signals. Therefore, a healthy population of mitochondria is critical for cellular homeostasis. Mitophagy ensures steady-state mitochondrial turnover, selectively removes damaged mitochondria and can adjust mitochondrial numbers to adapt to changing metabolic needs (Youle and Narendra, 2011; Esteban-Martínez et al., 2017). The best characterized mechanism for induction of mitophagy is PINK1 (PTEN-induced kinase 1) / PARKIN signaling. PINK1 acts as a sensor of mitochondrial damage. It contains a mitochondrial targeting sequence, and is imported through the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) to the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) by translocases (TOM and TIM, respectively) in a way that is dependent on the mitochondrial transmembrane potential. In healthy mitochondria, the transmembrane potential is maintained by efficient oxyidative phosphorylation, and PINK1 is cleaved in the IMM, leading to its release into the cytosol and rapid proteasomal degradation. Damaged mitochondria fail to import PINK1 to the IMM, so it accumulates on the OMM (Jin et al., 2010; Meissner et al., 2011; Greene et al., 2012; Lazarou et al., 2012). There, it phosphorylates ubiquitinated OMM proteins at Ser65, leading to the recruitment of PARKIN, which is also phosphorylated by PINK1 (Lazarou et al., 2012; Kane et al., 2014; Koyano et al., 2014; Ordureau et al., 2014; Shiba-Fukushima et al., 2014). PARKIN is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that, in turn, ubiquitinates various proteins on the OMM. Although PARKIN is not required for mitophagy, as PINK1-mediated Ubiquitin Ser65 phosphorylation can recruit autophagy adaptor proteins in its absence (Lazarou et al., 2015; Ordureau et al., 2015), it is thought to amplify the PINK1 signal by increasing the concentration of Ubiquitin on the OMM. This both initiates the degradation of mitochondrial proteins by the proteasome, and recruits five different autophagy adaptor proteins: Optineurin, NDP52, TAX1BP1 (Tax-1 binding protein 1), p62 and NBR1. Indeed, the deletion of all five proteins efficiently blocks mitophagy, and re-expression of NDP52, Optineurin and, to a lesser extent, TAX1BP1 rescues mitophagy (Lazarou et al., 2015). Optineurin and NDP52 receptors promote mitophagy not only by interacting with LC3, but also by recruiting more upstream autophagyinitiation factors including ULK1 to the mitochondria (Itakura et al., 2012b; Wong and Holzbaur, 2014; Lazarou et al., 2015). LC3- and ULK1-independent recruitment of ATG9 to mitochondria for mitophagy has also been reported (Itakura et al., 2012b). p62 and NBR1, on the other hand, have been suggested to support mitophagy by clustering damaged mitochondria rather than targeting them directly to the phagophore (Narendra et al., 2010). Finally, regulated expression of BNIP3L (BCL2 interacting protein 3 like, also called NIX), which localizes to the OMM through a trans-membrane region, allows the clearance of damaged mitochondria through LIR-mediated interactions with GABARAP (Sandoval et al., 2008; Novak et al., 2010; Esteban-Martínez et al., 2017). Altogether, these sometimes-redundant pathways allow cell- and context- specific regulation of mitophagy and speak to the importance of this process in homeostasis.

1.2 REGULATION & FUNCTIONAL CONSEQUENCES OF AUTOPHAGY

Although autophagy occurs constitutively at a basal level in all cells, it is also upregulated in response to various intracellular or environmental stresses. Some of the best-characterized pathways regulating autophagy are described below, along with the functional role of autophagy

in the cellular response to these stresses. Some physiological implications of both basal and stress-induced autophagy will then be discussed in the next subchapters.

1.2.1 GROWTH FACTORS, NUTRIENTS, AND ENERGY LEVELS: MTOR SIGNALING

Autophagy was first recognized as a cellular response to starvation. Indeed, autophagy is activated in response to various metabolic stresses, including nutrient deprivation, growth factor depletion, or in the case of high metabolic needs. In these scenarios, bulk autophagy can serve as an alternative source of building blocks for synthesis and energy production. The prosurvival function of autophagy in the case of starvation is highly conserved, as is its regulation by the mTOR signaling pathway.

mTOR, a central regulator of cell growth, proliferation and survival, is a core component of two distinct functional complexes, mTORC1 and mTORC2. The mTORC1 complex, consisting of the mTOR catalytic subunit RAPTOR (regulatory-associated protein of mTOR), PRAS40 (proline-riche Akt substrate of 40 kDa), mLTS8 (mammalian lethal with SEC13 protein 8), and DEPTOR (DEP-domain containing mTOR-interacting protein), is sensitive to rapamycin and acts as the major regulator of autophagy. mTORC1 integrates signals from several pathways in response to intracellular amino acid and ATP levels as well as extracellular growth factors, and in turn stimulates nucleotide synthesis, ribosome biogenesis, protein S6 kinase-1) and 4E-BP1 (inhibitor of the eukaryotic intiations factor 4E, or eIF4E, binding protein 1). In parallel to stimulating these different anabolic pathways, it inhibits autophagy. Thus, in nutrient-rich conditions, mTOR stimulates cell growth and proliferation, whereas in starvation conditions, mTOR is inhibited and autophagy is induced.

mTORC1 is activated downstream of many growth factors, particularly insulin. Growth factor receptors like the insulin receptor induce class I PI3K activation and consequent PI(3,4,5)P3 production. Of note, the tumor suppressor PTEN can counteract this step. PIP3 recruits the kinase AKT to the plasma membrane, which in turn inhibits autophagy in two ways. First, AKT phosphorylates the TSC1/2 (tuberous sclerosis complex) heterodimer, thereby inactivating it. TSC1/2 normally acts as a GTPase-activating protein (GAP) for and inhibitor of RHEB (Ras homolog enriched in the brain), which directly interacts with and activates mTORC1 (Long et al., 2005a). Thus, AKT activation activates RHEB and consequently mTORC1. Second, AKT can phosphorylate the transcription factor FOXO3, sequestering it in the cytoplasm and preventing it from activating transcription of autophagy genes like *LC3* and *GABARAP*, *VPS34* and *ULK1* (Mammucari et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2007).

Amino acids are the basic building blocks for protein synthesis. Essential amino acids are imported into the cells by solute carriers (SLCs) in a glutamine-dependent manner and are sensed by RAG (Ras-related GTP-binding protein) GTPases heterodimers, which become activated in the presence of amino acids and interact directly with RAPTOR. This enables the recruitment of the mTORC1 complex to the lysosome, where RHEB can in turn activate mTORC1 **[FIGURE 26]** (Long et al., 2005b; Sancak et al., 2008). In the case of amino acid deprivation,

autophagy, through the degradation of cytoplasmic proteins, replenishes the pool of free amino acids and allows cell survival.



FIGURE 26. mTOR-dependent regulation of autophagy. Adapted from Sarkar, 2013.

Most of the anabolic mechanisms activated downstream of mTOR require energy in the form of ATP, the production of which is largely dependent on glucose metabolism. AMPK (AMP-activated protein kinase) acts as a major sensor of cellular energy status; as its name indicates, it becomes activated in response to decreasing ATP-to-AMP ratios. AMPK regulates mTOR either directly or through TSC1/2. Unlike AKT, AMPK activates TSC1/2, thereby inhibiting mTORC1 and activating autophagy (Inoki et al., 2003). It also inhibits mTORC1 activity by directly phosphorylating RAPTOR (Gwinn et al., 2008). Additionally, AMPK can activate autophagy independently of mTOR through direct activating phosphorylation of ULK1 (Egan et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2011).

Finally, mTORC1 also regulates autophagy by phosphorylating the transcription factor EB (TFEB), thereby maintaining it in the cytoplasm. In starvation conditions, TFEB translocates to the nucleus and positively regulates expression of lysosomal and autophagy genes (Settembre et al., 2011, 2012; Roczniak-Ferguson et al., 2012).

Thus, mTORC1 acts as a central hub regulating autophagy in response to converging signals relaying the levels of growth factors, nutrients, and ATP.

1.2.2 Apoptotic Signals: BCl2 and p53

Many of the stimuli that ultimately trigger cell death also induce autophagy, suggesting that cells initially try to adapt to intrinsic or extrinsic stress, and resort to cell death in the face of insurmountable damage.

BECLIN1 was initially identified in a yeast-two-hybrid screen for proteins interacting with the antiapoptotic protein BCL2. Several BCL2-family members, including BCL2, BCL-XL (Bcl extra large), and MCL1 (myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1) interact with a BH3 domain on BECLIN1, thereby disrupting its interaction with VPS34 and preventing the initiation of autophagy (Pattingre et al., 2005; Feng et al., 2007a; Maiuri et al., 2007; Oberstein et al., 2007). On the other hand, several BH3-only proteins – including BAD (Bcl2 antagonist of cell death), BID (BH3-interacting domain death agonist), BNIP3 (Bcl2 interacting protein 3), NOXA and PUMA – are thought to promote autophagy by competitively displacing BECLIN1 from BCL2-family proteins [FIGURE 27A] (Maiuri et al., 2007). One exception, BIM, has instead been described to sequester BECLIN1 and inhibit autophagy [FIGURE 27A] (Luo et al., 2012). Furthermore, JNK (c-Jun N-terminal kinases) –mediated phosphorylation of BCL2 enhances this displacement, favoring the induction of autophagy [FIGURE 27B] (Bassik et al., 2004; Wei et al., 2008).

p53 also regulates autophagy in parallel to apoptosis in a context-dependent manner. Generally speaking, the subcellular localization of p53 dictates its effect on autophagy; nuclear p53 stimulates autophagy, while cytoplasmic p53 inhibits it. Nuclear p53 induces transcription of the pro-apoptotic BH3-only proteins, but can also favor autophagic activity by up-regulating transcription of other targets. These targets include both genes encoding core autophagy proteins, including ULK1 and ULK2 (Gao et al., 2011; Kenzelmann Broz et al., 2013), and proteins involved in the regulation of autophagy. For example, p53 regulates transcription of both AMPK subunits and regulators of AMPK activity (Feng et al., 2007b; Budanov and Karin, 2008), as well as expression of PTEN, which counteracts class I PI3K-mediated stimulation of mTOR (Stambolic et al., 2001; Feng et al., 2007b). In addition, p53 activates transcription of the gene encoding DAPK1 (death-associated protein kinase 1), which phophorylates BECLIN1 on its BH3 domain thereby releasing it from its interaction with BCL2 and stimulating its association with the class III PI3K complex to initiate autophagy (Zalckvar et al., 2009a, 2009b; Eisenberg-Lerner and Kimchi, 2012). Lastly, p53 induces transcription of DRAM (damage-regulated autophagy modulator), a lysosomal protein involved in the later stages of autophagy (Crighton et al., 2006). Cytoplasmic p53, on the other hand, has been reported to stimulate mTOR activity (Tasdemir et al., 2008) and interact with FIP200 (Morselli et al., 2011; Yu et al., 2013b), thus blocking the activity of the ULK1 complex and the initiation of autophagy [FIGURE 27c].



FIGURE 27. Coordinated stimulation of apoptosis and autophagy. Adapted from Mariño et al., 2014.

In line with the idea of a pro-survival role for autophagy, rapamycin treatment was shown to protect cells against pro-apoptotic treament in an autophagy-dependent manner (Ravikumar et al., 2006). There have since been numerous examples in the literature of the protective role of autophagy against apoptosis. Mitophagy is one of the key mechanisms allowing this. By removing damaged mitochondria, autophagy prevents the release of pro-apoptotic mitochondrial intermembrane proteins, including Cytochrome c, which trigger a cascade of Caspase cleavage resulting the activation of effector Caspase-3 and 7 and ultimately in cellular demise. As will be discussed below, autophagy additionally helps alleviate different pro-apoptotic stresses, such as ER stress, oxidative stress, or DNA damage. Furthermore, various interactions between autophagic and apoptotic proteins have been reported and likely contribute to the balance between the two pathways in a context-dependent manner (Mariño et al., 2014; Cooper, 2018).

1.2.3 ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM STRESS

The ER is the major site of protein synthesis and folding, and the compartment where vesicular transport throughout the cell initiates. Furthermore, the ER serves as a major reservoir of intracellular Ca²⁺. Various cellular stresses – including perturbations in Ca²⁺ homeostasis, oxidative stress, altered protein glycosylation or defects in protein folding – can result in the accumulation of misfolded proteins in the ER lumen, a state known as ER stress. In response to ER stress, the cell induces the unfolded protein response (UPR), a network of signaling pathways involving three signal transducers embedded in the ER membrane: IRE1 α (inositol-requiring enzyme 1 α), ATF6 (activating transcription factor 6) and PERK (protein kinase RNA-like ER kinase).

 IRE1α, the most conserved branch of the UPR, acts as an endonuclease on the cytosolic end, regulating the unconventional mRNA splicing of the UPR-specific transcription factor XBP1 (X-box binding protein 1) when activated. XBP1 in turn regulates transcription of factors involved in protein folding and secretion, lipid synthesis and ERassociated degradation (Lee et al., 2003; Acosta-Alvear et al., 2007). Upon higher levels of ER stress, IRE1 α can also cleave other mRNAs at specific sequences, inducing mRNA decay (Hollien and Weissman, 2006).

- ATF6, a transcription factor normally sequestered in the ER, is relocalized to the Golgi apparatus and cleaved during ER stress, releasing its cytosolic fragment to activate expression of UPR target genes like the protein-folding chaperone BiP (binding immunoglobulin protein) (Haze et al., 1999; Yamamoto et al., 2007).
- Lastly, PERK oligomerizes upon ER stress, activates itself, and subsequently inhibits translation by phosphorylating eIF2 α (eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 α). Hyperactivation of PERK favors the eIF2 α -independent translation of factors like ATF4, which notably drives the expression of the transcription factor CHOP (c/EBP homologous protein).

ER stress and the UPR have been shown to induce autophagy through several mechanisms. First, PERK-induced transcription factors like ATF4 and CHOP induce transcription of several ATG genes, including LC3, ATG12 and ATG5 (B'chir et al., 2013). Furthermore, both ATF4 and CHOP induce transcription of factors that will inhibit AKT and mTOR, resulting in the induction of autophagy (Du et al., 2003; Ohoka et al., 2005; Whitney et al., 2009). In addition, CHOP upregulates ERO1 α (ER oxidoreductase 1 α), which leads to the release of luminal Ca²⁺ stores into the cytoplasm, activating CaMKII (calcium calmodulin kinase II), a direct positive regulator of AMPK (Høyer-Hansen et al., 2007; Li et al., 2009a). Second, several UPR factors stimulate autophagy by acting on BECLIN1. CHOP induces transcription of genes encoding BH3-only proteins and represses transcription of those encoding anti-apoptotic BCL2 proteins, favoring BECLIN1 release from BCL2. IRE1α also favors dissociation of BCL2 from BECLIN1 through JNK– mediated phosphorylation of BCL2 proteins, which additionally affects Ca²⁺ efflux from the ER (Bassik et al., 2004; Ogata et al., 2006; Høyer-Hansen et al., 2007). Finally, DAPK1 is also activated by ER-stress through unknown mechanisms, and also blocks the interaction between BCL2 proteins and BECLIN1 by phosphorylating BECLIN1 (Gozuacik et al., 2008; Zalckvar et al., 2009a).

Autophagy can then help alleviate ER stress by removing unfolded protein aggregates or controlling mitochondrial ROS production. In some contexts, however, ER stress-induced autophagy is deleterious as it results in a rare form of cell death termed autophagic cell death, characterized by large-scale autophagic vacuolization of the cytoplasm (Ding et al., 2007; Adolph et al., 2013).

1.2.4 Hypoxia

Normoxia for mammalian cells is around 2-9% oxygen; oxygen levels below 1% are considered insufficient for the cell, which enters a state called hypoxia. This can occur physiologically during embryonic development, or in pathological conditions like insufficient blood flow to a tissue (ischemia) or in the core of solid tumors. The transcription factor HIF1 (hypoxia-inducible factor 1) is acutely induced in response to hypoxia to promote survival in oxygen-low conditions. HIF1 notably drives the transcription of genes involved erythropoiesis and angiogenesis to stimulate the local supply of oxygen, genes that decrease mitochondrial biogenesis and respiration to

avoid excessive ROS production, and genes that favor glycolysis to allow anaerobic ATP production. Among these, HIF1 targets include both the pro-apoptotic BH3-family protein BNIP3, which can induce autophagy by disrupting the interaction between BCL2 and BECLIN1, and BNIP3L, the previously mentioned inducer of mitophagy (Zhang et al., 2008; Bellot et al., 2009; Mazure and Pouysségur, 2009). Indeed, increased autophagy, and particularly increased mitophagy acts as an adaptive response to hypoxia by reducing mitochondrial respiration and ROS levels. Furthermore, the low ATP levels during hypoxia result in AMPK activation and mTORC1 inhibition (Arsham et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2006). In addition to inhibiting protein synthesis, this could also activate autophagy, providing a compensatory source of materials for energy production.

1.2.5 OXIDATIVE STRESS

Excessive ROS levels are also a trigger of autophagy. The only ATG proteins known to be directly oxidized are ATG4 orthologues, which in addition to cleaving LC3 or GABARAP prior to PE-conjugation can also cleave away the PE conjugate. Oxidation of ATG4 by H_2O_2 inhibits its delipidating activity, thus favoring elongation of the phagophore (Scherz-Shouval et al., 2007). Both extracellular H_2O_2 and mitochondrial superoxide induce autophagy through AMPK- and BECLIN1- dependent mechanisms (Chen et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009a; Zmijewski et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2011; Kalyanaraman et al., 2012; Li et al., 2013). ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) have also been described to indirectly activate autophagy through the DNA damages they induce, as described in the next section (Alexander et al., 2010; Rodríguez-Vargas et al., 2012; Tripathi et al., 2013). Upon oxidative stress, autophagy exerts protective effects and prevents ROS-mediated cell death (Gonzalez-Polo et al., 2007; Kaminskyy et al., 2012; Dutta et al., 2013) through several mechanisms:

First, autophagy can degrade by-products of oxidative stress, including oxidized proteins and lipids. Macroautophagy is not the only player in the degradation of oxidized proteins, as the proteasome and CMA also play a role. The proteasome can degrade mildly oxidized proteins but necessitates these proteins to be unfolded to do so. More heavily oxidized proteins therefore rely on lysosomal degradation. Morevover, prolongued or chronic oxidative stress can result in oxidative damage to proteasome components (Kriegenburg et al., 2011). Expression of *LAMP2* is upregulated, HSC70 activity is stimulated, and CMA is activated during oxidative stress (Callahan et al., 2002; Kiffin et al., 2004). However, these two systems can only handle protein degradation. Autophagy is therefore likely turned to for the degradation of other oxidized substrates and of oxidized protein aggregates.

Second, autophagy regulates cellular ROS levels through mitophagy and pexophagy, thereby targeting two major sites of ROS production. In this way, autophagy not only prevents oxidative stress but can also respond to it; excessive mitochondrial superoxide production or inefficient ROS scavenging in the mitochondria (ie. by SOD2) result in membrane depolarization and induction of PARKIN-mediated mitophagy (Wang et al., 2012).

Third, autophagy exerts its protective effects by mediating the antioxidant response, notably via the transcription factor NRF2. NRF2 is normally sequestered in the cytoplasm by the E3

ubiquitin ligase adaptor protein KEAP1 (kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1) and subsequently degraded by the proteasome. As a consequence, the constitutive levels of NRF2 are very low. Oxidative stress-induced modifications of cysteine residues in KEAP1 induces a conformational change that blocks its association with NRF2, allowing NRF2 to translocate to the nucleus and induce expression of its target antioxidant response genes (Hayes and McMahon, 2009; Lau et al., 2010; Taguchi et al., 2011). In 2010, Komatsu et al. and Lau et al. independently showed that defective autophagy resulted in NRF2 stabilization and induction of antioxidant response genes through the accumulation of p62. Indeed, p62 interacts with the NRF2-binding site on KEAP1, stabilizing NRF2 and inducing expression of its target genes (Komatsu et al., 2010; Lau et al., 2010). In turn, NRF2 positively regulates p62 expression, creating a positive feedback loop (Jain et al., 2010). Furthermore, a later study by Komatsu's group showed that phosphorylation of p62 by mTORC1 or other kinases markedly increases its affinity for KEAP1 both in the case of defective autophagy or upon activation of selective autophagy (ie. mitophagy or xenophagy), revealing a regulated coupling between the KEAP1-NRF2 system and autophagy **[FiGURE 28]** (Ichimura et al., 2013).



FIGURE 28. Keap1-Nrf2 regulation by autophagy. ARE: Antioxidant response element.

1.2.6 DNA DAMAGE

Over the course of a lifetime, DNA damage constantly arises from errors in DNA replication, spontaneous chemical reactions or exposure to external and cellular metabolism-derived agents. Different DNA damage repair (DDR) pathways will come into play depending on the type of lesion and phase of the cell cycle. Three main repair pathways are extensively described for single-stranded lesions. Small base alterations – including oxidized bases, alkylation and single-stranded breaks – are handled by base-excision repair (BER) **[FIGURE 29]**. Bulkier lesions that distort the DNA structure and block the progression of replicating or transcribing polymerases – such as those induced by UV rays – are repaired by nucleotide-excition repair (NER) **[FIGURE 29]**. Lastly, replication errors like base-base mismatches or insertions/deletions (which

frequently occur at repeated sequences like microsatellites) are handled by the aforementioned MMR pathway [FIGURE 29]. Double-stranded breaks (DSBs) resulting from IR, genotoxic agents, or free radicals are generally repaired either by either homologous recombination (HR) or nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ). In HR, DSBs are first recognized by the MRN complex (composed of MRE11, RAD50, and NBS1) and ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated), which phosphorylates downstream targets involved in DSB repair and cell cycle arrest to allow sufficient time for repair (including the histone H2AX called γ H2AX when phosphorylated, BRCA1, and effector checkpoint kinases 1 and 2, or CHK1 and CHK2). The extremities of the DSBs are resected by exonucleases to create 3' single-stranded overhangs, which then interact with proteins like RAD51 and BRCA2 to search for and invade the homologous chromosome, used as a template to repair the break [FIGURE 29]. Using the homologous DNA as a template for repair means two things: first, that HR can only occur during S, G2, or M phase of the cell cycle, when a homologous chromosome is present, and second, that the damaged DNA will be accurately recovered. NHEJ, on the other hand, can occur at any stage of the cell cycle but is more error-prone. DSBs are recognized by KU70-KU80 heterodimers at the two broken ends, which allows the recruitment of other proteins including DNA-PK (DNA-dependent protein kinase) and LIG4/XRCC4 (ligase4/X-ray repair cross complementing 4) proteins involved in the ligation of the two ends [FIGURE 29]. The choice between HR and NHEJ at DSBs is thought involve a mutual antagonism between the HR factor BRCA1 and NHEJ-promoting protein 53BP1 (tumor protein p53 binding protein 1).

A growing body of evidence suggests that autophagy can be activated upon DNA damage.

ATM, a major sensor of DSBs, acts as a central link between DNA damage and autophagy by directly activating AMPK (Alexander et al., 2010). This can notably be the case in response to ROS- or RNS-induced damages (Alexander et al., 2010; Tripathi et al., 2013). Oxidative stress can also activate ATM independently of DSBs, and cells lacking ATM are more sensitive not just to DNA damage but also to oxidative stress (Guo et al., 2010), although autophagy has not been studied in link with these observations.

AMPK can additionally be activated in response to ROS-induced damages through the NAD⁺ dependent enzyme PARP1 (poly [ADP-ribose] polymerase 1), which plays a key role in several DNA repair pathways (Rodríguez-Vargas et al., 2012; Chaudhuri and Nussenzweig, 2017). PARP1 activity results in depletion of the NAD⁺ and ATP pool, which in turn can be sensed by AMPK to induce autophagy (Rodríguez-Vargas et al., 2012). By depleting cellular NAD⁺, PARP1 can also impair the activity of other NAD⁺ dependent enzymes, like Sirtuins. Notably, SIRTUIN1 deacetylates and thereby activates PGC1 α (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α coactivator 1 α), a transcriptional regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis. Reduced SIRTUIN1 activity during DNA damage repair could therefore also favor mitochondrial clearance and ROS control over mitochondrial biogenesis (Fang et al., 2014).



FIGURE 29. Single-stranded (top) and double-stranded (bottom) DNA damage repair mechanisms. Adapted from Fu et al., 2012 and Schwertman et al., 2016.

Finally, DNA damage induces p53, thus favoring its pro-autophagic nuclear function through the expression of genes encoding BH3-only proteins, AMPK subunits and AMPK regulators (Feng et al., 2007b; Budanov and Karin, 2008), PTEN (Stambolic et al., 2001; Feng et al., 2007b), DAPK1 (Zalckvar et al., 2009a, 2009b; Eisenberg-Lerner and Kimchi, 2012), or DRAM (Crighton et al., 2006).

In return, autophagy helps preserve genomic stability. BECLIN1 has long been established as a tumor suppressor gene, particularly in breast cancer (Aita et al., 1999; Yue et al., 2003). In light of this, it was shown that allelic loss of *BECLIN1* or defective autophagy sensitized cells to metabolic stress and promoted chromosome instability, with increased DNA damage, gene amplification, and aneuploidy (Karantza-Wadsworth et al., 2007; Mathew et al., 2007; Dou et al., 2015). Further supporting its protective role, the upregulation of autophagy following genotoxic treatments, like irradiation or chemotherapy, improves cell survival. This is of particular interest with regards to cancer treatment, as will be discussed in the next subchapter. However, the mechanistic implication of autophagy in the maintenance of genomic stability has only recently started to be explained.

Once activated, autophagy can regulate levels of DNA-damaging ROS, as mentioned previously, and can provide a supply of energy and nucleotides to help fuel DNA repair. Autophagy can also selectively remove micronuclei, or nuclear membrane-enclosed damaged chromosome fragments (Rello-Varona et al., 2012; Adams et al., 2013). More recently, several studies showed a direct implication of autophagy in regulating the DDR machinery.

 One study by Qiang et al. demonstrated that autophagy positively regulates NER by enhancing DNA damage recognition through the sensor proteins XPC (xeroderma pirmentosum, complementation group C) and DDB2 (DNA damage-binding protein 2) (Qiang et al., 2016).

Furthermore, defects in DSB repair when autophagy is compromised have been vastly reported (Bae and Guan, 2011; Chen et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2015; Hewitt et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016d). A few recent studies have pinpointed mechanisms explaining this phenomenon:

- Liu et al. described the first mechanistic link between the inhibition of autophagy and DNA repair. They show that the inhibition of autophagy stimulates proteasomal activity leading to increased degradation of CHK1, a key factor for HR **[FIGURE 30A]**. As a consequence, HR is critically impaired and NHEJ is turned to for DSB repair, resulting in diminished genomic integrity (Liu et al., 2015).
- Chen et al. further showed that autophagy-mediated degradation of heterochromatin protein 1α (HP1 α) allows access of HR factors to the site of DNA damage (Chen et al., 2015).
- Wang et al. found that inhibition of autophagy suppresses DNA-damage-induced H2A ubiquitination. This effect is dependent on p62 accumulation in autophagy-deficient cells, as the overexpression of p62 alone reduces chromatin ubiquitination while p62 knockdown enhances it. Mechanistically, they found that p62 binds the E3 ligasse RNF168 (ring finger protein 168) in the nucleus and inhibit its activity, which is

normally essential for H2A ubiquitination and the rectuitment of DDR factors like RAD51 and BRCA1 to DSBs **[FIGURE 30B]**. As a result, autophagy-deficient cells have reduced efficiency of HR, but not NHEJ, and have higher sensitivity to irradiation (Wang et al., 2016f).

- Hewitt et al., showed a similar effect of nuclear p62 on DSB repair through distinct mechanisms. They found p62 to dynamically interact with the cytoskeleton protein FilaminA at DNA damage foci. FilaminA was previously shown to be important for RAD51 recruitment to DSBs and efficient HR (Jingyin et al., 2009; Velkova et al., 2010). p62 stimulates the proteasomal degradation of both FilaminA and RAD51 directly in the nucleus, thus favoring NHEJ over HR and slowing the rate of repair. Inhibition of autophagy therefore similarly slows DNA repair kinetics in a p62-dependent manner [FIGURE 30C] (Hewitt et al., 2016).
- Finally, Xu et al. showed that by targeting the STAT3 repressor KAP1 (Krüppel associated box associated protein 1) for degradation, autophagy led to the upregulation of STAT3-mediated *BRCA1* transcription, thereby promoting HR and maintaining the genomic integrity of hematopoietic cells (Xu et al., 2017).

Although each of these studies indicate different mechanisms for autophagic regulation of DSB repair, they all support a role for autophagy in 'error-proof' HR over 'error-prone' NHEJ, and therefore a key role of autophagy in preserving genomic integrity.



FIGURE 30. Autophagy regulation of double-stranded break repair. Adapted from Hewitt and Korolchuk, 2017.

1.2.7 INFECTION, INFLAMMATION & IMMUNITY

Autophagy additionally plays an essential role in innate immunity. As previously mentioned, xenophagy acts as a key cellular defense against invasive pathogens (Gutierrez et al., 2004; Nakagawa et al., 2004). The precise mechanisms inducing xenophagy are a matter of ongoing research and often dependent on the pathogen at hand. One way to target autophagy to an

invading pathogen is the ubiquitination of the pathogen's proteins or their direct recognition by the autophagic machinery (Ogawa et al., 2005; Thurston et al., 2009; Zheng et al., 2009; Wild et al., 2011). As a more general mechanism, remnants of ruptured membranes following pathogen entry into the cytosol also induce autophagy (Dupont et al., 2009; Thurston et al., 2012; Kumar et al., 2017). Viruses can also stimulate autophagy through antiviral PKR (protein kinase R) signaling, which inhibits viral translation by phosphorylating the translation initiation factor eIF2 α (Talloczy et al., 2002; Tallóczy et al., 2006). Some viruses, like the Hepatitis C virus, induce ER stress, which in turn triggers autophagy (Sir et al., 2008). Highlighting the long-standing role of autophagy in innate immune defense, some pathogens have developed ways to escape autophagy. This is the case for the Herpes simplex virus 1, which encodes a protein capable of sequestering BECLIN1 (Orvedahl et al., 2007), or the enteric bacteria *Shigella*, which secretes factors that mask its proteins from recognition by the autophagy machinery (Ogawa et al., 2005). Some pathogens even hijack autophagy for their own benefit, using the vacuole as a replicative niche or stimulating autophagy to provide them with nutrients (Gutierrez et al., 2005; Birmingham et al., 2008; Pujol et al., 2009; Moreau et al., 2010).

Besides directly recognizing pathogens to target them for xenophagy, autophagy can also be activated by cytosolic NLRs. NOD1 and NOD2 both drive autophagosome formation upon peptidoglycan detection by interacting directly with ATG16L1 (Cooney et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2010; Chauhan et al., 2015). As will be discussed later, this is of particular interest in IBD as allelic variants of the *NOD2* gene or in autophagy genes like *ATG16L1* and *IRGM* (IFN-inducible immunity-related GTPase family M member 1) predispose to Crohn's disease. Autophagy can also be activated by extracellular or membrane-enclosed (phagocytosed) pathogens, as TLR signaling also stimulates autophagosome formation via MyD88 and TRIF (Toll-IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter-inducing IFN) (Sanjuan et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2007; Delgado et al., 2008; Shi and Kehrl, 2008, 2010).

Aside from NOD1 and NOD2, many NLRs are inflammasome components that can be stimulated by diverse stimuli, including bacterial toxins or mitochondrial danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) like ATP, ROS or mitochondrial DNA. These drive the activation of Caspase 1, which subsequently cleaves pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18 to their mature form. IL-1 β and IL-18 are then either secreted or pass through permeabilized membranes (Cullen et al., 2015), driving an inflammatory response. Several NLRs and inflammasomes have been reported to induce autophagy (Lei et al., 2012; Byrne et al., 2013; Wlodarska et al., 2014). However, the role of autophagy in this pathway remains somewhat ambiguous. On the one hand, autophagy attenuates inflammasome activity by preventing bacterial product or DAMP accumulation (Nakahira et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2011; Kreibich et al., 2015) and by targeting inflammasome subunits and pro-IL-1 β for degradation (Harris et al., 2011; Shi et al., 2012). This is consistent with studies showing that autophagy defects lead to inflammasome hyperactivation (Saitoh et al., 2008; Nakahira et al., 2011; Plantinga et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012b; Buffen et al., 2013), and suggests that autophagy acts to dampen inflammatory responses. On the other hand, autophagy has also been reported to drive the unconventional secretion of IL-1 β (Dupont et al., 2011). As with IL-1 β , autophagy is also involved in the immunogenic secretion of DAMPs like ATP and

HMGB1 (high mobility group box 1, a chromatin-associated protein) from dying cells (Tang et al., 2010a; Martins et al., 2014).

In addition to bacterial signals and the inflammasome, DAMPs can directly stimulate autophagy (Biswas et al., 2008; Tang et al., 2010b, 2011), as can several inflammatory cytokines like IL-1 β , TNF, and IFN γ (Gutierrez et al., 2004; Singh et al., 2006). Conversely, autophagy has been shown to limit production of several pro-inflammatory cytokines other than IL-1 β , including IL-1 α , IL-18, IL-23, IL-6, TGF β , and type I IFNs (Castillo et al., 2012; Peral de Castro et al., 2012; Marchiando et al., 2013; Ding et al., 2014; Mathew et al., 2014; Grimm et al., 2016). Autophagy also attenuates inflammatory NF κ B signaling (Paul et al., 2012), adding an additional layer to its many immuno-modulatory functions.

Besides innate immunity and inflammatory signaling, autophagy contributes to adaptive immunity by mediating antigen presentation. More specifically, autophagy delivers cytosolic antigens or antigens from targeted pathogens to class II MHC (major histocomaptibility complex)-loading compartments in dendritic cells, B cells, and epithelial cells. In this way, autophagy affects both the development of naïve T cells in the thymus (Nedjic et al., 2008) as well as adaptive T cell responses (Paludan et al., 2005; Schmid et al., 2007; Cooney et al., 2010; Ireland and Unanue, 2011). Likewise, autophagy can affect the presentation of antigens by class I MHC (Tey and Khanna, 2012; Wenger et al., 2012; Fiegl et al., 2013). Autophagy plays an additional role in antigen presentation by mediating the degradation of immunological synapses; thus, defective autophagy results in hyperstable interactions between dendritic cells and T cells, enhancing T cell activation (Wildenberg et al., 2012).

Lastly, autophagy within hematopoietic cells has proven to be important for the proper differentiation and function of certain lineages. Loss of certain ATGs is detrimental to immunosuppressive regulatory T cells (Kabat et al., 2016; Le Texier et al., 2016; Marcel and Sarin, 2016; Wei et al., 2016), whereas it conversely promotes differentiation towards pro-inflammatory $T_H 2$ and $T_H 9$ profiles (Kabat et al., 2016; Rivera Vargas et al., 2017). Deletion of *Atg5* or *Atg7* also impairs the differentiation and immunity of natural killer cells (O'Sullivan et al., 2015, 2016; Wang et al., 2016c) macrophages (Esteban-Martínez et al., 2017), and effector or memory CD8+T cells (Puleston et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2014; Schlie et al., 2015).

II. AUTOPHAGY IN PHYSIOLOGY AND PATHOLOGY

2.1 AUTOPHAGY IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

In light of the vast array of functions of autophagy in cellular homeostasis, it comes as no surprise that various links have been established between autophagy and physiology – or defects in autophagy and disease – both in human tissues and murine models. A few examples are discussed below and illustrated in **FIGURE 31**.

2.1.1 DEVELOPMENT

The fact that many systemic *Atg*-knockout mice die either in utero or within 1 day of birth highlights the importance of the autophagic pathway during development. Interestingly, for reasons that remain to be elucidated, mice deficient in genes not involved in the conjugation systems (ie. *Beclin1, Vps34, Atg9a, Atg13*) are embryonic lethal, while mice deficient in nonredundant *Atg* genes involved in conjugation systems (ie *Atg3, Atg5, Atg7, Atg12, Atg16l1*) are neonatal lethal (Kuma et al., 2017). From a few hours following fertilization, autophagy is massively upregulated, and is required for the survival of the blastocyst (Tsukamoto et al., 2008). Although the exact role of autophagy at this point remains unclear, it has been postulated to act as a source of nutrients until implantation of the embryo (Tsukamoto et al., 2008), or to mediate the degradation of paternal mitochondria (Rojansky et al., 2016) and unnecessary maternal proteins. During early development of the embryo, autophagy was also shown to play an essential role in energy production allowing the detection and clearance of apoptotic cells (Qu et al., 2007).

The neonatal period represents another phase where autophagy is crucial (Kuma et al., 2004; Komatsu et al., 2005; Kuma et al., 2017). Using GFP-tagged LC3 to visualize autophagosomes in mice, autophagy was shown to increase shortly after birth and remain elevated for 24 to 48 hours (Kuma et al., 2004; Tritarelli et al., 2004). Again, autophagy is thought to provide necessary nutrients to the infant following the loss of maternal supply and until breastfeeding begins. In line with this idea, while the acute systemic deletion of *Atg7* in adult mice is not immediately lethal in fed conditions (although these mice eventually die of neurodegeneration or bacterial infection), it becomes lethal upon fasting (Karsli-Uzunbas et al., 2014). However, nutrient supply may not be the only important function of autophagy in this context; Lee et al. founds that starved *Atg7*-deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts induced p53 in response to accumulated DNA damage, and that blocking the DNA damage response by deleting the checkpoint kinase CHK2 partially rescued the neonatal lethality of *Atg7*-knockout mice (Lee et al., 2012a).

Furthermore, conditional ablation of autophagy genes revealed the importance of the pathway in the proper development of several tissues, notably the central nervous system (Hara et al., 2006; Komatsu et al., 2006; Maria Fimia et al., 2007) and the hematopoietic system (Pua et al., 2007; Miller et al., 2008; Nedjic et al., 2008; Mortensen et al., 2011).



FIGURE 31. Roles of autophagy in physiology and pathology. Data illustrated in this figure have been obtained from both mouse and human studies. XMEA: X-linked myopathy with excess autophagy, UCMD: Ullrich congenital muscular disorder. Adapted from Mizushima and Komatsu, 2011.

2.1.2 METABOLIC DISEASE

One of the most drastic phenotypes of tissue-specific autophagy deletion can be seen in the liver, where *Atg7* loss causes hepatomegaly, hepatocytic hypertophy, and eventually hepatitis in mice (Komatsu et al., 2005). This is associated with an accumulation of swollen and deformed mitochondria, increased numbers of peroxisomes and lipid droplets, as well as p62- and Ubiquitin-positive protein aggregates. The lack of proper p62 turnover partially explains these phenotypes, as they are largely attenuated by the simultaneous deletion of the *Sqstm1* gene (Komatsu et al., 2007). Several other studies reported lipid accumulation in the liver following pharmaceutical inhibition of autophagy or deletion of key autophagy genes (Singh et al., 2009a; Jaber et al., 2012; Settembre et al., 2013), indicating a role for autophagy in hepatocyte function and lipid metabolism. Thus, it has been suggested that defective autophagy in the liver may contribute to the incidence of metabolic syndrome (Singh et al., 2009a; Yang et al., 2010).

In the pancreas, autophagy plays a particularly important role in the function of insulinproducing β cells, as β cell-specific *Atg7* deletion results in islet degeneration, in part attributed to increased susceptibility to ER stress and ROS accumulation (Ebato et al., 2008; Jung et al., 2008; Quan et al., 2012). This results in impaired insulin secretion, hyperglycemia, and also prevents the physiological expansion of β cells in response to a high-fat diet (Ebato et al., 2008; Jung et al., 2008). Defective autophagy in this tissue could therefore be linked to type 2 diabetes (Kaniuk et al., 2007; Masini et al., 2009; Quan et al., 2012), while the beneficial effects of metformin, a drug commonly used to treat type 2 diabetes, could be linked to the induction of autophagy (Masini et al., 2009).

On the contrary, deletion of either *Atg5* or *Atg7* in adipose tissue leads to impaired adipogenesis and prevents lipid accumulation, with drastically increased mitochondrial numbers and high rates of fatty acid oxidation in the few remaining adipocytes. This results in increased insulin sensitivity and a lean, obesity-resistant phenotype (Baerga et al., 2009; Singh et al., 2009b; Zhang et al., 2009b). Autophagy therefore plays a key role in systemic metabolism and in the proper function of the different organs involved.

2.1.3 NEURODEGENERATION

The fact that the majority mice die of neurodegeneration within 2 to 3 months following the systemic deletion of Atg7 speaks to the importance of autophagy in the central nervous system (Karsli-Uzunbas et al., 2014). Germline neuron-specific deletion of *Atg5*, *Atg7*, or *Fip200* leads to the accumulation of autophagy substrates like protein aggregates and damaged organelles within neurons. These mice display motor and behavioral deficits along with neurodegeneration and eventually die within 6 months of birth (Hara et al., 2006; Komatsu et al., 2006; Liang et al., 2010).

In line with these observations, defective autophagy was observed in human neurodegenerative diseases (Nixon et al., 2005; Pickford et al., 2008). Autophagy can notably degrade aggregateprone proteins responsible for various neurodegenerative diseases in humans, including TAU aggregates in Tauopathies like Alzheimer's disease, α -SYNUCLEIN aggregates in Parkinson's disease, and aggregates of mutant Huntingtin found in Huntington's disease (Ravikumar, 2002; Ravikumar et al., 2004; Berger et al., 2006). In line with these observations, pharmacological stimulation of autophagy helps eliminate these aggregates and improves neurological symptoms in animal models of neurodegenerative disease (Ravikumar et al., 2004; Tanaka et al., 2004; Berger et al., 2006; Ma et al., 2007; Spencer et al., 2009; Kickstein et al., 2010; Ozcelik et al., 2013). Moreover, genetic mutations in the genes encoding the mitophagy proteins PARKIN and PINK1 cause early-onset familial and sporadic Parkinson's disease as damaged mitochondria accumulate, culminating in the degeneration of dopaminergic neurons (Cookson, 2012). This indicates an important role not just for aggrephagy, but also for mitophagy in neurodegenerative diseases.

2.2 AUTOPHAGY IN ADULT STEM CELLS

As the implication of autophagy in intracellular quality control and cellular remodeling grows more and more evident, several recent studies have started to approach the question of its role in homeostatic adult stem cells. Adult stem cells are pluripotent cells capable of both selfrenewal and differentiation and are responsible for the homeostatic maintenance and damageinduced regeneration of the organism's tissues. Among the best-studied adult stem cells are hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), neural stem cells (NSCs), and muscle stem cells (more commonly called satellite cells). Autophagy has been studied in each of these, revealing important contributions to stem cell maintenance, renewal, and differentiation with both convergent and unique roles depending on the tissue.

Adult HSCs are kept quiescent in a hypoxic niche in the bone marrow and can differentiate into multipotent progenitors either physiologically to replenish the normal loss of blood cells or in response to haematological stress. Autophagic flux is particularly high in HSCs compared to their mature progeny (Watson et al., 2015). Inhibition of autophagy in the adult HSCs of mice by genetic ablation of Atg7, Atg5, or Atg12 resulted in severe impairments in HSC function (determined by HSC numbers, colony-formation capacity, and capacity to replenish the haematopoietic system when transplanted into irradiated mice), increased proliferation, and myeloid lineage expansion (Mortensen et al., 2011; Watson et al., 2015; Ho et al., 2017). In each of these studies, increased numbers of mitochondria and increased levels of ROS were reported following the loss of autophagy. High autophagy could therefore maintain HSCs in a quiescent state within their hypoxic niche in the bone marrow by limiting mitochondrial numbers and thereby ROS production. In line with this, silencing of *Pink1* or *Parkin* expression also impairs HSC maintenance (Ito et al., 2016). Downregulation of autophagy and mitophagy could also serve as a key regulatory step to HSC differentiation, which requires an oxidative switch (Yu et al., 2013a; Kohli and Passegué, 2014). Mitophagy further contributes to the terminal differentiation of macrophages (Esteban-Martínez et al., 2017) and erythrocytes (Sandoval et al., 2008).

Adult NSCs also reside in hypoxic niches in different regions of the brain. Although they are relatively quiescent, they can give rise to neural progenitors that allow the maintenance and reorganization of the brain circuitry. Just as loss of autophagy in HSCs impairs hematopoiesis, loss of some (but not all) autophagy genes in NSCs impairs neurogenesis (Yazdankhah et al., 2014; Lv et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016a). Loss of Ambra1 (an Atg encoding a protein that stimulates BECLIN1 activity in the class III PI3K complex), Beclin1, Fip200, or Atg13 reduces proliferation and increases apoptosis of NSCs, ultimately leading to stem cell exhaustion (Wang et al., 2013, 2016a; Yazdankhah et al., 2014). Mechanistically, Fip200 deletion results in superoxide accumulation due not to an increase in mitochondrial mass, but rather to a p62dependent relocalization of cytoplasmic SOD1 to the nucleus (Wang et al., 2016a). In line with the importance of ROS regulation in NSCs, FOXO proteins were previously shown to be essential for NSC maintenance by driving expression of antioxidant defense genes (Paik et al., 2009). Notably, these phenotypes are in stark contrast with those reported following the loss of autophagy in embryonic NSCs, where *Ambra1* or *Atg5* knockdown instead increases proliferation and inhibits differentiation. In this context, increased autophagy is through to promote differentiation by supporting the high energy demands of differentiating neural progenitors (Vázquez et al., 2012; Lv et al., 2015) and by favoring a glycolytic switch through BNIP3L-mediated mitophagy (Esteban-Martínez et al., 2017). This suggests that the need for autophagy differs between foetal and adult NSCs.

Autophagy induction is also required to support the bioenergetic demands of activated satellite cells (Tang and Rando, 2014). The loss of *Atg7* in satellite cells leads to oxidative stress, DNA

damage, protein aggregates, damaged mitochondria and markers of senescence (García-Prat et al., 2016). Interestingly, these are also phenotypes of aged satellite cells, along with decreased autophagic flux, which can be rescued by rapamycin or spermidine treatment, two drugs known to stimulate autophagy.

Clearly, the function of autophagy in adult stem cells varies greatly between tissues. Nevertheless, common trends arise when comparing the role of autophagy in the maintenance and differentiation of each of these stem cell populations: particularly ROS regulation, mitophagy, and energy homeostasis (Boya et al., 2018). It should be noted, however, that all three of these adult stem cell populations are relatively quiescent and only periodically exit their quiescent state in response to specific signals that indicate the need to repopulate the tissue. This comes in contrast to the continuously proliferating intestinal stem cell populations described in the previous chapter.

2.3 AUTOPHAGY & AGING

Strong evidence exists linking impaired autophagy to functional aging in invertebrate model organisms, and arising evidence in mammals hints at a similar pattern (Hansen et al., 2018).

First, as discussed above, autophagy plays a major role in several age-related diseases, including neurodegenerative diseases, metabolic syndromes, and – as will be discussed in the next section – cancer.

Second, autophagy decreases with age in several tissues. Notably, protein expression of LC3 and ATG7 has been shown to decline with age in the mouse hypothalamus and in the muscle of both mice and humans (Kaushik et al., 2012; Carnio et al., 2014). Furthermore, turnover of autophagic vacuoles and rates of autophagic proteolysis are also decreased in the livers of aged rats (Terman, 1995; Donati et al., 2001; Del Roso et al., 2003). Protein levels of lysosomal LAMP2A also decrease with age in the rat liver, and this is associated with decreased levels of other types of autophagy as well, like CMA, which has also been linked to aging (Cuervo and Dice, 2000; Cuervo and Wong, 2014). Altogether, this illustrates a decrease in autophagy with age in various tissues. Interestingy, the opposite pattern has been shown for mTOR activity and could be at least partially responsible for these observations (Baar et al., 2016).

Third, impaired or diminished autophagy has been associated with various classical hallmarks of aging, including loss of proteostasis, mitochondrial dysfunction, genomic instability, or somatic stem cell exhaustion (López-Otín et al., 2013).

Lastly, regimes or pharmaceutical treatments that extend lifespan, such as caloric restriction or spermidine, induce autophagy. Importantly, the effects of these treatments on lifespan have clearly been shown to depend on autophagy in invertebrate models (Hansen et al., 2018), and evidence is beginning to be put forward in mice as well (Eisenberg et al., 2016). Moreover, enhancing autophagic activity through genetic alterations in mice – either through ubiquitous *Atg5* overexpression or through a point mutation on *Beclin1* that disrupts the interaction of its protein product with BCL2 – not only increases their lifespan compared to wild type littermates, but also promotes healthspan: *Atg5*-overexpressing mice are leaner with increased insulin

sensitivity, and improved motor function. Furtheremore, isolated MEFs from these mice demonstrate higher resistance to oxidative stress. Meanwhile, *Beclin1*-mutant mice show fewer age-related renal or cardiac pathological changes and diminished spontaneous tumorigenesis (Pyo et al., 2013; Fernández et al., 2018).



FIGURE 32. Tumor-suppressive and tumor-promoting roles of autophagy at different stages of tumorigenesis. Adapted from Lorin et al., 2013.

2.4 AUTOPHAGY IN CANCER

The first link between the autophagic machinery and cancer was made in 1999 by Beth Levine's group when the gene encoding BECLIN1, was identified as a candidate tumor suppressor gene (Liang et al., 1999). Indeed, *BECLIN1* is monoallelically deleted in a large proportion of human breast, ovarian, and prostate cancers. A few years later, the tumor-suppressive role of BECLIN1 was confirmed in two independent studies showing that mice deleted for one allele of *Beclin1*, which display reduced autophagy at the whole-body level, develop various sporadic tumors including lymphoma, lung cancer, and hepatocellular carcinoma (Qu et al., 2003; Yue et al., 2003). A wave of research regarding the role of autophagy in cancer followed, resulting in the genegeral dogma put forward today: that autophagy plays a tumor-suppressive role in healthy tissue, whereas it promotes the growth and survival of established tumor cells [FIGURE 32].

2.4.1 AUTOPHAGY IN PRE-MALIGNANT CELLS

Cell-intrinsically, autophagy suppresses tumorigenesis by preventing the accumulation of ROS, preserving genomic integrity, or by elimintating invading pathogens with transforming activity. Autophagy is also though to suppress tumorigenesis in a non-cell autonomous manner in some

tissues by limiting chronic inflammation, which can be a strong oncogenic driver. Several studies confirmed the results obtained with *Beclin1* using deletion of other autophagy genes, including allelic loss of *Ambra1*, which leads to the development of tumors primarily in the liver and lungs of mice (Cianfanelli et al., 2015), or mosaic *Atg5* deletion, which results in the formation of hepatic adenomas (Takamura et al., 2011). Likewise, the hepatocyte-specific deletion of either *Atg5* or *Atg7* led to the spontaneous formation of benign tumors (Inami et al., 2011; Takamura et al., 2011). Interestingly, in the case of either *Beclin1*- and *Ambra1*- heterozygous mice, the tumors that develop do not display loss of heterozygosity, suggesting that impaired autophagy does not drive tumorigenesis alone but instead creates a permissive cellular environment for transfomation.

In line with this idea, several of the most common or potential driver mutations found in human cancers are predicted to result in the downregulation of autophagy. This includes, for example, the inactivation of PTEN, the cytoplasmic accumulation of p53, or the oncogenic activation of PI3K or AKT signaling (Kandoth et al., 2013). Furthermore, the inhibition of autophagy has been shown to favor chemically- or genetically- induced tumorigenesis in several tissues. For example, ablation of Atg7 in a BRAF^{V600E}-driven mouse model of lung tumorigenesis accelerated the early stages of tumorigenesis (Strohecker et al., 2013). Similarly, decreased ATG5 expression was observed in human melanoma samples compared to benign nevi or normal skin cells, and suppressing Atg5 in primary melanocytes expressing either oncogenic BRAF^{V600E} or HRAS^{G12V} prevented oncogene-induced senescence (Liu et al., 2013b). As a final example, while complete loss of Atg5 impairs HSC function, the heterozygous loss of Atg5 in HSCs enhances development of acute myeloid leukemia when associated with a driver mutation (MLL-ENL fusion) (Watson et al., 2015). Thus, generally speaking, decreased levels of autophagy favor tumor initiation in a cell-intrinsic manner.

2.4.2 AUTOPHAGY SUPPORTS TUMOR GROWTH AND METABOLISM

Despite the suppressive effect of autophagy in tumor initiation, autophagy genes are only rarely mutated in human cancer, and even *BECLIN1* deletions have been suggested to be passenger mutations to deletions of the nearby tumor suppressor gene *BRCA1* (Laddha et al., 2014). In fact, several tumors actually show an increase in basal autophagy levels. As in normal tissues, autophagy can help tumor cells cope with metabolic stress, growth factor deprivation, hypoxic conditions or oxidative stress. In line with this pro-tumorigenic role of autophagy, inhibition of autophagy in various tumor tissues or cancer cell lines hinders their growth.

Once again, the work of Strohecker et al. (Strohecker et al., 2013) using a mouse model of BRAF^{V600E}-induced lung cancer can be taken as an example. In this study, while the loss of *Atg7* favored tumor initiation, the developing tumors are predominantly benign oncocytomas instead of adenomas, and the mice bearing these tumors survive much longer than those with autophagy-proficient tumors. The authors propose that autophagy-supplied substrates like glutamine sustain BRAF^{V600E} tumor metabolism and growth. A similar reduction in tumor burden and extension of lifespan was observed upon *Atg7* or *Atg5* deletion in KRAS^{G12D}-driven lung tumors (Guo et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2014) despite an increase in tumor initiation (Rao et al.,

2014). In all three cases, the reduced tumor progression was associated with p53 activation, although deletion of p53 only partially relieved tumor progression (Guo et al., 2013; Strohecker et al., 2013; Rao et al., 2014). This suggests that autophagy contributes to tumor growth in part by restraining p53 activation and in part through p53-independent mechanisms. In link with an effect of autophagy on tumor cell metabolism, Rao et al. found impaired oxidative phosphorylation and ATP production in *Atg5*-deficient Kras^{G12D} tumor cells, while Guo et al. show that *Atg7* deficiency impaired the ability of tumor cells to turn to lipid catabolism and fatty acid oxidation as a source of energy in KRAS^{G12D}-mutant and p53-deficient tumors (Guo et al., 2013; Rao et al., 2014). The idea that Kras-driven lung tumors rely on autophagy to provide metabolic substrates was further supported by a study in human tumor-derived cell lines (Guo et al., 2016). While these studies address the issue of tumor cell-autonomous autophagy inhibition, Karsli-Uzunbas et al. (Karsli-Uzunbas et al., 2014) mimicked the effect of autophagyinhibiting treatments in the clinic by deleting *Atg7* at the whole-body level once KRAS^{G12D} and p53-null lung tumors were established. Systemic autophagy inhibition not only caused tumor cell proliferative arrest and death, but the kinetics and magnitude of these events were accelerated compared to tumor-specific Atg7 deletion, hinting at additional non-cell autonomous effects of autophagy inhibition in this tissue. Moreover, the beneficial anti-tumoral effects of Atg7 deletion occurred prior to any deleterious systemic effects, providing hope for the therapeutic use of acute autophagy inhibition in lung cancer.

Autophagy also plays an important role in the progression of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC). In humans, 90% of PDAC possess KRAS mutations, a driver oncogene in PDAC formation, while mutations in the gene encoding p53, TP53, occur in approximately 75% of PDAC. Interestingly, autophagy was found to be elevated in primary PDAC tumors and cell lines (Yang et al., 2011; Perera et al., 2015). These high levels of autophagy were shown to maintain a lysosome-derived pool of amino acids allowing PDAC cell growth (Perera et al., 2015). As in the lung, loss of Atg7 or Atg5 in Kras-mutant mouse pancreas leads to a marked accumulation of early pre-cancerous pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasias (PanINs). However, these undergo very limited progression to PDAC and mice bearing these autophagy-deficient tumors have a prolongued lifespan compared to autophagy-proficient cases (Rosenfeldt et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2014). Furthermore, autophagy-deficient tumors show reduced oxygen consumption, diminished proliferation, increased DNA damage, and higher levels of apoptosis; similar to what was previously found in primary pancreatic tumors and cell lines following silencing of ATG genes (Yang et al., 2011, 2014; Rosenfeldt et al., 2013). Similar results were also found using Chloroquine (CQ), an antimalarial drug that blocks autophagosome fusion with lysosomes (Yang et al., 2011). Following pancreatic loss of *Atg7* or *Atg5*, mice eventually become sick and die, but this is instead due to endocrine dysfunction consistent with the aforementioned role of autophagy in pancreatic function (Rosenfeldt et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2014). These studies diverge, however, on their analysis of the effect of autophagy in Kras-mutated and p53-deficient tumors [FIGURE 33]. Rosenfeldt et al. used an embryonic homozygous deletion of Tp53 in the pancreas along with the Kras mutation. Contrary to p53-proficient tissue, tumors formed irrespective of autophagy status and, surprisingly, Atg7 loss or hydroxychloroquine (HCQ, a

derivative of CQ) treatment accelerated PDAC formation in p53-null tissue (Rosenfeldt et al., 2013). Yang et al., on the other hand, used a *Kras*-mutant and p53 loss-of-function mouse model to show that *Atg* deletion or HCQ treatment could still suppress tumor progression and prolong mouse survival in a p53-null context (Yang et al., 2011, 2014). They further confirmed this using HCQ treatment on *KRAS*- and *TP53*- mutant patient-derived pancreatic cancer xenografts (Yang et al., 2014). Although the differences responsible for the opposing response between the embryonic and adult models of p53 loss remain uncertain, it seems that the second model is more clinically relevant and ongoing clinical trials for autophagy inhibition in PDAC will determine its efficiency in patients.



FIGURE 33. Effects of autophagy inhibition in mouse models of pancreatic cancer. The differences observed upon autophagy inhibition, either by Atg gene deletion or hydroxychoroquine (HCQ) treatment, in genetically-engineered mouse models and patient-derived xenografts (PDX) of Kras-mutant PDAC are likely a result of the developmental stage at which p53 function is lost and whether PDAC progression involves Tp53 loss of heterozygosity (LOH). Adapted from Amaravadi and Debnath, 2014.

Atg gene deletion has also proved to have anti-tumoral effects in other mouse models of *Kras*- or *Braf*- mutant tumors, including melanoma (Xie et al., 2015) and glioblastoma (Gammoh et al., 2016), as well as in several RAS-activated cell lines (Guo et al., 2011b; Lock et al., 2011). This also applies to tumors driven by other mutations, like PTEN-depleted prostate tumors (Santanam et al., 2016), Philadelphia-chromosome-positive chronic myeloid leukemia (Karvela et al., 2016) or classical Hodgkin lymphoma (Birkenmeier et al., 2016).

In addition, autophagy may promote the later stages of cancer progression including tumor cell dissemination and metastasis as it protects tumor cells from undergoing anoikis (Fung et al., 2007), facilitates migration (Kenific et al., 2016; Sharifi et al., 2016), and promotes the survival of disseminated dormant cells that will initiate secondary tumors (Vera-Ramirez et al., 2018).

Although these studies strongly support the dogma where autophagy suppresses tumor initiation but promotes tumor progression, it should be noted that this is not always the case. In fact, the role of autophagy in cancer actually appears to be quite tissue- and context- dependent. Despite the *BECLIN1* being monoallelically lost in 40-75% of sporadic breast and ovarian carcinomas, heterozygous loss of *Beclin1* did not further promote oncogene-driven mammary carcinogenesis (Lozy et al., 2014). In another model of mammary carcinogensis, allelic loss of *Beclin1* actually reduces tumorigenesis in a p53-dependent manner (Huo et al., 2013). Clearly, a trending "context" that modulates the effects of autophagy in cancer is the presence of functional p53.
2.4.3 AUTOPHAGY & RESISTANCE TO THERAPY

In addition to supporting tumor cell metabolism and stress response, autophagy also protects tumor cells from cytotoxic agents commonly used to treat cancer. Indeed, autophagy is activated in response to several forms of cancer therapy (including chemotherapy, targeted inhibitors or radiation) and in various tumor types. In many cases, the upregulation of autophagy was shown to act as a pro-survival response that promotes therapeutic resistance. This was initially demonstrated by Amaravadi et al. (Amaravadi et al., 2007), who showed that the inhibition of autophagy by CQ or by silencing Atg5 expression both enhanced tumor regression upon alkylating drug therapy and delayed tumor recurrence. A vast number of studies in vitro, using genetically engineered mouse models or using patient-derived xenografts have since corroborated the beneficial effects of autophagy inhibition when combined with anticancer treatment (Ojha et al., 2015; Rebecca and Amaravadi, 2016). Mechanistically, in response to cytotoxic treatments, autophagy could suppress p53, allow ER stress or oxidative stress resistance, contribute to DNA damage repair or induce a state of senescence or "dormancy" allowing cells to survive treatment and later re-establish tumor growth. The latter supports an additional role for autophagy in tumor relapse following treatment, as suggested by the delayed tumor recurrence in the study by Amaravadi et al, and in other studies (Amaravadi et al., 2007; Gupta et al., 2010; Sosa et al., 2013; Beyaz et al., 2016). On the contrary, enhanced autophagy in tumor cells following treatment appears to be beneficial for the anti-tumoral effects of immunogenic chemotherapy or radiotherapy (Li et al., 2008; Sompolinsky et al., 2011). This has essentially been linked with the role of autophagy in antigen presentation or in immunogenic ATP release from dying tumor cells.

Various clinical trials to modulate autophagy in cancer are currently under way – with 61 ongoing trials reported on www.clinicaltrials.gov as of august 2018 **[FIGURE 34]**, the vast majority focused on inhibiting autophagy. Currently, the only clinically approved drugs to inhibit autophagy are CQ and HCQ, and these have proved effective in combination therapy to treat various cancers (Levy et al., 2017). It should be noted, however, that these drugs also have anti-tumoral properties independent of their effect on autophagy (Maes et al., 2014; Eng et al., 2016).



FIGURE 34. 61 ongoing clinical trials on autophagy and cancer by cancer type as of August 2018. Data from www.clinicaltrials.gov.

2.4.4 AUTOPHAGY & CANCER STEM CELLS

Similar to tissue stem cells, a subpopulation of cells with stem-like properties called cancer stem cells are thought to drive the long-term growth of tumoral tissue. This distinct subset of cancer cells holds the tumorigenic potential of the tumor (as shown by their ability to form organospheres *in vitro* or establish tumors in immunocompromised mice). Like normal tissue stem cells, cancer stem cells are dependent on their microenvironment – typically hypoxic, nutrient-poor niches within the tumor – to sustain the population. They are also considered as more resistant to therapy and may drive tumor regrowth following treatment. Moreover, cancer stem cells express mesenchymal traits and could drive metastasis. Although the notion of cancer stem cells remains controversial, cancer stem cell populations have been identified in numerous tumor types, and evidence for a stem- and progenitor- like organization within tumors *in vivo* has been put forward for intestinal tumors (as described in the previous chapter) as well as brain and skin tumors (Chen et al., 2012; Driessens et al., 2012; Schepers et al., 2012).

As autophagy plays an important role in normal tissue stem cells, and in line with its role in tumor progression, recurrence and metastasis, it has been postulated to play a role in the maintenance of cancer stem cells. The role of autophagy has been most extensively described in breast cancer stem cells, where autophagy markers are overexpressed and autophagic flux is enhanced. Moreover, inhibition of autophagy in these cancer stem cells has been shown to block their tumorigenicity, their ability to go into dormancy and survive cytotoxic treatment, and their ability to form metastases (Espina et al., 2010; Chaterjee and van Golen, 2011; Cufí et al., 2011; Gong et al., 2013; Yue et al., 2013; Maycotte et al., 2015; Vera-Ramirez et al., 2018). The nutrientand oxygen- deprived conditions of the cancer stem cell niche could be inductive to autophagy. In line with this idea, in pancreatic tumors, $HIF\alpha$ and autophagy were shown to play a role in the equilibrium between non-stem cancer cells and cancer stem cells (Zhu et al., 2013). Similarly, the importance of autophagy in the resistance of cancer stem cells to cytotoxic therapy was notably demonstrated in chronic myeloid leukemia and bladder cancer (Bellodi et al., 2008; Ojha et al., 2014). Interestingly, not just bulk autophagy but mitophagy specifically was shown to play a role in the maintenance of cancer stem cells in both hepatocellular carcinoma and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, by suppressing nuclear p53-mediated repression of stemness genes (Liu et al., 2017) and by regulating redox homeostasis (Whelan et al., 2017), respectively.

2.4.5 AUTOPHAGY AND THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

Aside from its cell-intrinsic functions in tumor cells, autophagy also plays an important role in both autocrine and paracrine interactions between tumor cells and with their microenvironment. For one, ATP secretion by melanoma cells through the autophagic machinery was shown to play an essential role in tumor cell migration and drug resistance (Martin et al., 2017). Tumor cell autophagy was also shown to assist in immune evasion by preventing exposure of Calreticulin (an immunogenic cell death signal) in cancer cell lines (Garg et al., 2013) and suppressing melanoma cell secretion of chemokines that drive tumor infiltration by natural killer cells, which play a fundamental role in anti-tumoral immunity (Mgrditchian et al., 2017).

In solid tumors, various mesenchymal cell types – including fibroblasts, hematopoietic cells, and cells of the vascular and lymphatic vessels – are found within the tumor mass and can support tumor growth by providing metabolic substrates, antioxidants, growth factors and blood supply. In breast cancer, high levels of LC3 and high autophagic activity in cancer-associated fibroblasts have been linked with a more aggressive phenotype (Zhao et al., 2017). Several other studies have put forward evidence for a tumor-promoting role of autophagy in cancer-associated fibroblasts, either by simply protecting the tumor-supporting fibroblasts themselves from oxidative stress (Wang et al., 2016b), by driving the secretion of growth-promoting cytokines like IL-6 or IL-8 (Valencia et al., 2014; New et al., 2017), or by allowing fibroblasts to provide metabolic substrates to fuel energy production in the tumor cells (Capparelli et al., 2012; Sousa et al., 2016). A worthy example of the latter is that of pancreatic stellate cells, specialized fibroblasts that stimulate tumor growth in vivo and in vitro by secreting non-essential amino acids like alanine in an autophagy-dependent manner. The secreted alanine is then taken up by tumor cells and used to fuel mitochondrial metabolism, reducing tumor cell dependence on limited microenvironmental glucose (Sousa et al., 2016). In each of these cases, deletion of autophagy in cancer-associated fibroblasts suppressed tumor growth.

In addition to tumor stromal fibroblasts, autophagy can also play an important role in immune cells involved in tumor immune surveillance. On top of to the globally immunomodulatory effects of autophagy, autophagic activity in T lymphocytes in the context of cancer seems to favor populations linked with immune evasion (ie. regulatory T lymphocytes) over those acting against tumor progression (ie. T_H9 cells), as discussed in section 1.2.7 of this chapter.

Targeting autophagy in the tumor microenvironment in addition to tumor cells may therefore present a promising anticancer strategy. Once again, the effects of inhibiting autophagy in both tumor cells and the microenvironment could be tissue- and context- dependent. While whole-body autophagy inhibition appears to exert a greater antitumor activity than inhibiting autophagy only in tumor cells (Karsli-Uzunbas et al., 2014), caloric restriction or mimetics, which rather induce autophagy, have also been shown to enhance anticancer immunosurveillance and the efficienty of treatment (Saleh et al., 2013; Di Biase et al., 2016; Pietrocola et al., 2016). These ambiguous results highlight the need for a better understanding of tumor-cell extrinsic effects of autophagy.

Overall, these studies reveal an important role of autophagy in various aspects of mammalian physiology and disease, with both general and tissue-specific roles of autophagy. In the following subchapter, the known functions of autophagy specifically in the intestine will be discussed, with particular attention attributed to its functions in the intestinal epithelium.

III. AUTOPHAGY & THE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

As covered in the previous chapter, the homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium is ensured by a variety of mechanisms and signaling pathways. Among theses, the implication of autophagy is growing increasingly evident. In fact, autophagy appears to have very specific roles in the different cell types of the intestinal epithelium.

3.1 AUTOPHAGY IN SECRETORY CELLS OF THE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

The best-established function of autophagy in the intestinal epithelium is in the secretory cell lineages. Through their secretion of AMPs and mucus, respectively, Paneth cells and goblet cells protect the intestinal epithelium and the organism by limiting colonization and infection and regulating the composition of the microbiota (Vaishnava et al., 2008). Several studies have revealed a role of the autophagic machinery in the secretory function of these cell types.

Indeed, the deletion of *Atg5*, *Atg7*, *Atg16l1*, or *Atg4b* or even the expression of a hypomorphic allele of *Atg16l1* (*Atg16l1*^{HM}) in mice results in malformed secretion granules within Paneth cells and a defect in AMP production and release (Cadwell et al., 2008, 2009; Cabrera et al., 2013; Lévy et al., 2015; Burger et al., 2018). Specifically, autophagy-deficient Paneth cells have fewer and more disorganized granules [FIGURE 35] and a diffuse intracellular Lysozyme staining. Moreover, autophagy-deficient intestines lack Lysozyme staining in the mucus surrounding the epithelium, highlighting a defect in the secretion of this major AMP. As will be discussed below, an allele of *ATG16L1* carrying a point mutation (T300A) resulting in reduced expression of the protein was identified as a key susceptibility allele for Crohn's disease. Interestingly, Paneth cells from patients carrying the *ATG16L1*^{T300A} allele display similar defects in secretion granule structure and Lysozyme secretion.

This phenotype appears to be dependent on other factors as well. Intriguingly, *Atg16l1*^{HM} mice raised in germ-free conditions present a normal Paneth cell morphology. However, chronic viral infection using the murine norovirus (MNV) strain CR6 re-establishes the secretory defects of autophagy-deficient Paneth cells (Cadwell et al., 2010). The authors therefore put forward the idea that a pathogen-plus-susceptibility gene interaction is required for the establishment of these Paneth cell secretory defects. In line with this idea, a recent study by Bel et al. (Bel et al., 2017) established secretory autophagy as an alternative mechanism for the secretion of lysozyme in the case of bacterial infection. Reliance on this alternative mode of secretion was triggered by bacteria-induced ER stress (a way for bacteria to interfere with the classical secretion route) but also required extrinsic signals from innate lymphoic cells.

Aside from its effects on AMP secretion granules, loss of *Atg16l1* or *Atg7* in Paneth cells also results in ER stress **[FIGURE 35]** and the activation of the UPR (Adolph et al., 2013). The opposite is also true: blocking the UPR by deleting *Xbp1*, variants of which are also linked to Crohn's disease, stimulates autophagy. Loss of both *Xbp1* and autophagy results in severe inflammation and spontaneous Crohn's disease-like ileitis. Autophagy and the UPR therefore act in conjunction within Paneth cells to maintain inflammatory homeostasis in the intestine.

Unlike what is seen in Paneth cells, the morphology of mucin-containing secretion granules in goblet cells is not particlualry altered by the inhibition of autophagy, nor is the mRNA expression of mucins. Nevertheless, autophagy-deficient goblet cells also present secretory defects; they accumulate mucin-containing granules within their cytoplasm **[FIGURE 35]** (Patel et al., 2013; Lassen et al., 2014; Tsuboi et al., 2015). Mucin-containing vacuole secretion was thus found to implicate autophagy proteins, endocytosis, and ROS production by NADPH oxidases (Patel et al., 2013).



FIGURE 35. Effects of the loss of Atg7 in secretory intestinal epithelial cells. Transmission electron microscopy images of Paneth cells and goblet cells in WT and Atg7-/- mice. Yellow arrows indicate Paneth cell secretion granules, orange arrows indicate endoplasmic reticulum, green arrows indicate goblet cell mucin granules. Similar phenotypes have been described in mouse models invalidated for other autophagy genes, including Atg16l1, Atg5, or Atg4b. Scale: 1um. Adapted from Trentesaux et al., 2017.

3.2 XENOPHAGY

Another form of antimicrobial defense, xenophagy, is also implicated in the homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium. A rapid induction of autophagy in intestinal epithelial cells was reported following infection of germ-free or conventionally raised mice with invasive pathogens like *Salmonella tiphimurium, Shigella flexneri*, or a specific strain of *Escherichia coli* associated with Crohn's disease (AIEC, adherent-invasive *Escherichia coli*), but also by opportunistically invasive commensal like *Enterococcus faecalis*. Epithelium-specific deletion of *Atg5, Atg7*, or *Atg16l1* abrogated this response (Benjamin et al., 2013; Chang et al., 2013; Conway et al., 2013; Mimouna et al., 2014). The lack of autophagic degradation of invasive pathogens by epithelial cells could also affect presentation of antigens to the adaptive immune system, further affecting organismal defenses. Of course, autophagy additionally plays an important role in cells of the innate or adaptive immune system, as discussed previously.

3.3 AUTOPHAGY, THE MICROBIOTA & INFLAMMATION

Thus, generally speaking, the loss of autophagy in the intestinal epithelium affects innate antimicrobial defenses. In addition, one study showed a direct implication for autophagy in enhancing epithelial tight junctions *in vitro* (Nighot et al., 2015). The combination of these factors could explain the increased permeability of the intestinal epithelium observed in autophagy-deficient mice (Lévy et al., 2015).

Two independent studies, including one from our group, recently showed that the deletion of *Atg7* in the murine intestinal epithelium led to alterations in the composition and localization of the intestinal microbiota. Bacteria were found in closer contact with the epithelium, within the crypt compartment of small intestine, and sometimes even in the lamina propria (Lévy et al., 2015). Furthermore, the *Firmicutes* phylym (more specifically the *Clostridiales* class) were overrepresented in both the ileic mucosa and feces of *Atg7*-deficient mice (Lévy et al., 2015; Tsuboi et al., 2015). This was further associated with the recruitment of specific immune populations (Lévy et al., 2015). Crohn's disease patients with the T300A polymorphism on *ATG16L1* also display a dysbiosis characterized by an overrespresentation of the *Enterobacteriaceae*, *Bacteriodacea* and *Fusobacteriacea* families (Sadabad et al., 2015).

Moreover, either expression of the hypomorphic form of *Atg16l1* in germ-free mice combined with chronic MNV infection (Cadwell et al., 2010) or the deletion of *Atg4b* (Cabrera et al., 2013) or *Atg7* (Tsuboi et al., 2015) in conventionally raised mice increased their sensitivity to DSS-induced colitis. In all three cases, antibiotic treatment rescued the aberrant response of autophagy-deficient mice to DSS treatment, revealing an important contribution of microbial alterations in this hypersensitivity.

It is interesting that both a partial but ubiquitious loss of autophagy (as is the case for $Atg16l1^{HM}$ or *Atg4b*-knockout mice) and a complete but intestinal epithelium-specific loss of autophagy (in the case of Atq7 induce a similar phenotype. Cabrera et al. investigated the specific effects of *Atg4b* loss in hematopoietic cells and showed that it moderately contributes to the aggravated phenotype following DSS treatment; indeed, transplatation of *Atg4b*-deficient mice with wildtype bone marrow partially rescued their sensitivity, whereas transplantation of wild-type mice with *Atg4b*-deficient bone marrow induced a partial hypersensibility to DSS (Cabrera et al., 2013). Along the same lines, mice lacking *Atg16l1* only in hematopoietic cells are also more susceptible to DSS-induced colitis (Saitoh et al., 2008). Using another mouse IBD model involving Helicobacter hepaticus infection combined with the blockade of immune regulatory circuits through anti-IL-10 receptor antibodies, Pott et al. showed that whereas loss of Atg16l1 in myeloid cells only marginally affects the development of colitis, autophagy deficiency in intestinal epithelial cells severely exacerbates pathology (Pott et al., 2018). They further demonstrated that this was associated with TNF-induced apoptosis in the epithelium. Similarly, Burger et al. showed that the epithelium-specific or Paneth cell-specific deletion of Atg5 increased susceptibility to Toxoplasma gondii in a tumor necrosis factor (TNF) -dependent manner (Burger et al., 2018). This highlights both a key role of Paneth cell-specific autophagy in modulating intestinal inflammation, and the importance of autophagy in protecting the epithelium in response to inflammatory signals. Interestingly, anti-TNF or anti-IFNγ treatment has proven effective both in reducing pathological symptoms in autophagy-deficient mouse models of colitis (Cadwell et al., 2010; Matsuzawa-Ishimoto et al., 2017; Burger et al., 2018; Pott et al., 2018) and to treat patients with IBD (Cohen and Sachar, 2017). It should be noted, however, that none of these mouse models spontaneously developed colitis in the absence of pro-inflammatory treatment.

3.4 AUTOPHAGY IN INTESTINAL PATHOLOGY

3.4.1 AUTOPHAGY IN CROHN'S DISEASE

Crohn's disease is an IBD that involves both genetic and environmental factors resulting in altered homeostasis of the intestinal microbiota, epithelium, and immune system. It is characterized by increased epithelial permeability, dysbiosis, defective antimicrobial peptide and mucus secretion, ER stress, increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (including IL-1 β , IL-6, IFN γ , and TNF α) and a T_H17-type immune response. Various susceptibility genes have been identified for Crohn's disease. NOD2 polymorphisms were the first identified and remain the most significant to this day (Hugot et al., 2001; Ogura et al., 2001; Peter and Muddassar, 2001). As previously noted, NOD2 is an intracellular receptor that recognizes bacterial surface MDP and activates pro-inflammatory signaling in response. In addition to its role in inflammation, NOD2 has also been shown to directly induce autophagy (Cooney et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2010). Genome wide association studies have also identified polymorphisms in several autophagy genes as risk alleles in Crohn's disease. These include ATG16L1 (Hampe et al., 2007; Rioux et al., 2007; Glas et al., 2008), IRGM (Parkes et al., 2007; McCarroll et al., 2008; Prescott et al., 2010), ULK1 (Henckaerts et al., 2011), NDP52 (Ellinghaus et al., 2013), LRRK2 (leucine-rich repeat kinase 2) (Barrett et al., 2008; Franke et al., 2010) and *PTPN2* (protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 2) (Parkes et al., 2007).

As described above, knocking out or reducing expression of autophagy genes in mice mimicks several Crohn's disease phenotypes. Like Atg -knockout or -hypomorphic mice, mice knocked out for the IRGM orthologue Irgm1 also display smaller granules within Paneth cells and decreased levels of antimicrobial peptides, as well as an increased susceptibility to DSS-induced colitis (Liu et al., 2013a) that is rescued by antibiotic treatment (Rogala et al., 2018). Expression of Crohn's disease variants of autophagy genes has a similar effect. The Crohn's diseaseassociated ATG16L1T300A variant favors the cleavage of its protein product by Caspase-3 and 7 during cellular stress, resulting in lower ATG16L1 protein levels (Lassen et al., 2014; Murthy et al., 2014). Mice expressing the *Atg16l1^{T300A}* allele have Paneth cell and xenophagy defects as well as increased secretion of pro-inflammatory IL-1 β by macrophages (Lassen et al., 2014). Likewise, IRGM regulates the induction of xenophagy, and Crohn's disease-associated IRGM variants lead to defects in xenophagy in myeloid cells (Singh et al., 2006; Intemann et al., 2009; Brest et al., 2011; Chauhan et al., 2015). Three Crohn's disease risk factors – NOD2, ATG16L1, and IRGM – may in fact be acting together in the same pathway, as they were shown to interact to initiate the autophagic handling of intracellular pathogens (Cooney et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2010; Plantinga et al., 2011; Chauhan et al., 2015). Thus, defects in autophagy likely play an important role in the pathology of Crohn's disease patients carrying these risk alleles.

3.4.2 AUTOPHAGY IN COLORECTAL CANCER

Recently, autophagy has also been recognized as an important factor in CRC. Increased expression of several autophagy markers (GABARAP, ULK1, LC3, ATG5, ATG7 or BECLIN1) is frequently found in both human CRC tissues and cell lines, and has been linked with poor

prognosis. Autophagy has also been shown to limit the effects of certain chemotherapeutic treatments on CRC cell lines (Weichert et al., 2004; Guo et al., 2011a; Park et al., 2013; Lévy et al., 2015; Zou et al., 2015; Schmitz et al., 2016) and xenografted CRC cells (Sasaki et al., 2012). Moreover, autophagy also allows the survival of CRC cell lines to starvation conditions similar to those found within the tumor mass.

Two recent studies have supported an essential role of autophagy in CRC development and progression using genetically engineered mouse models. Contrary to the dogma, deletion of *Atg7* in intestinal epithelial cells prevents the development of intestinal tumors induced by *Apc* loss (Lévy et al., 2015). As described above, loss of *Atg7* in the intestinal epithelium results in Paneth and goblet cell secretion defects, increased intestinal permeability, and alterations in the composition of the microbiota as well as its proximity to the epithelium. These microbial alterations are associated with the induction of an anti-tumoral immune response notably involving cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cell infiltration in the normal mucosa. Interestingly, either antibiotic treatment or antibody-mediated CD8⁺ T cell depletion abrogates the anti-tumoral effect of autophagy inhibition in this model.

Furthermore, the lack of autophagy within the few developing *Apc*-deficient tumors impairs their growth (Lévy et al., 2015). In the tumor cells, the inhibition of autophagy results in activation of AMPK and p53, reduced expression of glycolytic enzymes, and ultimately in cell cycle arrest. Similar results were obtained with mouse models where *Atg5* is deleted in intestinal epithelial cells following tumor induction by combined AOM and DSS treatments (Sakitani et al., 2015). In this model, autophagy-deficient tumor cells undergo ER stress and p53 activation resulting in tumor cell death and a reduction in tumor size. Thus, as in lung, pancreatic, or breast cancer, CRC cells rely on autophagy for their proliferation and survival.

Along lines of a microbiota-associated effect of autophagy, CRC patients homozygous for the *ATG16L1^{T300A}* allele have better long-term survival rates than patients with the T300 allele (Grimm et al., 2016), and this is presumably due to an increase in type I IFN production through mitochondrial antiviral signaling. Moreover, a recent study identified a role of microbiota-induced autophagy in CRC resistance to therapy. Specifically, *Fusobacterium nucleatum*, previously associated with CRC (Castellarin et al., 2011; Kostic et al., 2012; Warren et al., 2013), was shown to improve CRC cell survival to 5-FU or oxaliplatin by upregulating autophagy (Yu et al., 2017). Mechanistically, *Fusobacterium nucleatum* activates autophagy through a selective downregulation of miR-18a and miR-4802, which results in the upregulation of ULK1 and ATG7 both at the mRNA and protein levels. Moreover, the same study found this particular species to be abundant in patients with tumor recurrence after chemotherapy.

Overall, these studies highlight a key role of autophagy in the initiation, progression, and therapeutic resistance of intestinal tumors, often in tight functional cooperation with the intestinal microbiota and immune microenvironment.

Results

Research Context

The WNT/ β -catenin pathway acts as a central driver of ISC homeostasis and of CRC initiation and progression. In order to identify new players in crypt homeostasis and intestinal tumorigenesis, our group developed several murine models carrying *Apc* mutations which mimic the different stages of human CRC (Colnot et al., 2004; Andreu et al., 2005). These models allowed the demonstration of a physiological role of this pathway in proliferation and differentiation within the crypt (Andreu et al., 2005, 2008), and in the maintenance of ISC (Durand et al., 2012). Our group recently described an induction of autophagy following the pathological activation of WNT/ β -catenin signaling in human CRC and in the intestinal tumors of *Apc*-mutant mice (Lévy et al., 2015). In fact, functional autophagy in the intestinal epithelium proved to be essential for tumor initiation and tumor growth in this model. Autophagy also plays a role in the homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium by regulating secretory cell function and antimicrobial defense (Cadwell et al., 2008, 2009, 2010; Patel et al., 2013; Lévy et al., 2015; Bel et al., 2017). However, in spite of its established role in intestinal tumor initiation and in the homeostasis of various other tissue stem cells (Boya et al., 2018), the role of autophagy in homeostatic function of ISC had not been investigated.

Therefore, the work of my thesis aimed to understand the role of autophagy in the maintenance and function of homeostatic ISC. To do so, we used various murine models developed in the lab:

- VillinCre^{ERT2}Atg7^{fl/fl} mice, which allow the tamoxifen-inducible deletion of the key autophagy gene *Atg7* specifically in the intestinal epithelium. These mice were used to study the effect of autophagy inhibition in the homeostatic intestinal epithelium.
- Lgr5-EGFP-Cre^{ERT2}Atg7^{fl/fl} mice, which allow the tamoxifen-inducible deletion of *Atg7* specifically in Lgr5+ ISC and, consequently, throughout all intestinal epithelial cells generated from these ISC. It should be noted that the Lgr5-EGFP-Cre^{ERT2} is expressed in a mosaic manner throughout the intestinal epithelium, so only about one third of intestinal crypts express EGFP and the Cre recombinase in their Lgr5+ ISC. This model was used to sort WT and Atg7-depleted ISC and their early TA progenitors, which no longer express *Lgr5* but have remaining EGFP protein in their cytoplasm. This allowed us to analyze the effects of autophagy inhibition in ISC and TA progenitors.
- VillinCre^{ERT2}Atg7^{fl/fl}Tp53^{fl/fl} mice, which allow the simultaneous deletion of both *Atg7* and *Tp53* in the intestinal epithelium upon tamoxifent treatment. These mice were used to investigate the role of p53 in the autophagy-deficient intestinal epithelium.

In addition to these mouse models, our work relied heavily on primary culture of intestinal organoids.

The principal findings of our work revealed that:

- The inhibition of autophagy throughout the intestinal epithelium results in the p53-dependent apoptosis of ISC specifically.
- Autophagy plays a unique role in ISC as opposed to the rest of the epithelium by protecting them from oxidative stress and DNA damages.
- Although the death of autophagy-deficient ISC is independent of the production of growth factors, including Wnt ligands, by Paneth cells, it does depend on the altered interactions with the microbiota resulting largely from Paneth cell defects in antimicrobial defense.
- p53-mediated apoptosis in ISC following the loss of *Atg7* is essential to prevent tumor initiation.

This work will be presented in the following manuscript, which we are currently preparing for submission.

AUTOPHAGY PROTECTS INTESTINAL STEM CELL INTEGRITY IN RESPONSE TO INTRINSIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL STRESS

Coralie TRENTESAUX¹⁻³, Marie FRAUDEAU¹⁻³, Julie LEMARCHAND¹⁻³, Caterina Luana PITASI¹⁻³, Sébastien JACQUES¹⁻³, Angéline DUCHE¹⁻³, Alain SCHMITT¹⁻³, Emmanuelle MAILLARD¹⁻³, Karine BAILLY¹⁻³, Christine PERRET¹⁻³, Béatrice ROMAGNOLO^{*1-3}

¹ INSERM, U1016, Institut Cochin, F-75014 Paris, France.

² CNRS, UMR8104, F-75014 Paris, France.

³ Université Paris Descartes Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France

* corresponding author: <u>beatrice.romagnolo@inserm.fr</u> Tel: +33144412569 ; Fax: +331444412421

INTRODUCTION

The intestinal epithelium is highly organized as a hierarchy that originates from a pool of proliferative stem cells, distinguished by their expression of the leucine-rich repeat containing G-protein-coupled receptor 5 (Lgr5). These Lgr5-positive intestinal stem cells (Lgr5+ISC) reside at the bottom of the intestinal crypts of Leiberkuhn and are in direct contact with Paneth cells, which notably contribute to their niche by secreting Wnt ligands. From there, Lgr5+ISC give rise to transit amplifying (TA) progenitors that move towards the crypt-villus junction and differentiate into the 4 main differentiated cell types of the epithelium: enterocytes, Paneth cells, goblet cells and enteroendocrine cells (Barker, 2014). Thus, Lgr5+ISC are essential for the regeneration of epithelial cells that are turned over every 3 to 5 days at homeostasis or lost upon injury. Indeed, Lgr5+ISC are crucial for epithelial repair following cytotoxic stress (Metcalfe et al., 2009). To achieve lifelong intestinal homeostasis, the functional and genomic integrity of Lgr5+ISC needs to be appropriately maintained against various stresses: infectious, physical or chemical. They may therefore be equipped with unique mechanisms to ensure their protection and survival. While the signaling pathways responsible for the proliferation and self-renewal of Lgr5+ISC are well known, the mechanisms controlling their integrity and resilience in the face of cytotoxic stress are far less understood.

Autophagy is an evolutionarily conserved pathway through which cellular materials are targeted to the lysosomes for degradation. At basal levels, this cellular process allows the elimination of damaged components that threaten cell integrity, but it also acts as a major adaptive stress response with functions ranging from metabolic sustenance in starving cells to warding off microbial attacks (Mizushima, 2018). Autophagy is also important for tumor development in many tissues, including the intestine. We previously showed that autophagic activity is enhanced during colorectal cancer development (Lévy et al., 2015). Using mice lacking the essential autophagy gene *Atg7* specifically in intestinal epithelial cells, we showed that autophagy is required both for tumor initiation and for the metabolism of intestinal tumor cells. We expanded these results by showing that the inhibition of autophagy affects the mucosal microenvironment by shaping an anti-tumoral immune response linked to a change in the composition of the microbiota.

Here, we show that Lgr5⁺ISC are particularly sensitive to the inhibition of autophagy following the deletion of *Atg7*. In contrast to differentiated cells and to TA progenitors, autophagy-deficient Lgr5⁺ISC show defective antioxidant and DNA repair responses, resulting in the accumulation of cytotoxic damages and the induction of p53-mediated apoptosis. Blocking p53 prevents the death of autophagy-deficient Lgr5⁺ISC and favors tumor onset. These results indicate that autophagy and p53 act in conjunction as protective mechanisms essential to Lgr5⁺ISC integrity. We further show that Paneth cell defects associated with the inhibition of autophagy do not affect their niche function but contribute to the accumulation of damages and apoptosis of Lgr5⁺ISC through a defective antimicrobial defense, revealing a close link between the microbiota, autophagy, and Lgr5⁺ISC integrity.

RESULTS

Loss of Atg7 induces apoptosis of Lgr5+ISC

To analyze the role of autophagy in intestinal epithelial cell homeostasis, we generated mice that express a tamoxifen-inducible Cre recombinase driven by the *Villin* promoter and two floxed alleles of *Atg7*. By western blot analysis, we validated the loss of ATG7 protein expression in whole intestinal tissue lysates from tamoxifen-treated VillinCre^{ERT2}Atg7^{fl/fl} mice (hereafter referred to as Atg7^{-/-}) as compared to Atg7^{fl/fl} mice lacking the Cre recombinase transgene (hereafter referred to as WT) (supplementary figure 1A). As expected, we showed that the loss of ATG7 results in an inhibition of autophagy as indicated by the low abundance of the autophagosome-bound form of LC3 (LC3-II) in relation to its cytoplasmic form (LC3-I) (supplementary figure 1A). Furthermore, the accumulation of p62 and Ubiquitin-containing aggregates in both the differentiated villi and proliferative crypts (figure 1a, supplementary 1A) indicates that the inhibition of autophagy is effective throughout the intestinal epithelium. Despite the rapid turnover of the epithelium, this phenotype is maintained over time, confirming the loss of *Atg7* in the ISC compartment.

Deletion of *Atg7* in all intestinal epithelial cells led to the appearance of TUNEL-positive cells particularly at the base of the Atg7-/- crypts, associated with accumulation of nuclear p53 and cleaved Caspase-3 (figure 1B,C). TUNEL-positive cells co-localize with Lgr5+ISC marker *Olfm4* and are mutually exclusive with Paneth cell product Lysozyme (figure 1D), indicating that Lgr5+ISC, and not Paneth cells, undergo apoptosis following the inhibition of autophagy.

Lgr5⁺ISC death, although sustained over time, is not detrimental to epithelial regeneration as a pool of Lgr5⁺ISC is maintained over time and Atg7^{-,/-} mice have a lifespan equivalent to controls. Interestingly, we found an increase in BrdU incorporation in the ATG7-deficient crypts along with an expanded expression of ISC markers (supplementary figure 1B,C) suggesting that increased proliferation of surviving ISC, early progenitors or another ISC pool could account for the replenishment of Lgr5⁺ISC.

We next tested the capacity of isolated crypts from tamoxifen-treated WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice to develop intestinal organoids *ex vivo*. Autophagy-deficient organoids showed significantly reduced survival compared to WT organoids, revealing a stem cell defect (figure 1E). Consistent with the *in vivo* phenotype, we found TUNEL-positive cells in the crypts of Atg7^{-/-} organoids (figure 1F).

Atg7-deficient Lgr5+ISC apoptosis is dependent on p53

We next investigated the molecular events resulting in Lgr5+ISC death following the inhibition of autophagy. We and others previously reported defects in secretory lineage, particularly in Paneth cells, in autophagy-deficient mice (Cadwell et al., 2008; Lévy et al., 2015; Bel et al., 2017). Paneth cells neighbor Lgr5+ISC and secrete both protective antimicrobial peptides and growth factors involved in the stem cell niche. Consistent with previously published data, Atg7-/- mice exhibit decreased expression of antimicrobial peptides and abnormal Lysozyme distribution within Paneth cells (supplementary figure 2A,B). In contrast, the expression of Paneth cell niche factors including Wnt and Notch ligands was not diminished following *Atg7* deletion (figure 2A). Moreover, the addition of exogenous Wnt ligand to the culture medium did not rescue *Atg7*-deficient organoid survival (figure 2B). Therefore, the death of autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC is likely independent of the Paneth cell niche function.

In contrast, the addition of the p53 inhibitor Pifithrin to the organoid culture medium rescued the survival defect of autophagy-deficient organoids (figure 2C), suggesting that the death of autophagy-deficient organoids is dependent on p53. To confirm the role of p53 in autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC death *in vivo*, we crossed VillinCre^{ERT2}Atg7^{fl/fl} mice with Tp53^{fl/fl} mice, allowing the simultaneous loss of both ATG7 and p53 proteins in the resulting progeny upon tamoxifen injection (hereafter referred to as Atg7-/-p53-/- mice), as confirmed by western blot and immunohistochemistry (figure 2D,E). We found significantly fewer TUNEL-positive cells in Atg7-/-p53-/- compared to Atg7-/- crypts (figure 2E), confirming that the apoptosis of autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC is dependent on p53. Accordingly, organoids from Atg7-/-p53-/- crypts showed improved survival rates compared to organoids from Atg7-/- crypts (figure 2F).

Loss of autophagy prevents efficient DNA damage repair in Lgr5+ISC

To gain insight into the role of autophagy in Lgr5+ISC, we crossed the Lgr5-EGFP-CreER^{T2} knock-in mice (referred to as Lgr5WT) with Atg7^{fl/fl} mice. In the resulting Lgr5-EGFP-Cre^{ERT2}Atg7^{fl/fl} mice, *Atg7* was deleted selectively in Lgr5+ISC upon tamoxifen injection, and consequently in all intestinal epithelial cells over time, thus generating Lgr5Atg7-/- mice. We first validated the efficient loss of *Atg7* by RT-qPCR analysis as well as the consequent inhibition of autophagy by p62 accumulation in the EGFP-positive crypts of these mice (supplementary figure 3A,B). This model allows for the sorting of Lgr5+ISC cells and their early TA progenitors from both Lgr5WT and Lgr5Atg7-/- crypts based on EGFP expression (EGFP^{High} for Lgr5+ISC cells and EGFP^{Low} for TA cells) (supplementary figure 3A). We confirmed these populations by RT-qPCR analysis on sorted cells (supplementary figure 3B). Microarray expression profiling of Lgr5+ISC from Lgr5Atg7-/- and Lgr5WT crypts revealed 2334 significantly altered genes in this population while 825 genes were significantly deregulated in TA progenitors. Of these, only 46 genes were commonly deregulated between the ISC and TA signatures (supplementary figure 3C), revealing a drastically different effect of the loss of *Atg7* in these two populations. We therefore focused our analysis on signatures specific to Lgr5+ISC that may explain their particular sensitivity to the inhibition of autophagy.

Top canonical pathways identified by Ingenuity pathway analysis (IPA) revealed an effect of the loss of *Atg7* on the DNA damage response in Lgr5+ISC, including pathways like *ATM signaling, BRCA1 in DNA damage response*, and *CHK proteins in cell cycle checkpoint control* (figure 3A, yellow arrowheads). Of note, these pathways were not altered in TA cells from Lgr5Atg7-/- mice compared to those from Lgr5WT mice (supplementary figure 3D). Likewise, Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) revealed an enrichment of *DNA repair* and *G2/M checkpoint* genes in WT Lgr5+ISC compared to their Atg7-/- counterparts (figure 3B). Analysis of relevant DNA repair genes from these signatures by RT-qPCR confirmed that autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC show reduced expression of DNA repair genes compared to their WT counterparts (figure 3C).

We next looked at DNA damages *in situ* in WT and Atg7-/- mice. At basal levels, we found frequent zones in the Atg7-/- epithelium with γ H2AX foci, indicating unrepaired double-stranded DNA breaks, specifically in the ISC compartment of the crypt (figure 3D). Elevated levels of DNA damages in autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC could be a result of inefficient DNA repair and contribute to their impaired survival. To directly assess the effect of autophagy on the DNA damage response pathways put in place to safeguard genomic integrity, we examined the effect of γ -irradiation (10G γ), an efficient way to induce a high degree of DNA damage, on WT and Atg7-/- mice. Within 6 hours of irradiation, we found similar nuclear foci of γ H2AX in

the TA progenitors and differentiated cells of both WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice. However, Lgr5⁺ISC show distinct sensitivity depending on the status of autophagy: Lgr5⁺ISC from WT mice showed fewer γH2AX foci than other epithelial cells suggesting more efficient repair in autophagy-proficient cells. In contrast, autophagy-deficient Lgr5⁺ISC show elevated levels of γH2AX (figure 3E) associated with increased apoptosis (figure 3F), indicating a compromised capacity to repair DNA damages produced by ionizing radiation. Altogether our data suggest that autophagy protects Lgr5⁺ISC from lethal DNA damage by promoting DNA repair.

Defective antioxidant response renders autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC more sensitive to apoptosis

Intriguingly, by GSEA, we identified an enrichment in signatures linked to reactive oxygen species (ROS) detoxification, including NRF2 target genes, in Lgr5⁺ISC from Lgr5WT mice compared to their counterparts from Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice (figure 4A). This result is surprising since the inhibition of autophagy was previously shown to drive NRF2 stabilization and transcriptional activity in a p62-dependent manner (Komatsu et al., 2010). In line with this mechanism, along with the accumulation of p62 we observe an increase in NRF2 protein levels (figure 4B) and an upregulation of its antioxidant target genes by RT-qPCR analysis (figure 4C) in whole intestinal tissue from Atg7^{-/-} mice. However, in autophagy-deficient Lgr5⁺ISC, RT-qPCR analysis confirmed the predicted downregulation of NRF2 target genes compared to their WT counterparts, whereas this is not the case for TA progenitors (figure 4D, supplementary figure 4A). The opposing NRF2 responses of these populations may explain the high sensitivity of Lgr5⁺ISC following the inhibition of autophagy.

In light of the divergent responses between Lgr5+ISC and the rest of the epithelial tissue, we examined ROS directly in Lgr5⁺ISC using the cytoplasmic ROS-responsive fluorescent probe CellROX[™]. By flow cytometry, we detected a significant increase in CellROX mean fluorescence intensity in autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC compared to their WT counterparts, whereas autophagy-deficient TA progenitors have comparable ROS levels to WT TA progenitors (figure 4E). Likewise, we detected much higher CellROX fluorescence at the base of Atg7-/- organoid crypts than in WT organoid crypts (supplementary figure 4B), indicating greater levels of ROS in the Lgr5⁺ISC compartment of autophagy-deficient crypts. To examine the contribution of the antioxidant response and ROS accumulation to autophagy-deficient ISC death, we treated Atg7-/organoids with N-acetyl Cysteine (NAC), a precursor of glutathione and a direct ROS scavenger, or sulforaphane, an activator of Nrf2 signaling. Both NAC and sulforaphane treatments tempered out CellROX intensity in organoid crypts (supplementary figure 4B) and partially rescued autophagy-deficient organoid survival (supplementary figure 4C), suggesting that ROS accumulation contributes to the death of Lgr5+ISC in Atg7^{-/-} mice. To verify this hypothesis *in vivo*, we added NAC to the drinking water of Atg7^{-/-} and WT mice. As expected, NAC treatment significantly reduced the number of TUNEL-positive cells in Atg7-/- crypts (figure 4F). The inhibition of autophagy therefore leads to an unexpected downregulation of the antioxidant response in Lgr5+ISC, rendering them more prone to ROS accumulation and apoptosis.

We also looked at potential sources of ROS in the autophagy-deficient epithelium. In addition to its link with the antioxidant response, autophagy can directly regulate ROS production through the selective degradation of mitochondria, a major cellular source of ROS, in a process termed mitophagy. By transmission electron microscopy, we observed abnormally large, swollen mitochondria throughout the epithelium of Atg7^{-/-} mice, including in Lgr5⁺ISC (supplementary figure 4D). Surprisingly, we found no difference in the number of mitochondria following the inhibition of autophagy in either whole intestinal

tissue by quantitative PCR of mitochondrial DNA (supplementary figure 4E) or in sorted Lgr5+ISC and TA progenitors using the fluorescent probe MitoTrackerTM (supplementary figure 4F). The high proliferation of Lgr5+ISC and TA progenitors as well as the short half-life of epithelial cells could explain the lack of accumulation of mitochondria despite the inhibition of their degradation pathway. Nevertheless, we found a significant increase in mitochondrial ROS production in autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC by flow cytometry using the fluorescent probe MitoSOXTM (figure 4E). In contrast, levels of mitochondrial ROS were similar in autophagy-deficient TA progenitors to those in WT TA progenitors. Mitochondria can therefore act as a cell-intrinsic source of ROS in autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC and subsequently disrupt their maintenance.

Disruption of the gut microbiota following loss of Atg7 contributes to the death of Lgr5+ISC

We previously showed that the faulty antimicrobial defenses following the loss of autophagy throughout the intestinal epithelium led to altered contact with the microbiota and a disruption of the resident gut bacterial communities (Lévy et al., 2015). To study the potential involvement of the altered gut microbiota on Lgr5+ISC survival, we explored the effect of orally-administrated antibiotics on Atg7-/- mice. Interestingly, broad-spectrum antibiotic treatment significantly reduced the number of TUNEL-positive cells in the Atg7-/- epithelium (figure 5A), suggesting an involvement of the microbiota in the perturbations of ISC homeostasis. Consistently, antibiotic-treated Atg7-/- mice showed fewer γ H2AX-positive zones and lacked the global induction of antioxidant response genes (figure 5B,C), pointing to less accumulation of cytotoxic stresses throughout the autophagy-deficient epithelium in the absence of the microbiota.

We used organoid culture to further distinguish the epithelium-intrinsic from the microenvironmentdependent effects of autophagy inhibition in ISC. Although organoids derived from the crypts of tamoxifentreated Atg7-/- mice maintain Lgr5+ISC defects (figure 1E), neither the removal of *Atg7 ex-vivo* by the addition of 4-hydroxy-tamoxifen (40HT) to crypt culture medium nor treatment with the autophagy inhibitor chloroquine induced a defect in organoid survival despite an efficient inhibition of autophagic flux (figure 5D,E). Altogether, this suggests that the intrinsic effect of autophagy inhibition in Lgr5+ISC is not itself sufficient to hinder organoid survival but that exposure to the gut microenvironment influences their survival. We therefore tested the direct impact of the microbiota by adding different purified microbial compounds on organoids derived from VillinCre^{ERT2}Atg7^{fl/fl} mice and treated *ex vivo* with 40HT. Among the tested microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs), we found that only muramyl dipeptide (MDP) induced the death of autophagy-deficient but not WT organoids (figure 5F). Altogether, our data suggest a role for autophagy in the cytoprotection and maintenance of Lgr5+ISC in response to specific microbial signals.

Loss of p53 in autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC is sufficient to initiate intestinal neoplasia

Thus far, our data reveals a protective role for autophagy in the maintenance of Lgr5+ISC in response to DNA damage, oxidative stress and microbial signals. We therefore reasoned that in the context of autophagy deficiency, the induction of apoptosis by p53 could be essential to remove damaged Lgr5+ISC and preserve the integrity of the active stem cell pool. To test this hypothesis, we examined the long-term effects of the simultaneous loss of ATG7 and p53 in intestinal epithelial cells by analyzing Atg7-/-p53-/- mice 12 months after tamoxifen injection. At this age, Atg7-/- mice do not develop spontaneous intestinal tumors. As previously reported, p53 deletion in intestinal epithelial cells is not sufficient to initiate intestinal neoplasias either within this time frame (Schwitalla et al., 2013; Chanrion et al., 2014). In contrast, 10 out of

11 Atg7-/-p53-/- mice developed adenomas within 12 months (figure 6A). These tumors harbored numerous γ H2AX foci (figure 6B). In addition, we found a massive accumulation of γ H2AX staining in the non-tumoral intestinal epithelial cells of Atg7-/-p53-/- mice that, unlike γ H2AX staining in Atg7-/- mice, was not restricted to the crypt bottom but rather propagated up the entire crypts (figure 6B). Altogether, we showed that autophagy and p53 act in conjunction as protective mechanisms essential to preserve the genomic integrity of Lgr5+ISC.

DISCUSSION

Lgr5⁺ISC are essential for the homeostatic maintenance of the intestinal epithelium (Barker, 2014), for the regeneration of the epithelium upon injury (Metcalfe et al., 2014) and have been described as the cell-oforigin for intestinal cancer (Barker et al., 2009). Understanding the molecular processes controlling their maintenance, proliferation, self-renewal and integrity is crucial to determine the drivers and effectors of intestinal homeostasis and to develop effective strategies to detect, prevent and treat cancer. Here, we made significant advances in understanding how alterations of autophagy may influence Lgr5⁺ISC dynamics and tumor development depending on p53 status.

We show that the loss of *Atg7* inhibits autophagy throughout the intestinal epithelium, yet results in the p53-dependent apoptosis of Lgr5+ISC specifically. We further demonstrate a requirement for autophagy in the maintenance and protection of Lgr5+ISC against various intrinsic and environmental stresses. First, the loss of *Atq7* results in a transcriptional downregulation of several genes encoding essential DNA repair factors. Furthermore, our data exposed significant differences in the response of autophagy-deficient Lgr5⁺ISC to cytotoxic stress, particularly in their DNA-repair capacity and susceptibility to apoptosis. The fact that Lgr5+ISC are particularly sensitive to the inhibition of autophagy compared TA cells may be due to their greater dependence on specific DNA repair pathways. Consistent with previously published Lgr5+ISC signatures (Merlos-Suárez et al., 2011; Muñoz et al., 2012), we found several genes encoding DNA repair factors to be enriched in Lgr5+ISC compared to TA progenitors (data not shown). This is consistent with previous reports that Lgr5+ISC repair irradiation-induced DNA damages more efficiently than TA progenitors (Hua et al., 2012). However, this is not the case in autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC. Our observations therefore suggest that the DNA damage repair pathways put in place to maintain genomic integrity and maximize survival in Lgr5+ISC may be directly regulated by autophagy. Various in vitro reports support this notion, highlighting a molecular link between the inhibition of autophagy and defects in DNA damage repair (Chen et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2015; Hewitt et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017). Furthermore, a recent study in Drosophila melanogaster showed increased levels of DNA damage in ISC upon RNAi-mediated silencing of several individual Atg genes (Nagy et al., 2018). Thus, the role of autophagy in supporting the DNA damage response in Lgr5+ISC may be conserved through evolution.

We further show that whereas TA progenitors and differentiated cells are appropriately protected against oxidative stress and can activate an NRF2-mediated response following the inhibition of autophagy, Lgr5+ISC specifically accumulate both mitochondrial superoxide and cytoplasmic ROS due to a defective antioxidant response, and that this contributes to their impaired survival. Inhibition of autophagy has been described to affect the redox state of various other adult stem cells, including hematopoietic stem cells (Mortensen et al., 2011; Watson et al., 2015; Ho et al., 2017), neural stem cells (Wang et al., 2016), and satellite cells (García-Prat et al., 2016). The requirement for autophagy to regulate ROS therefore appears

to be a common feature of adult stem cells, although the functional consequences of deregulating autophagy vary between tissues.

A recent report similarly showed that loss of another key autophagy gene, Atg5, in the intestinal epithelium led to increased ROS levels resulting in impaired ISC maintenance (Asano et al., 2017). However, in contrast to our findings, Asano et al. do not describe increased apoptosis in the ISC compartment of the Atg5deficient epithelium but rather indicate reduced Lgr5+ISC numbers. A possible explanation for these discrepancies may be the distinct genetic models used to inhibit autophagy: in our study, ablation of Atg7 is induced in adult mice after tamoxifen injection (using a VillinCre^{ERT2} transgene) whereas Asano et al. used a model where the deletion of Atg5 is constitutive throughout embryonic development (using the VillinCre transgene). It is therefore possible that autophagy plays additional roles in Lgr5+ISC during development.

In addition, autophagy-deficient Paneth cells show secretory defects consistent with those reported in the literature (Cadwell et al., 2008; Lévy et al., 2015; Bel et al., 2017) resulting in a defective antimicrobial defense. We show that whereas the death of autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC is independent of the Paneth cell niche function, it is dependent on interactions with the microbiota. Several studies point to a role of the microbiota in both intestinal homeostasis and epithelial response following damage (McLaughlin et al., 1964; Onoue et al., 1981; Sommer and Bäckhed, 2013; Nigro et al., 2014; Sommer et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2015). Our results show that treating $Atg7^{-/-}$ mice with wide-spectrum antibiotics significantly improves the survival of autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC and reduces signs of DNA damage and oxidative stress in the autophagy-deficient epithelium. The microbiota may therefore act on Atg7-/- Lgr5+ISC by driving ROS accumulation and DNA damages. Interestingly, we found that the inhibition of autophagy affects the survival of organoids only if Atg7 loss occurred in vivo prior to culture. This suggests that microenvironmental signals in autophagy-deficient mice induce lasting deleterious effects in Lgr5+ISC, contributing to their death. Recent studies have described direct crosstalks between the gut microbiota and Lgr5+ISC. Pattern recognition receptors that sense MAMPs are expressed by ISC and affect their proliferation and survival in vivo and ex vivo in organoid culture (Neal et al., 2012; Nigro et al., 2014), although the downstream effectors of this remain unclear. We tested the effects of several MAMPs on the survival of autophagy-deficient organoids. Of these, only MDP showed a differential effect on Atg7-depleted compared to WT organoid survival. Interestingly, MDP has been shown to exert cytoprotective effects on Lgr5+ISC mediated by its intracellular receptor NOD2 (Nigro et al., 2014), which directly interacts with the autophagy machinery (Cooney et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2010; Chauhan et al., 2015). Autophagy may therefore play a role in the protection of Lgr5+ISC in response to specific microbial signals. Nevertheless, we cannot exclude additional effects of other microenvironmental signals driven by the presence of the microbiota, such as microbial metabolites or inflammatory signals, on the survival of autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC.

Fortunately, despite the loss of Lgr5+ISC following the inhibition of autophagy, the pool of Lgr5+ISC is continuously replenished and intestinal homeostasis is maintained over time. This reflects, as previously reported with acute damages to Lgr5+ISC, a high degree of plasticity in the intestinal crypt, where surviving Lgr5+ISC, reserve stem cells and/or committed progenitors are able to replenish the Lgr5+ISC pool and ensure epithelial homeostasis. Moreover, as inhibiting autophagy is not ultimately deleterious to the maintenance of the Lgr5+ISC pool and epithelium, it could safely be considered in therapeutic approaches.

Finally, we show that the p53-mediated elimination of damaged Lgr5⁺ISC is essential to preserve the integrity of the autophagy-deficient epithelium, as the combined ablation of Atg7 and p53 dramatically increases DNA damage throughout the epithelium and triggers the development of adenomas. This comes in stark contrast to the effect of the loss of Atg7 alone on tumor initiation (Lévy et al., 2015) and reveals an important interplay between autophagy and p53 in Lgr5⁺ISC integrity.

Overall, given the rapid and lifelong proliferation of Lgr5+ISC, it is becoming increasingly clear that these cells require unique protective mechanisms to ensure their function. We propose autophagy as a gatekeeper of Lgr5+ISC integrity that minimizes intrinsic and environmental stress and enhances DNA repair to promote Lgr5+ISC maintenance and prevent tumor development.

METHODS

Mouse models and treatments

Mice carrying floxed alleles of the *Atg7* gene (provided by M. Komatsu, Niigata University, Japan; Komatsu et al., 2005) and mice carrying floxed alleles of the Tp53 gene (provided by A. Berns, Netherlands Cancer Institute, The Netherlands; Jonkers et al., 2001) or both were bred with VillinCreERT2 mice (provided by S. Robine, Institut Curie, France; Marjou et al., 2004) or Lgr5-EGFP-IRES-Cre^{ERT2} (provided by H. Clevers, Hubrecht Institute, The Netherlands; Barker et al., 2007). All experiments were carried out on C57Bl/6 background mice. Mice were housed in conventional conditions. Tamoxifen injections were performed on mice 2 to 3 months old. Both male and female mice were used in the studies. For tamoxifen treatment, mice were injected intraperitoneally with 1 mg tamoxifen and their diet was supplemented with tamoxifen 5 days per month. Unless indicated otherwise, mice were sacrificed one month after tamoxifen treatment. For proliferation studies, mice were injected with BrdU (2.5 mg, Sigma-Aldrich) 1.5 hours before sacrifice. For irradiation studies, mice were mice were exposed to a 137 Cs source of γ -irradiation with a dose rate of 1.47 Gy/min for a final dose of 10 Gy and sacrificed 6 hours later. For NAC treatment, 12.5 mg/ml NAC was to the drinking water (for an estimated intake of 200 mg/kg/day) and pH was adjusted. Water was changed every other day for a month following tamoxifen treatment. For antibiotic treatment, a combination of 1 g/l ampicillin, 1g/l neomycin, 1g/l metronidazole, and 0.5 g/l vancomycin (all from Sigma-aldrich) was added to the drinking water of the mice and changed every other day for a month following tamoxifen treatment.

Histology, immunostainings and in situ hybridization

Immediately after the mouse was sacrificed, its entire gastrointestinal tract was removed, splayed open along its length and rolled up from the proximal to distal end to form a `Swiss roll'. Tissues were fixed by incubation in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight at 4°C and were embedded in paraffn wax. Hematoxylin and eosin staining was carried out on 3 μ m paraffin sections. Immunohistochemisty was performed as previous described (Lévy et al., 2015). For immunohistochemistry, 5 μ m sections were treated with 3% hydrogen peroxide for 15 min at room temperature. For both immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence, antigens were retrieved by boiling for 15 min in citrate buffer (10 mM, pH 6) or for 40 min in Tris-EDTA buffer (100mM Tris, 12.6 mM, pH 9 for γ H2AX in a microwave pressure cooker (EZ retriever, Biogenex). For BrdU staining, DNA was denatured in 2,5N HCl for 30 min. Sections were incubated in blocking solution (2% goat serum, 1% BSA in TBST) for 20 min at room temperature. For mouse primary antibodies, Vector's M.O.M. kit was used. The sections were then incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies diluted in

blocking solution. Primary antibodies targeted agains the following proteins were used: p62 (Enzo, BML-PW9860-0100, 1:200), Ubiquitin (MBL, MK 11-3, 1:200), cleaved Caspase-3 (Cell Signaling, 9661S, 1:200), p53 (Leica, NCL-p53-CM5p, 1:200), Lysozyme (Dako, EC.3.2.1.17, 1:200), BrdU (Abcam, ab6326, 1:500), Olfm4 (Cell Signaling, CS 39141S, 1:400), γH2AX (Millipore, 05-636, 1:300), GFP (Abcam, ab13970, 1:200). Specific binding was detected with a biotinylated secondary antibody and ABC reagent (Vector) for immunohisto chemistry, and the signal was developed with DAB (Vector). Hematoxilin was used a nuclear counter-stain. For immunofluorescence, Alexa fluor-coupled secondary antibodies (ThermoFisher Scientific) were used, Hoechst was used as a nuclear counter-stain, and slides were mounted in Vectashield fluorescence mounting medium (Vector). Slides were then imaged either on a wide-field Olympus BX63F microscope or a Yokogawa CSU-X1 Spinning Disk (Yokogawa, Tokyo, Japan) coupled with a DMI6000B Leica microscope (Leica microsystems Gmbh, Wetzlar, Germany). Acquisitions were made with MetaMorph 7 software software. Apoptosis was analysed by TUNEL assay kit, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Calbiochem, QIA33 for visible staining, Promega, G3250 for fluorescent labeling). In situ hybridization were performed as described previously (Gregorieff and Clevers, 2015). cRNA probes were generated from plasmids containing the Olfm4 cDNA sequences (gift from H. Clevers, Hubrecht Institute for Developmental Biology and Stem Cell Research and University Medical Centre Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands).

Crypt isolation and organoid culture

Crypt isolation and crypt culture were performed as previously described (Sato et al., 2009). Briefly, intestines were opened longitudinally, washed with cold PBS, and incubated in PBS with 15mM EDTA for 25 minutes on ice. The tissue was then removed from EDTA and vigorously vortexed in multiple fractions to release crypts. Fractions enriched for crypts were passed through a 70- μ m cell strainer (BD Bioscience) to remove residual villi. For organoid culture, isolated crypts were counted and pelleted. 500 crypts were mixed with 50 μ l growth factor reduced matrigel (Corning) and plated on 24-well plates with 500 μ l advanced DMEM/F12 (Invitrogen) containing the growth factors: EGF (Peprotech); R-spondin 1 (R&D Systems); and noggin (Peprotech); and supplemented with N2 and B27 (Invitrogen). Organoid culture medium was changed every 2-3 days. In some experiments, media were supplemented with 100 ng/mL human Wnt3a (Peprotech), 2 μ m Pifithrin (Sigma-aldrich), 500 μ M NAC (Sigma-aldrich), 50 μ g/ml LPS, 10 ng/ml Flagellin, 500ng/ml PolyIC, or 10 μ g/ml LTA (all from InvivoGen).

Whole-mount staining and live imaging on organoids

Prior to whole-mount staining, 10 μ M BrdU was added to the culture medium for 16 hours to label proliferative crypt cell. For staining, medium was washed in PBS and organoids were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 30 min at room temperature. Then, DNA was denatured in 2N HCl for 25 minutes, non-specific antigens were blocked in 5% goat serum, 1% BSA, and 0,3% TritonX-100 in PBS before incubating organoids overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies diluted in the blocking solution. Organoids were then washed in PBS, incubated overnight at room temperature with fluorescent secondary antibodies and Hoescht, washed, and suspended in Vectashield fluorescence mounting medium (Vector), then flattened between a slide and coverslip for imaging using using a Yokogawa CSU-X1 Spinning Disk (Yokogawa, Tokyo, Japan) coupled with a DMI6000B Leica microscope (Leica microsystems Gmbh, Wetzlar,

Germany). For CellROX staining on live organoids, 10 µM CellROX[™] deep red reagent (ThermoFisher Scientific) was added to the culture medium and organoids were incubated for 30 min at 37°C, washed in PBS and imaged directly on an inverted Zeiss Axiovert 200M microscope. Hoechst 33342 (ThermoFisher Scientific) was used to mark the nuclei of all cells. Acquisitions were made with MetaMorph 7 software.

Cell sorting and flow cytometry

Isolated crypts (as described above) were dissociated in Dispase buffer containing 0.3U/ml Dispase (Corning), 0.8U/ml DNase (Ambion), 10µM Y-27632 (Enzo) at 37°C during 30 min. Dissociated cells were passed through 40 µm cell strainer (BD Bioscience) centrifuged 5 min at 700g and washed with PBS. Cells were stained with APC-conjugated anti-CD24 antibody (clone M1/69, BioLegend) and PE-Epcam (clone G8.8 BioLegend) and for 20 min at 4°C. For RNA extraction, cells were sorted on a BD FACSARIA III cell sorter (BD Biosciences) and collected directly in lysis buffer. For analysis of reactive oxygen species, cells were incubated with either 5 µMCellROX™ deep red, 5 µM MitoSOX™ red, or 250 nM MitoTracker™ deep red reagent (all from ThermoFisher Scientific) for 20 min at 37°C then washed in PBS before analysis on a BD LSRFortessa™ flow cytometer (BD Biosciences) using the BD FACSDIVA™ software (BD Biosciences). Viable epithelial single cells were gated by forward scatter, side scatter and pulse-width parameter, and negative staining for propidium iodide (ThermoFisher Scientific) or Live/Dead™ Blue Dead Cell Stain Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific).

Quantitative PCR and microarray analysis

Total RNA from cells and tissues was isolated with Trizol reagent (Invitrogen), according to the manufacturer's protocol. For RT-qPCR, total RNA was reverse-transcribed with the Maxima First-Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). For microarray and RT-qPCR experiments on sorted Lgr5+ISC and TA cells, cells were sorted directly into lysis buffer and extracted using the RNeasy Micro Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen). After validation of the RNA quality with Bioanalyzer 2100 (using Agilent RNA6000 nano chip kit), 500 pg of total RNA is reverse transcribed following the Ovation Pico System V2 (Nugen). The resulting double strand cDNA is used for amplification based on SPIA technology. For mitochondrial DNA dosage, DNA was extracted from whole intestinal tissue. qPCR was carried out with a LightCycler 480 System, with the Luminaris Color HiGreen Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). Results are expressed relative to 18s rRNA for all RT-qPCR. Atg7^{fl/fl} and mt-Rnr1, used to measure mitochondrial DNA, are expressed relative to Rbm15, used to dose nuclear DNA. All primers are listed in **supplementary table 1**.

For microarray experiments, amplified cDNA from sorted cells was purified according to the Nugen protocol, then 3.6 µg of Sens Target DNA are fragmented and biotin labelled using the Encore Biotin Module kit (Nugen). After control of fragmentation using the Bioanalyzer 2100, cDNA is then hybridized to GeneChip® Mouse Gene 2.0 ST (Affymetrix) at 45°C for 17 hours. Chips are then washed on the fluidic station FS450 according to the manufacturer's protocols (Affymetrix) and scanned using the GCS3000 7G. The scanned images are then analyzed with Expression Console software (Affymetrix) to obtain raw data (cel files) and metrics for Quality Controls. Data were normalized using RMA algorithm in Bioconductor with the custom CDF vs 21 (Dai et al., 2005). Statistical analysis ware carried out using Partek® GS 6.6. First, variations in gene expression were analyzed using unsupervised hierarchical clustering and PCA to assess data from technical biais and outlier samples. We applied a two-way ANOVA between groups by

genotype and cell type. Then, we used unadjusted p-value and fold changes to filter and select differentially expressed gene. Differentially expressed genes with a p-value<0.05 and fold-change>1.2 were selected as significant.

Western blotting

Protein extracts were prepared from intestinal tissue or organoids by lysis in laemmli buffer. Protein extracts were then analysed by western blotting as described previously (Peignon et al., 2011). Antibodies against the following proteins were used: LC3 (Sigma, L7543, 1:1,000), p62 (Enzo, BML-PW9860 1:1,500), ATG7 (Cell Signaling, 2631, 1:1,000), p53 (Leica, NCL-p53-CM5p, 1:200), NRF2 (Cell Signaling, 12721S, 1:400), γ-tubulin (Sigma-aldrich, T6557).

Electron microscopy

2 mm tissue pieces were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and 2% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer and kept at 4°C. After several thorough washes in 0.1 M phosphate buffer, the tissues were post-fixed in 1% osmium tetroxide and washed in water before staining with uranyl acetate. After inclusion in epoxy resin, 300-400 nm semithin sections were first realized to control the good orientation of the samples; then 80-90 nm sections were cut on a Reichert Ultracut E ultramicrotome. The ultrathin sections were transferred onto 150-mesh copper grids before staining with uranyl acetate and lead citrate. The sections were then viewed under a JEOL 1011 transmission electron microscope with a GATAN Erlangshen CCD (charge-coupled device) camera.

Statistical analysis.

Data are expressed as mean \pm s.d. Differences were analyzed by unpaired two-tailed Student's t -tests. p-values<0.05 were considered significant. Detailed n values for each panel in the figures are stated in the corresponding legends. A minimum of n= 3 animals was systematically analyed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank M. Komatsu (Niigata University, Japan), S. Robine (Institut Curie, France), A. Berns (, Netherlands Cancer Institute, The Netherlands), and H. Clevers (Hubrecht Institute, The Netherlands) for generously supplying mutant mice. We are grateful to the staff of Cochin's animal housing facility. This work was supported by la Fondation ARC, l'Institut National du Cancer, the Comité de Paris de la Ligue Contre le Cancer, and by l'Agence National de la Recherche. C.T. was supported by a fellowship from the Ministère de la Recherche et de l'Enseignement Supérieur and by la Fondation ARC. This work was also supported by funds from Inserm.

REFERENCES

Asano, J., Sato, T., Ichinose, S., Kajita, M., Onai, N., Shimizu, S., and Ohteki, T. (2017). Intrinsic Autophagy Is Required for the Maintenance of Intestinal Stem Cells and for Irradiation-Induced Intestinal Regeneration. Cell Rep. *20*, 1050–1060.

Barker, N. (2014). Adult intestinal stem cells: critical drivers of epithelial homeostasis and regeneration. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *15*, 19–33.

Barker, N., van Es, J.H., Kuipers, J., Kujala, P., van den Born, M., Cozijnsen, M., Haegebarth, A., Korving, J., Begthel, H., Peters, P.J., et al. (2007). Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene Lgr5. Nature *449*, 1003–1007.

Barker, N., Ridgway, R.A., van Es, J.H., van de Wetering, M., Begthel, H., van den Born, M., Danenberg, E., Clarke, A.R., Sansom, O.J., and Clevers, H. (2009). Crypt stem cells as the cells-of-origin of intestinal cancer. Nature *457*, 608–611.

Bel, S., Pendse, M., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Ruhn, K.A., Hassell, B., Leal, T., Winter, S.E., Xavier, R.J., and Hooper, L. V. (2017). Paneth cells secrete lysozyme via secretory autophagy during bacterial infection of the intestine. Science (80-.). *357*, 1047–1052.

Cadwell, K., Liu, J.Y., Brown, S.L., Miyoshi, H., Loh, J., Lennerz, J.K., Kishi, C., Kc, W., Carrero, J. a, Hunt, S., et al. (2008). A key role for autophagy and the autophagy gene Atg16l1 in mouse and human intestinal Paneth cells. Nature *456*, 259–263.

Chanrion, M., Kuperstein, I., Barrière, C., El Marjou, F., Cohen, D., Vignjevic, D., Stimmer, L., Paul-Gilloteaux, P., Bièche, I., Tavares, S.D.R., et al. (2014). Concomitant Notch activation and p53 deletion trigger epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and metastasis in mouse gut. Nat. Commun. *5*, 5005.

Chauhan, S., Mandell, M.A., and Deretic, V. (2015). IRGM governs the core autophagy machinery to conduct antimicrobial defense. Mol. Cell *58*, 507–521.

Chen, S., Wang, C., Sun, L., Wang, D.-L., Chen, L., Huang, Z., Yang, Q., Gao, J., Yang, X.-B., Chang, J.-F., et al. (2015). RAD6 promotes homologous recombination repair by activating the autophagy-mediated degradation of heterochromatin protein HP1. Mol. Cell. Biol. *35*, 406–416.

Cooney, R., Baker, J., Brain, O., Danis, B., Pichulik, T., Allan, P., Ferguson, D.J.P., Campbell, B.J., Jewell, D., and Simmons, A. (2010). NOD2 stimulation induces autophagy in dendritic cells influencing bacterial handling and antigen presentation. Nat. Med. *16*, 90–97.

Dai, M., Wang, P., Boyd, A.D., Kostov, G., Athey, B., Jones, E.G., Bunney, W.E., Myers, R.M., Speed, T.P., Akil, H., et al. (2005). Evolving gene/transcript definitions significantly alter the interpretation of GeneChip data. Nucleic Acids Res. *33*, e175.

García-Prat, L., Martínez-Vicente, M., Perdiguero, E., Ortet, L., Rodríguez-Ubreva, J., Rebollo, E., Ruiz-Bonilla, V., Gutarra, S., Ballestar, E., Serrano, A.L., et al. (2016). Autophagy maintains stemness by preventing senescence. Nature *529*, 37–42.

Gregorieff, A., and Clevers, H. (2015). In situ hybridization to identify gut stem cells. Curr. Protoc. Stem Cell Biol. *2015*, 2F.1.1-2F.1.10.

Hewitt, G., Carroll, B., Sarallah, R., Correia-Melo, C., Ogrodnik, M., Nelson, G., Otten, E.G., Manni, D., Antrobus, R., Morgan, B.A., et al. (2016). SQSTM1/p62 mediates crosstalk between autophagy and the UPS in DNA repair. Autophagy *12*, 1917–1930.

Ho, T.T., Warr, M.R., Adelman, E.R., Lansinger, O.M., Flach, J., Verovskaya, E. V., Figueroa, M.E., and Passegué, E. (2017). Autophagy maintains the metabolism and function of young and old stem cells. Nature *543*, 205–210.

Hua, G., Thin, T.H., Feldman, R., Haimovitz-Friedman, A., Clevers, H., Fuks, Z., and Kolesnick, R. (2012). Crypt base columnar stem cells in small intestines of mice are radioresistant. Gastroenterology *143*, 1266–1276.

Jonkers, J., Meuwissen, R., Van der Gulden, H., Peterse, H., Van der Valk, M., and Berns, A. (2001). Synergistic tumor suppressor activity of BRCA2 and p53 in a conditional mouse model for breast cancer. Nat. Genet. *29*, 418–425.

Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Ueno, T., Iwata, J., Murata, S., Tanida, I., Ezaki, J., Mizushima, N., Ohsumi, Y., Uchiyama, Y., et al. (2005). Impairment of starvation-induced and constitutive autophagy in Atg7-deficient mice. J. Cell Biol. *169*, 425–434.

Komatsu, M., Kurokawa, H., Waguri, S., Taguchi, K., Kobayashi, A., Ichimura, Y., Sou, Y.-S., Ueno, I., Sakamoto, A., Tong, K.I., et al. (2010). The selective autophagy substrate p62 activates the stress responsive transcription factor Nrf2 through inactivation of Keap1. Nat. Cell Biol. *12*, 213–223.

Lévy, J., Cacheux, W., Bara, M.A., L'Hermitte, A., Lepage, P., Fraudeau, M., Trentesaux, C., Lemarchand, J., Durand, A., Crain, A.-M., et al. (2015). Intestinal inhibition of Atg7 prevents tumour initiation through a microbiome-influenced immune response and suppresses tumour growth. Nat. Cell Biol. *17*, 1062–1073.

Liu, E.Y., Xu, N., O'Prey, J., Lao, L.Y., Joshi, S., Long, J.S., O'Prey, M., Croft, D.R., Beaumatin, F., Baudot, A.D., et al. (2015). Loss of autophagy causes a synthetic lethal deficiency in DNA repair. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *112*, 773–778.

El Marjou, F., Janssen, K.P., Chang, B.H.J., Li, M., Hindie, V., Chan, L., Louvard, D., Chambon, P., Metzger, D., and Robine, S. (2004). Tissue-specific and inducible Cre-mediated recombination in the gut epithelium. Genesis *39*, 186–193.

McLaughlin, M., Dacquisto, M., Jacobus, D., and Horowitz, R. (1964). Effects of the germ-free state on responses of mice to whole-body irradiation. Radiat. Res. *23*, 333–349.

Merlos-Suárez, A., Barriga, F.M., Jung, P., Iglesias, M., Céspedes, M.V., Rossell, D., Sevillano, M., Hernando-Momblona, X., Da Silva-Diz, V., Muñoz, P., et al. (2011). The intestinal stem cell signature identifies colorectal cancer stem cells and predicts disease relapse. Cell Stem Cell *8*, 511–524.

Metcalfe, C., Kljavin, N.M., Ybarra, R., and De Sauvage, F.J. (2014). Lgr5+ stem cells are indispensable for radiation-induced intestinal regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 14, 149–159.

Mizushima, N. (2018). A brief history of autophagy from cell biology to physiology and disease. Nat. Cell Biol. *20*, 521–527.

Mortensen, M., Soilleux, E.J., Djordjevic, G., Tripp, R., Lutteropp, M., Sadighi-Akha, E., Stranks, A.J., Glanville, J., Knight, S., Jacobsen, S.-E.W., et al. (2011). The autophagy protein Atg7 is essential for hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. J. Exp. Med. *208*, 455–467.

Muñoz, J., Stange, D.E., Schepers, A.G., van de Wetering, M., Koo, B.-K., Itzkovitz, S., Volckmann, R., Kung, K.S., Koster, J., Radulescu, S., et al. (2012). The Lgr5 intestinal stem cell signature: robust expression of proposed quiescent "+4" cell markers. EMBO J. *31*, 3079–3091.

Nagy, P., Sándor, G.O., and Juhász, G. (2018). Autophagy maintains stem cells and intestinal homeostasis in Drosophila. Sci. Rep. *8*, 4644.

Neal, M.D., Sodhi, C.P., Jia, H., Dyer, M., Egan, C.E., Yazji, I., Good, M., Afrazi, A., Marino, R., Slagle, D., et al. (2012). Toll-like receptor 4 is expressed on intestinal stem cells and regulates their proliferation and apoptosis via the p53 up-regulated modulator of apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. *287*, 37296–37308.

Nigro, G., Rossi, R., Commere, P.H., Jay, P., and Sansonetti, P.J. (2014). The cytosolic bacterial peptidoglycan sensor Nod2 affords stem cell protection and links microbes to gut epithelial regeneration. Cell Host Microbe *15*, 792–798.

Onoue, M., Uchida, K., Yokokura, T., Takahashi T, and Mutai M (1981). Effect of intestinal microflora on the

survival time of mice exposed to lethal whole-body gamma irradiation. Radiat Res. Dec;88 533–541.

Peignon, G., Durand, A., Cacheux, W., Ayrault, O., Terris, B., Laurent-Puig, P., Shroyer, N.F., Van Seuningen, I., Honjo, T., Perret, C., et al. (2011). Complex interplay between b-catenin signalling and Notch effectors in intestinal tumorigenesis. Gut *60*, 166–176.

Sato, T., Vries, R.G., Snippert, H.J., van de Wetering, M., Barker, N., Stange, D.E., van Es, J.H., Abo, A., Kujala, P., Peters, P.J., et al. (2009). Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. Nature *459*, 262–265.

Schwitalla, S., Ziegler, P.K., Horst, D., Becker, V., Kerle, I., Begus-nahrmann, Y., Rudolph, K.L., Langer, R., Slotta-huspenina, J., Bader, F.G., et al. (2013). Loss of p53 in Enterocytes Generates an Inflammatory Microenvironment Enabling Invasion and Lymph Node Metastasis of Carcinogen-Induced Colorectal Tumors. Cancer Cell *23*, 93–106.

Sommer, F., and Bäckhed, F. (2013). The gut microbiota-masters of host development and physiology. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. *11*, 227–238.

Sommer, F., Nookaew, I., Sommer, N., Fogelstrand, P., and Bäckhed, F. (2015). Site-specific programming of the host epithelial transcriptome by the gut microbiota. Genome Biol. *16*, 62.

Travassos, L.H., Carneiro, L.A.M., Ramjeet, M., Hussey, S., Kim, Y.G., Magalhes, J.G., Yuan, L., Soares, F., Chea, E., Le Bourhis, L., et al. (2010). Nod1 and Nod2 direct autophagy by recruiting ATG16L1 to the plasma membrane at the site of bacterial entry. Nat. Immunol. *11*, 55–62.

Wang, C., Chen, S., Yeo, S., Karsli-Uzunbas, G., White, E., Mizushima, N., Virgin, H.W., and Guan, J.L. (2016). Elevated p62/SQSTM1 determines the fate of autophagy-deficient neural stem cells by increasing superoxide. J. Cell Biol. *212*, 545–560.

Wang, Y., Zhu, W.G., and Zhao, Y. (2017). Autophagy substrate SQSTM1/p62 regulates chromatin ubiquitination during the DNA damage response. Autophagy *13*, 212–213.

Watson, A., Riffelmacher, T., Stranks, A., Williams, O., De Boer, J., Cain, K., MacFarlane, M., McGouran, J., Kessler, B., Khandwala, S., et al. (2015). Autophagy limits proliferation and glycolytic metabolism in acute myeloid leukemia. Cell Death Discov. *1*, 15008.

Yu, D.-H., Gadkari, M., Zhou, Q., Yu, S., Gao, N., Guan, Y., Schady, D., Roshan, T.N., Chen, M.-H., Laritsky, E., et al. (2015). Postnatal epigenetic regulation of intestinal stem cells requires DNA methylation and is guided by the microbiome. Genome Biol. *16*, 211.



Figure 1. Atg7 deletion leads to the inhibition of autophagy throughout the intestinal epithelium and apoptosis of Lgr5+ISC.

- (A) Representative staining for p62 (left panel) and Ubiquitin (right panel) in crypts and villi of WT and Atg7-/- tissue sections. Hematoxylin is used as a nuclear counter-stain for p62 and Hoechst is used as a counter-stain for Ubiquitin.
- (A) Representative TUNEL staining on WT and Atg7^{-/-} tissue sections. Methyl green is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Quantification of the percentage of TUNEL-positive crypts and average number of TUNEL-positive cells per crypt over 50 consecutive whole crypts in 6 WT and 11 Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.
- **(B)** Representative cleaved Caspase-3 and p53 staining on tissue sections from WT and Atg7^{-/-} intestines. Hematoxylin is used as a nuclear counter-stain.
- **(C)** Left panel: Representative TUNEL staining combined with in situ hybridization for Olfm4. Methyl green is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Right panel: Representative TUNEL staining combined with Lysozyme staining. Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain.
- (D) Percent survival from day 1 of organoids from the crypts of WT and Atg7-/- mice (n= 9 mice for WT and 7 mice for Atg7-/-). Data are represented as mean ± s.d.
- **(E)** Representative whole mount staining of organoids grown from the crypts of WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice, 16 hours after addition of BrdU to the culture medium of organoids. TUNEL staining marks apoptotic cells. Lysozyme staining marks Paneth cells, BrdU staining marks crypt cells. Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain.

All scale bars: 25 µm. Significant differences: * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005.



Figure 2. Autophagy-deficient Lgr5⁺ISC apoptosis is independent of the Paneth cell niche but dependent on p53.

- (A) Relative mRNA expression levels of genes encoding growth factors produced by Paneth cells assessed by RT-qPCR analysis of whole intestinal tissue lysates of 4 WT and 5 Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.
- (B) Percent survival from day 1 of organoids from the crypts of WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice in the presence or absence of exogenous Wnt3a in the culture medium (n= 5 mice for WT and 7 mice for Atg7^{-/}). Significant differences are shown in the legend for day 3.
- (C) Percent survival from day 1 of organoids from the crypts of WT and Atg7-/- mice in the presence or absence of Pifithrin in the culture medium (n= 3 mice of each genotype). Significant differences are shown in the legend for day 3.
- **(D)** Western blotting for ATG7, p53, and LC3b on whole intestinal tissue lysates from WT, p53-/-, Atg7-/-, and Atg7-/-p53-/mice. γ-tubulin serves as a loading control. 3 individual mice of each genotype are shown.
- (E) Representative p53 and TUNEL staining in the crypts of WT, p53^{-/-}, Atg7^{-/-}, and Atg7^{-/-}p53^{-/-} mice. Hematoxylin and methyl green are used as a nuclear counter-stains for p53 and TUNEL stainings, respectively. Scale bars: 25 μm. Quantification of the average number of TUNEL-positive cells per crypt over 50 consecutive whole crypts in 7 WT, 3 p53, 5 Atg7^{-/-} and 8 Atg7^{-/-}p53^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.
- (F) Percent survival from day 1 of organoids from the crypts of Atg7-/- or Atg7-/- p53-/- mice (n=3 mice of each genotype).

Significant differences: * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ns= not significant.



Figure 3. Loss of autophagy disrupts DNA damage repair in Lgr5+ISC.

- (A) Top canonical pathways predicted by Ingenuity Pathway Analysis as significantly deregulated in the transcriptomic signature of sorted Lgr5+ISC from the crypts of Lgr5Atg7-/- versus Lgr5WT mice.
- (B) Enrichment plots generated by gene set enrichment analysis for hallmark DNA repair and G2M checkpoint gene sets on transcriptomic data from Lgr5+ISC from the crypts of Lgr5Atg7-/- versus Lgr5WT mice. NES: normalized enrichment score. P-VAL: p-value.
- (C) Relative mRNA expression levels of genes encoding DNA damage repair factors assessed by RT-qPCR analysis of sorted Lgr5⁺ISC or TA progenitors from Lgr5WT and Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d. (n= 6 mice per condition).
- **(D)** γH2AX staining showing a lack of epithelial staining in WT crypts and a representative positive zone in the Atg7-/- epithelium Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain.
- (E) Representative z-projection (from 20 stacks spanning over 6 μm to include whole nuclei) of combined γH2AX and Olfm4 staining in the crypts of WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice 6 hours after 10 Gγ whole-body irradiation. Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Quantification of the percentage of γH2AX-positive cells was performed on at least 10 randomly selected whole crypts per mouse (n= 4 mice of each genotype). Cells with >4 γH2AX foci in their nucleus were considered as γH2AX-positive. Olfm4⁺ cells were considered as ISC and Olfm4⁻ cells above them and below the crypt-villus junction were considered as TA cells. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.
- (F) Representative TUNEL staining tissue sections from WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice 6 hours after 10 Gγ whole-body irradiation. Methyl green is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Quantification of the average number of TUNEL-positive cells per crypt over 50 consecutive whole crypts in 6 control WT mice, 11 control Atg7^{-/-} mice and 4 irradiated mice of each genotype. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.

All scale bars: 50 µm. Significant differences: * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005.



Figure 4. Defective antioxidant responses and ROS accumulation contribute to the death of autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC.

- (A) Enrichment plots generated by gene set enrichment analysis for hallmark reactive oxygen species pathway and NRF2 targets gene sets on transcriptomic data from sorted Lgr5⁺ISC of Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} compared to Lgr5WT mice. NES: normalized enrichment score. P-VAL: p-value.
- **(B)** Western blotting for p62 and NRF2 in whole intestinal tissue lysates from WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice. γ-tubulin serves as a loading control. 3 WT and 4 Atg7 mice are shown.
- (C) Relative mRNA expression levels of NRF2 target genes encoding antioxidant response proteins assessed by RT-qPCR analysis of whole intestinal tissue lysates of 4 WT and 5 Atg7-/- mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.
- (D) Relative mRNA expression levels of NRF2 target genes encoding antioxidant response proteins assessed by RT-qPCR analysis of sorted Lgr5⁺ISC or TA progenitors from Lgr5WT and Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d. (n= 6 mice per condition).
- (E) Mean CellROX[™] or MitoSOX[™] fluorescence intensity of sorted Lgr5⁺ISC or TA progenitors from Lgr5WT and Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d. (n= 13 Lgr5WT and 14 Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice for CellROX analysis, 4 Lgr5WT and 6 Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice for MitoSOX analysis).
- (F) Representative TUNEL staining on tissue sections of Atg7^{-/-} mice treated with water or NAC. Methyl green is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Scale bars: 25 μm. Quantification of the percentage of TUNEL-positive crypts and average number of TUNEL-positive cells per crypt over 50 consecutive whole crypts in 6 control WT mice, 11 control Atg7^{-/-} mice and 4 NAC-treated mice of each genotype. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.

Significant differences: * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005.



Figure 5. Interactions with the microbiota contribute to the apoptosis of autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC.

- (A) Representative TUNEL staining on tissue sections of Atg^{7-/-} mice treated with water or wide-spectrum antibiotics (ATB). Methyl green is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Scale bars: 50 μm. Quantification of the percentage of TUNELpositive crypts and average number of TUNEL-positive cells per crypt over 50 consecutive whole crypts in 6 control WT mice, 11 control Atg^{7-/-} mice, 8 WT and 7 Atg^{7-/-} ATB-treated. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.
- **(B)** Representative γH2AX staining on tissue sections of Atg7^{-/-} mice treated with water or wide-spectrum antibiotics (ATB). Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain.
- (C) Relative mRNA expression levels of NRF2 target genes encoding antioxidant response proteins assessed by RT-qPCR analysis of whole intestinal tissue lysates of 4 control WT, 5 control Atg7-/-, 5 ATB-treated WT and 3 ATB-treated Atg7-/- mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.
- **(D)** Western blotting for ATG7 and LC3b on protein extracts from day 4 WT or Atg7^{fl/fl} organoids in the presence or absence of 40HT and/or CQ in the culture medium. γ-tubulin serves as a loading control.
- (E) Percent survival from day 1 of WT or Atg7^{fl/fl} organoids in the presence or absence of 40HT (left panel) or chloroquine (CQ, right panel) in the culture medium. (n=6 mice of each genotype).
- (F) Percent change in survival compared to untreated controls of WT or Atg7^{fl/fl} organoids in the presence of 4OHT and in the presence or absence of muramyl dipeptide (MDP), lipopolisaccharide (LPS), flagellin, polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (PolyIC) or lipoteichoic acid (LTA) in the culture medium. (n=6 mice of each genotype).

All scale bars: 50 µm. Significant differences: * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005.

Figure 6



Figure 6. p53 blocks tumor initiation in the autophagy-deficient intestinal epithelium.

- (A) Representative hematoxylin and eosin staining tissue sections of small intestinal and colonic swiss rolls from WT, Atg7-/-, p53-/- and Atg7-/-p53-/- mice sacrificed 12 months after tamoxifen treatment. Tumors are circled in blue. Scale bar: 2 mm. Right panel: Histogram of tumor counts in 11 Atg7^{-/-}p53^{-/-} mice.
 (B) Representative γH2AX staining on tissue sections of WT, Atg7^{-/-}, p53^{-/-} and Atg7^{-/-}p53^{-/-} mice sacrificed 12 months after
- tamoxifen treatment. Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Scale bars: 50 µm.



Supplementary Figure 1

- **(A)** Western blotting for ATG7, p62, LC3b in whole intestinal tissue lysates from WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice. γ-tubulin serves as a loading control. 2 mice of each genotype are shown.
- (B) Representative Olfm4 and BrdU co-staining on tissue sections from WT and Atg7^{-/-} intestines. Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Scale bars: 50 μm. Quantification of the average number of BrdU-positive cells per crypt over 50 consecutive whole crypts in 3 WT and 4 Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.
- (C) Relative mRNA expression levels of genes encoding growth factors produced by Paneth cells assessed by RT-qPCR analysis of whole intestinal tissue lysates of 4 WT and 5 Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d.

Significant differences: * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005.


Supplementary Figure 2

- (A) Relative mRNA expression levels of genes encoding antimicrobial peptides produced by Paneth cells assessed by RTqPCR analysis of whole intestinal tissue lysates of 4 WT and 5 Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d. Significant differences: * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005.</p>
- **(B)** Representative Lysozyme staining on tissue sections from WT and Atg7^{-/-} intestines. Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Scale bars: 25 μm.



Supplementary Figure 3

- (A) Left panel: Representative GFP and p62 co-staining in tissue sections of Lgr5WT and Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice. Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Scale bars: 25 μm. Right panel: representative sorting gates for GFP^{High} Lgr5⁺ISC and GFP^{Low} TA cell populations.
- (B) Relative mRNA expression levels confirming higher expression of Lgr5⁺ISC markers in sorted Lgr5⁺ISC, higher expression of differentiation markers in assessed by RT-qPCR analysis of sorted Lgr5⁺ISC or TA progenitors from Lgr5WT and Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d. (n= 6 mice per condition). Significant differences: * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005.</p>
- (C) Summary of significantly deregulated genes in sorted Lgr5⁺ISC or TA progenitors from Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} versus Lgr5WT mice.
- **(D)** Top canonical pathways predicted by Ingenuity Pathway Analysis as significantly deregulated in the transcriptomic signature of sorted TA progenitors from Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} compared to Lgr5WT crypts.



Supplementary Figure 4

- (A) Relative mRNA expression levels of NRF2 target genes encoding antioxidant response proteins assessed by RT-qPCR analysis of sorted Lgr5+ISC or TA progenitors from Lgr5WT and Lgr5Atg7-/- mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d. (n= 6 mice per condition).
- (B) Representative Cellrox staining on live organoids from the crypts of WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice after 3 days in culture in the absence or presence of NAC or sulforaphane (Sulfo) in the culture medium. Hoechst is used as a nuclear counter-stain. Scale bars: 50 μm.
- **(C)** Percent survival from day 1 of organoids from the crypts of WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice in the absence or presence of NAC or sulforaphane (Sulfo) in the culture medium. (n= 5 mice for each genotype). Significant differences are shown in the legend for day 3.
- (D) Transmission electron microscopy images of intestinal epithelium sections from WT and Atg7^{-/-} mice showing mitochondria, indicated by red arrowheads. Bottom panel shows the bottom of an Atg7^{-/-} crypt, with ISC traced out in yellow and swollen mitochondria in their cytoplasm indicated by red arrowheads. Scale bars: 200nm for top panels, 1 μm for bottom panel.
- **(E)** Relative DNA quantity assessed by qPCR analysis of whole intestinal tissue DNA extracts of 4 WT and 4 Atg7^{-/-} mice. Primers for the floxed allele of *Atg7* were used to assess deletion of the gene, and *mt-Rnr1* was used to assess mitochondrial DNA content. Both were normalized to nuclear *Rbm15* DNA content.
- **(F)** Mean Mitosox fluorescence intensity of sorted Lgr5⁺ISC or TA progenitors from Lgr5WT and Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice. Data are represented as mean ± s.d. (n= 4 Lgr5WT and 6 Lgr5Atg7^{-/-} mice).

Significant differences: * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ns= not significant.

Supplementary table 1

Gene	F primer	R nrimer
185	GTAACCCGTTGAACCCCATT	CCATCCAATCGGTAGTAGCG
Ang4	CCCAGTTGGAGGAAAGCTG	CGTAGGAATTTTTCGTACCTTTCA
Aslc2	CTACTCGTCGGAGGAAAG	ACTAGACAGCATGGGTAAG
Atg7 (mRNA)	CAGCAGTGATGACCGCATGA	CAAATGCCAGGCTGACAGGA
Atm	TGCAGATTTATATCCATCATCCAC	TTTCATGGATTCATAAGCACCTT
Axin2	GATTCCCCTTTGACCAGGTGG	CCATTACAAGCAAACCAGAAGT
Brca1	TTCACCAACATGCCCAAAG	AGCTCCTTCACCACGGAAG
Cryptdin1	CCAGATCTCTCAACGATTCCTCTT	TTGGAGACCCAGAAGGCACTT
Defa20	CCAGGGGAAGAGGACCAG	TGCAGCGACGTTTTCTACA
Defa5	CAGGCTGATCCTATCCACAAA	GGCCTCCAAAGGAGATAGACA
Dll1	GGTTTTCTGTTGCGAGGTCATC	CCCATCCGATTCCCCTTCG
Dll4	TTCCAGGCAACCTTCTCCGA	ACTGCCGCTATTCTTGTCCC
EGF	TCCTGGACAAACGGCTCTTC	CCTGATAAGACGGACGGAGC
Gclm	TGACTCACAATGACCCGAAA	TCAATGTCAGGGATGCTTTCT
Glrx5	CGGGCAGGTGCTTTTACTT	AGTGGTTGTACGTTCACCAGAG
Gsta3	GCCTACTTGAGGTACAGCACAAT	AAAGTAATGAAGGACTGGCTTCC
Gstm1	GCAGCTCATGCTCTGTTA	TTTCTCAGGGATGGTCTTCAA
Gstm3	TGAAGGCCATCCCTGAGAAA	CTTGGGAGGAAGCGGCTACT
Lgr5	CCTTGGCCCTGAACAAAATA	ATTTCTTTCCCAGGGAGTGG
Lyso	GGTCTACAATCGTTGTGAGTTGG	CTCCGCAGTTCCGAATATACT
Msi1	GATGCCTTCATGCTGGGTAT	TAGGTGTAACCAGGGGCAAG
Nqo1	AGCGTTCGGTATTACGATCC	AGTACAATCAGGGCTCTTCTCG
Olmf4	GCCACTTTCCAATTTCAC	GAGCCTCTTCTCATACAC
Rad51	AAAAACCCATTGGAGGGAAC	CCCCTCTTCCTTTCAGG
Reg4	TCCGGAAGCTAAGAAACTGG	TGGGATCCATTTCCATATGAC
Txn	TGAAGCTGATCGAGAGCAAG	AGAAGTCCACCACGACAAGC
Txnrd1	CCACATTCACACACGTTCCT	TTTTGTCACACCGACTCCTCT
Wnt11	CTGCATGAAGAATGAGAAGGTG	ACTGCCGTTGGAAGTCTTGT
Wnt3	CTCGCTGGCTACCCAATTT	GAGGCCAGAGATGTGTACTGC
Wnt6	GTGCAACTGCACAACAACG	GGAACGGAGGCAGCTTCT
Atg7 ^{fl/fl} (DNA)	GCTGTGGAGCTGATGGTCTC	GCAGGGTAAGACCGG TCAAG
Rbm15	GGACACTTTTCTTGGGCAAC	AGTTTGGCCCTGTGAGACAT
mt-Rnr1	AGGAGCCTGTTCTATAATCGATAAA	GATGGCGGTATATAGGCTGAA

DISCUSSION

Lgr5⁺ ISC are indispensible for the homeostatic maintenance of the intestinal epithelium and have been described as the cell-of-origin for intestinal cancer. It is therefore crucial to better understand the molecular mechanisms controlling the integrity and survival of these cells, and how they affect either self-renewal and regenerative expansion in homeostasis or proliferation and resistance to treatment in CRC.

1. AUTOPHAGY AS A **PROTECTIVE STRESS RESPONSE IN INTESTINAL STEM CELLS**

Our data indicate a key role for autophagy in the survival of ISC in response to stress. Indeed, the inhibition of autophagy throughout the intestinal epithelium upon *Atg7* deletion results in the p53-mediated apoptosis of ISC whereas the survival of other intestinal epithelial cells – including TA progenitor cells – remains unaffected. We further show that the apoptosis of autophagy-deficient ISC is a result of a defective response to both intrinsic and environmental stress.

1.1 AUTOPHAGY PROTECTS INTESTINAL STEM CELLS FROM OXIDATIVE STRESS

First, autophagy protects ISC against the accumulation of ROS by controlling antioxidant responses and mitochondrial homeostasis.

Contrary to our expectations and what has been found in other tissues and adult stem cells (Mortensen et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2013; García-Prat et al., 2016; Ho et al., 2017), the inhibition of autophagy did not affect mitochondrial load in the intestinal epithelium nor in isolated Lgr5+ISC. This could be due to several factors: (1) the short lifetime of intestinal epithelial cells, which may not allow time for mitochondrial accumulation, (2) the rapid division and consequent dilution of cytoplasmic components in proliferative crypt cells, or (3) the presence of compensatory mechanisms, such as a decreased synthesis of mitochondrial components, that may counteract the lack of mitochondrial degradation through autophagy.

Regardless of mitochondrial numbers, we found that mitochondria throughout the autophagydeficient epithelium appeared swollen and irregular by transmission electron microscopy, including in ISC, suggesting that mitochondrial function may be affected by the loss of autophagy. Despite this epithelium-wide effect, mitochondrial ROS levels were only significantly increased in autophagy-deficient ISC, which likely contributes to the increased levels of cytoplasmic ROS in these cells. On the contrary, mitochondrial superoxide levels and cytoplasmic ROS levels were unaffected by the loss of Atg7 in TA cells. This could be explained by the ISC-specific down regulation of antioxidant gene expression in the autophagy-deficient tissue. In fact, antioxidant treatment (NAC) or forced activation of antioxidant responses (sulforaphane) improves the survival of autophagy-deficient organoids and of ISC *in vivo*. To parallel these results, we plan to investigate the effects of inducing further ROS either in organoids or *in vivo* by treating with H₂O₂, Paraquat or Rotenone (which both mimic mitochondrial superoxide production), or ROS-inducing chemotherapeutic drugs like Doxorubicin.

Interestingly, despite higher mitochondrial ROS levels, cytoplasmic ROS are lower in TA cells than ISC, regardless of autophagy status. Several explanations can again be put forward to

explain this: (1) ROS levels may be regulated in an autophagy-independent manner in these differentiating progenitors, (2) TA cells may have a greater intrinsic capacity to neutralize ROS than ISC, or (3) the unique ISC program could render them more susceptible to variations in redox state, such as that induced by the inhibition of autophagy and consequent mitochondrial defects.

In support of the latter explanation, a similar repression of NRF2 in response to oxidative challenge and inflammation was described in *Drosophila* ISC, in contrast to the observed activation of NRF2 in differentiated cells (Hochmuth et al., 2011). In this report, NRF2 repression is shown to be required to stimulate ISC proliferation and regeneration after a challenge, whereas active NRF2 maintains low ROS levels and limits proliferation rates in resting ISC. A similar mechanism could be at play in mammalian ISC, where ROS levels have also been shown to drive proliferative responses (Jones et al., 2013; Leoni et al., 2013; Myant et al., 2013). The need to maintain high ROS levels to induce regenerative proliferation in the ISC compartment could therefore explain why ISC, unlike other cells of the epithelium, do not induce but rather repress antioxidant responses following the inhibition of autophagy. However, elevated ROS levels beyond a certain threshold result in oxidative stress and apoptosis (see **FIGURE 17D**). ISC may therefore rely on autophagy to maintain appropriate levels of ROS and to control the adverse effects of elevated ROS in response to pro-proliferative stimuli.

1.2 AUTOPHAGY PROTECTS INTESTINAL STEM CELLS FROM DNA DAMAGE

Second, autophagy protects ISC against DNA damages by regulating DNA repair. We show that the autophagy-deficient epithelium accumulates unrepaired DSBs specifically in the ISC compartment at basal levels. Furthermore, our data exposes significant differences in the response of autophagy-deficient ISC to IR, particularly in their DNA-repair capacity and susceptibility to apoptosis. Thus, autophagy is required to preserve the genomic integrity and maximize the survival of ISC following cytotoxic stress. A recently published study in Drosophila melanogaster showed increased DNA damage in ISC upon RNAi-mediated silencing of several individual Atg genes, in this case resulting in cell cycle arrest and consequent loss of ISC (Nagy et al., 2018). Thus, the protective role of autophagy against DNA damage in ISC may be conserved through evolution. Likewise, a recent study by Asano et al. showed more important loss of ISC in *Atg5*-depleted murine intestinal crypts compared to WT crypts upon IR, and showed that this could be partially rescued by pre-treating mice with the antioxidant NAC (Asano et al., 2017). Indeed, in our model, the increased levels of ROS in autophagy-deficient ISC may directly contribute to DNA damage as mice treated with NAC had considerably fewer yH2AX-positive zones throughout their epithelium (data not shown). However, we additionally show that DNA repair mechanisms are also affected by the loss of autophagy in ISC, suggesting that autophagy not only helps prevent DNA damages in ISC, but also contributes to their repair.

The fact that ISC are particularly sensitive to the inhibition of autophagy compared to TA cells may be due to their greater dependence on specific DNA repair pathways. Several ISC signatures have identified genes involved in the DDR as significantly enriched in ISC compared to their direct TA progenitors – including genes encoding HR proteins RAD50, BRCA2, PALB2, CHK1, and

RAD51c, BER protein MSH2, and NER proteins DDB2 and XPC (Merlos-Suárez et al., 2011; Muñoz et al., 2012). The fact that ISC express higher levels of DNA repair factors suggests they may be better equipped to efficiently repair DNA damages. Indeed, a recent study demonstrated that following IR, DSBs (as indicated by γ H2AX foci) accumulate throughout the epithelium but are more rapidly resolved in ISC than in TA or differentiated cells (Hua et al., 2012). Further analysis of irradiation-induced foci formation by DDR factors involved in HR and NHEJ suggested that both ISC and TA progenitors use NHEJ effectively, but that ISC are more efficient in highfidelity HR. Thus, ISC favor a more rapid and less error-prone DDR than their progenitors, which likely acts to preserve ISC integrity and survival. Supporting the importance of an efficient DSB repair in ISC, ATM-deficient mice were found to be more sensitive to IR and undergo gastrointestinal syndrome at lower doses (Barlow et al., 1996). Moreover, the loss of ATM favors the development and growth of adenomas in Apc^{+/Δ} mice (Kwon et al., 2008). Similarly, the gastrointestinal tract of *Rad21* heterozygous mice is hypersensitive to IR compared to mice expressing both alleles (Xu et al., 2010), revealing the importance of gene dosage of DDR factors in the intestinal epithelial response to IR.

Consistent with published ISC signatures, we found higher expression of DNA repair genes in ISC compared to TA cells isolated from Lgr5WT mice in our transcriptomic analysis (*data not shown*), and RT-qPCR analysis on selected genes encoding DDR factors support these observation, reinforcing the idea that ISC have greater DNA repair capacities than their direct TA progenitors. Our data is also consistent with the observation by Hua et al. that WT ISC have a relatively high capacity for resolution of DNA damages following irradiation compared to their progenitors (Hua et al., 2012), although this no longer appears to be the case following the loss of autophagy.

Several of the down-regulated DNA repair factors in our Atg7-null ISC signature are associated with DSB repair and more specifically with HR, including *Rad51, Atm*, and *Brca1*. This is consistent with various *in vitro* reports highlighting a molecular link between the inhibition of autophagy and HR defects (Chen et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2015; Hewitt et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016e). Overall, although the exact mechanisms remain to be elucidated, our data hints at a role for autophagy in promoting efficient DNA repair in ISC, perhaps by favoring high-fidelity HR. We hope to further elucidate this by analyzing the recruitment of different DNA repair factors to IR-induced DNA damages in both WT and Atg7-null ISC and by studying the contribution of individual DDR pathways in the response of both WT and autophagy-deficient organoids upon genotoxic stress.

Interestingly, while the inhibition of autophagy impairs ISC resistance to genotoxic injury, the opposite may also be true: Short-term fasting, known to induce autophagy, has been shown to protect the small intestinal epithelium from lethal DNA damage induced by etoposide treatment (Tinkum et al., 2015). Fasting improves both the survival and DNA repair capacity of ISC during etoposide treatment– as shown by the transcriptomic upregulation of several DNA repair genes and accelerated resolution of γ H2AX foci. In contrast to ISC, fasting had no protective effect on

TA cells. Although the contribution of autophagy to these observations was not investigated in this study, it would certainly be of great interest.

1.3 AUTOPHAGY PROTECTS INTESTINAL STEM CELLS FROM MICROENVIRONMENTAL STRESS

Third, autophagy protects ISC against extrinsic stress linked with the microbiota. Our findings reveal a complex interplay between the gut microbiota, autophagy and ISC maintenance.

Inhibition of autophagy in Paneth cells does not affect the expression of the Wnt ligands essential to ISC maintenance, nor does it perturb their role as the dedicated niche for organoid growth. However, our data and previous studies have shown that autophagy in the intestinal epithelium is essential to limit bacterial infection as it controls the secretion of AMPs from Paneth cells. Our group previously reported that autophagy deficiency in the intestinal epithelium affects epithelial contact with the gut microbiota and contributes to dysbiosis (Lévy et al., 2015). Our results expand these findings by showing that autophagy plays an additional protective role in bacteria-ISC crosstalks.

Several studies point to a role of the microbiota in both intestinal homeostasis and in epithelial response following damage and suggest that the gut microbiota could be an essential component of the stem cell niche. In germ free conditions, intestinal crypts are less deep, contain fewer proliferative ISC and both their transciptomic and DNA methylation profile is altered (Sommer and Bäckhed, 2013; Sommer et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2015). Germ-free conditions or antibiotics treatment also dampen radiation-induced apoptosis and favor crypt survival. In fact, these animals survive longer after lethal doses of radiation and the minimum dose to induce a gastrointestinal syndrome is higher than in conventionally raised animals (McLaughlin et al., 1964; Matsuzawat, 1965; Onoue et al., 1981). Moreover, it is becoming increasingly evident that not only the presence but also the diversity and composition of the microbiota are important for these effects on crypt homeostasis (Preidis et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2013, 2015).

Our results show that treating autophagy-deficient mice with wide-spectrum antibiotics significantly reduces the number of apoptotic Lgr5+ISC following the inhibition of autophagy. In addition to improving ISC survival, antiobiotic treatment also reduced signs of DNA damage and oxidative stress in the autophagy-deficient epithelium, suggesting that the microbiota may act on Atg7-/- ISC by driving ROS accumulation and DNA damages. In line with this, commensal bacteria have been shown to drive NOX1-mediated ROS production and consequent proliferation in both *Drosophila* and mammalian ISC (Jones et al., 2013).

Interestingly, we found that the inhibition of autophagy affects the survival of organoids only if *Atg7* deletion occurred *in vivo* prior to culture. This suggests that the microenvironmental changes in autophagy-deficient mice induce lasting effects in Lgr5⁺ISC, contributing to their death. The mechanisms of such a microenvironmental imprint on isolated crypts cultured *ex vivo* poses intriguing new questions. One possible mechanism is the establishment of microenvironment-induced epigenetic adaptations following the loss of autophagy *in vivo* that are maintained *ex vivo*. This idea is supported by recent data showing that the microbiota can affect Lgr5⁺ISC homeostasis through epigenetic regulation (Yu et al., 2015).

The mechanisms through which the intestinal microbiota affects ISC homeostasis are still unclear. The microbiota may affect crypt cells indirectly, for example by activating inflammatory pathways in epithelial or mesenchymal cells of the intestinal mucosa that will in turn signal to ISC (Gong et al., 2016a; Saha et al., 2016). The microbiota may also be directly sensed by ISC either through MAMPs or microbiota-derived metabolites. TLRs and NLRs, which sense MAMPs, were shown to be expressed by ISC and to affect their proliferation and survival (Neal et al., 2012; Nigro et al., 2014), although the downstream effectors of this remain unclear. We tested the effects of several individual bacterial MAMPs on WT and ex-vivo autophagy-depleted organoids. LPS was previously shown to induce apoptosis of ISC both in vivo and in organoids via TLR4 (Neal et al., 2012). These effects were found to be independent of MyD88 signaling and TNFα, but dependent on activation of the p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis (PUMA). We show that LPS similarly affects survival of WT and autophagy-deficient organoids, suggesting that its effects are independent of autophagy. Likewise, we found that the TLR5 agonist Flagellin, the TLR2 agonist LTA, and the TLR3 agonist PolyIC had similar effects on both WT and autophagy-deficient organoids. Of the tested MAMPs, only MDP showed a differential effect on organoid survival. Interestingly, MDP has been shown to exert cytoprotective effects on Lgr5+ISC mediated by NOD2 signaling (Nigro et al., 2014). However, the mechanism remained unclear since more than 30 cellular proteins interact with NOD2 directly and regulate its functional activity. Among these, NOD2 has been shown to direct autophagy by recruiting components of the autophagy machinery (Cooney et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2010; Chauhan et al., 2015). Consistent with the reported cytoprotective effect of MDP in ISC, treatment of WT organoids with MDP improved their survival. On the contrary, MDP treatment reduced the survival of autophagy-deficient organoids, suggesting that autophagy is required for the cytoprotective effects of MDP. Thus, autophagy plays a key role in ISC protection in response to specific microbial signals.

Still, we cannot exclude an effect of other microenvironmental signals driven by the presence of the microbiota, such as metabolites or inflammatory signals, on the survival of autophagy-deficient ISC. In fact, taking into account recent studies showing that the loss of autophagy increases the sensitivity of intestinal epithelial cells to pro-inflammatory cytokines (Burger et al., 2018; Pott et al., 2018), it is possible that microbiota-induced production of these cytokines also contribute to the death of Lgr5⁺ ISC. This could be easily verified using organoids.

2. OTHER MODELS OF ATG DEPLETION IN THE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

A recent study showed a similar role for autophagy in ISC maintenance using a mouse model of Atg5 deletion in the intestinal epithelium (VillinCreAtg5^{fl/fl}) (Asano et al., 2017). However, in contrast to our findings, this study does not describe apoptosis in the ISC compartment of the Atg5-deficient epithelium but rather indicates reduced numbers of ISC. Moreover, they describe these phenotypes to be dependent solely on cell-intrinsic mechanisms, specifically on the accumulation of ROS in autophagy-deficient ISC, whereas we show an important effect of microenvironmental alterations on ISC death. A possible explanation for these discrepancies may be the distinct genetic models used to inhibit autophagy: In our study, ablation of Atg7 is

induced in adult mice after tamoxifen injection (using a VillinCre^{ERT2} transgene) whereas Asano et al. used a model where the deletion of *Atg5* is constitutive (using the VillinCre transgene). Villin expression begins early in embryonic development whereas mature intestinal crypts develop post-natally (Maunoury et al., 1988; Spence et al., 2011). It is therefore possible that autophagy plays an additional role in the regulation of ISC numbers during development. Likewise, nearly all previous studies on the effects of autophagy in the intestinal epithelium – which focused primarily on Paneth cells, goblet cells and inflammation – have relied on germline loss of *Atg* genes. These studies either did not investigate an effect of autophagy in ISCs or did not observe any differences in the ISC compartment. Along with the possible differential effects of germline versus inducible loss of autophagy genes, other possible explanations for the differences between our study and previous studies include:

- Unique functions of *Atg7*, although several of the aforementioned studies also used loss of *Atg7* as a model.
- As we found that the presence of the microbiota affects the death of autophagy-deficient ISC, differences in housing facilities may also play a part.
- Similarly, as the effect of autophagy inhibition is predominantly evident in response to stress, basal conditions may not have been sufficient to observe an effect on ISC.
- In the case of *Atg16l1*[™] mice, the partial loss ATG16L1 may allow low but sufficient levels of autophagy to promote ISC survival.

Overall, whereas germline autophagy-deficient models may be more appropriate to study the development of IBD in patients with autophagy-associated risk alleles, the inducible ablation of autophagy in adult mice is a more appropriate approach to study the effects of therapeutic autophagy inhibition, as in cancer treatment.

3. Replenishment of the Autophagy-Deficient Intestinal Stem Cell Pool

Fortunately, despite injury to ISC induced by the loss of autophagy, the pool of Lgr5+ISC is continuously replenished and intestinal homeostasis is maintained over time. This reflects, as previously reported with acute damages to Lgr5+ISC, a high degree of plasticity within small intestinal crypts where either remaining Lgr5+ISC, reserve pools of ISC and/or committed progenitors are able to ensure epithelial intestinal homeostasis. Indeed, we observe increased proliferation both in the ISC and TA compartments of the Atg7-deficient crypts, without any apparent changes in villus height or migration speed along the crypt-villus axis (*data not shown*). This suggests that either remaining ISC or early progenitors, which we found to be more resistant to the inhibition of autophagy, could contribute to the replenishment of the Lgr5+ISC pool. Moreover, although we did not observe any differences in the mRNA expression levels of +4SC markers *Bmi1*, *HopX*, or *Lrig1* (*data not shown*), we cannot exclude the possibility that the loss of autophagy-deficient Lgr5+ISC results in the activation of these reserve stem cells to replenish the active stem cell pool. Interestingly, we were able to observe crypt fission events in the epithelium of Atg7-/- mice, further supporting a homeostatic regenerative response to the loss of autophagy-deficient ISC. All in all, the fact that inhibiting autophagy is not ultimately

deleterious to the maintenance of the intestinal epithelium suggests that it could safely be considered in therapy.

4. AUTOPHAGY & P53 IN INTESTINAL STEM CELL MAINTENANCE AND TUMOR INITIATION

We show that the loss of Atg7 results in the p53-dependent apoptosis of ISC. Both ROS and DNA damages have been linked to p53 activation. P53 plays an important role in the DNA damage response, and is typically activated downstream of DDR factors to induce cell cycle arrest and allow damage to be repaired before progression to M phase. Persisting damage and p53 activation, however, can also result in apoptosis to eliminate irreparably damaged cells. ROS can indirectly activate p53 by inducing DNA damages but also by acting on other signaling pathways, including p38 MAPK, which we found to be activated in autophagy-deficient crypts (*data not shown*). Lastly, p53 can also be directly oxidized on its cysteine residues, which enhances its DNA-binding and transcriptional activity. Thus, both oxidative stress and DNA damages in autophagy-deficient ISC can induce p53-mediated cell death as a way to eliminate damaged ISC and preserve the genomic integrity of the ISC pool.

Importantly, we show that the p53-mediated elimination of damaged ISC is essential to preserve the integrity of the Atg7-deficient epithelium, as the combined ablation of Atg7 and Tp53dramatically increases DNA damage throughout the epithelium and triggers the development of adenomas. Although loss of p53 alone does not result in the formation of adenomas until at least 14 months (Schwitalla et al., 2013a; Chanrion et al., 2014) and Atg7 deletion alone does not favor tumor development, the combined loss of these two factors results in the formation of several tumors with a high penetrance within 12 months. We are currently carrying out experiments to see if tumors can be detected in the double-knockout epithelium at even earlier time points. The activation of p53 therefore appears to counteract the adverse effects of autophagy inhibition by eliminating damaged and potential tumor-initiating ISC. Looking at things from a different perspective, the loss of autophagy could act as the pro-mutagenic factor required to initiate tumorigenesis in the p53-deficient intestinal epithelium. Furthermore, our group previously showed that the deletion of Atq7 prevented tumor initiation in Apc^{+/ Δ} mice (Lévy et al., 2015) and our more recent data indicates that this is not the case in the absence of p53 (*data not shown*); hence the effect of autophagy inhibition on tumor initiation appears to be dependent on the p53 status of the epithelium. Further analysis is required to determine the combined effect of *Atg7* and *Tp53* deletion on the proliferation and survival of tumor cells.

Our group previously showed that the effects of autophagy on tumor initiation were in part dependent on microenvironmental alterations, including changes in the proximity and composition of the gut microbiota as well as the induction of an anti-tumoral immune response (Lévy et al., 2015). Our present study identifies an additional mechanism through which the inhibition of autophagy blocks tumor initiation: by enhancing the sensitivity of damaged, potential tumor-initiating ISC to p53-mediated apoptosis. We hypothesize that these two mechanisms may in fact be linked. The presence of the microbiota is required for the death ISC, the induction of an anti-tumoral immune response, as well as the inhibition tumor initiation in Atg7-/- mice. One possibility is that the microbiota-dependent death of autophagy-deficient ISC,

in addition to blocking the accumulation of damages in the stem cell compartment, helps prime the anti-tumoral response described in our previous study. Another possibility is that the cytotoxic immune response induced by alterations of the microbiota contributes to the death of ISC. It would therefore be interesting to characterize the immune response in Atg7-/-p53-/- mice and analyze the effects of immune signaling on the survival of autophagy-deficient ISC to test our hypothesis.

5. COLON STEM CELLS & AUTOPHAGY

Although mouse models of intestinal tumorigenesis develop tumors thoughout the intestinal tract, human cancer typically develops more distally, in the colon and rectum. At basal levels, the inhibition of autophagy does not appear to induce the death of ISC in the colon. This is consistent with the established notion that colonic crypts are more resistant to stress and p53-induced apoptosis than small intestinal crypts (Merritt et al., 1994). The higher resistance of colonic stem cells has been attributed both to higher expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Merritt AJ et al., 1995) and more efficient DNA repair (Hua et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the effects of autophagy on tumorigenesis are also true in the colon. As our group previously showed, the loss of *Atg7* prevents the onset and growth of tumors in both the small intestine and colon of Apc^{+/ Δ} mice (Lévy et al., 2015). Moreover, the simultaneous deletion of both *Atg7* and *Tp53* induced the development of colonic polyps within a year. Several studies have described an increased sensitivity of the autophagy-deficient colonic epithelium to inflammation (Cadwell et al., 2010; Cabrera et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2013a; Tsuboi et al., 2015) and we confirmed this in our model as well (data not shown). Whether autophagy also affects DNA repair, oxidative stress, or interactions with the microbiota in colonic ISC remains to be determined but would be of great interest in the context of its role in tumorigenesis.

6. AUTOPHAGY & TUMOR PROGRESSION

Lgr5+ISC are thought to drive not only the homeostatic renewal of the epithelium (Barker et al., 2007; Barker, 2014) and tumor initiation (Barker et al., 2009) but also the continued growth of intestinal tumors (Schepers et al., 2012). In light of the important role of autophagy in ISC homeostasis and in tumor initiation, its role in intestinal tumor progression should not be disregarded. Autophagy has emerged as an essential driver of tumor growth in several tissues, including the lung (Guo et al., 2013; Strohecker et al., 2013; Rao et al., 2014), pancreas (Rosenfeldt et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2014), and, recently, in the intestine (Lévy et al., 2015; Sakitani et al., 2015). Our group previously showed an activation of autophagy at various stages of human CRC (Lévy et al., 2015). In addition, the deletion of *Atg7* coupled to the monoallelic loss of *Apc* in intestinal epithelial cells not only inhibited tumor initiation but also led to metabolic stress, AMPK activation and p53-mediated cell cycle arrest in the few developing tumors. These results indicate that autophagy does play an important role in intestinal tumor growth. However, in this model, autophagy is lost prior to the development of tumors, which may not necessarily reflect the effects autophagy inhibition as a therapeutic strategy in established tumors.

To study the effect of autophagy in tumor progression independently of its effects on tumor initiation, we are currently using a model established in our lab carrying a germline mutation on one allele of the *Apc* gene (Apc^{+/ Δ 14}), resulting in the spontaneous development of tumors throughout the intestinal tract (Colnot et al., 2004). We crossed these mice with VillinCre^{ERT2}Atg7^{fl/fl} mice to allow the tamoxifen-inducible deletion of *Atg7* in already-established tumors. In preliminary experiments, we treated these mice with tamoxifen at 3 months of age – when tumors are already present – and sacrificed them at 4.5 months (tumor load generally becomes lethal between 4.5 and 5 months of age in these mice). Contrary to our expectations, we found that the inhibition of autophagy in Apc^{+/ Δ 14} mice at this timing did not affect tumor load. In a model of colitis-associated tumorigenesis, Sakitani et al. similarly found that either the deletion of *Atg5* or CQ treatment did not significantly affect tumor load. It dit, however, impair tumor growth due to stress-induced p53-mediated apoptosis (Sakitani et al., 2015). Further analysis is still required to determine the effects of Atg7 deletion in tumor cells in our model.

Autophagy has also been shown to contribute to tumor cell resistance to therapy in various cell types, including human CRC cells. Notably, induction of autophagy was reported upon 5-FU treatment in human CRC cell lines, and the inhibition of autophagy potentiated the 5-FU-induced apoptosis of colon cancer cells in vitro in xenografts (Li et al., 2009b, 2010). Further studies confirmed the beneficial anti-tumoral effects of autophagy inhibition in combination with chemotherapy both *in vitro* and using xenografts (Sasaki et al., 2010, 2012; Choi et al., 2012; Paillas et al., 2012; Selvakumaran et al., 2013; Schonewolf et al., 2014; Tan et al., 2015). Just as the inhibition of autophagy affects the DNA repair capacities of ISC, it may therefore also sensitize tumor cells to DNA damage induced by chemotherapy. We are currently testing this hypothesis in vivo by combining the deletion of Atg7 with 5-FU treatment, both starting at 3 months of age, in Apc^{+/Δ14} mice. Our preliminary data shows that whereas *Atg7* deletion alone or 5-FU treatment alone do not significantly affect tumor load in this context, the combination of the two reduced the number of tumors. We are currently looking into the effects of autophagy inhibition, 5-FU treatment, and the combination of the two on the proliferation, acummulation of DNA damages and survival of tumor cells in these mice. Although our preliminary results merit further investigation, they indicate that the inhibition of autophagy could enhance the antitumoral effects of chemotherapy in established tumors by reducing their DNA repair and proliferative capacity. These results could provide in vivo support for a beneficial effect of combining classical chemotherapy with autophagy inhibition as treatment for colorectal cancer. Two phase 1/2 clinical trials are currently under way to test the combination of HCQ with chemotherapy to treat advanced CRC, along with two additional trials evaluating the combination of HCQ and the histone deacetylase inhibitor vorinostat (from www.clinicaltrials.gov).

These results additionally suggest that autophagy mediates resistance to stress not only in ISC but also in intestinal tumor cells. ISC markers are expressed in CRC stem cells (Merlos-Suárez et al., 2011) and the organization of intestinal tumors mimics that of the homeostatic epithelium with stem-like cells driving tumor growth (Schepers et al., 2012). Therefore, just as autophagy

inhibition affects ISC specifically in the homeostatic crypt, it may specifically render stem-like cells within the tumor mass more sensitive to cytotoxic treatment. This will also be investigated.

Whether the dual effect of autophagy in tumor initiation based on p53 status also applies in the case of tumor growth and progression remains to be elucidated. Many of the *in vitro* studies combining autophagy inhibition with chemotherapy used p53-mutated CRC cell lines (including Caco2, HT29, DLD1 cell lines), suggesting that autophagy inhibition could still be of therapeutic value in p53-mutant CRC. Nevertheless, as p53 mutations are common in CRC, it would be important to consider the possibility of a differential effect of autophagy inhibition on tumor progression based on p53 status before using autophagy inhibitors in therapy.

Overall, we establish a role for autophagy in various aspects of ISC homeostasis: repair of DNA damage, ROS regulation, and maintenance in response to specific microbial signals. Upon loss of autophagy, the tumor suppressor p53 and apoptosis act as an additional layer of control to eliminate damaged cells from the functional ISC pool and thereby prevent tumor development. Autophagy can therefore be considered as a gatekeeper of ISC integrity and survival. Importantly, the inhibition of autophagy in a p53-proficient context is not detrimental to intestinal homeostasis whereas it could be a promising route to block intestinal tumor growth.

References

Abrams, G., Bauer, H., and Sprinz, H. (1963). Influence of the normal flora on mucosal morphology and cellular renewal in the ileum. A comparison of germ-free and conventional mice. Lab. Investig. *12*, 355–364.

Abreu, M.T. (2010). Toll-like receptor signalling in the intestinal epithelium: How bacterial recognition shapes intestinal function. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *10*, 131–143.

Acosta-Alvear, D., Zhou, Y., Blais, A., Tsikitis, M., Lents, N.H., Arias, C., Lennon, C.J., Kluger, Y., and Dynlacht, B.D. (2007). XBP1 Controls Diverse Cell Type- and Condition-Specific Transcriptional Regulatory Networks. Mol. Cell *27*, 55–66.

Adams, P.D., Ivanov, A., Pawlikowski, J., Manoharan, I., Tuyn, J. Van, Nelson, D.M., Singh Rai, T., Shah, P.P., Hewitt, G., Korolchuk, V.I., et al. (2013). Lysosome-mediated processing of chromatin in senescence. J. Cell Biol. *202*, 129–143.

Adolph, T.E., Tomczak, M.F., Niederreiter, L., Ko, H.-J., Böck, J., Martinez-Naves, E., Glickman, J.N., Tschurtschenthaler, M., Hartwig, J., Hosomi, S., et al. (2013). Paneth cells as a site of origin for intestinal inflammation. Nature *503*, 272–276.

Aita, V.M., Liang, X.H., Murty, V. V, Pincus, D.L., Yu, W., Cayanis, E., Kalachikov, S., Gilliam, T.C., and Levine, B. (1999). Cloning and genomic organization of beclin 1, a candidate tumor suppressor gene on chromosome 17q21. Genomics *59*, 59–65.

Alam, M., Midtvedt, T., and Uribe, A. (1994). Differential cell kinetics in the ileum and colon of germfree rats. Scand. J. Gastroenterol. *29*, 445–451.

Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., and Walter, P. (2008). Molecular Biology of the Cell (Abington: Garland Science).

Alenghat, T., Osborne, L.C., Saenz, S.A., Kobuley, D., Ziegler, C.G., Mullican, S.E., Choi, I., Grunberg, S., Sinha, R., Wynosky-Dolfi, M., et al. (2013). Histone deacetylase 3 coordinates commensal-bacteria-dependent intestinal homeostasis. Nature *504*, 153–157.

Alexander, A., Cai, S.-L., Kim, J., Nanez, A., Sahin, M., MacLean, K.H., Inoki, K., Guan, K.-L., Shen, J., Person, M.D., et al. (2010). ATM signals to TSC2 in the cytoplasm to regulate mTORC1 in response to ROS. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *107*, 4153–4158.

Altmann, G.G. (1983). Morphological observations on mucus-secreting nongoblet cells in the deep crypts of the rat ascending colon. Am. J. Anat. *167*, 95–117.

Amaravadi, R.K., Yu, D., Lum, J.J., Bui, T., Christophorou, M.A., Evan, G.I., Thomas-Tikhonenko, A., and Thompson, C.B. (2007). Autophagy inhibition enhances therapy-induced apoptosis in a Myc-induced model of lymphoma. J. Clin. Invest. *117*, 326–336.

Andreu, P., Colnot, S., Godard, C., Gad, S., Chafey, P., Niwa-Kawakita, M., Laurent-Puig, P., Kahn, A., Robine, S., Perret, C., et al. (2005). Crypt-restricted proliferation and commitment to the Paneth cell lineage following Apc loss in the mouse intestine. Development *132*, 1443–1451.

Andreu, P., Peignon, G., Slomianny, C., Taketo, M.M., Colnot, S., Robine, S., Lamarque, D., Laurent-Puig, P., Perret, C., and Romagnolo, B. (2008). A genetic study of the role of the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling in Paneth cell differentiation. Dev. Biol. *324*, 288–296.

Aoki, R., Shoshkes-Carmel, M., Gao, N., Shin, S., May, C.L., Golson, M.L., Zahm, A.M., Ray, M., Wiser, C.L., Wright, C.V.E., et al. (2016). Foxl1-Expressing Mesenchymal Cells Constitute the Intestinal Stem Cell Niche. Cell. Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. *2*, 175–188.

Arsham, A.M., Howell, J.J., and Simon, M.C. (2003). A novel hypoxia-inducible factor-independent hypoxic response regulating mammalian target of rapamycin and its targets. J. Biol. Chem. *278*, 29665–29660.

Arthur, J.C., Perez-Chanona, E., Mühlbauer, M., Tomkovich, S., Uronis, J.M., Fan, T.J., Campbell, B.J., Abujamel, T., Dogan, B., Rogers, A.B., et al. (2012). Intestinal inflammation targets cancer-

inducing activity of the microbiota. Science (80-.). 338, 120–123.

Asano, J., Sato, T., Ichinose, S., Kajita, M., Onai, N., Shimizu, S., and Ohteki, T. (2017). Intrinsic Autophagy Is Required for the Maintenance of Intestinal Stem Cells and for Irradiation-Induced Intestinal Regeneration. Cell Rep. *20*, 1050–1060.

Asfaha, S., Hayakawa, Y., Muley, A., Stokes, S., Graham, T.A., Ericksen, R.E., Westphalen, C.B., Von Burstin, J., Mastracci, T.L., Worthley, D.L., et al. (2015). Krt19+/Lgr5-Cells Are Radioresistant Cancer-Initiating Stem Cells in the Colon and Intestine. Cell Stem Cell *16*, 627–638.

Atarashi, K., Tanoue, T., Shima, T., Imaoka, A., Kuwahara, T., Momose, Y., Cheng, G., Yamasaki, S., Saito, T., Ohba, Y., et al. (2011). Induction of colonic regulatory T cells by indigenous Clostridium species. Science (80-.). *331*, 337–341.

Attieh, Y., Clark, A.G., Grass, C., Richon, S., Pocard, M., Mariani, P., Elkhatib, N., Betz, T., Gurchenkov, B., and Vignjevic, D.M. (2017). Cancer-associated fibroblasts lead tumor invasion through integrin- β 3–dependent fibronectin assembly. J. Cell Biol. *216*, 3509–3520.

Aviello, G., and Knaus, U.G. (2018). NADPH oxidases and ROS signaling in the gastrointestinal tract. Mucosal Immunol. *11*, 1011–1023.

Ayabe, T., Satchell, D.P., Wilson, C.L., Parks, W.C., Selsted, M.E., and Ouellette, A.J. (2000). Secretion of microbicidal alpha-defensins by intestinal Paneth cells in response to bacteria. Nat. Immunol. *1*, 113–118.

B'chir, W., Maurin, A.-C., Carraro, V., Averous, J., Jousse, C., Muranishi, Y., Parry, L., Stepien, G., Fafournoux, P., and Bruhat, A. (2013). The eIF2 α /ATF4 pathway is essential for stress-induced autophagy gene expression. Nucleic Acids Res. *41*, 7683–7699.

Baar, E.L., Carbajal, K.A., Ong, I.M., and Lamming, D.W. (2016). Sex- and tissue-specific changes in mTOR signaling with age in C57BL/6J mice. Aging Cell *15*, 155–166.

Bae, H., and Guan, J.-L. (2011). Suppression of Autophagy by FIP200 Deletion Impairs DNA Damage Repair and Increases Cell Death upon Treatments with Anticancer Agents. Mol. Cancer Res. *9*, 1232–1241.

Baerga, R., Zhang, Y., Chen, P.H., Goldman, S., and Jin, S. (2009). Targeted deletion of autophagy-related 5 (atg5) impairs adipogenesis in a cellular model and in mice. Autophagy *5*, 1118–1130.

Baker, S.J., Fearon, E.R., Nigro, J.M., Hamilton, S.R., Preisinger, A.C., Jessup, J.M., Vantuinen, P., Ledbetter, D.H., Barker, D.F., Nakamura, Y., et al. (1989). Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. Science (80-.). *244*, 217–221.

Bansal, K., Trinath, J., Chakravortty, D., Patil, S.A., and Balaji, K.N. (2011). Pathogen-specific TLR2 protein activation programs macrophages to induce Wnt-??-catenin signaling. J. Biol. Chem. *286*, 37032–37044.

Barker, N. (2014). Adult intestinal stem cells: critical drivers of epithelial homeostasis and regeneration. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *15*, 19–33.

Barker, N., van Es, J.H., Kuipers, J., Kujala, P., van den Born, M., Cozijnsen, M., Haegebarth, A., Korving, J., Begthel, H., Peters, P.J., et al. (2007). Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene Lgr5. Nature 449, 1003–1007.

Barker, N., Ridgway, R.A., van Es, J.H., van de Wetering, M., Begthel, H., van den Born, M., Danenberg, E., Clarke, A.R., Sansom, O.J., and Clevers, H. (2009). Crypt stem cells as the cells-of-origin of intestinal cancer. Nature *457*, 608–611.

Barlow, C., Hirotsune, S., Paylor, R., Liyanage, M., Eckhaus, M., Collins, F., Shiloh, Y., Crawley, J.N., Ried, T., Tagle, D., et al. (1996). Atm-Deficient Mice: A Paradigm of Ataxia Telangiectasia. Cell *86*, 159–171.

Barrett, J.C., Hansoul, S., Nicolae, D.L., Cho, J.H., Duerr, R.H., Rioux, J.D., Brant, S.R., Silverberg, M.S.,

Taylor, K.D., Barmada, M.M., et al. (2008). Genome-wide association defines more than 30 distinct susceptibility loci for Crohn's disease. Nat. Genet. *40*, 955–962.

Bassik, M.C., Scorrano, L., Oakes, S.A., Pozzan, T., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (2004). Phosphorylation of BCL-2 regulates ER Ca2+ homeostasis and apoptosis. EMBO J. *23*, 1207–1216.

Batlle, E., Henderson, J.T., Beghtel, H., Van den Born, M.M.W., Sancho, E., Huls, G., Meeldijk, J., Robertson, J., Van de Wetering, M., Pawson, T., et al. (2002). β-catenin and TCF mediate cell positioning in the intestinal epithelium by controlling the expression of EphB/EphrinB. Cell *111*, 251–263.

Behrends, C., Sowa, M.E., Gygi, S.P., and Harper, J.W. (2010). Network organization of the human autophagy system. Nature *466*, 68–76.

Bel, S., Pendse, M., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Ruhn, K.A., Hassell, B., Leal, T., Winter, S.E., Xavier, R.J., and Hooper, L. V. (2017). Paneth cells secrete lysozyme via secretory autophagy during bacterial infection of the intestine. Science (80-.). *357*, 1047–1052.

Bellodi, C., Lidonnici, M.R., Hamilton, A., Helgason, G. V, Soliera, A.R., Ronchetti, M., Galavotti, S., Young, K.W., Selmi, T., Van Etten, R.A., et al. (2008). Targeting Autophagy Potentiates Imatinib-Induced Cell Death in Philadelphia Positive Cells Including Primary CML Stem Cells. Blood *112*, 391–392.

Bellot, G., Garcia-Medina, R., Gounon, P., Chiche, J., Roux, D., Pouyssegur, J., and Mazure, N.M. (2009). Hypoxia-Induced Autophagy Is Mediated through Hypoxia-Inducible Factor Induction of BNIP3 and BNIP3L via Their BH3 Domains. Mol. Cell. Biol. *29*, 2570–2581.

Benjamin, J.L., Sumpter, R., Levine, B., and Hooper, L. V. (2013). Intestinal epithelial autophagy is essential for host defense against invasive bacteria. Cell Host Microbe *13*, 723–734.

Bento, C.F., Renna, M., Ghislat, G., Puri, C., Ashkenazi, A., Vicinanza, M., Menzies, F.M., and Rubinsztein, D.C. (2016). Mammalian Autophagy: How Does It Work? Annu. Rev. Biochem. *85*, 685–713.

Berger, Z., Ravikumar, B., Menzies, F.M., Oroz, L.G., Underwood, B.R., Pangalos, M.N., Schmitt, I., Wullner, U., Evert, B.O., O'Kane, C.J., et al. (2006). Rapamycin alleviates toxicity of different aggregate-prone proteins. Hum. Mol. Genet. *15*, 433–442.

Beyaz, S., Mana, M.D., Roper, J., Kedrin, D., Saadatpour, A., Hong, S., Bauer-rowe, K.E., Xifaras, M.E., Akkad, A., Arias, E., et al. (2016). High-fat diet enhances stemness and tumorigenicity of intestinal progenitors. Nature *531*, 53–58.

Di Biase, S., Lee, C., Brandhorst, S., Manes, B., Buono, R., Cheng, C.W., Cacciottolo, M., Martin-Montalvo, A., de Cabo, R., Wei, M., et al. (2016). Fasting-Mimicking Diet Reduces HO-1 to Promote T Cell-Mediated Tumor Cytotoxicity. Cancer Cell *30*, 136–146.

Biasucci, G., Rubini, M., Riboni, S., Morelli, L., Bessi, E., and Retetangos, C. (2010). Mode of delivery affects the bacterial community in the newborn gut. Early Hum. Dev. *86*, 13–15.

Bigarella, C.L., Liang, R., and Ghaffari, S. (2014). Stem cells and the impact of ROS signaling. Development *141*, 4206–4218.

Birkenmeier, K., Moll, K., Newrzela, S., Hartmann, S., Drose, S., and Hansmann, M.-L. (2016). Basal autophagy is pivotal for Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells' survival and growth revealing a new strategy for Hodgkin lymphoma treatment. Oncotarget *7*, 46579–46588.

Birmingham, C.L., Canadien, V., Kaniuk, N.A., Steinberg, B.E., Higgins, D.E., and Brumell, J.H. (2008). Listeriolysin O allows Listeria monocytogenes replication in macrophage vacuoles. Nature *451*, 350–354.

Biswas, D., Qureshi, O.S., Lee, W.-Y., Croudace, J.E., Mura, M., and Lammas, D.A. (2008). ATP-induced autophagy is associated with rapid killing of intracellular mycobacteria within human

monocytes/macrophages. BMC Immunol. 9, 35.

Bjerknes, M., and Cheng, H. (1981a). The stem-cell zone of the small intestinal epithelium. Am. J. Anat. *160*.

Bjerknes, M., and Cheng, H. (1981b). The stem-cell zone of the small intestinal epithelium. I. Evidence from Paneth cells in the adult mouse. Am. J. Anat. *160*, 51–63.

Bjerknes, M., and Cheng, H. (1999). Clonal analysis of mouse intestinal epithelial progenitors. Gastroenterology *116*, 7–14.

Bjerknes, M., and Cheng, H. (2001). Modulation of specific intestinal epithelial progenitors by enteric neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *98*, 12497–12502.

Bjerknes, M., and Cheng, H. (2002). Multipotential stem cells in adult mouse gastric epithelium. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. *283*, G767–G777.

Bjerknes, M., Khandanpour, C., Möröy, T., Fujiyama, T., Hoshino, M., Klisch, T.J., Ding, Q., Gan, L., Wang, J., Martín, M.G., et al. (2012). Origin of the brush cell lineage in the mouse intestinal epithelium. Dev. Biol. *362*, 194–218.

Bjørkøy, G., Lamark, T., Brech, A., Outzen, H., Perander, M., Øvervatn, A., Stenmark, H., and Johansen, T. (2005). p62/SQSTM1 forms protein aggregates degraded by autophagy and has a protective effect on huntingtin-induced cell death. J. Cell Biol. *171*, 603–614.

Bouskra, D., Brézillon, C., Bérard, M., Werts, C., Varona, R., Boneca, I.G., and Eberl, G. (2008). Lymphoid tissue genesis induced by commensals through NOD1 regulates intestinal homeostasis. Nature *456*, 507–510.

Boya, P., Codogno, P., and Rodriguez-Muela, N. (2018). Autophagy in stem cells: repair, remodelling and metabolic reprogramming. Development *145*, dev146506.

Breault, D.T., Min, I.M., Carlone, D.L., Farilla, L.G., Ambruzs, D.M., Henderson, D.E., Algra, S., Montgomery, R.K., Wagers, A.J., and Hole, N. (2008). Generation of mTert-GFP mice as a model to identify and study tissue progenitor cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *105*, 10420–10425.

Brest, P., Lapaquette, P., Souidi, M., Lebrigand, K., Cesaro, A., Vouret-Craviari, V., Mari, B., Barbry, P., Mosnier, J.F., Hébuterne, X., et al. (2011). A synonymous variant in IRGM alters a binding site for miR-196 and causes deregulation of IRGM-dependent xenophagy in Crohn's disease. Nat. Genet. *43*, 242–245.

Buckley, A., and Turner, J.R. (2018). Cell biology of tight junction barrier regulation and mucosal disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. *10*, a029314.

Buczacki, S.J. a, Zecchini, H.I., Nicholson, A.M., Russell, R., Vermeulen, L., Kemp, R., and Winton, D.J. (2013). Intestinal label-retaining cells are secretory precursors expressing Lgr5. Nature *495*, 65–69.

Budanov, A. V., and Karin, M. (2008). p53 Target Genes Sestrin1 and Sestrin2 Connect Genotoxic Stress and mTOR Signaling. Cell *134*, 451–460.

Buffen, K., Oosting, M., Mennens, S., Anand, P.K., Plantinga, T.S., Sturm, P., Van De Veerdonk, F.L., Van Der Meer, J.W.M., Xavier, R.J., Kanneganti, T.D., et al. (2013). Autophagy modulates borrelia burgdorferi-induced production of interleukin-1β (IL-1β). J. Biol. Chem. *288*, 8658–8666.

Burger, E., Araujo, A., López-Yglesias, A., Rajala, M.W., Geng, L., Levine, B., Hooper, L. V., Burstein, E., and Yarovinsky, F. (2018). Loss of Paneth Cell Autophagy Causes Acute Susceptibility to Toxoplasma gondii -Mediated Inflammation. Cell Host Microbe *23*, 177–190.e4.

Byrne, B.G., Dubuisson, J.F., Joshi, A.D., Persson, J.J., and Swanson, M.S. (2013). Inflammasome components coordinate autophagy and pyroptosis as macrophage responses to infection. MBio *4*, e00620-12.

Cabrera, S., Fernandez, A.F., Marino, G., Aguirre, A., Suarez, M.F., Espanol, Y., Vega, J.A., Laura, R., Fueyo, A., Fernandez-Garcia, M.S., et al. (2013). ATG4B/autophagin-1 regulates intestinal homeostasis and protects mice from experimental colitis. Autophagy *9*, 1188–1200.

Cadwell, K., and Debnath, J. (2018). Beyond self-eating: The control of nonautophagic functions and signaling pathways by autophagyrelated proteins. J. Cell Biol. *217*, 812–822.

Cadwell, K., Liu, J.Y., Brown, S.L., Miyoshi, H., Loh, J., Lennerz, J.K., Kishi, C., Kc, W., Carrero, J. a, Hunt, S., et al. (2008). A key role for autophagy and the autophagy gene Atg16l1 in mouse and human intestinal Paneth cells. Nature *456*, 259–263.

Cadwell, K., Patel, K.K., Komatsu, M., Virgin IV, H.W., and Stappenbeck, T.S. (2009). A common role for Atg16L1, Atg5 and Atg7 in small intestinal Paneth cells and Crohn disease. Autophagy *5*, 250–252.

Cadwell, K., Patel, K.K., Maloney, N.S., Liu, T.C., Ng, A.C.Y., Storer, C.E., Head, R.D., Xavier, R., Stappenbeck, T.S., and Virgin, H.W. (2010). Virus-Plus-Susceptibility Gene Interaction Determines Crohn's Disease Gene Atg16L1 Phenotypes in Intestine. Cell *141*, 1135–1145.

Callahan, M.K., Chaillot, D., Jacquin, C., Clark, P.R., and Ménoret, A. (2002). Differential acquisition of antigenic peptides by Hsp70 and Hsc70 under oxidative conditions. J. Biol. Chem. *277*, 33604–33609.

Cammareri, P., Vincent, D.F., Hodder, M.C., Ridgway, R.A., Murgia, C., Nobis, M., Campbell, A.D., Varga, J., Huels, D.J., Subramani, C., et al. (2017). TGFβ pathway limits dedifferentiation following WNT and MAPK pathway activation to suppress intestinal tumourigenesis. Cell Death Differ. *24*, 1681–1693.

Capparelli, C., Guido, C., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Bonuccelli, G., Balliet, R., Pestell, T.G., Goldberg, A.F., Pestell, R.G., Howell, A., Sneddon, S., et al. (2012). Autophagy and senescence in cancerassociated fibroblasts metabolically supports tumor growth and metastasis, via glycolysis and ketone production. Cell Cycle *11*, 2285–2302.

Carnio, S., LoVerso, F., Baraibar, M.A., Longa, E., Khan, M.M., Maffei, M., Reischl, M., Canepari, M., Loefler, S., Kern, H., et al. (2014). Autophagy Impairment in Muscle Induces Neuromuscular Junction Degeneration and Precocious Aging. Cell Rep. *8*, 1509–1521.

Carulli, A.J., Keeley, T.M., Demitrack, E.S., Chung, J., and Samuelson, L.C. (2016). Notch receptor regulation of intestinal stem cell homeostasis and crypt regeneration. Dev. Biol. *402*, 98–108.

Castellarin, M., Warren, R.L., Freeman, J.D., Warren, L., Freeman, J.D., Dreolini, L., Castellarin, M., Krzywinski, M., Strauss, J., Barnes, R., et al. (2011). Fusobacterium nucleatum infection is prevalent in human colorectal carcinoma. Genome Res. *22*, 299–306.

Castillo, E.F., Dekonenko, A., Arko-Mensah, J., Mandell, M.A., Dupont, N., Jiang, S., Delgado-Vargas, M., Timmins, G.S., Bhattacharya, D., Yang, H., et al. (2012). Autophagy protects against active tuberculosis by suppressing bacterial burden and inflammation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *109*, E3168–E3176.

Cernat, L., Blaj, C., Jackstadt, R., Brandl, L., Engel, J., Hermeking, H., Jung, A., Kirchner, T., and Horst, D. (2014). Colorectal cancers mimic structural organization of normal colonic crypts. PLoS One *9*, e104284.

Chang, S.Y., Lee, S.N., Yang, J.Y., Kim, D.W., Yoon, J.H., Ko, H.J., Ogawa, M., Sasakawa, C., and Kweon, M.N. (2013). Autophagy controls an intrinsic host defense to bacteria by promoting epithelial cell survival: A murine model. PLoS One *8*, e81095.

Chanrion, M., Kuperstein, I., Barrière, C., El Marjou, F., Cohen, D., Vignjevic, D., Stimmer, L., Paul-Gilloteaux, P., Bièche, I., Tavares, S.D.R., et al. (2014). Concomitant Notch activation and p53 deletion trigger epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and metastasis in mouse gut. Nat. Commun. *5*, 5005.

Chaterjee, M., and van Golen, K.L. (2011). Breast Cancer Stem Cells Survive Periods of Farnesyl-Transferase Inhibitor-Induced Dormancy by Undergoing Autophagy. Bone Marrow Res. 362938.

Chaudhuri, R.A., and Nussenzweig, A. (2017). The multifaceted roles of PARP1 in DNA repair and chromatin remodelling. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *18*, 610–621.

Chauhan, S., Mandell, M.A., and Deretic, V. (2015). IRGM governs the core autophagy machinery to conduct antimicrobial defense. Mol. Cell *58*, 507–521.

Chen, H., Yoshioka, H., Kim, G.S., Jung, J.E., Okami, N., Sakata, H., Maier, C.M., Narasimhan, P., Goeders, C.E., and Chan, P.H. (2011). Oxidative Stress in Ischemic Brain Damage: Mechanisms of Cell Death and Potential Molecular Targets for Neuroprotection. Antioxid. Redox Signal. *14*, 1505–1517.

Chen, J., Li, Y., Yu, T.S., McKay, R.M., Burns, D.K., Kernie, S.G., and Parada, L.F. (2012). A restricted cell population propagates glioblastoma growth after chemotherapy. Nature *488*, 522–526.

Chen, S., Wang, C., Sun, L., Wang, D.-L., Chen, L., Huang, Z., Yang, Q., Gao, J., Yang, X.-B., Chang, J.-F., et al. (2015). RAD6 promotes homologous recombination repair by activating the autophagymediated degradation of heterochromatin protein HP1. Mol. Cell. Biol. *35*, 406–416.

Chen, X., Wei, B., Han, X., Zheng, Z., Huang, J., Liu, J., Huang, Y., and Wei, H. (2014). LGR5 is required for the maintenance of spheroid-derived colon cancer stem cells. Int. J. Mol. Med. *34*, 35–42.

Chen, Y., Azad, M.B., and Gibson, S.B. (2009). Superoxide is the major reactive oxygen species regulating autophagy. Cell Death Differ. *16*, 1040–1052.

Cheng, H. (1974). Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine. II. Mucous cells. Am. J. Anat. *141*, 481–501.

Cheng, H., and CP., L. (1974). Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine. V. Unitarian Theory of the origin of the four epithelial cell types. Am. J. Anat. *141*, 537–561.

Cheng, H., and Leblond, C.P. (1974). Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine. Am. J. Anat. *141*, 461–561.

Cheung, E.C., Athineos, D., Lee, P., Ridgway, R.A., Lambie, W., Nixon, C., Strathdee, D., Blyth, K., Sansom, O.J., and Vousden, K.H. (2013). TIGAR is required for efficient intestinal regeneration and tumorigenesis. Dev. Cell *25*, 463–477.

Cheung, E.C., Lee, P., Ceteci, F., Nixon, C., Blyth, K., Sansom, O.J., and Vousden, K.H. (2016). Opposing effects of TIGAR- and RAC1- derived ROS on Wnt-driven proliferation in the mouse intestine. Genes Dev. *30*, 52–63.

Choi, J.H., Yoon, J.S., Won, Y.W., Park, B.B., and Lee, Y.Y. (2012). Chloroquine enhances the chemotherapeutic activity of 5-fluorouracil in a colon cancer cell line via cell cycle alteration. Apmis *120*, 597–604.

Chu, F.F., and Steven Esworthy, R. (1995). The expression of an intestinal form of glutathione peroxidase (GSHPx-GI) in rat intestinal epithelium. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. *323*, 288–294.

Cianfanelli, V., Fuoco, C., Lorente, M., Salazar, M., Quondamatteo, F., Gherardini, P.F., De Zio, D., Nazio, F., Antonioli, M., D'Orazio, M., et al. (2015). AMBRA1 links autophagy to cell proliferation and tumorigenesis by promoting c-Myc dephosphorylation and degradation. Nat. Cell Biol. *17*, 20–30.

Clarke, A.R., Cummings, M.C., and Harrison, D.J. (1995). Interaction between murine germline mutations in p53 and APC predisposes to pancreatic neoplasia but not to increased intestinal malignancy. Oncogene *11*, 1913–1920.

Coant, N., Ben Mkaddem, S., Pedruzzi, E., Guichard, C., Tréton, X., Ducroc, R., Freund, J.-N., Cazals-

Hatem, D., Bouhnik, Y., Woerther, P.-L., et al. (2010). NADPH oxidase 1 modulates WNT and NOTCH1 signaling to control the fate of proliferative progenitor cells in the colon. Mol. Cell. Biol. *30*, 2636–2650.

Cohen, B.L., and Sachar, D.B. (2017). Update on anti-tumor necrosis factor agents and other new drugs for inflammatory bowel disease. BMJ *357*, j2505.

Colnot, S., Niwa-Kawakita, M., Hamard, G., Godard, C., Le Plenier, S., Houbron, C., Romagnolo, B., Berrebi, D., Giovannini, M., and Perret, C. (2004). Colorectal cancers in a new mouse model of familial adenomatous polyposis: influence of genetic and environmental modifiers. Lab. Investig. *84*, 1619–1630.

Conway, K.L., Kuballa, P., Song, J.H., Patel, K.K., Castoreno, A.B., Yilmaz, O.H., Jijon, H.B., Zhang, M., Aldrich, L.N., Villablanca, E.J., et al. (2013). Atg16l1 is required for autophagy in intestinal epithelial cells and protection of mice from Salmonella infection. Gastroenterology *145*, 1347–1357.

Cookson, M.R. (2012). Parkinsonism due to mutations in PINK1, Parkin, and DJ-1 and oxidative stress and mitochondrial pathways. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. *2*, a009415.

Cooney, R., Baker, J., Brain, O., Danis, B., Pichulik, T., Allan, P., Ferguson, D.J.P., Campbell, B.J., Jewell, D., and Simmons, A. (2010). NOD2 stimulation induces autophagy in dendritic cells influencing bacterial handling and antigen presentation. Nat. Med. *16*, 90–97.

Cooper, K.F. (2018). Till Death Do Us Part: The Marriage of Autophagy and Apoptosis. Oxidative Med. Cell. Longev. 4701275.

Crawford, H.C., Fingleton, B.M., Rudolph-Owen, L.A., Goss, K.J.H., Rubinfeld, B., Polakis, P., and Matrisian, L.M. (1999). The metalloproteinase matrilysin is a target of β -catenin transactivation in intestinal tumors. Oncogene *18*, 2883–2891.

Crighton, D., Wilkinson, S., O'Prey, J., Syed, N., Smith, P., Harrison, P.R., Gasco, M., Garrone, O., Crook, T., and Ryan, K.M. (2006). DRAM, a p53-Induced Modulator of Autophagy, Is Critical for Apoptosis. Cell *126*, 121–134.

Cuervo, A.M., and Dice, J.F. (2000). Age-related decline in chaperone-mediated autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. *275*, 31505–31513.

Cuervo, A.M., and Wong, E. (2014). Chaperone-mediated autophagy: Roles in disease and aging. Cell Res. *24*, 92–104.

Cufí, S., Vazquez-Martin, A., Oliveras-Ferraros, C., Martin-Castillo, B., Vellon, L., and Menendez, J.A. (2011). Autophagy positively regulates the CD44 + CD24 -/low breast cancer stem-like phenotype. Cell Cycle *10*, 3871–3885.

Cullen, S.P., Kearney, C.J., Clancy, D.M., and Martin, S.J. (2015). Diverse Activators of the NLRP3 Inflammasome Promote IL-1β Secretion by Triggering Necrosis. Cell Rep. *11*, 1535–1548.

D'Errico, I., Salvatore, L., Murzilli, S., Lo Sasso, G., Latorre, D., Martelli, N., Egorova, A. V., Polishuck, R., Madeyski-Bengtson, K., Lelliott, C., et al. (2011). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-a coactivator 1-a (PGC1) is a metabolic regulator of intestinal epithelial cell fate. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *108*, 6603–6608.

Das, S., Yu, S., Sakamori, R., Vedula, P., Feng, Q., Flores, J., Hoffman, A., Fu, J., Stypulkowski, E., Rodriguez, A., et al. (2015). Rab8a vesicles regulate Wnt ligand delivery and Paneth cell maturation at the intestinal stem cell niche. Development *142*, 2147–2162.

Davies, R., Miller, R., and Coleman, N. (2005). Colorectal cancer screening: prospects for molecular stool analysis. Nat. Rev. Cancer *5*, 199–209.

Davis, H., Irshad, S., Bansal, M., Rafferty, H., Boitsova, T., Bardella, C., Jaeger, E., Lewis, A., Freeman-Mills, L., Giner, F.C., et al. (2015). Aberrant epithelial GREM1 expression initiates

colonic tumorigenesis from cells outside the stem cell niche. Nat. Med. 21, 62–70.

Degirmenci, B., Valenta, T., Dimitrieva, S., Hausmann, G., and Basler, K. (2018). GLI1-expressing mesenchymal cells form the essential Wnt-secreting niche for colon stem cells. Nature *558*, 449–453.

Dejea, C.M., Wick, E.C., Hechenbleikner, E.M., White, J.R., Mark Welch, J.L., Rossetti, B.J., Peterson, S.N., Snesrud, E.C., Borisy, G.G., Lazarev, M., et al. (2014). Microbiota organization is a distinct feature of proximal colorectal cancers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *111*, 18321–18326.

Delgado, M.A., Elmaoued, R.A., Davis, A.S., Kyei, G., and Deretic, V. (2008). Toll-like receptors control autophagy. EMBO J. *27*, 1110–1121.

Demidov, O.N., Timofeev, O., Lwin, H.N.Y., Kek, C., Appella, E., and Bulavin, D. V. (2007). Wip1 Phosphatase Regulates p53-Dependent Apoptosis of Stem Cells and Tumorigenesis in the Mouse Intestine. Cell Stem Cell *1*, 180–190.

Demitrack, E.S., and Samuelson, L.C. (2016). Notch regulation of gastrointestinal stem cells. J. Physiol. *53*, 4791–4803.

Ding, W.X., Ni, H.M., Gao, W., Hou, Y.F., Melan, M.A., Chen, X., Stolz, D.B., Shao, Z.M., and Yin, X.M. (2007). Differential effects of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced autophagy on cell survival. J. Biol. Chem. *282*, 4702–4710.

Ding, Y., Kim, S. l., Lee, S.-Y., Koo, J.K., Wang, Z., and Choi, M.E. (2014). Autophagy Regulates TGF-Expression and Suppresses Kidney Fibrosis Induced by Unilateral Ureteral Obstruction. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. *25*, 2835–2846.

Dominguez-Bello, M.G., Costello, E.K., Contreras, M., Magris, M., Hidalgo, G., Fierer, N., and Knight, R. (2010). Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *107*, 11971–11975.

Donati, A., Cavallini, G., Paradiso, C., Vittorini, S., Pollera, M., Gori, Z., and Bergamini, E. (2001). Age-related changes in the regulation of autophagic proteolysis in rat isolated hepatocytes. Journals Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. *56*, B288–B293.

van Dop, W.A., Uhmann, A., Wijgerde, M., Sleddens-Linkels, E., Heijmans, J., Offerhaus, G.J., van den Bergh Weerman, M.A., Boeckxstaens, G.E., Hommes, D.W., Hardwick, J.C., et al. (2009). Depletion of the Colonic Epithelial Precursor Cell Compartment Upon Conditional Activation of the Hedgehog Pathway. Gastroenterology *136*, 2195–2203.e7.

Dou, Z., Xu, C., Donahue, G., Shimi, T., Pan, J.A., Zhu, J., Ivanov, A., Capell, B.C., Drake, A.M., Shah, P.P., et al. (2015). Autophagy mediates degradation of nuclear lamina. Nature *527*, 105–109.

Dow, L.E., O'Rourke, K.P., Simon, J., Tschaharganeh, D.F., Van Es, J.H., Clevers, H., and Lowe, S.W. (2015). Apc Restoration Promotes Cellular Differentiation and Reestablishes Crypt Homeostasis in Colorectal Cancer. Cell *161*, 1539–1552.

Driessens, G., Beck, B., Caauwe, A., Simons, B.D., and Blanpain, C. (2012). Defining the mode of tumour growth by clonal analysis. Nature *488*, 527–530.

Drost, J., van Jaarsveld, R.H., Ponsioen, B., Zimberlin, C., van Boxtel, R., Buijs, A., Sachs, N., Overmeer, R.M., Offerhaus, G.J., Begthel, H., et al. (2015). Sequential cancer mutations in cultured human intestinal stem cells. Nature *521*, 43–47.

Du, K., Herzig, S., Kulkarni, R.N., and Montminy, M. (2003). TRB3: A tribbles Homolog That Inhibits Akt/PKB Activation by Insulin in Liver. Science (80-.). *300*, 1574–1577.

Dupont, N., Lacas-Gervais, S., Bertout, J., Paz, I., Freche, B., Van Nhieu, G.T., van der Goot, F.G., Sansonetti, P.J., and Lafont, F. (2009). Shigella Phagocytic Vacuolar Membrane Remnants Participate in the Cellular Response to Pathogen Invasion and Are Regulated by Autophagy. Cell Host Microbe *6*, 137–149.

Dupont, N., Jiang, S., Pilli, M., Ornatowski, W., Bhattacharya, D., and Deretic, V. (2011). Autophagy-based unconventional secretory pathway for extracellular delivery of IL-1b. EMBO J. *30*, 4701–4711.

Dupont, N., Nascimbeni, A.C., Morel, E., and Codogno, P. (2017). Molecular Mechanisms of Noncanonical Autophagy. In International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology, pp. 1–23.

Durand, A., Donahue, B., Peignon, G., Letourneur, F., Cagnard, N., Slomianny, C., Perret, C., Shroyer, N.F., and Romagnolo, B. (2012). Functional intestinal stem cells after Paneth cell ablation induced by the loss of transcription factor Math1 (Atoh1). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *109*, 8965–8970.

Dutta, D., Xu, J., Kim, J.S., Dunn, W.A., and Leeuwenburgh, C. (2013). Upregulated autophagy protects cardiomyocytes from oxidative stress-induced toxicity. Autophagy *9*, 328–344.

Ebato, C., Uchida, T., Arakawa, M., Komatsu, M., Ueno, T., Komiya, K., Azuma, K., Hirose, T., Tanaka, K., Kominami, E., et al. (2008). Autophagy Is Important in Islet Homeostasis and Compensatory Increase of Beta Cell Mass in Response to High-Fat Diet. Cell Metab. *8*, 325–332.

Egan, D.F., Shackelford, D.B., Mihaylova, M.M., Gelino, S., Kohnz, R.A., Mair, W., Vasquez, D.S., Joshi, A., Gwinn, D.M., Taylor, R., et al. (2011). Phosphorylation of ULK1 (hATG1) by AMP-activated protein kinase connects energy sensing to mitophagy. Science (80-.). *331*, 456–461.

Eisenberg-Lerner, A., and Kimchi, A. (2012). PKD is a kinase of Vps34 that mediates ROS-induced autophagy downstream of DAPk. Cell Death Differ. *19*, 788–797.

Eisenberg, T., Abdellatif, M., Schroeder, S., Primessnig, U., Stekovic, S., Pendl, T., Harger, A., Schipke, J., Zimmermann, A., Schmidt, A., et al. (2016). Cardioprotection and lifespan extension by the natural polyamine spermidine. Nat. Med. *22*, 1428–1438.

Ellinghaus, D., Zhang, H., Zeissig, S., Lipinski, S., Till, A., Jiang, T., Stade, B., Bromberg, Y., Ellinghaus, E., Keller, A., et al. (2013). Association between variants of PRDM1 and NDP52 and crohn's disease, based on exome sequencing and functional studies. Gastroenterology *145*, 339–347.

Eng, C.H., Wang, Z., Tkach, D., Toral-Barza, L., Ugwonali, S., Liu, S., Fitzgerald, S.L., George, E., Frias, E., Cochran, N., et al. (2016). Macroautophagy is dispensable for growth of KRAS mutant tumors and chloroquine efficacy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *113*, 182–187.

van Es, J.H., van Gijn, M.E., Riccio, O., van den Born, M., Vooijs, M., Begthel, H., Cozijnsen, M., Robine, S., Winton, D.J., Radtke, F., et al. (2005a). Notch/ γ -secretase inhibition turns proliferative cells in intestinal crypts and adenomas into goblet cells. Nature *435*, 959–963.

van Es, J.H., Jay, P., Gregorieff, A., van Gijn, M.E., Jonkheer, S., Hatzis, P., Thiele, A., van den Born, M., Begthel, H., Brabletz, T., et al. (2005b). Wnt signalling induces maturation of Paneth cells in intestinal crypts. Nat. Cell Biol. *7*, 381–386.

van Es, J.H., de Geest, N., van de Born, M., Clevers, H., and Hassan, B.A. (2010). Intestinal stem cells lacking the Math1 tumour suppressor are refractory to Notch inhibitors. Nat. Commun. *17*, 18.

van Es, J.H., Sato, T., van de Wetering, M., Lyubimova, A., Yee Nee, A.N., Gregorieff, A., Sasaki, N., Zeinstra, L., van den Born, M., Korving, J., et al. (2012a). Dll1+ secretory progenitor cells revert to stem cells upon crypt damage. Nat. Cell Biol. *14*, 1099–1104.

van Es, J.H., Haegebarth, A., Kujala, P., Itzkovitz, S., Koo, B.-K., Boj, S.F., Korving, J., van den Born, M., van Oudenaarden, A., Robine, S., et al. (2012b). A Critical Role for the Wnt Effector Tcf4 in Adult Intestinal Homeostatic Self-Renewal. Mol. Cell. Biol. *32*, 1918–1927.

Escobar, M., Nicolas, P., Sangar, F., Laurent-Chabalier, S., Clair, P., Joubert, D., Jay, P., and Legraverend, C. (2011). Intestinal epithelial stem cells do not protect their genome by asymmetric chromosome segregation. Nat. Commun. *2*, 258.

Espina, V., Mariani, B.D., Gallagher, R.I., Tran, K., Banks, S., Wiedemann, J., Huryk, H., Mueller, C., Adamo, L., Deng, J., et al. (2010). Malignant Precursor Cells Pre-Exist in Human Breast DCIS and Require Autophagy for Survival. PLoS One *5*, e10240.

Esteban-Martínez, L., Sierra-Filardi, E., Mcgreal, R.S., Salazar-Roa, M., Mariño, G., Seco, E., Durand, S., Enot, D., Graña, O., Malumbres, M., et al. (2017). Programmed mitophagy is essential for the glycolytic switch during cell differentiation. EMBO J. *36*, 1688–1706.

Falk, P.G., Hooper, L. V, Midtvedt, T., and Gordon, J.I. (1998). Creating and Maintaining the Gastrointestinal Ecosystem: What We Know and Need To Know from Gnotobiology. *62*, 1157–1170.

Fan, L.F., Dong, W.G., Jiang, C.Q., Xia, D., Liao, F., and Yu, Q.F. (2010). Expression of putative stem cell genes Musashi-1 and ??1-integrin in human colorectal adenomas and adenocarcinomas. Int. J. Colorectal Dis. *25*, 17–23.

Fang, E.F., Scheibye-Knudsen, M., Brace, L.E., Kassahun, H., Sengupta, T., Nilsen, H., Mitchell, J.R., Croteau, D.L., and Bohr, V.A. (2014). Defective mitophagy in XPA via PARP-1 hyperactivation and NAD +/SIRT1 reduction. Cell *157*, 882–896.

Farin, H.F., Van Es, J.H., and Clevers, H. (2012). Redundant sources of Wnt regulate intestinal stem cells and promote formation of paneth cells. Gastroenterology *143*, 1518–1529.e7.

Farin, H.F., Karthaus, W.R., Kujala, P., Rakhshandehroo, M., Schwank, G., Vries, R.G.J., Kalkhoven, E., Nieuwenhuis, E.E.S., and Clevers, H. (2014). Paneth cell extrusion and release of antimicrobial products is directly controlled by immune cell–derived IFN-γ. J. Exp. Med. *211*, 1393–1405.

Farin, H.F., Jordens, I., Mosa, M.H., Basak, O., Korving, J., Tauriello, D.V.F., Punder, K. De, Angers, S., Peters, P.J., Maurice, M.M., et al. (2016). Visualization of a short-range Wnt gradient in the intestinal stem-cell niche. Nature *530*, 340–343.

Fearon, E.R., and Vogelstein, B. (1990). A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell *61*, 759–767.

Feng, W., Huang, S., Wu, H., and Zhang, M. (2007a). Molecular Basis of Bcl-xL's Target Recognition Versatility Revealed by the Structure of Bcl-xL in Complex with the BH3 Domain of Beclin-1. J. Mol. Biol. *372*, 223–235.

Feng, Y., He, D., Yao, Z., and Klionsky, D.J. (2014). The machinery of macroautophagy. Cell Res. 24, 24–41.

Feng, Z., Hu, W., de Stanchina, E., Teresky, A.K., Jin, S., Lowe, S., and Levine, A.J. (2007b). The Regulation of AMPKb1, TSC2, and PTEN Expression by p53: Stress, Cell and Tissue Specificity, and the Role of These Gene Products in Modulating the IGF-1-AKT-mTOR Pathways. Cancer Res. *67*, 3043–3053.

Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., Rebelo, M., Parkin, D.M., Forman, D., and Bray, F. (2013). GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 11 [Internet]. Lyon, Fr. Int. Agency Res. Cancer.

Fernández, Á.F., Sebti, S., Wei, Y., Zou, Z., Shi, M., McMillan, K.L., He, C., Ting, T., Liu, Y., Chiang, W.-C., et al. (2018). Disruption of the beclin 1–BCL2 autophagy regulatory complex promotes longevity in mice. Nature *558*, 136–140.

Fevr, T., Robine, S., Louvard, D., and Huelsken, J. (2007). Wnt/b-Catenin Is Essential for Intestinal Homeostasis and Maintenance of Intestinal Stem Cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. *27*, 7551–7559.

Fiegl, D., Kagebein, D., Liebler-Tenorio, E.M., Weisser, T., Sens, M., Gutjahr, M., and Knittler, M.R. (2013). Amphisomal Route of MHC Class I Cross-Presentation in Bacteria-Infected Dendritic Cells. J. Immunol. *190*, 2791–2806.

Filimonenko, M., Stuffers, S., Raiborg, C., Yamamoto, A., Malerød, L., Fisher, E.M.C., Isaacs, A.,

Brech, A., Stenmark, H., and Simonsen, A. (2007). Functional multivesicular bodies are required for autophagic clearance of protein aggregates associated with neurodegenerative disease. J. Cell Biol.

van der Flier, L.G., and Clevers, H. (2009). Stem cells, self-renewal, and differentiation in the intestinal epithelium. Annu Rev Physiol *71*, 241–260.

van der Flier, L.G., van Gijn, M.E., Hatzis, P., Kujala, P., Haegebarth, A., Stange, D.E., Begthel, H., van den Born, M., Guryev, V., Oving, I., et al. (2009a). Transcription Factor Achaete Scute-Like 2 Controls Intestinal Stem Cell Fate. Cell *136*, 903–912.

van der Flier, L.G., Haegebarth, A., Stange, D.E., van de Wetering, M., and Clevers, H. (2009b). OLFM4 Is a Robust Marker for Stem Cells in Human Intestine and Marks a Subset of Colorectal Cancer Cells. Gastroenterology *137*, 15–17.

Fodde, R., Fodde, R., Smits, R., Smits, R., Clevers, H., and Clevers, H. (2001). APC, signal transduction and genetic instability in colorectal cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer *1*, 55–67.

Franke, A., McGovern, D.P.B., Barrett, J.C., Wang, K., Radford-Smith, G.L., Ahmad, T., Lees, C.W., Balschun, T., Lee, J., Roberts, R., et al. (2010). Genome-wide meta-analysis increases to 71 the number of confirmed Crohn's disease susceptibility loci. Nat. Genet. *42*, 1118–1125.

Fre, S., Huyghe, M., Mourikis, P., Robine, S., Louvard, D., and Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (2005). Notch signals control the fate of immature progenitor cells in the intestine. Nature *435*, 964–968.

Fre, S., Pallavi, S.K., Huyghe, M., Laé, M., Janssen, K.-P., Robine, S., Artavanis-Tsakonas, S., and Louvard, D. (2009). Notch and Wnt signals cooperatively control cell proliferation and tumorigenesis in the intestine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *106*, 6309–6314.

Fre, S., Hannezo, E., Sale, S., Huyghe, M., Lafkas, D., Kissel, H., Louvi, A., Greve, J., Louvard, D., and Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (2011). Notch lineages and activity in intestinal stem cells determined by a new set of knock-in mice. PLoS One *6*, e25785.

Fu, D., Calvo, J.A., and Samson, L.D. (2012). Balancing repair and tolerance of DNA damage caused by alkylating agents. Nat. Rev. Cancer *12*, 104–120.

Fujii, M., Shimokawa, M., Date, S., Takano, A., Matano, M., Nanki, K., Ohta, Y., Toshimitsu, K., Nakazato, Y., Kawasaki, K., et al. (2016). A Colorectal Tumor Organoid Library Demonstrates Progressive Loss of Niche Factor Requirements during Tumorigenesis. Cell Stem Cell *18*, 827–838.

Fukata, M., Michelsen, K.S., Eri, R., Thomas, L.S., Hu, B., Lukasek, K., Nast, C.C., Lechago, J., Xu, R., Naiki, Y., et al. (2005). Toll-like receptor-4 is required for intestinal response to epithelial injury and limiting bacterial translocation in a murine model of acute colitis. Am. J. Physiol. Liver Physiol. *288*, G1055–G1065.

Fung, C., Lock, R., Gao, S., Salas, E., and Debnath, J. (2007). Induction of Autophagy during Extracellular Matrix Detachment Promotes Cell Survival. Mol. Biol. Cell *19*, 797–806.

Gaboriau-Routhiau, V., Rakotobe, S., Lécuyer, E., Mulder, I., Lan, A., Bridonneau, C., Rochet, V., Pisi, A., De Paepe, M., Brandi, G., et al. (2009). The Key Role of Segmented Filamentous Bacteria in the Coordinated Maturation of Gut Helper T Cell Responses. Immunity *31*, 677–689.

Galon, J., Costes, A., Sanchez-Cabo, F., Kirilovsky, A., Mlecnik, B., Lagorce-Pagès, C., Tosolini, M., Camus, M., Berger, A., Wind, P., et al. (2006). Type, Density, and Location of Immune Cells Within Human Colorectal Tumors Predict Clinical Outcome. Science (80-.). *313*, 1960–1964.

Gammoh, N., Fraser, J., Puente, C., Syred, H.M., Kang, H., Ozawa, T., Lam, D., Acosta, J.C., Finch, A.J., Holland, E., et al. (2016). Suppression of autophagy impedes glioblastoma development and induces senescence. Autophagy *12*, 1431–1439.

Gao, W., Shen, Z., Shang, L., and Wang, X. (2011). Upregulation of human autophagy-initiation

kinase ULK1 by tumor suppressor p53 contributes to DNA-damage-induced cell death. Cell Death Differ. *18*, 1598–1607.

García-Prat, L., Martínez-Vicente, M., Perdiguero, E., Ortet, L., Rodríguez-Ubreva, J., Rebollo, E., Ruiz-Bonilla, V., Gutarra, S., Ballestar, E., Serrano, A.L., et al. (2016). Autophagy maintains stemness by preventing senescence. Nature *529*, 37–42.

Garg, A.D., Dudek, A.M., Ferreira, G.B., Verfaillie, T., Vandenabeele, P., Krysko, D. V., Mathieu, C., and Agostinis, P. (2013). ROS-induced autophagy in cancer cells assists in evasion from determinants of immunogenic cell death. Autophagy *9*, 1292–1307.

Garrett, W.S., Punit, S., Gallini, C.A., Michaud, M., Zhang, D., Sigrist, K.S., Lord, G.M., Glickman, J.N., and Glimcher, L.H. (2009). Colitis-Associated Colorectal Cancer Driven by T-bet Deficiency in Dendritic Cells. Cancer Cell *16*, 208–219.

Gatica, D., Lahiri, V., and Klionsky, D.J. (2018). Cargo recognition and degradation by selective autophagy. Nat. Cell Biol. *20*, 233–242.

Ge, L., Melville, D., Zhang, M., and Schekman, R. (2013). The ER-Golgi intermediate compartment is a key membrane source for the LC3 lipidation step of autophagosome biogenesis. Elife.

Gerbe, F., and Jay, P. (2016). Intestinal tuft cells: Epithelial sentinels linking luminal cues to the immune system. Mucosal Immunol. *9*, 1353–1359.

Gerbe, F., Van Es, J.H., Makrini, L., Brulin, B., Mellitzer, G., Robine, S., Romagnolo, B., Shroyer, N.F., Bourgaux, J.F., Pignodel, C., et al. (2011). Distinct ATOH1 and Neurog3 requirements define tuft cells as a new secretory cell type in the intestinal epithelium. J. Cell Biol. *192*, 767–780.

Gerbe, F., Sidot, E., Smyth, D.J., Ohmoto, M., Matsumoto, I., Dardalhon, V., Cesses, P., Garnier, L., Pouzolles, M., Brulin, B., et al. (2016). Intestinal epithelial tuft cells initiate type 2 mucosal immunity to helminth parasites. Nature *529*, 226–230.

Ginjala, V., Nacerddine, K., Kulkarni, A., Oza, J., Hill, S.J., Yao, M., Citterio, E., van Lohuizen, M., and Ganesan, S. (2011). BMI1 Is Recruited to DNA Breaks and Contributes to DNA Damage-Induced H2A Ubiquitination and Repair. Mol. Cell. Biol. *31*, 1972–1982.

Glas, J., Konrad, A., Schmechel, S., Dambacher, J., Seiderer, J., Schroff, F., Wetzke, M., Roeske, D., Török, H.P., Tonenchi, L., et al. (2008). The ATG16L1 gene variants rs2241879 and rs2241880 (T300A) are strongly associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease in the German population. Am. J. Gastroenterol. *103*, 682–691.

Glentis, A., Oertle, P., Mariani, P., Chikina, A., El Marjou, F., Attieh, Y., Zaccarini, F., Lae, M., Loew, D., Dingli, F., et al. (2017). Cancer-associated fibroblasts induce metalloprotease-independent cancer cell invasion of the basement membrane. Nat. Commun. *8*, 924.

Gong, C., Bauvy, C., Tonelli, G., Yue, W., Deloménie, C., Nicolas, V., Zhu, Y., Domergue, V., Marin-Esteban, V., Tharinger, H., et al. (2013). Beclin 1 and autophagy are required for the tumorigenicity of breast cancer stem-like/progenitor cells. Oncogene *32*, 2261–2272.

Gong, W., Guo, M., Han, Z., Wang, Y., Yang, P., Xu, C., Wang, Q., Du, L., Li, Q., Zhao, H., et al. (2016a). Mesenchymal stem cells stimulate intestinal stem cells to repair radiation-induced intestinal injury. Cell Death Dis. *7*, e2387-8.

Gong, X., Azhdarinia, A., Ghosh, S.C., Xiong, W., An, Z., Liu, Q., and Carmon, K.S. (2016b). LGR5-Targeted Antibody–Drug Conjugate Eradicates Gastrointestinal Tumors and Prevents Recurrence. Mol. Cancer Ther. *15*, 1580–1590.

Gonzalez-Polo, R.A., Niso-Santano, M., Ortiz-Ortiz, M.A., Gomez-Martin, A., Moran, J.M., Garcia-Rubio, L., Francisco-Morcillo, J., Zaragoza, C., Soler, G., and Fuentes, J.M. (2007). Inhibition of Paraquat-Induced Autophagy Accelerates the Apoptotic Cell Death in Neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y Cells. Toxicol. Sci. *97*, 448–458. Gordon, J.I., Schmidt, G.H., and Roth, K.A. (1992). Studies of intestinal stem cells using normal, chimeric, and trangenic mice. FASEB J. *6*, 3039–3050.

Gozuacik, D., Bialik, S., Raveh, T., Mitou, G., Shohat, G., Sabanay, H., Mizushima, N., Yoshimori, T., and Kimchi, A. (2008). DAP-kinase is a mediator of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced caspase activation and autophagic cell death. Cell Death Differ. *15*, 1875–1886.

Graef, M., Friedman, J.R., Graham, C., Babu, M., and Nunnari, J. (2013). ER exit sites are physical and functional core autophagosome biogenesis components. Mol. Biol. Cell.

Greene, A.W., Grenier, K., Aguileta, M.A., Muise, S., Farazifard, R., Haque, M.E., McBride, H.M., Park, D.S., and Fon, E.A. (2012). Mitochondrial processing peptidase regulates PINK1 processing, import and Parkin recruitment. EMBO Rep. *13*, 378–385.

Gregorieff, A., Pinto, D., Begthel, H., Destrée, O., Kielman, M., and Clevers, H. (2005). Expression pattern of Wnt signaling components in the adult intestine. Gastroenterology *129*, 626–638.

Greicius, G., Kabiri, Z., Sigmundsson, K., Liang, C., Bunte, R., Singh, M.K., and Virshup, D.M. (2018). PDGFRα + pericryptal stromal cells are the critical source of Wnts and RSPO3 for murine intestinal stem cells in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *115*, E3173–E3181.

Grimm, W.A., Messer, J.S., Murphy, S.F., Nero, T., Lodolce, J.P., Weber, C.R., Logsdon, M.F., Bartulis, S., Sylvester, B.E., Springer, A., et al. (2016). The Thr300Ala variant in ATG16L1 is associated with improved survival in human colorectal cancer and enhanced production of type I interferon. Gut *65*, 456–464.

Grivennikov, S., Karin, E., Terzic, J., Mucida, D., Yu, G.-Y., Vallabhapurapu, S., Rgen Scheller, J., Rose-John, S., Cheroutre, H., Eckmann, L., et al. (2009). IL-6 and Stat3 Are Required for Survival of Intestinal Epithelial Cells and Development of Colitis-Associated Cancer. Cancer Cell *15*, 103–113.

Grivennikov, S.I., Greten, F.R., and Karin, M. (2010). Immunity, Inflammation, and Cancer. Cell *140*, 883–899.

Guinney, J., Dienstmann, R., Wang, X., De Reyniès, A., Schlicker, A., Soneson, C., Marisa, L., Roepman, P., Nyamundanda, G., Angelino, P., et al. (2015). The consensus molecular subtypes of colorectal cancer. Nat. Med. *21*, 1350–1356.

Guo, G.F., Jiang, W.Q., Zhang, B., Cai, Y.C., Xu, R.H., Chen, X.X., Wang, F., and Xia, L.P. (2011a). Autophagy-related proteins Beclin-1 and LC3 predict cetuximab efficacy in advanced colorectal cancer. World J. Gastroenterol. *17*, 4779–4786.

Guo, J.Y., Chen, H.Y., Mathew, R., Fan, J., Strohecker, A.M., Karsli-Uzunbas, G., Kamphorst, J.J., Chen, G., Lemons, J.M.S., Karantza, V., et al. (2011b). Activated Ras requires autophagy to maintain oxidative metabolism and tumorigenesis. Genes Dev. *25*, 460–470.

Guo, J.Y., Karsli-Uzunbas, G., Mathew, R., Aisner, S.C., Kamphorst, J.J., Strohecker, A.M., Chen, G., Price, S., Lu, W., Teng, X., et al. (2013). Autophagy suppresses progression of K-ras-induced lung tumors to oncocytomas and maintains lipid homeostasis. Genes Dev. *27*, 1447–1461.

Guo, J.Y., Teng, X., Laddha, S. V., Ma, S., Van Nostrand, S.C., Yang, Y., Khor, S., Chan, C.S., Rabinowitz, J.D., and White, E. (2016). Autophagy provides metabolic substrates to maintain energy charge and nucleotide pools in Ras-driven lung cancer cells. Genes Dev. *30*, 1704–1717.

Guo, Z., Kozlov, S., Lavin, M.F., Person, M.D., and Paull, T.T. (2010). ATM Activation by Oxidative Stress. Science (80-.). *330*, 517–521.

Gupta, A., Roy, S., Lazar, A.J.F., Wang, W.-L., McAuliffe, J.C., Reynoso, D., McMahon, J., Taguchi, T., Floris, G., Debiec-Rychter, M., et al. (2010). Autophagy inhibition and antimalarials promote cell death in gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *107*, 14333–14338.

Gutierrez, M.G., Master, S.S., Singh, S.B., Taylor, G.A., Colombo, M.I., and Deretic, V. (2004).

Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and Mycobacterium tuberculosis survival in infected macrophages. Cell *119*, 753–766.

Gutierrez, M.G., Vázquez, C.L., Munafó, D.B., Zoppino, F.C.M., Berón, W., Rabinovitch, M., and Colombo, M.I. (2005). Autophagy induction favours the generation and maturation of the Coxiella-replicative vacuoles. Cell. Microbiol. *7*, 981–993.

Gwinn, D.M., Shackelford, D.B., Egan, D.F., Mihaylova, M.M., Mery, A., Vasquez, D.S., Turk, B.E., and Shaw, R.J. (2008). AMPK Phosphorylation of Raptor Mediates a Metabolic Checkpoint. Mol. Cell *30*, 214–226.

Hamasaki, M., Furuta, N., Matsuda, A., Nezu, A., Yamamoto, A., Fujita, N., Oomori, H., Noda, T., Haraguchi, T., Hiraoka, Y., et al. (2013). Autophagosomes form at ER-mitochondria contact sites. Nature.

Hampe, J., Franke, A., Rosenstiel, P., Till, A., Teuber, M., Huse, K., Albrecht, M., Mayr, G., De La Vega, F.M., Briggs, J., et al. (2007). A genome-wide association scan of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a susceptibility variant for Crohn disease in ATG16L1. Nat. Genet. *39*, 207–211.

Hanash, A.M., Dudakov, J.A., Hua, G., O'Connor, M.H., Young, L.F., Singer, N. V., West, M.L., Jenq, R.R., Holland, A.M., Kappel, L.W., et al. (2012). Interleukin-22 Protects Intestinal Stem Cells from Immune-Mediated Tissue Damage and Regulates Sensitivity to Graft versus Host Disease. Immunity *37*, 339–350.

Hansen, M., Rubinsztein, D.C., and Walker, D.W. (2018). Autophagy as a promoter of longevity: insights from model organisms. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *19*, 579–593.

Hao, H.-X., Xie, Y., Zhang, Y., Charlat, O., Oster, E., Avello, M., Lei, H., Mickanin, C., Liu, D., Ruffner, H., et al. (2012). ZNRF3 promotes Wnt receptor turnover in an R-spondin-sensitive manner. Nature *485*, 195–200.

Hara, T., Nakamura, K., Matsui, M., Yamamoto, A., Nakahara, Y., Suzuki-Migishima, R., Yokoyama, M., Mishima, K., Saito, I., Okano, H., et al. (2006). Suppression of basal autophagy in neural cells causes neurodegenerative disease in mice. Nature *441*, 885–889.

Haramis, A.-P.G., Begthel, H., Born, M. van den, van Es, J., Jonkheer, S., Offerhaus, G.J.A., and Clevers, H. (2004). De Novo Crypt Formation and Juvenile Polyposis on BMP Inhibition in Mouse Intestine. Science *303*, 1684–1686.

Harris, J., Hartman, M., Roche, C., Zeng, S.G., O'Shea, A., Sharp, F.A., Lambe, E.M., Creagh, E.M., Golenbock, D.T., Tschopp, J., et al. (2011). Autophagy controls IL-1β secretion by targeting Pro-IL-1β for degradation. J. Biol. Chem. *286*, 9587–9597.

Hayes, J.D., and McMahon, M. (2009). NRF2 and KEAP1 mutations: permanent activation of an adaptive response in cancer. Trends Biochem. Sci. *34*, 176–188.

Haze, K., Yoshida, H., Yanagi, H., Yura, T., and Mori, K. (1999). Mammalian Transcription Factor ATF6 Is Synthesized as a Transmembrane Protein and Activated by Proteolysis in Response to Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress. Mol. Biol. Cell *10*, 3787–3799.

He, X.C., Zhang, J., Tong, W.-G., Tawfik, O., Ross, J., Scoville, D.H., Tian, Q., Zeng, X., He, X., Wiedemann, L.M., et al. (2004). BMP signaling inhibits intestinal stem cell self-renewal through suppression of Wnt- β -catenin signaling. Nat. Genet. *36*, 1117–1121.

Henckaerts, L., Cleynen, I., Brinar, M., John, J.M., Van Steen, K., Rutgeerts, P., and Vermeire, S. (2011). Genetic variation in the autophagy gene ULK1 and risk of Crohn's disease. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. *17*, 1392–1397.

Hewitt, G., and Korolchuk, V.I. (2017). Repair, Reuse, Recycle: The Expanding Role of Autophagy in Genome Maintenance. Trends Cell Biol. *27*, 340–351.

Hewitt, G., Carroll, B., Sarallah, R., Correia-Melo, C., Ogrodnik, M., Nelson, G., Otten, E.G., Manni, D.,

Antrobus, R., Morgan, B.A., et al. (2016). SQSTM1/p62 mediates crosstalk between autophagy and the UPS in DNA repair. Autophagy *12*, 1917–1930.

Hirsch, D., Barker, N., Mcneil, N., Hu, Y., Camps, J., Mckinnon, K., Clevers, H., Ried, T., and Gaiser, T. (2014). LGR5 positivity defines stem-like cells in colorectal cancer. Carcinogenesis *35*, 849–858.

Ho, T.T., Warr, M.R., Adelman, E.R., Lansinger, O.M., Flach, J., Verovskaya, E. V., Figueroa, M.E., and Passegué, E. (2017). Autophagy maintains the metabolism and function of young and old stem cells. Nature *543*, 205–210.

Hochmuth, C.E., Biteau, B., Bohmann, D., and Jasper, H. (2011). Redox regulation by keap1 and Nrf2 controls intestinal stem cell proliferation in drosophila. Cell Stem Cell *8*, 188–199.

Hollien, J., and Weissman, J.S. (2006). Decay of endoplasmic reticulum-localized mRNAs during the unfolded protein response. Science (80-.). *313*, 104–107.

Howitt, M.R., Lavoie, S., Michaud, M., Blum, A.M., Tran, S. V., Weinstock, J. V., Gallini, C.A., Redding, K., Margolskee, R.F., Osborne, L.C., et al. (2016). Tuft cells, taste-chemosensory cells, orchestrate parasite type 2 immunity in the gut. Science (80-.). *351*, 1329–1333.

Høyer-Hansen, M., Bastholm, L., Szyniarowski, P., Campanella, M., Szabadkai, G., Farkas, T., Bianchi, K., Fehrenbacher, N., Elling, F., Rizzuto, R., et al. (2007). Control of Macroautophagy by Calcium, Calmodulin-Dependent Kinase Kinase- β , and Bcl-2. Mol. Cell *25*, 193–205.

Hsu, H.-C., Liu, Y.-S., Tseng, K.-C., Tan, B.C.-M., Chen, S.-J., and Chen, H.-C. (2014). LGR5 regulates survival through mitochondria-mediated apoptosis and by targeting the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway in colorectal cancer cells. Cell. Signal. *26*, 2333–2342.

Hua, G., Thin, T.H., Feldman, R., Haimovitz-Friedman, A., Clevers, H., Fuks, Z., and Kolesnick, R. (2012). Crypt base columnar stem cells in small intestines of mice are radioresistant. Gastroenterology *143*, 1266–1276.

Hua, G., Wang, C., Pan, Y., Zeng, Z., Lee, S.G., Martin, M.L., Haimovitz-Friedman, A., Fuks, Z., Paty, P.B., and Kolesnick, R. (2017). Distinct levels of radioresistance in Lgr5+ colonic epithelial stem cells versus Lgr5+ small intestinal stem cells. Cancer Res. *77*, 2124–2133.

Huber, S., Gagliani1, N., Zenewicz, L.A., Huber, F.J., Bosurgi, L., Hu, B., Hedl, M., Zhang, W., O'Connor, W.J., Murphy, A.J., et al. (2012). IL-22BP is regulated by the inflammasome and modulates tumorigenesis in the intestine. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. Monit. *13*, 108–109.

Huels, D.J., Bruens, L., Hodder, M.C., Cammareri, P., Campbell, A.D., Ridgway, R.A., Gay, D.M., Solar-Abboud, M., Faller, W.J., Nixon, C., et al. (2018). Wnt ligands influence tumour initiation by controlling the number of intestinal stem cells. Nat. Commun. *9*, 1132.

Hugot, J.P., Chamaillard, M., Zouali, H., Lesage, S., Cézard, J.P., Belaiche, J., Almer, S., Tysk, C., O'morain, C.A., Gassull, M., et al. (2001). Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature *411*, 599–603.

Huo, Y., Cai, H., Teplova, I., Bowman-Colin, C., Chen, G., Price, S., Barnard, N., Ganesan, S., Karantza, V., White, E., et al. (2013). Autophagy opposes p53-mediated tumor barrier to facilitate tumorigenesis in a model of PALB2 -associated hereditary breast cancer. Cancer Discov. *3*, 894–907.

Hussain, S.P., Hofseth, L.J., and Harris, C.C. (2003). Radical causes of cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer *3*, 276–285.

Huurre, A., Kalliomäki, M., Rautava, S., Rinne, M., Salminen, S., and Isolauri, E. (2008). Mode of delivery - Effects on gut microbiota and humoral immunity. Neonatology *93*, 236–240.

Ichimura, Y., Kumanomidou, T., Sou, Y., Mizushima, T., Ezaki, J., Ueno, T., Kominami, E., Yamane, T., Tanaka, K., and Komatsu, M. (2008). Structural Basis for Sorting Mechanism of p62 in Selective Autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. *283*, 22847–22857.

Ichimura, Y., Waguri, S., Sou, Y. shin, Kageyama, S., Hasegawa, J., Ishimura, R., Saito, T., Yang, Y., Kouno, T., Fukutomi, T., et al. (2013). Phosphorylation of p62 Activates the Keap1-Nrf2 Pathway during Selective Autophagy. Mol. Cell *51*, 618–631.

Igarashi, M., and Guarente, L. (2016). mTORC1 and SIRT1 Cooperate to Foster Expansion of Gut Adult Stem Cells during Calorie Restriction. Cell *166*, 436–450.

Inami, Y., Waguri, S., Sakamoto, A., Kouno, T., Nakada, K., Hino, O., Watanabe, S., Ando, J., Iwadate, M., Yamamoto, M., et al. (2011). Persistent activation of Nrf2 through p62 in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. J. Cell Biol. *193*, 275–284.

Inoki, K., Zhu, T., and Guan, K.-L. (2003). TSC2 Mediates Cellular Energy Response to Control Cell Growth and Survival. Cell *115*, 577–590.

Intemann, C.D., Thye, T., Niemann, S., Browne, E.N.L., Amanua Chinbuah, M., Enimil, A., Gyapong, J., Osei, I., Owusu-Dabo, E., Helm, S., et al. (2009). Autophagy Gene Variant IRGM –261T Contributes to Protection from Tuberculosis Caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis but Not by M. africanum Strains. PLoS Pathog. *5*, e1000577.

Ireland, J.M., and Unanue, E.R. (2011). Autophagy in antigen-presenting cells results in presentation of citrullinated peptides to CD4 T cells. J. Exp. Med. *208*, 2625–2632.

Ireland, H., Kemp, R., Houghton, C., Howard, L., Clarke, A.R., Sansom, O.J., and Winton, D.J. (2004). Inducible Cre-Mediated Control of Gene Expression in the Murine Gastrointestinal Tract: Effect of Loss of β -Catenin. Gastroenterology *126*, 1236–1246.

Ireland, H., Houghton, C., Howard, L., and Winton, D.J. (2005). Cellular inheritance of a Creactivated reporter gene to determine Paneth cell longevity in the murine small intestine. Dev. Dyn. *233*, 1332–1336.

Ismail, H., Andrin, C., McDonald, D., and Hendzel, M.J. (2010). BMI1-mediated histone ubiquitylation promotes DNA double-strand break repair. J. Cell Biol. *191*, 45–60.

Itakura, E., Kishi-Itakura, C., and Mizushima, N. (2012a). The hairpin-type tail-anchored SNARE syntaxin 17 targets to autophagosomes for fusion with endosomes/lysosomes. Cell.

Itakura, E., Kishi-Itakura, C., Koyama-Honda, I., and Mizushima, N. (2012b). Structures containing Atg9A and the ULK1 complex independently target depolarized mitochondria at initial stages of Parkin-mediated mitophagy. J. Cell Sci. *125*, 1488–1499.

Ito, K., Turcotte, R., Cui, J., Zimmerman, S.E., Pinho, S., Mizoguchi, T., Arai, F., Runnels, J.M., Alt, C., Teruya-, J., et al. (2016). Supplementary Materials for Self - renewal of a purified Tie2 + hematopoietic stem cell population relies on mitochondrial clearance. Science (80-.). *354*, 1156–1160.

Jaber, N., Dou, Z., Chen, J.-S., Catanzaro, J., Jiang, Y.-P., Ballou, L.M., Selinger, E., Ouyang, X., Lin, R.Z., Zhang, J., et al. (2012). Class III PI3K Vps34 plays an essential role in autophagy and in heart and liver function. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *109*, 2003–2008.

Jadhav, U., Saxena, M., O'Neill, N.K., Saadatpour, A., Yuan, G.C., Herbert, Z., Murata, K., and Shivdasani, R.A. (2016). Dynamic Reorganization of Chromatin Accessibility Signatures during Dedifferentiation of Secretory Precursors into Lgr5+ Intestinal Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell *21*, 65–77.e5.

Jahreiss, L., Menzies, F.M., and Rubinsztein, D.C. (2008). The itinerary of autophagosomes: From peripheral formation to kiss-and-run fusion with lysosomes. Traffic *9*, 574–587.

Jain, A., Lamark, T., Sjøttem, E., Bowitz Larsen, K., Atesoh Awuh, J., Øvervatn, A., McMahon, M., Hayes, J.D., and Johansen, T. (2010). p62/SQSTM1 Is a Target Gene for Transcription Factor NRF2 and Creates a Positive Feedback Loop by Inducing Antioxidant Response Element-driven Gene Transcription. J. Biol. Chem. *285*, 22576–22591. Jang, B.G., Kim, H.S., Kim, K.J., Rhee, Y.-Y., Kim, W.H., and Kang, G.H. (2016). Distribution of intestinal stem cell markers in colorectal precancerous lesions. Histopathology *68*, 567–577.

Jarvi, O., and Keyrilainen, O. (1956). On the cellular structures of the epi- thelial invasions in the glandular stomach of mice caused by intramural application of 20-methylcholantren. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand Suppl *39*, 72–73.

Jenny, M. (2002). Neurogenin3 is differentially required for endocrine cell fate specification in the intestinal and gastric epithelium. EMBO J. *21*, 6338–6347.

Jeynes, B.J., and Altmann, G.G. (1975). A region of mitochondrial division in the epithelium of the small intestine of the rat. Anat. Rec. *182*, 289–296.

Jiang, Y., Li, W., He, X., Zhang, H., Jiang, F., and Chen, Z. (2016). Lgr5 expression is a valuable prognostic factor for colorectal cancer: evidence from a meta-analysis. BMC Cancer *16*, 12.

Jin, S.M., Lazarou, M., Wang, C., Kane, L.A., Narendra, D.P., and Youle, R.J. (2010). Mitochondrial membrane potential regulates PINK1 import and proteolytic destabilization by PARL. J. Cell Biol. *191*, 933–942.

Jingyin, Y., Qin, W., Huimei, L., Brenneman, M., Feiyue, F., and Zhiyuan, S. (2009). The cytoskeleton protein filamin-A is required for an efficient recombinational DNA double strand break repair. Cancer Res. *69*, 7978–7985.

Johansson, M.E. V., Phillipson, M., Petersson, J., Velcich, A., Holm, L., and Hansson, G.C. (2008). The inner of the two Muc2 mucin-dependent mucus layers in colon is devoid of bacteria. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *105*, 15064–15069.

Johansson, M.E. V., Larsson, J.M.H., and Hansson, G.C. (2011). The two mucus layers of colon are organized by the MUC2 mucin, whereas the outer layer is a legislator of host-microbial interactions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *108*, 4659–4665.

Jones, R.M., Luo, L., Ardita, C.S., Richardson, A.N., Kwon, Y.M., Mercante, J.W., Alam, A., Gates, C.L., Wu, H., Swanson, P.A., et al. (2013). Symbiotic lactobacilli stimulate gut epithelial proliferation via Nox-mediated generation of reactive oxygen species. EMBO J. *32*, 3017–3028.

Jones, R.M., Desai, C., Darby, T.M., Luo, L., Wolfarth, A.A., Scharer, C.D., Ardita, C.S., Reedy, A.R., Keebaugh, E.S., and Neish, A.S. (2015). Lactobacilli Modulate Epithelial Cytoprotection through the Nrf2 Pathway. Cell Rep. *12*, 1217–1225.

Jubb, A.M., Chalasani, S., Frantz, G.D., Smits, R., Grabsch, H.I., Kavi, V., Maughan, N.J., Hillan, K.J., Quirke, P., and Koeppen, H. (2006). Achaete-scute like 2 (ascl2) is a target of Wnt signalling and is upregulated in intestinal neoplasia. Oncogene *25*, 3445–3457.

Jung, H.S., Chung, K.W., Won Kim, J., Kim, J., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Nguyen, Y.H., Kang, T.M., Yoon, K.H., Kim, J.W., et al. (2008). Loss of Autophagy Diminishes Pancreatic β Cell Mass and Function with Resultant Hyperglycemia. Cell Metab. *8*, 318–324.

Kabat, A.M., Harrison, O.J., Riffelmacher, T., Moghaddam, A.E., Pearson, C.F., Laing, A., Abeler-Dörner, L., Forman, S.P., Grencis, R.K., Sattentau, Q., et al. (2016). The autophagy gene Atg1611 differentially regulates Treg and TH2 cells to control intestinal inflammation. Elife *5*, 1–27.

Kabiri, Z., Greicius, G., Madan, B., Biechele, S., Zhong, Z., Zaribafzadeh, H., Aliyev, J., Wu, Y., Bunte, R., Williams, B.O., et al. (2014). Stroma provides an intestinal stem cell niche in the absence of epithelial Wnts. Development *141*, 2206–2215.

Kaiko, G.E., Ryu, S.H., Koues, O.I., Collins, P.L., Solnica-Krezel, L., Pearce, E.J., Pearce, E.L., Oltz, E.M., and Stappenbeck, T.S. (2016). The Colonic Crypt Protects Stem Cells from Microbiota-Derived Metabolites. Cell *167*, 1137.

Kalyanaraman, B., Darley-Usmar, V., Davies, K., Dennery, P., Forman, H., Grisham, M., Mann, G., Moore, K., Roberts, L. 2nd, and Ischiropoulos, H. (2012). Measuring reactive oxygen and nitrogen
species withfl uorescent probes: challenges and limitations. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 52, 1–6.

Kamada, N., Kim, Y.-G., Sham, H.P., Vallance, B.A., Puente, J.L., Martens, E.C., and Núñe, G. (2012). Regulated Virulence Controls the Ability of a Pathogen to Compete with the Gut Microbiota. Science (80-.). *336*, 1325–1329.

Kamber, R.A., Shoemaker, C.J., and Denic, V. (2015). Receptor-Bound Targets of Selective Autophagy Use a Scaffold Protein to Activate the Atg1 Kinase. Mol. Cell *59*, 372–381.

Kaminskyy, V.O., Piskunova, T., Zborovskaya, I.B., Tchevkina, E.M., and Zhivotovsky, B. (2012). Suppression of basal autophagy reduces lung cancer cell proliferation and enhances caspasedependent and -independent apoptosis by stimulating ROS formation. Autophagy *8*, 1032–1044.

Kanaya, T., Sakakibara, S., Jinnohara, T., Hachisuka, M., Tachibana, N., Hidano, S., Kobayashi, T., Kimura, S., Iwanaga, T., Nakagawa, T., et al. (2018). Development of intestinal M cells and follicle-associated epithelium is regulated by TRAF6-mediated NF- κ B signaling. J. Exp. Med. *215*, 501–519.

Kandoth, C., McLellan, M.D., Vandin, F., Ye, K., Niu, B., Lu, C., Xie, M., Zhang, Q., McMichael, J.F., Wyczalkowski, M.A., et al. (2013). Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types. Nature *502*, 333–339.

Kane, L.A., Lazarou, M., Fogel, A.I., Li, Y., Yamano, K., Sarraf, S.A., Banerjee, S., and Youle, R.J. (2014). PINK1 phosphorylates ubiquitin to activate Parkin E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. J. Cell Biol. *205*, 143–153.

Kaniuk, N.A., Kiraly, M., Bates, H., Vranic, M., Volchuk, A., and Brumell, J.H. (2007). Ubiquitinatedprotein aggregates form in pancreatic β -cells during diabetes-induced oxidative stress and are regulated by autophagy. Diabetes *56*, 930–939.

Karantza-Wadsworth, V., Patel, S., Kravchuk, O., Chen, G., Mathew, R., Jin, S., and White, E. (2007). Autophagy mitigates metabolic stress and genome damage in mammary tumorigenesis. Genes Dev. *21*, 1621–1635.

Karsli-Uzunbas, G., Guo, J.Y., Price, S., Teng, X., Laddha, S. V., Khor, S., Kalaany, N.Y., Jacks, T., Chan, C.S., Rabinowitz, J.D., et al. (2014). Autophagy Is Required for Glucose Homeostasis and Lung Tumor Maintenance. Cancer Discov. *4*, 914–927.

Karvela, M., Baquero, P., Kuntz, E.M., Mukhopadhyay, A., Mitchell, R., Allan, E.K., Chan, E., Kranc, K.R., Calabretta, B., Salomoni, P., et al. (2016). ATG7 regulates energy metabolism, differentiation and survival of Philadelphia-chromosome-positive cells. Autophagy *12*, 936–948.

Kaushik, S., and Cuervo, A.M. (2018). The coming of age of chaperone-mediated autophagy. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *19*, 365–381.

Kaushik, S., Arias, E., Kwon, H., Lopez, N.M., Athonvarangkul, D., Sahu, S., Schwartz, G.J., Pessin, J.E., and Singh, R. (2012). Loss of autophagy in hypothalamic POMC neurons impairs lipolysis. EMBO Rep. *13*, 258–265.

Kawamoto, S., Tran, T.H., Maruya, M., Suzuki, K., Doi, Y., Tsutsui, Y., Kato, L.M., and Fagarasan, S. (2012). The Inhibitory Receptor PD-1 Regulates IgA Selection and Bacterial Composition in the Gut. Science (80-.). *336*, 485–489.

Kazanjian, A., Noah, T., Brown, D., Burkart, J., and Shroyer, N.F. (2010). Atonal Homolog 1 Is Required for Growth and Differentiation Effects of Notch/ γ -Secretase Inhibitors on Normal and Cancerous Intestinal Epithelial Cells. Gastroenterology *139*, 918–928.e6.

Kelly, D., Campbell, J.I., King, T.P., Grant, G., Jansson, E.A., Coutts, A.G.P., Pettersson, S., and Conway, S. (2004). Commensal anaerobic gut bacteria attenuate inflammation by regulating nuclear-cytoplasmic shutting of PPAR-γ and ReIA. Nat. Immunol. *5*, 104–112.

Kenific, C.M., Wittmann, T., and Debnath, J. (2016). Autophagy in adhesion and migration. J. Cell

Sci. 129, 3685-3693.

Kenzelmann Broz, D., Mello, S.S., Bieging, K.T., Jiang, D., Dusek, R.L., Brady, C.A., Sidow, A., and Attardi, L.D. (2013). Global genomic profiling reveals an extensive p53-regulated autophagy program contributing to key p53 responses. Genes Dev. *27*, 1016–1031.

Keysselt, K., Kreutzmann, T., Rother, K., Kerner, C., Krohn, K., Przybilla, J., Buske, P., Löffler-Wirth, H., Loeffler, M., Galle, J., et al. (2017). Different in vivo and in vitro transformation of intestinal stem cells in mismatch repair deficiency. Oncogene *36*, 2750–2761.

Kickstein, E., Krauss, S., Thornhill, P., Rutschow, D., Zeller, R., Sharkey, J., Williamson, R., Fuchs, M., Kohler, A., Glossmann, H., et al. (2010). Biguanide metformin acts on tau phosphorylation via mTOR/protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *107*, 21830–21835.

Kiffin, R., Christian, C., Knecht, E., and Cuervo, A.M. (2004). Activation of Chaperone-mediated Autophagy during Oxidative Stress. Mol. Biol. Cell *15*, 4829–4840.

Kim, T.H., and Shivdasani, R.A. (2011). Genetic evidence that intestinal Notch functions vary regionally and operate through a common mechanism of math1 repression. J. Biol. Chem. *286*, 11427–11433.

Kim, J., Kundu, M., Viollet, B., and Guan, K.L. (2011). AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1. Nat. Cell Biol.

Kim, K.-A., Kakitani, M., Zhao, J., Oshima, T., Tang, T., Binnerts, M., Liu, Y., Boyle, B., Park, E., Emtage, P., et al. (2005). Mitogenic Influence of Human R-Spondin1 on the Intestinal Epithelium. Science (80-.). *309*, 1256–1259.

Kim, S., Ramakrishnan, R., Lavilla-Alonso, S., Chinnaiyan, P., Rao, N., Fowler, E., Heine, J., and Gabrilovich, D.I. (2014). Radiation-induced autophagy potentiates immunotherapy of cancer via up-regulation of mannose 6-phosphate receptor on tumor cells in mice. Cancer Immunol. Immunother. *63*, 1009–1021.

Kim, T.-H., Escudero, S., and Shivdasani, R.A. (2012). Intact function of Lgr5 receptor-expressing intestinal stem cells in the absence of Paneth cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *109*, 3932–3937.

Kimura, S., Noda, T., and Yoshimori, T. (2008). Dynein-dependent Movement of Autophagosomes Mediates Efficient Encounters with Lysosomes. CELL Struct. Funct. *33*, 109–122.

Kirchberger, S., Royston, D.J., Boulard, O., Thornton, E., Franchini, F., Szabady, R.L., Harrison, O., and Powrie, F. (2013). Innate lymphoid cells sustain colon cancer through production of interleukin-22 in a mouse model. J. Exp. Med. *210*, 917–931.

Knoop, K.A., Kumar, N., Butler, B.R., Sakthivel, S.K., Taylor, R.T., Nochi, T., Akiba, H., Yagita, H., Kiyono, H., and Williams, I.R. (2009). RANKL Is Necessary and Sufficient to Initiate Development of Antigen-Sampling M Cells in the Intestinal Epithelium. J. Immunol. *183*, 5738–5747.

Kohli, L., and Passegué, E. (2014). Surviving change: The metabolic journey of hematopoietic stem cells. Trends Cell Biol. *24*, 479–487.

Kokrashvili, Z., Rodriguez, D., Yevshayeva, V., Zhou, H., Margolskee, R.F., and Mosinger, B. (2009). Release of Endogenous Opioids From Duodenal Enteroendocrine Cells Requires Trpm5. Gastroenterology *137*, 598–606.e2.

Komano, H., Fujiura, Y., Kawaguchi, M., Matsumoto, S., Hashimoto, Y., Obana, S., Mombaerts, P., Tonegawa, S., Yamamoto, H., and Itohara, S. (1995). Homeostatic regulation of intestinal epithelia by intraepithelial gamma delta T cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *92*, 6147–6151.

Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Ueno, T., Iwata, J., Murata, S., Tanida, I., Ezaki, J., Mizushima, N., Ohsumi, Y., Uchiyama, Y., et al. (2005). Impairment of starvation-induced and constitutive autophagy in Atg7 -deficient mice. J. Cell Biol. *169*, 425–434.

Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Chiba, T., Murata, S., Iwata, J.I., Tanida, I., Ueno, T., Koike, M., Uchiyama,

Y., Kominami, E., et al. (2006). Loss of autophagy in the central nervous system causes neurodegeneration in mice. Nature *441*, 880–884.

Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Koike, M., Sou, Y. shin, Ueno, T., Hara, T., Mizushima, N., Iwata, J. ichi, Ezaki, J., Murata, S., et al. (2007). Homeostatic Levels of p62 Control Cytoplasmic Inclusion Body Formation in Autophagy-Deficient Mice. Cell *131*, 1149–1163.

Komatsu, M., Kurokawa, H., Waguri, S., Taguchi, K., Kobayashi, A., Ichimura, Y., Sou, Y.-S., Ueno, I., Sakamoto, A., Tong, K.I., et al. (2010). The selective autophagy substrate p62 activates the stress responsive transcription factor Nrf2 through inactivation of Keap1. Nat. Cell Biol. *12*, 213–223.

Koo, B.K., Spit, M., Jordens, I., Low, T.Y., Stange, D.E., van de Wetering, M., van Es, J.H., Mohammed, S., Heck, A.J., Maurice, M.M., et al. (2012). Tumour suppressor RNF43 is a stem-cell E3 ligase that induces endocytosis of Wnt receptors. Nature *488*, 665–669.

Koppel, N., Maini Rekdal, V., and Balskus, E.P. (2017). Chemical transformation of xenobiotics by the human gut microbiota. Science (80-.). *356*, eaag2770.

Korinek, V., Barker, N., Moerer, P., Van Donselaar, E., Huls, G., Peters, P.J., and Clevers, H. (1998). Depletion of epithelial stem-cell compartments in the small intestine of mice lacking Tcf-4. Nature *19*, 379–383.

Kosinski, C., Li, V.S.W., Chan, A.S.Y., Zhang, J., Ho, C., Tsui, W.Y., Chan, T.L., Mifflin, R.C., Powell, D.W., Yuen, S.T., et al. (2007). Gene expression patterns of human colon tops and basal crypts and BMP antagonists as intestinal stem cell niche factors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *104*, 15418–15423.

Kostic, A.D., Gevers, D., Pedamallu, C.S., Kostic, A.D., Gevers, D., Pedamallu, C.S., Michaud, M., Duke, F., Earl, A.M., Ojesina, A.I., et al. (2012). Genomic analysis identifies association of Fusobacterium with colorectal carcinoma Genomic analysis identifies association of Fusobacterium with colorectal carcinoma. Genome Res. *22*, 292–298.

Kostic, A.D., Chun, E., Robertson, L., Glickman, J.N., Gallini, C.A., Michaud, M., Clancy, T.E., Chung, D.C., Lochhead, P., Hold, G.L., et al. (2013). Fusobacterium nucleatum Potentiates Intestinal Tumorigenesis and Modulates the Tumor-Immune Microenvironment. Cell Host Microbe *14*, 207–215.

Koyano, F., Okatsu, K., Kosako, H., Tamura, Y., Go, E., Kimura, M., Kimura, Y., Tsuchiya, H., Yoshihara, H., Hirokawa, T., et al. (2014). Ubiquitin is phosphorylated by PINK1 to activate parkin. Nature *510*, 162–166.

Kraehenbuhl, J.-P., and Neutra, M.R. (2000). Epithelial M Cells: Differentiation and Function. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. *16*, 301–332.

Kreibich, S., Emmenlauer, M., Fredlund, J., Rämö, P., Münz, C., Dehio, C., Enninga, J., and Hardt, W.D. (2015). Autophagy proteins promote repair of endosomal membranes damaged by the Salmonella type three secretion system 1. Cell Host Microbe *18*, 527–537.

Kriegenburg, F., Poulsen, E.G., Koch, A., Krüger, E., and Hartmann-Petersen, R. (2011). Redox Control of the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System: From Molecular Mechanisms to Functional Significance. Antioxid. Redox Signal. *15*, 2265–2299.

Kucherlapati, M.H., Lee, K., Nguyen, A.A., Clark, A.B., Hou, H., Rosulek, A., Li, H., Yang, K., Fan, K., Lipkin, M., et al. (2010). An Msh2 Conditional Knockout Mouse for Studying Intestinal Cancer and Testing Anticancer Agents. Gastroenterology *138*, 993–1002.e1.

Kuhnert, F., Davis, C.R., Wang, H.-T., Chu, P., Lee, M., Yuan, J., Nusse, R., and Kuo, C.J. (2004). Essential requirement for Wnt signaling in proliferation of adult small intestine and colon revealed by adenoviral expression of Dickkopf-1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *101*, 266–271.

Kuma, A., Hatano, M., Matsui, M., Yamamoto, A., Nakaya, H., Yoshimori, T., Ohsumi, Y., Tokuhisa, T., and Mizushima, N. (2004). The role of autophagy during the early neonatal starvation period.

Nature 432, 1032–1036.

Kuma, A., Komatsu, M., and Mizushima, N. (2017). Autophagy-monitoring and autophagy-deficient mice. Autophagy *13*, 1619–1628.

Kumar, N., Srivillibhuthur, M., Joshi, S., Walton, K.D., Zhou, A., Faller, W.J., Perekatt, A.O., Sansom, O.J., Gumucio, D.L., Xing, J., et al. (2016). A YY1-dependent increase in aerobic metabolism is indispensable for intestinal organogenesis. Development *143*, 3711–3722.

Kumar, S., Chauhan, S., Jain, A., Ponpuak, M., Choi, S.W., Mudd, M., Peters, R., Mandell, M.A., Johansen, T., and Deretic, V. (2017). Galectins and TRIMs directly interact and orchestrate autophagic response to endomembrane damage. Autophagy *13*, 1086–1087.

Kwon, O., Kim, K.A., He, L., Kim, S.O., Kim, M.S., Cha, E.Y., Yoon, B.D., Sok, D.E., Jung, M., Ahn, J.S., et al. (2008). Ionizing radiation can induce GSK- 3β phosphorylation and NF- κ B transcriptional transactivation in ATM-deficient fibroblasts. Cell. Signal. *20*, 602–612.

Laddha, S. V., Ganesan, S., Chan, C.S., and White, E. (2014). Mutational Landscape of the Essential Autophagy Gene BECN1 in Human Cancers. Mol. Cancer Res. *12*, 485–490.

Lala, S., Ogura, Y., Osborne, C., Hor, S.Y., Bromfield, A., Davies, S., Ogunbiyi, O., Nuñez, G., and Keshav, S. (2003). Crohn's disease and the NOD2 gene: a role for paneth cells. Gastroenterology *125*, 47–57.

Lassen, K.G., Kuballa, P., Conway, K.L., Patel, K.K., Becker, C.E., Peloquin, J.M., Villablanca, E.J., Norman, J.M., Liu, T.-C., Heath, R.J., et al. (2014). Atg16L1 T300A variant decreases selective autophagy resulting in altered cytokine signaling and decreased antibacterial defense. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *111*, 7741–7746.

Lau, A., Wang, X.-J., Zhao, F., Villeneuve, N.F., Wu, T., Jiang, T., Sun, Z., White, E., and Zhang, D.D. (2010). A Noncanonical Mechanism of Nrf2 Activation by Autophagy Deficiency: Direct Interaction between Keap1 and p62. Mol. Cell. Biol. *30*, 3275–3285.

de Lau, W., Barker, N., Low, T.Y., Koo, B.-K., Li, V.S.W., Teunissen, H., Kujala, P., Haegebarth, A., Peters, P.J., van de Wetering, M., et al. (2011). Lgr5 homologues associate with Wnt receptors and mediate R-spondin signalling. Nature *476*, 293–297.

Lazarou, M., Jin, S.M., Kane, L.A., and Youle, R.J. (2012). Role of PINK1 Binding to the TOM Complex and Alternate Intracellular Membranes in Recruitment and Activation of the E3 Ligase Parkin. Dev. Cell *22*, 320–333.

Lazarou, M., Sliter, D.A., Kane, L.A., Sarraf, S.A., Wang, C., Burman, J.L., Sideris, D.P., Fogel, A.I., and Youle, R.J. (2015). The ubiquitin kinase PINK1 recruits autophagy receptors to induce mitophagy. Nature *524*, 309–314.

Le, D.T., Uram, J.N., Wang, H., Bartlett, B.R., Kemberling, H., Eyring, A.D., Skora, A.D., Luber, B.S., Azad, N.S., Laheru, D., et al. (2015). PD-1 Blockade in Tumors with Mismatch-Repair Deficiency. N. Engl. J. Med. *372*, 2509–2520.

Lee, A.-H., Iwakoshi, N.N., and Glimcher, L.H. (2003). XBP-1 Regulates a Subset of Endoplasmic Reticulum Resident Chaperone Genes in the Unfolded Protein Response. Mol. Cell. Biol.

Lee, I., Kawa, i Y., Fergusson, M., Rovira, I., Bishop, A., Motoyama, N., Cao, L., and Finkel, T. (2012a). Atg7 Modulates p53 Activity to Regulate Cell Cycle and Survival During Metabolic Stress. Science (80-.). *336*, 225–228.

Lee, J., Kim, H.R., Quinley, C., Kim, J., Gonzalez-Navajas, J., Xavier, R., and Raz, E. (2012b). Autophagy Suppresses Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) Signaling by Activation of p62 Degradation via Lysosomal and Proteasomal Pathways. J. Biol. Chem. *287*, 4033–4040.

Lee, J.A., Beigneux, A., Ahmad, S.T., Young, S.G., and Gao, F.B. (2007). ESCRT-III Dysfunction Causes Autophagosome Accumulation and Neurodegeneration. Curr. Biol.

Lee, S.H., Hu, L.-L., Gonzalez-Navajas, J., Seo, G.S., Shen, C., Brick, J., Herdman, S., Varki, N., Corr, M., Lee, J., et al. (2010). ERK activation drives intestinal tumorigenesis in Apcmin/+ mice. Nat. Med. *16*, 665–670.

Lei, Y., Wen, H., Yu, Y., Taxman, D.J., Zhang, L., Widman, D.G., Swanson, K. V., Wen, K.W., Damania, B., Moore, C.B., et al. (2012). The Mitochondrial Proteins NLRX1 and TUFM Form a Complex that Regulates Type I Interferon and Autophagy. Immunity *36*, 933–946.

Leoni, G., Alam, A., Neumann, P., Lambeth, J.D., Cheng, G., Mccoy, J., Hilgarth, R.S., Kundu, K., Murthy, N., Kusters, D., et al. (2013). Annexin A1, formyl peptide receptor, and NOX1 orchestrate epithelial repair. J. Clin. Invest. *123*, 443–454.

Levine, A.J., and Oren, M. (2009). The first 30 years of p53: growing ever more complex. Nat. Rev. Cancer 9, 749–758.

Levy, J.M.M., Towers, C.G., and Thorburn, A. (2017). Targeting autophagy in cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer *17*, 528–542.

Lévy, J., Cacheux, W., Bara, M.A., L'Hermitte, A., Lepage, P., Fraudeau, M., Trentesaux, C., Lemarchand, J., Durand, A., Crain, A.-M., et al. (2015). Intestinal inhibition of Atg7 prevents tumour initiation through a microbiome-influenced immune response and suppresses tumour growth. Nat. Cell Biol. *17*, 1062–1073.

Li, G., Mongillo, M., Chin, K.-T., Harding, H., Ron, D., Marks, A.R., and Tabas, I. (2009a). Role of ERO1- α -mediated stimulation of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor activity in endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. *186*, 783–792.

Li, H., Limenitakis, J.P., Fuhrer, T., Geuking, M.B., Lawson, M.A., Wyss, M., Brugiroux, S., Keller, I., Macpherson, J.A., Rupp, S., et al. (2015a). The outer mucus layer hosts a distinct intestinal microbial niche. Nat. Commun. *6*, 8292.

Li, J., Hou, N., Faried, A., Tsutsumi, S., Takeuchi, T., and Kuwano, H. (2009b). Inhibition of autophagy by 3-MA enhances the effect of 5-FU-induced apoptosis in colon cancer cells. Ann. Surg. Oncol. *16*, 761–771.

Li, J., Hou, N., Faried, A., Tsutsumi, S., and Kuwano, H. (2010). Inhibition of autophagy augments 5-fluorouracil chemotherapy in human colon cancer in vitro and in vivo model. Eur. J. Cancer *46*, 1900–1909.

Li, L., Chen, Y., and Gibson, S.B. (2013). Starvation-induced autophagy is regulated by mitochondrial reactive oxygen species leading to AMPK activation. Cell. Signal. *25*, 50–65.

Li, N., Yousefi, M., Nakauka-Ddamba, A., Li, F., Vandivier, L., Parada, K., Woo, D.H., Wang, S., Naqvi, A.S., Rao, S., et al. (2015b). The Msi Family of RNA-Binding Proteins Function Redundantly as Intestinal Oncoproteins. Cell Rep. *13*, 2440–2455.

Li, Y., Wang, L.X., Yang, G., Hao, F., Urba, W.J., and Hu, H.M. (2008). Efficient cross-presentation depends on autophagy in tumor cells. Cancer Res. *68*, 6889–6895.

Liang, C.C., Wang, C., Peng, X., Gan, B., and Guan, J.L. (2010). Neural-specific deletion of FIP200 leads to cerebellar degeneration caused by increased neuronal death and axon degeneration. J. Biol. Chem. *285*, 3499–3509.

Liang, X.H., Jackson, S., Seaman, M., Brown, K., Kempkes, B., Hibshoosh, H., and Levine, B. (1999). Induction of autophagy and inhibition of tumorigenesis by beclin 1. Nature *402*, 672–676.

Lin, J.E., Li, P., Snook, A.E., Schulz, S., Dasgupta, A., Hyslop, T.M., Gibbons, A.V., Marszlowicz, G., Pitari, G.M., and Waldman, S.A. (2010). The Hormone Receptor GUCY2C Suppresses Intestinal Tumor Formation by Inhibiting AKT Signaling. Gastroenterology *138*, 241–254.

Lin, W., Yuan, N., Wang, Z., Cao, Y., Fang, Y., Li, X., Xu, F., Song, L., Wang, J., Zhang, H., et al. (2015). Autophagy confers DNA damage repair pathways to protect the hematopoietic system from

nuclear radiation injury. Sci. Rep. 5, 12362.

Lindemans, C.A., Calafiore, M., Mertelsmann, A.M., O'Connor, M.H., Dudakov, J.A., Jenq, R.R., Velardi, E., Young, L.F., Smith, O.M., Lawrence, G., et al. (2015). Interleukin-22 promotes intestinal-stem-cell-mediated epithelial regeneration. Nature *528*, 560–564.

Liu, B., Gulati, A.S., Cantillana, V., Henry, S.C., Schmidt, E.A., Daniell, X., Grossniklaus, E., Schoenborn, A.A., Sartor, R.B., and Taylor, G.A. (2013a). Irgm1-deficient mice exhibit Paneth cell abnormalities and increased susceptibility to acute intestinal inflammation. AJP Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. *305*, G573–G584.

Liu, E.Y., Xu, N., O'Prey, J., Lao, L.Y., Joshi, S., Long, J.S., O'Prey, M., Croft, D.R., Beaumatin, F., Baudot, A.D., et al. (2015). Loss of autophagy causes a synthetic lethal deficiency in DNA repair. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *112*, 773–778.

Liu, H., He, Z., Von Rütte, T., Yousefi, S., Hunger, R.E., and Simon, H.U. (2013b). Down-regulation of autophagy-related protein 5 (ATG5) contributes to the pathogenesis of early-stage cutaneous melanoma. Sci. Transl. Med. *5*.

Liu, K., Lee, J., Kim, J.Y., Wang, L., Tian, Y., Chan, S.T., Cho, C., Machida, K., Chen, D., and Ou, J.H.J. (2017). Mitophagy Controls the Activities of Tumor Suppressor p53 to Regulate Hepatic Cancer Stem Cells. Mol. Cell *68*, 281–292.e5.

Liu, L., Cash, T.P., Jones, R.G., Keith, B., Thompson, C.B., and Simon, M.C. (2006). Hypoxia-Induced Energy Stress Regulates mRNA Translation and Cell Growth. Mol. Cell *21*, 521–531.

Llosa, N.J., Cruise, M., Tam, A., Wicks, E.C., Hechenbleikner, E.M., Taube, J.M., Blosser, R.L., Fan, H., Wang, H., Luber, B.S., et al. (2015). The vigorous immune microenvironment of microsatellite instable colon cancer is balanced by multiple counter-inhibitory checkpoints. Cancer Discov. *5*, 43–51.

Lock, R., Roy, S., Kenific, C.M., Su, J.S., Salas, E., Ronen, S.M., and Debnath, J. (2011). Autophagy facilitates glycolysis during Ras-mediated oncogenic transformation. Mol. Biol. Cell *22*, 165–178.

Loeffler, M., Birke, a, Winton, D., and Potten, C. (1993). Somatic mutation, monoclonality and stochastic models of stem cell organization in the intestinal crypt. J. Theor. Biol. *160*, 471–491.

Loeffler, M., Krüger, J.A., Niethammer, A.G., and Reisfeld, R.A. (2006). Targeting tumor-associated fibroblasts improves cancer chemotherapy by increasing intratumoral drug uptake. J. Clin. Invest.

Logan, C.Y., and Nusse, R. (2004). The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. *20*, 781–810.

Long, X., Lin, Y., Ortiz-Vega, S., Yonezawa, K., and Avruch, J. (2005a). Rheb Binds and Regulates the mTOR Kinase. Curr. Biol. *15*, 702–713.

Long, X., Ortiz-Vega, S., Lin, Y., and Avruch, J. (2005b). Rheb Binding to Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Is Regulated by Amino Acid Sufficiency. J. Biol. Chem. *280*, 23433–23436.

Lopez-Garcia, C., Klein, A.M., Simons, B.D., and Winton, D.J. (2010). Intestinal Stem Cell Replacement Follows a Pattern of Neutral Drift. Science (80-.). *330*, 822–825.

López-Otín, C., Blasco, M.A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., and Kroemer, G. (2013). The Hallmarks of Aging. Cell *153*, 1194–1217.

Lorin, S., Hamaï, A., Mehrpour, M., and Codogno, P. (2013). Autophagy regulation and its role in cancer. Semin. Cancer Biol. *23*, 361–379.

Lozy, F., Cai-McRae, X., Teplova, I., Price, S., Reddy, A., Bhanot, G., Ganesan, S., Vazquez, A., and Karantza, V. (2014). ERBB2 overexpression suppresses stress-induced autophagy and renders ERBB2-induced mammary tumorigenesis independent of monoallelic Becn1 loss. Autophagy *10*, 662–676.

Luo, S., Garcia-Arencibia, M., Zhao, R., Puri, C., Toh, P.P.C., Sadiq, O., and Rubinsztein, D.C. (2012). Bim Inhibits Autophagy by Recruiting Beclin 1 to Microtubules. Mol. Cell *47*, 359–370.

Lv, X., Jiang, H., Li, B., Liang, Q., Wang, S., Zhao, Q., and Jiao, J. (2015). The Crucial Role of Atg5 in Cortical Neurogenesis During Early Brain Development. Sci. Rep. *4*, 6010.

Ma, T.C., Buescher, J.L., Oatis, B., Funk, J.A., Nash, A.J., Carrier, R.L., and Hoyt, K.R. (2007). Metformin therapy in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. Neurosci. Lett. *411*, 98–103.

Machida-Montani, A., Sasazuki, S., Inoue, M., Natsukawa, S., Shaura, K., Koizumi, Y., Kasuga, Y., Hanaoka, T., and Tsugane, S. (2007). Atrophic gastritis, Helicobacter pylori, and colorectal cancer risk: A case-control study. Helicobacter *12*, 328–332.

Macpherson, A.J. (2004). Induction of Protective IgA by Intestinal Dendritic Cells Carrying Commensal Bacteria. Science (80-.). *303*, 1662–1665.

Macpherson, A.J., Gatto, D., Sainsbury, E., Harriman, G.R., Hengartner, H., and Zinkernagel, R.M. (2000). A Primitive T Cell-Independent Mechanism of Intestinal Mucosal IgA Responses to Commensal Bacteria. Science (80-.). *288*, 2222–2226.

Madara, J.L. (1982). Cup Cells: Structure and Distribution of a Unique Class of Epithelial Cells in Guinea Pig, Rabbit, and Monkey Small Intestine. Gastroenterology *83*, 981–994.

Madison, B.B., Braunstein, K., Kuizon, E., Portman, K., Qiao, X.T., and Gumucio, D.L. (2005). Epithelial hedgehog signals pattern the intestinal crypt-villus axis. Development *132*, 279–289.

Maes, H., Kuchnio, A., Peric, A., Moens, S., Nys, K., DeBock, K., Quaegebeur, A., Schoors, S., Georgiadou, M., Wouters, J., et al. (2014). Tumor vessel normalization by chloroquine independent of autophagy. Cancer Cell *26*, 190–206.

Mahapatro, M., Foersch, S., Hefele, M., He, G.W., Giner-Ventura, E., Mchedlidze, T., Kindermann, M., Vetrano, S., Danese, S., Günther, C., et al. (2016). Programming of Intestinal Epithelial Differentiation by IL-33 Derived from Pericryptal Fibroblasts in Response to Systemic Infection. Cell Rep. *15*, 1743–1756.

Maiuri, M.C., Le Toumelin, G., Criollo, A., Rain, J.-C., Gautier, F., Juin, P., Tasdemir, E., Pierron, G., Troulinaki, K., Tavernarakis, N., et al. (2007). Functional and physical interaction between Bcl-XL and a BH3-like domain in Beclin-1. EMBO J. *26*, 2527–2539.

Maj, J.G., Paris, F., and Haimovitz-friedman, A. (2003). Microvascular Function Regulates Intestinal Crypt Response to Radiation Microvascular Function Regulates Intestinal Crypt Response to Radiation. Cancer Res. 4338–4341.

Mallow, E.B., Harris, A., Salzman, N., Russell, J.P., DeBerardinis, R.J., Ruchelli, E., and Bevins, C.L. (1996). Human Enteric Defensins. J. Biol. Chem. *271*, 4038–4045.

Mammucari, C., Milan, G., Romanello, V., Masiero, E., Rudolf, R., Del Piccolo, P., Burden, S.J., Di Lisi, R., Sandri, C., Zhao, J., et al. (2007). FoxO3 Controls Autophagy in Skeletal Muscle In Vivo. Cell Metab. *6*, 458–471.

Mandal, P.K., Blanpain, C., and Rossi, D.J. (2011). DNA damage response in adult stem cells: pathways and consequences. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *12*, 198–202.

Marcel, N., and Sarin, A. (2016). Notch1 regulated autophagy controls survival and suppressor activity of activated murine T-regulatory cells. Elife *5*, e14023.

Marchiando, A.M., Ramanan, D., Ding, Y., Gomez, L.E., Hubbard-Lucey, V.M., Maurer, K., Wang, C., Ziel, J.W., Van Rooijen, N., Nuñez, G., et al. (2013). A deficiency in the autophagy gene Atg16L1 enhances resistance to enteric bacterial infection. Cell Host Microbe *14*, 216–224.

Maria Fimia, G., Stoykova, A., Romagnoli, A., Giunta, L., Di Bartolomeo, S., Nardacci, R., Corazzari, M., Fuoco, C., Ucar, A., Schwartz, P., et al. (2007). Ambra1 regulates autophagy and development

of the nervous system. Nature 447, 1121–1125.

Mariño, G., Niso-Santano, M., Baehrecke, E.H., and Kroemer, G. (2014). Self-consumption: The interplay of autophagy and apoptosis. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *15*, 81–94.

Martin, S., Dudek-Peric, A.M., Garg, A.D., Roose, H., Demirsoy, S., Van Eygen, S., Mertens, F., Vangheluwe, P., Vankelecom, H., and Agostinis, P. (2017). An autophagy-driven pathway of ATP secretion supports the aggressive phenotype of BRAFV600E inhibitor-resistant metastatic melanoma cells. Autophagy *13*, 1512–1527.

Martins, I., Wang, Y., Michaud, M., Ma, Y., Sukkurwala, A.Q., Shen, S., Kepp, O., Métivier, D., Galluzzi, L., Perfettini, J.L., et al. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of ATP secretion during immunogenic cell death. Cell Death Differ. *21*, 79–91.

Masini, M., Bugliani, M., Lupi, R., Del Guerra, S., Boggi, U., Filipponi, F., Marselli, L., Masiello, P., and Marchetti, P. (2009). Autophagy in human type 2 diabetes pancreatic beta cells. Diabetologia *52*, 1083–1086.

Mathew, R., Kongara, S., Beaudoin, B., Karp, C.M., Bray, K., Degenhardt, K., Chen, G., Jin, S., and White, E. (2007). Autophagy suppresses tumor progression by limiting chromosomal instability. Genes Dev. *21*, 1367–1381.

Mathew, R., Khor, S., Hackett, S.R., Rabinowitz, J.D., Perlman, D.H., and White, E. (2014). Functional Role of Autophagy-Mediated Proteome Remodeling in Cell Survival Signaling and Innate Immunity. Mol. Cell *55*, 916–930.

Matsuzawa-Ishimoto, Y., Shono, Y., Gomez, L.E., Hubbard-Lucey, V.M., Cammer, M., Neil, J., Dewan, M.Z., Lieberman, S.R., Lazrak, A., Marinis, J.M., et al. (2017). Autophagy protein ATG16L1 prevents necroptosis in the intestinal epithelium. J. Exp. Med. *214*, 3687–3705.

Matsuzawat, T. (1965). Survival Time in Germfree Mice after Lethal Whole Body X-Irradiation. Tohoku J. Exp. Med *85*, 257–263.

Maunoury, R., Robine, S., Pringault, E., Huet, C., Guénet, J.L., Gaillard, J. a, and Louvard, D. (1988). Villin expression in the visceral endoderm and in the gut anlage during early mouse embryogenesis. EMBO J. *7*, 3321–3329.

May, R., Riehl, T.E., Hunt, C., Sureban, S.M., Anant, S., and Houchen, C.W. (2008). Identification of a Novel Putative Gastrointestinal Stem Cell and Adenoma Stem Cell Marker, Doublecortin and CaM Kinase-Like-1, Following Radiation Injury and in Adenomatous Polyposis Coli/Multiple Intestinal Neoplasia Mice. Stem Cells *26*, 630–637.

May, R., Sureban, S.M., Hoang, N., Riehl, T.E., Lightfoot, S.A., Ramanujam, R., Wyche, J.H., Anant, S., and Houchen, C.W. (2009). Doublecortin and CaM kinase-like-1 and leucine-rich-repeatcontaining G-protein-coupled receptor mark quiescent and cycling intestinal stem cells, respectively. Stem Cells *27*, 2571–2579.

Maycotte, P., Jones, K.L., Goodall, M.L., Thorburn, J., and Thorburn, A. (2015). Autophagy Supports Breast Cancer Stem Cell Maintenance by Regulating IL6 Secretion. Mol. Cancer Res. *13*, 651–658.

Mazure, N.M., and Pouysségur, J. (2009). Atypical BH3-domains of BNIP3 and BNIP3L lead to autophagy in hypoxia. Autophagy *5*, 868–869.

McCarroll, S.A., Huett, A., Kuballa, P., Chilewski, S.D., Landry, A., Goyette, P., Zody, M.C., Hall, J.L., Brant, S.R., Cho, J.H., et al. (2008). Deletion polymorphism upstream of IRGM associated with altered IRGM expression and Crohn's disease. Nat. Genet. *40*, 1107–1112.

McDole, J.R., Wheeler, L.W., McDonald, K.G., Wang, B., Konjufca, V., Knoop, K.A., Newberry, R.D., and Miller, M.J. (2012). Goblet cells deliver luminal antigen to CD103+ dendritic cells in the small intestine. Nature *483*, 345–349.

McLaughlin, M., Dacquisto, M., Jacobus, D., and Horowitz, R. (1964). Effects of the germ-free state on responses of mice to whole-body irradiation. Radiat. Res. *23*, 333–349.

Meissner, C., Lorenz, H., Weihofen, A., Selkoe, D.J., and Lemberg, M.K. (2011). The mitochondrial intramembrane protease PARL cleaves human Pink1 to regulate Pink1 trafficking. J. Neurochem. *117*, 856–867.

Menard, S. (2004). Lactic acid bacteria secrete metabolites retaining anti-inflammatory properties after intestinal transport. Gut *53*, 821–828.

Merlos-Suárez, A., Barriga, F.M., Jung, P., Iglesias, M., Céspedes, M.V., Rossell, D., Sevillano, M., Hernando-Momblona, X., Da Silva-Diz, V., Muñoz, P., et al. (2011). The intestinal stem cell signature identifies colorectal cancer stem cells and predicts disease relapse. Cell Stem Cell *8*, 511–524.

Merritt, A.J., Potten, C.S., Kemp, C.J., Hickman, J.A., Balmain, A., Lane, D.P., and Hall, P.A. (1994). The Role of p53 in Spontaneous and Radiation-induced Apoptosis in the Gastrointestinal Tract of Normal and p53-deficient Mice1. Cancer Res. *54*, 614–617.

Merritt, A.J., Allen, T.D., Potten, C.S., and Hickman, J.A. (1997). Apoptosis in small intestinal epithelia from p53-null mice: evidence for a delayed, p53-indepdendent G2/M-associated cell death after γ-irradiation. Oncogene *14*, 2759–2766.

Merritt AJ, Potten CS, Watson AJ, Loh DY, Nakayama K, Nakayama K, and Hickman JA. (1995). Differential expression of bcl-2 in intestinal epithelia. Correlation with attenuation of apoptosis in colonic crypts and the incidence of colonic neoplasia. J. Cell Sci. *108*, 2261–2271.

Metcalfe, C., Kljavin, N.M., Ybarra, R., and De Sauvage, F.J. (2014). Lgr5+ stem cells are indispensable for radiation-induced intestinal regeneration. Cell Stem Cell *14*, 149–159.

Mgrditchian, T., Arakelian, T., Paggetti, J., Noman, M.Z., Viry, E., Moussay, E., Van Moer, K., Kreis, S., Guerin, C., Buart, S., et al. (2017). Targeting autophagy inhibits melanoma growth by enhancing NK cells infiltration in a CCL5-dependent manner. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *114*, E9271–E9279.

Mihaylova, M.M., Cheng, C.-W., Cao, A.Q., Tripathi, S., Mana, M.D., Bauer-Rowe, K.E., Abu-Remaileh, M., Clavain, L., Erdemir, A., Lewis, C.A., et al. (2018). Fasting Activates Fatty Acid Oxidation to Enhance Intestinal Stem Cell Function during Homeostasis and Aging. Cell Stem Cell *22*, 769–778.

Milano, J., McKay, J., Dagenais, C., Foster-Brown, L., Pognan, F., Gadient, R., Jacobs, R.T., Zacco, A., Greenberg, B., and Ciaccio, P.J. (2004). Modulation of Notch processing by gamma-secretase inhibitors causes intestinal goblet cell metaplasia and induction of genes known to specify gut secretory lineage differentiation. Toxicol. Sci. *82*, 341–358.

Miller, B.C., Zhao, Z., Stephenson, L.M., Cadwell, K., Pua, H.H., Lee, H.K., Mizushima, N., Iwasaki, A., He, Y.W., Swat, W., et al. (2008). The autophagy gene ATG5 plays an essential role in B lymphocyte development. Autophagy *4*, 309–314.

Mimouna, S., Bazin, M., Mograbi, B., Darfeuille-Michaud, A., Brest, P., Hofman, P., and Vouret-Craviari, V. (2014). HIF1A regulates xenophagic degradation of adherent and invasive Escherichia coli (AIEC). Autophagy *10*, 2333–2345.

Miyoshi, Y., Ando, H., Nagase, H., Nishisho, I., Horii, a, Miki, Y., Mori, T., Utsunomiya, J., Baba, S., and Petersen, G. (1992). Germ-line mutations of the APC gene in 53 familial adenomatous polyposis patients. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *89*, 4452–4456.

Mizushima, N. (2018). A brief history of autophagy from cell biology to physiology and disease. Nat. Cell Biol. *20*, 521–527.

Mizushima, N., and Komatsu, M. (2011). Autophagy: renovation of cells and tissues. Cell 147, 728–741.

Von Moltke, J., Ji, M., Liang, H.E., and Locksley, R.M. (2016). Tuft-cell-derived IL-25 regulates an intestinal ILC2-epithelial response circuit. Nature *529*, 221–225.

Montgomery, R.K., Carlone, D.L., Richmond, C.A., Farilla, L., Kranendonk, M.E.G., Henderson, D.E., Baffour-Awuah, N.Y., Ambruzs, D.M., Fogli, L.K., Algra, S., et al. (2011). Mouse telomerase reverse transcriptase (mTert) expression marks slowly cycling intestinal stem cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *108*, 179–184.

Moreau, K., Lacas-Gervais, S., Fujita, N., Sebbane, F., Yoshimori, T., Simonet, M., and Lafont, F. (2010). Autophagosomes can support Yersinia pseudotuberculosis replication in macrophages. Cell. Microbiol. *12*, 1108–1123.

Morgan, R., Mortensson, E., and Williams, A. (2018). Targeting LGR5 in Colorectal Cancer: therapeutic gold or too plastic? Br. J. Cancer *118*, 1410–1418.

Morin, P.J., Sparks, A.B., Korinek, V., Barker, N., Clevers, H., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K.W. (1997). Activation of b-Catenin–Tcf Signaling in Colon Cancer by Mutations in b-Catenin or APC. Science (80-.). *275*, 1787–1790.

Morselli, E., Shen, S., Ruckenstuhl, C., Bauer, M.A., Mariño, G., Galluzzi, L., Criollo, A., Michaud, M., Maiuri, M.C., Chano, T., et al. (2011). p53 inhibits autophagy by interacting with the human ortholog of yeast Atg17, RB1CC1/FIP200. Cell Cycle *10*, 2763–2769.

Mortensen, M., Soilleux, E.J., Djordjevic, G., Tripp, R., Lutteropp, M., Sadighi-Akha, E., Stranks, A.J., Glanville, J., Knight, S., Jacobsen, S.-E.W., et al. (2011). The autophagy protein Atg7 is essential for hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. J. Exp. Med. *208*, 455–467.

Müller, M.F., Ibrahim, A.E.K., and Arends, M.J. (2016). Molecular pathological classification of colorectal cancer. Virchows Arch. *469*, 125–134.

Muncan, V., Sansom, O.J., Tertoolen, L., Phesse, T.J., Begthel, H., Sancho, E., Cole, A.M., Gregorieff, A., de Alboran, I.M., Clevers, H., et al. (2006). Rapid Loss of Intestinal Crypts upon Conditional Deletion of the Wnt/Tcf-4 Target Gene c-Myc. Mol. Cell. Biol. *26*, 8418–8426.

Muñoz, J., Stange, D.E., Schepers, A.G., van de Wetering, M., Koo, B.-K., Itzkovitz, S., Volckmann, R., Kung, K.S., Koster, J., Radulescu, S., et al. (2012). The Lgr5 intestinal stem cell signature: robust expression of proposed quiescent "+4" cell markers. EMBO J. *31*, 3079–3091.

Murthy, A., Li, Y., Peng, I., Reichelt, M., Katakam, A.K., Noubade, R., Roose-Girma, M., Devoss, J., Diehl, L., Graham, R.R., et al. (2014). A Crohn's disease variant in Atg16l1 enhances its degradation by caspase 3. Nature *506*, 456–462.

Myant, K.B., Cammareri, P., McGhee, E.J., Ridgway, R.A., Huels, D.J., Cordero, J.B., Schwitalla, S., Kalna, G., Ogg, E.L., Athineos, D., et al. (2013). ROS production and NF-kB activation triggered by RAC1 facilitate WNT-driven intestinal stem cell proliferation and colorectal cancer initiation. Cell Stem Cell *12*, 761–773.

Nagy, P., Sándor, G.O., and Juhász, G. (2018). Autophagy maintains stem cells and intestinal homeostasis in Drosophila. Sci. Rep. *8*, 4644.

Naito, T., Mulet, C., De Castro, C., Molinaro, A., Saffarian, A., Nigro, G., Bérard, M., Clerc, M., Pedersen, A.B., Sansonetti, P.J., et al. (2017). Lipopolysaccharide from Crypt-Specific Core Microbiota Modulates the Colonic Epithelial Proliferation-to-Differentiation Balance. MBio *8*, e01680-17.

Nakagawa, I., Amano, A., Mizushima, N., Yamamoto, A., Yamaguchi, H., Kamimoto, T., Nara, A., Funao, J., Nakata, M., Tsuda, K., et al. (2004). Autophagy defends cells against invading group A Streptococcus. Science (80-.). *306*, 1037–1040.

Nakahira, K., Haspel, J.A., Rathinam, V.A.K., Lee, S.-J., Dolinay, T., Lam, H.C., Englert, J.A., Rabinovitch, M., Cernadas, M., Kim, H.P., et al. (2011). Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3

inflammasome. Nat. Immunol. 12, 222–230.

Narendra, D., Kane, L.A., Hauser, D.N., Fearnley, I.M., and Youle, R.J. (2010). p62/SQSTM1 is required for Parkin-induced mitochondrial clustering but not mitophagy; VDAC1 is dispensable for both. Autophagy *6*, 1090–1106.

Nascimbeni, A.C., Giordano, F., Dupont, N., Grasso, D., Vaccaro, M.I., Codogno, P., and Morel, E. (2017). ER–plasma membrane contact sites contribute to autophagosome biogenesis by regulation of local PI3P synthesis. EMBO J.

Neal, M.D., Sodhi, C.P., Jia, H., Dyer, M., Egan, C.E., Yazji, I., Good, M., Afrazi, A., Marino, R., Slagle, D., et al. (2012). Toll-like receptor 4 is expressed on intestinal stem cells and regulates their proliferation and apoptosis via the p53 up-regulated modulator of apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. *287*, 37296–37308.

Nedjic, J., Aichinger, M., Emmerich, J., Mizushima, N., and Klein, L. (2008). Autophagy in thymic epithelium shapes the T-cell repertoire and is essential for tolerance. Nature *455*, 396–400.

Neish, A.S., Gewirtz, A.T., Zeng, H., Young, A.N., Hobert, M.E., Karmali, V., Rao, A.S., and Madara, J.L. (2000). Prokaryotic regulation of epithelial responses by inhibition of I κ B- α ubiquitination. Science (80-.). 289, 1560–1563.

New, J., Arnold, L., Ananth, M., Alvi, S., Thornton, M., Werner, L., Tawfik, O., Dai, H., Shnayder, Y., Kakarala, K., et al. (2017). Secretory autophagy in cancer-associated fibroblasts promotes head and neck cancer progression and offers a novel therapeutic target. Cancer Res. *77*, 6679–6691.

Nighot, P.K., Hu, C.A.A., and Ma, T.Y. (2015). Autophagy enhances intestinal epithelial tight junction barrier function by targeting claudin-2 protein degradation. J. Biol. Chem. *290*, 7234–7246.

Nigro, G., Rossi, R., Commere, P.H., Jay, P., and Sansonetti, P.J. (2014). The cytosolic bacterial peptidoglycan sensor Nod2 affords stem cell protection and links microbes to gut epithelial regeneration. Cell Host Microbe *15*, 792–798.

Nishimura, T., Tamura, N., Kono, N., Shimanaka, Y., Arai, H., Yamamoto, H., and Mizushima, N. (2017). Autophagosome formation is initiated at phosphatidylinositol synthase -enriched ER subdomains. EMBO J.

Nixon, R.A., Wegiel, J., Kumar, A., Yu, W.H., Peterhoff, C., Cataldo, A., and Cuervo, A.M. (2005). Extensive involvement of autophagy in Alzheimer disease: An immuno-electron microscopy study. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. *64*, 113–122.

Noda, N.N., Kumeta, H., Nakatogawa, H., Satoo, K., Adachi, W., Ishii, J., Fujioka, Y., Ohsumi, Y., and Inagaki, F. (2008). Structural basis of target recognition by Atg8/LC3 during selective autophagy. Genes to Cells *13*, 1211–1218.

Novak, I., Kirkin, V., McEwan, D.G., Zhang, J., Wild, P., Rozenknop, A., Rogov, V., Löhr, F., Popovic, D., Occhipinti, A., et al. (2010). Nix is a selective autophagy receptor for mitochondrial clearance. EMBO Rep. *11*, 45–51.

O'Sullivan, T.E., Johnson, L.R., Kang, H.H., and Sun, J.C. (2015). BNIP3- and BNIP3L-Mediated Mitophagy Promotes the Generation of Natural Killer Cell Memory. Immunity *43*, 331–342.

O'Sullivan, T.E., Geary, C.D., Weizman, O. El, Geiger, T.L., Rapp, M., Dorn, G.W., Overholtzer, M., and Sun, J.C. (2016). Atg5 Is Essential for the Development and Survival of Innate Lymphocytes. Cell Rep. *15*, 1910–1919.

Oberstein, A., Jeffrey, P.D., and Shi, Y. (2007). Crystal structure of the Bcl-XL-beclin 1 peptide complex: Beclin 1 is a novel BH3-only protein. J. Biol. Chem. *282*, 13123–13132.

Ogata, M., Hino, S. -i., Saito, A., Morikawa, K., Kondo, S., Kanemoto, S., Murakami, T., Taniguchi, M., Tanii, I., Yoshinaga, K., et al. (2006). Autophagy Is Activated for Cell Survival after Endoplasmic

Reticulum Stress. Mol. Cell. Biol. 26, 9220–9231.

Ogawa, M., Yoshimori, T., Suzuki, T., Sagara, H., Mizushima, N., and Sasakawa, C. (2005). Escape of Intracellular Shigella from Autophagy. Science (80-.). *307*, 727–731.

Ogura, Y., Bonen, D.K., Inohara, N., Nicolae, D.L., Chen, F.F., Ramos, R., Britton, H., Moran, T., Karaliuskas, R., Duerr, R.H., et al. (2001). A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature *411*, 603–606.

Ohoka, N., Yoshii, S., Hattori, T., Onozaki, K., and Hayashi, H. (2005). TRB3, a novel ER stressinducible gene, is induced via ATF4–CHOP pathway and is involved in cell death. EMBO J. *24*, 1243–1255.

Ojha, R., Jha, V., Singh, S.K., and Bhattacharyya, S. (2014). Autophagy inhibition suppresses the tumorigenic potential of cancer stem cell enriched side population in bladder cancer. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Basis Dis. *1842*, 2073–2086.

Ojha, R., Bhattacharyya, S., and Singh, S.K. (2015). Autophagy in Cancer Stem Cells: A Potential Link Between Chemoresistance, Recurrence, and Metastasis. Biores. Open Access *4*, 97–108.

Olszak, T., An, D., Zeissig, S., Vera, M.P., Richter, J., Franke, A., Glickman, J.N., Siebert, R., Baron, R.M., Kasper, D.L., et al. (2012). Microbial exposure during early life has persistent effects on natural killer T cell function. Science (80-.). *336*, 489–493.

Onoue, M., Uchida, K., Yokokura, T., Takahashi T, and Mutai M (1981). Effect of intestinal microflora on the survival time of mice exposed to lethal whole-body gamma irradiation. Radiat Res. Dec;88 533–541.

Ordureau, A., Sarraf, S.A., Duda, D.M., Heo, J.-M., Jedrychowski, M.P., Sviderskiy, V.O., Olszewski, J.L., Koerber, J.T., Xie, T., Beausoleil, S.A., et al. (2014). Quantitative Proteomics Reveal a Feedforward Mechanism for Mitochondrial PARKIN Translocation and Ubiquitin Chain Synthesis. Mol. Cell *56*, 360–375.

Ordureau, A., Heo, J.-M., Duda, D.M., Paulo, J.A., Olszewski, J.L., Yanishevski, D., Rinehart, J., Schulman, B.A., and Harper, J.W. (2015). Defining roles of PARKIN and ubiquitin phosphorylation by PINK1 in mitochondrial quality control using a ubiquitin replacement strategy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *112*, 6637–6642.

Orvedahl, A., Alexander, D., Tallóczy, Z., Sun, Q., Wei, Y., Zhang, W., Burns, D., Leib, D.A., and Levine, B. (2007). HSV-1 ICP34.5 Confers Neurovirulence by Targeting the Beclin 1 Autophagy Protein. Cell Host Microbe *1*, 23–35.

Otte, J.-M., Cario, E., and Podolsky, D.K. (2004). Mechanisms of cross hyporesponsiveness to tolllike receptor bacterial ligands in intestinal epithelial cells &. Gastroenterology *126*, 1054–1070.

Ozcelik, S., Fraser, G., Castets, P., Schaeffer, V., Skachokova, Z., Breu, K., Clavaguera, F., Sinnreich, M., Kappos, L., Goedert, M., et al. (2013). Rapamycin Attenuates the Progression of Tau Pathology in P301S Tau Transgenic Mice. PLoS One *8*, e62459.

Paik, J. hye, Ding, Z., Narurkar, R., Ramkissoon, S., Muller, F., Kamoun, W.S., Chae, S.S., Zheng, H., Ying, H., Mahoney, J., et al. (2009). FoxOs Cooperatively Regulate Diverse Pathways Governing Neural Stem Cell Homeostasis. Cell Stem Cell *5*, 540–553.

Paillas, S., Causse, A., Marzi, L., De Medina, P., Poirot, M., Denis, V., Vezzio-Vie, N., Espert, L., Arzouk, H., Coquelle, A., et al. (2012). MAPK14/p38 α confers irinotecan resistance to TP53-defective cells by inducing survival autophagy. Autophagy *8*, 1098–1112.

Paludan, C., Schmid, D., Landthaler, M., Vockerodt, M., Kube, D., Tuschl, T., and Mu, C. (2005). Endogenous MHC Class II Processing of a Viral Nuclear Antigen After Autophagy. Science (80-.). *307*, 593–597.

Pan, M.R., Peng, G., Hungs, W.C., and Lin, S.Y. (2011). Monoubiquitination of H2AX protein

regulates DNA damage response signaling. J. Biol. Chem. *286*, 28599–28607.

Pankiv, S., Clausen, T.H., Lamark, T., Brech, A., Bruun, J.-A., Outzen, H., Øvervatn, A., Bjørkøy, G., and Johansen, T. (2007). p62/SQSTM1 Binds Directly to Atg8/LC3 to Facilitate Degradation of Ubiquitinated Protein Aggregates by Autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. *282*, 24131–24145.

Paris, F., Fuks, Z., Kang, A., Capodieci, P., Juan, G., Ehleiter, D., Haimovitz-Friedman, A., Cordon-Cardo, C., and Kolesnick, R. (2001). Endothelial Apoptosis as the Primary Lesion Initiating Intestinal Radiation Damage in Mice. Science (80-.). *293*, 293–297.

Park, J.M., Huang, S., Wu, T.T., Foster, N.R., and Sinicrope, F.A. (2013). Prognostic impact of Beclin 1, p62/sequestosome 1 and LC3 protein expression in colon carcinomas from patients receiving 5-fluorouracil as adjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer Biol. Ther. *14*, 100–107.

Parkes, M., Barrett, J.C., Prescott, N.J., Tremelling, M., Anderson, C.A., Fisher, S.A., Roberts, R.G., Nimmo, E.R., Cummings, F.R., Soars, D., et al. (2007). Sequence variants in the autophagy gene IRGM and multiple other replicating loci contribute to Crohn's disease susceptibility. Nat. Genet. *39*, 830–832.

Patel, K.K., Miyoshi, H., Beatty, W.L., Head, R.D., Malvin, N.P., Cadwell, K., Guan, J.L., Saitoh, T., Akira, S., Seglen, P.O., et al. (2013). Autophagy proteins control goblet cell function by potentiating reactive oxygen species production. EMBO J. *32*, 3130–3144.

Pattingre, S., Tassa, A., Qu, X., Garuti, R., Liang, X.H., Mizushima, N., Packer, M., Schneider, M.D., and Levine, B. (2005). Bcl-2 Antiapoptotic Proteins Inhibit Beclin 1-Dependent Autophagy. Cell *122*, 927–939.

Paul, S., Kashyap, A.K., Jia, W., He, Y.W., and Schaefer, B.C. (2012). Selective Autophagy of the Adaptor Protein Bcl10 Modulates T Cell Receptor Activation of NF-κB. Immunity *36*, 947–958.

Pedron, T., Mulet, C., Dauga, C., Frangeul, L., Chervaux, C., Grompone, G., and Sansonetti, P.J. (2012). A Crypt-Specific Core Microbiota Resides in the Mouse Colon. MBio *3*, e00116-12.

Peignon, G., Durand, A., Cacheux, W., Ayrault, O., Terris, B., Laurent-Puig, P., Shroyer, N.F., Van Seuningen, I., Honjo, T., Perret, C., et al. (2011). Complex interplay between b-catenin signalling and Notch effectors in intestinal tumorigenesis. Gut *60*, 166–176.

Pellegrinet, L., Rodilla, V., Liu, Z., Chen, S., Koch, U., Espinosa, L., Kaestner, K.H., Kopan, R., Lewis, J., and Radtke, F. (2011). Dll1- and Dll4-mediated notch signaling are required for homeostasis of intestinal stem cells. Gastroenterology *140*, 1230–1240.

Peral de Castro, C., Jones, S.A., Ni Cheallaigh, C., Hearnden, C.A., Williams, L., Winter, J., Lavelle, E.C., Mills, K.H.G., and Harris, J. (2012). Autophagy Regulates IL-23 Secretion and Innate T Cell Responses through Effects on IL-1 Secretion. J. Immunol. *189*, 4144–4153.

Perera, R.M., Stoykova, S., Nicolay, B.N., Ross, K.N., Fitamant, J., Boukhali, M., Lengrand, J., Deshpande, V., Selig, M.K., Ferrone, C.R., et al. (2015). Transcriptional control of autophagy-lysosome function drives pancreatic cancer metabolism. Nature *524*, 361–365.

Peter, J.P., and Muddassar, M. (2001). Association between insertion mutation in NOD2 gene and Crohn's disease in German and British populations. Lancet *357*, 1925–1928.

Petersson, J., Schreiber, O., Hansson, G.C., Gendler, S.J., Velcich, A., Lundberg, J.O., Roos, S., Holm, L., and Phillipson, M. (2011). Importance and regulation of the colonic mucus barrier in a mouse model of colitis. Am. J. Physiol. Liver Physiol. *300*, G327–G333.

Petrof, E.O., Kojima, K., Ropeleski, M.J., Musch, M.W., Tao, Y., De Simone, C., and Chang, E.B. (2004). Probiotics inhibit nuclear factor-κB and induce heat shock proteins in colonic epithelial cells through proteasome inhibition. Gastroenterology *127*, 1474–1487.

Pickford, F., Masliah, E., Britschgi, M., Lucin, K., Narasimhan, R., Jaeger, P.A., Small, S., Spencer, B., Rockenstein, E., Levine, B., et al. (2008). The autophagy-related protein beclin 1 shows reduced

expression in early Alzheimer disease and regulates amyloid β accumulation in mice. J. Clin. Invest. *118*, 2190–2199.

Pietrocola, F., Pol, J., Vacchelli, E., Levine, B., Penninger, J.M., Kroemer, G., Pietrocola, F., Pol, J., Vacchelli, E., Rao, S., et al. (2016). Caloric Restriction Mimetics Enhance Anticancer Immunosurveillance. Cancer Cell *30*, 147–160.

Pinto, D., Gregorieff, A., Begthel, H., and Clevers, H. (2003). Canonical Wnt signals are essential for homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium. Genes Dev. *17*, 1709–1713.

Plantinga, T.S., Crisan, T.O., Oosting, M., Van De Veerdonk, F.L., De Jong, D.J., Philpott, D.J., Van Der Meer, J.W.M., Girardin, S.E., Joosten, L.A.B., and Netea, M.G. (2011). Crohn's disease-associated ATG16L1 polymorphism modulates pro-inflammatory cytokine responses selectively upon activation of NOD2. Gut *60*, 1229–1235.

Pott, J., Kabat, A.M., and Maloy, K.J. (2018). Intestinal Epithelial Cell Autophagy Is Required to Protect against TNF-Induced Apoptosis during Chronic Colitis in Mice. Cell Host Microbe *23*, 191–202.e4.

Potten, C.S., and Loeffler, M. (1987). A comprehensive model of the crypts of the small intestine of the mouse provides insight into the mechanisms of cell migration and the proliferation hierarchy. J. Theor. Biol. *127*, 381–390.

Potten, C.S., Hume, W.J., Reid, P., and Cairns, J. (1978). The segregation of DNA in epithelial stem cells. Cell *15*, 899–906.

Potten, C.S., Booth, C., and Pritchard, D.M. (1997). The intestinal epithelial stem cell: the mucosal governor. Int. J. Exp. Pathol. *78*, 219–243.

Potten, C.S., Owen, G., and Booth, D. (2002). Intestinal stem cells protect their genome by selective segregation of template DNA strands. J. Cell Sci. *115*, 2381–2388.

Potten, C.S., Booth, C., Tudor, G.L., Booth, D., Brady, G., Hurley, P., Ashton, G., Clarke, R., Sakakibara, S.I., and Okano, H. (2003). Identification of a putative intestinal stem cell and early lineage marker; musashi-1. Differentiation *71*, 28–41.

Powell, A.E., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Poulin, E.J., Means, A.L., Washington, M.K., Higginbotham, J.N., Juchheim, A., Prasad, N., Levy, S.E., et al. (2012). The pan-ErbB negative regulator lrig1 is an intestinal stem cell marker that functions as a tumor suppressor. Cell *149*, 146–158.

Powell, S.M., Zilz, N., Beazer-Barclay, Y., Bryan, T.M., Hamilton, S.R., Thibodeau, S.N., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K.W. (1992). APC mutations occur early during colorectal tumorigenesis. Nature *359*, 235–237.

Preidis, G.A., Saulnier, D.M., Blutt, S.E., Mistretta, T.-A., Riehle, K.P., Major, A.M., Venable, S.F., Finegold, M.J., Petrosino, J.F., Conner, M.E., et al. (2012). Probiotics stimulate enterocyte migration and microbial diversity in the neonatal mouse intestine. FASEB J. *26*, 1960–1969.

Prescott, N.J., Dominy, K.M., Kubo, M., Lewis, C.M., Fisher, S.A., Redon, R., Huang, N., Stranger, B.E., Blaszczyk, K., Hudspith, B., et al. (2010). Independent and population-specific association of risk variants at the IRGM locus with Crohn's disease. Hum. Mol. Genet. *19*, 1828–1839.

Pua, H.H., Dzhagalov, I., Chuck, M., Mizushima, N., and He, Y.-W. (2007). A critical role for the autophagy gene Atg5 in T cell survival and proliferation. J. Exp. Med. *204*, 25–31.

Pujol, C., Klein, K.A., Romanov, G.A., Palmer, L.E., Cirota, C., Zhao, Z., and Bliska, J.B. (2009). *Yersinia pestis* can reside in autophagosomes and avoid xenophagy in murine macrophages by preventing vacuole acidification. Infect. Immun. *77*, 2251–2261.

Puleston, D.J., Zhang, H., Powell, T.J., Lipina, E., Sims, S., Panse, I., Watson, A.S., Cerundolo, V., Townsend, A.R., Klenerman, P., et al. (2014). Autophagy is a critical regulator of memory CD8+ T cell formation. Elife *3*, e03706. Pull, S.L., Doherty, J.M., Mills, J.C., Gordon, J.I., and Stappenbeck, T.S. (2005). Activated macrophages are an adaptive element of the colonic epithelial progenitor niche necessary for regenerative responses to injury. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *102*, 99–104.

Pütsep, K., Axelsson, L.G., Boman, A., Midtvedt, T., Normark, S., Boman, H.G., and Andersson, M. (2000). Germ-free and colonized mice generate the same products from enteric prodefensins. J. Biol. Chem. *275*, 40478–40482.

Pyo, J.-O., Yoo, S.-M., Ahn, H.-H., Nah, J., Hong, S.-H., Kam, T.-I., Jung, S., and Jung, Y.-K. (2013). Overexpression of Atg5 in mice activates autophagy and extends lifespan. Nat. Commun. *4*, 2300.

Qi, Z., Li, Y., Zhao, B., Xu, C., Liu, Y., Li, H., Zhang, B., Wang, X., Yang, X., Xie, W., et al. (2017). BMP restricts stemness of intestinal Lgr5+ stem cells by directly suppressing their signature genes. Nat. Commun. *8*, 13824.

Qiang, L., Zhao, B., Shah, P., Sample, A., Yang, S., and He, Y.Y. (2016). Autophagy positively regulates DNA damage recognition by nucleotide excision repair. Autophagy *12*, 357–368.

Qin, J., Li, R., Raes, J., Arumugam, M., Burgdorf, K.S., Manichanh, C., Nielsen, T., Pons, N., Levenez, F., Yamada, T., et al. (2010). A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. Nature *464*, 59–65.

Qiu, W., Carson-Walter, E.B., Liu, H., Epperly, M., Greenberger, J.S., Zambetti, G.P., Zhang, L., and Yu, J. (2008). PUMA Regulates Intestinal Progenitor Cell Radiosensitivity and Gastrointestinal Syndrome. Cell Stem Cell *2*, 576–583.

Qu, X., Yu, J., Bhagat, G., Furuya, N., Hibshoosh, H., Troxel, A., Rosen, J., Eskelinen, E.L., Mizushima, N., Ohsumi, Y., et al. (2003). Promotion of tumorigenesis by heterozygous disruption of the beclin 1 autophagy gene. J. Clin. Invest. *112*, 1809–1820.

Qu, X., Zou, Z., Sun, Q., Luby-Phelps, K., Cheng, P., Hogan, R.N., Gilpin, C., and Levine, B. (2007). Autophagy Gene-Dependent Clearance of Apoptotic Cells during Embryonic Development. Cell *128*, 931–946.

Quan, W., Hur, K.Y., Lim, Y., Oh, S.H., Lee, J.C., Kim, K.H., Kim, G.H., Kim, S.W., Kim, H.L., Lee, M.K., et al. (2012). Autophagy deficiency in beta cells leads to compromised unfolded protein response and progression from obesity to diabetes in mice. Diabetologia *55*, 392–403.

Rakoff-Nahoum, S., Pglino, J., Eslami-Varzaneh, F., Edberg, S., and Medzhitov, R. (2004). Recognition of comensal microflora by toll-like receptors in required for intestinal homeostasis. Cell *118*, 229–241.

Rao, S., Tortola, L., Perlot, T., Wirnsberger, G., Novatchkova, M., Nitsch, R., Sykacek, P., Frank, L., Schramek, D., Komnenovic, V., et al. (2014). A dual role for autophagy in a murine model of lung cancer. Nat. Commun. *5*, 3056.

Ravikumar, B. (2002). Aggregate-prone proteins with polyglutamine and polyalanine expansions are degraded by autophagy. Hum. Mol. Genet. *11*, 1107–1117.

Ravikumar, B., Vacher, C., Berger, Z., Davies, J.E., Luo, S., Oroz, L.G., Scaravilli, F., Easton, D.F., Duden, R., O'Kane, C.J., et al. (2004). Inhibition of mTOR induces autophagy and reduces toxicity of polyglutamine expansions in fly and mouse models of Huntington disease. Nat. Genet. *36*, 585–595.

Ravikumar, B., Berger, Z., Vacher, C., O'Kane, C.J., and Rubinsztein, D.C. (2006). Rapamycin pretreatment protects against apoptosis. Hum. Mol. Genet. *15*, 1209–1216.

Rebecca, V.W., and Amaravadi, R.K. (2016). Emerging strategies to effectively target autophagy in cancer. Oncogene *35*, 1–11.

Reed, K.R., Tunster, S.J., Young, M., Carrico, A., John, R.M., and Clarke, A.R. (2012). Entopic overexpression of *Ascl2* does not accelerate tumourigenesis in Apc ^{Min} mice. Gut *61*, 1435–1438.

Reikvam, D.H., Erofeev, A., Sandvik, A., Grcic, V., Jahnsen, F.L., Gaustad, P., McCoy, K.D., Macpherson, A.J., Meza-Zepeda, L.A., and Johansen, F.E. (2011). Depletion of murine intestinal microbiota: Effects on gut mucosa and epithelial gene expression. PLoS One *6*, 1–13.

Reinhardt, C., Bergentall, M., Greiner, T.U., Schaffner, F., Östergren-Lundén, G., Petersen, L.C., Ruf, W., and Bäckhed, F. (2012). Tissue factor and PAR1 promote microbiota-induced intestinal vascular remodelling. Nature *483*, 627–631.

Rello-Varona, S., Lissa, D., Shen, S., Niso-Santano, M., Senovilla, L., Mariño, G., Vitale, I., Jemaá, M., Harper, F., Pierron, G., et al. (2012). Autophagic removal of micronuclei. Cell Cycle *11*, 170–176.

Rhodin, J., and Dalhamn, T. (1956). Electron microscopy of the tracheal ciliated mucosa in rat. Z Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat *44*, 345–412.

Riccio, O., van Gijn, M.E., Bezdek, A.C., Pellegrinet, L., van Es, J.H., Zimber-Strobl, U., Strobl, L.J., Honjo, T., Clevers, H., and Radtke, F. (2008). Loss of intestinal crypt progenitor cells owing to inactivation of both Notch1 and Notch2 is accompanied by derepression of CDK inhibitors p27Kip1 and p57Kip2. EMBO Rep. *9*, 377–383.

Rioux, J.D., Xavier, R.J., Taylor, K.D., Silverberg, M.S., Goyette, P., Huett, A., Todd, J.A., Kuballa, P., Barmada, M.M., Datta, L.W., et al. (2007). Genome-wide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for Crohn disease and implicates autophagy in disease pathogenesis. Nat. Genet. *39*, 596–604.

Ritsma, L., Ellenbroek, S.I.J., Zomer, A., Snippert, H.J., De Sauvage, F.J., Simons, B.D., Clevers, H., and Van Rheenen, J. (2014). Intestinal crypt homeostasis revealed at single-stem-cell level by in vivo live imaging. Nature *507*, 362–365.

Rivera Vargas, T., Cai, Z., Shen, Y., Dosset, M., Benoit-Lizon, I., Martin, T., Roussey, A., Flavell, R.A., Ghiringhelli, F., and Apetoh, L. (2017). Selective degradation of PU.1 during autophagy represses the differentiation and antitumour activity of TH9 cells. Nat. Commun. *8*, 559.

Roczniak-Ferguson, A., Petit, C.S., Froehlich, F., Qian, S., Ky, J., Angarola, B., Walther, T.C., and Ferguson, S.M. (2012). The Transcription Factor TFEB Links mTORC1 Signaling to Transcriptional Control of Lysosome Homeostasis. Sci. Signal. *5*, ra42.

Rodríguez-Colman, M.J., Schewe, M., Meerlo, M., Stigter, E., Gerrits, J., Pras-Raves, M., Sacchetti, A., Hornsveld, M., Oost, K.C., Snippert, H.J., et al. (2017). Interplay between metabolic identities in the intestinal crypt supports stem cell function. Nature *543*, 424–427.

Rodríguez-Vargas, J.M., Ruiz-Magaña, M.J., Ruiz-Ruiz, C., Majuelos-Melguizo, J., Peralta-Leal, A., Rodríguez, M.I., Muñoz-Gámez, J.A., de Almodóvar, M.R., Siles, E., Rivas, A.L., et al. (2012). ROS-induced DNA damage and PARP-1 are required for optimal induction of starvation-induced autophagy. Cell Res. *22*, 1181–1198.

Rogala, A.R., Schoenborn, A.A., Fee, B.E., Cantillana, V.A., Joyce, M.J., Gharaibeh, R.Z., Roy, S., Fodor, A.A., Sartor, R.B., Taylor, G.A., et al. (2018). Environmental factors regulate Paneth cell phenotype and host susceptibility to intestinal inflammation in Irgm1-deficient mice. Dis. Model. Mech. *11*, dmm031070.

Rogov, V. V, Stolz, A., Ravichandran, A.C., Rios-Szwed, D.O., Suzuki, H., Kniss, A., Löhr, F., Wakatsuki, S., Dötsch, V., Dikic, I., et al. (2017). Structural and functional analysis of the GABARAP interaction motif (GIM). EMBO Rep. *18*, 1382–1396.

Rojansky, R., Cha, M.Y., and Chan, D.C. (2016). Elimination of paternal mitochondria in mouse embryos occurs through autophagic degradation dependent on PARKIN and MUL1. Elife *5*, 1–18.

Rosenfeldt, M.T., O'Prey, J., Morton, J.P., Nixon, C., MacKay, G., Mrowinska, A., Au, A., Rai, T.S., Zheng, L., Ridgway, R., et al. (2013). p53 status determines the role of autophagy in pancreatic tumour development. Nature *504*, 296–300.

Del Roso, A., Vittorini, S., Cavallini, G., Donati, A., Gori, Z., Masini, M., Pollera, M., and Bergamini, E.

(2003). Ageing-related changes in the in vivo function of rat liver macroautophagy and proteolysis. Exp. Gerontol. *38*, 519–527.

Rothenberg, M.E., Nusse, Y., Kalisky, T., Lee, J.J., Dalerba, P., Scheeren, F., Lobo, N., Kulkarni, S., Sim, S., Qian, D., et al. (2012). Identification of a cKit + colonic crypt base secretory cell that supports Lgr5 + stem cells in mice. Gastroenterology *142*, 1195–1205.e6.

Rothschild, D., Weissbrod, O., Barkan, E., Kurilshikov, A., Korem, T., Zeevi, D., Costea, P.I., Godneva, A., Kalka, I.N., Bar, N., et al. (2018). Environment dominates over host genetics in shaping human gut microbiota. Nature *555*, 210–215.

Rusten, T.E., Vaccari, T., Lindmo, K., Rodahl, L.M.W., Nezis, I.P., Sem-Jacobsen, C., Wendler, F., Vincent, J.P., Brech, A., Bilder, D., et al. (2007). ESCRTs and Fab1 Regulate Distinct Steps of Autophagy. Curr. Biol.

Sadabad, M.S., Regeling, A., De Goffau, M.C., Blokzijl, T., Weersma, R.K., Penders, J., Faber, K.N., Harmsen, H.J.M., and Dijkstra, G. (2015). The ATG16L1-T300A allele impairs clearance of pathosymbionts in the inflamed ileal mucosa of Crohn's disease patients. Gut *64*, 1546–1552.

Saha, S., Aranda, E., Hayakawa, Y., Bhanja, P., Atay, S., Brodin, N.P., Li, J., Asfaha, S., Liu, L., Tailor, Y., et al. (2016). Macrophage-derived extracellular vesicle-packaged WNTs rescue intestinal stem cells and enhance survival after radiation injury. Nat. Commun. *7*, 13096.

Saitoh, T., Fujita, N., Jang, M.H., Uematsu, S., Yang, B.-G., Satoh, T., Omori, H., Noda, T., Yamamoto, N., Komatsu, M., et al. (2008). Loss of the autophagy protein Atg16L1 enhances endotoxin-induced IL-1 β production. Nature 456, 264–268.

Sakitani, K., Hirata, Y., Hikiba, Y., Hayakawa, Y., Ihara, S., Suzuki, H., Suzuki, N., Serizawa, T., Kinoshita, H., Sakamoto, K., et al. (2015). Inhibition of autophagy exerts anti-colon cancer effects via apoptosis induced by p53 activation and ER stress. BMC Cancer *15*, 795.

Saleh, A.D., Simone, B.A., Palazzo, J., Savage, J.E., Sano, Y., Dan, T., Jin, L., Champ, C., Zhao, S., Lim, M., et al. (2013). Caloric restriction augments radiation efficacy in breast cancer. Cell Cycle *12*, 1955–1963.

Salzman, N.H., Hung, K., Haribhai, D., Chu, H., Karlsson-Sjöberg, J., Amir, E., Teggatz, P., Barman, M., Hayward, M., Eastwood, D., et al. (2010). Enteric defensins are essential regulators of intestinal microbial ecology. Nat. Immunol. *11*, 76–83.

San Roman, A.K., Jayewickreme, C.D., Murtaugh, L.C., and Shivdasani, R.A. (2014). Wnt secretion from epithelial cells and subepithelial myofibroblasts is not required in the mouse intestinal stem cell niche in vivo. Stem Cell Reports *2*, 127–134.

Sancak, Y., Peterson, T., Shaul, Y., Lindquist, R., Thoreen, C., Bar-Peled, L., and Sabatini, D. (2008). The Rag GTPases bind raptor and mediate amino acid signaling to mTORC1. Science (80-.). *320*, 1496–1501.

Sander, G.R., and Powell, B.C. (2004). Expression of notch receptors and ligands in the adult gut. J. Histochem. Cytochem. *52*, 509–516.

Sandoval, H., Thiagarajan, P., Dasgupta, S.K., Schumacher, A., Prchal, J.T., Chen, M., and Wang, J. (2008). Essential role for Nix in autophagic maturation of erythroid cells. Nature *454*, 232–235.

Sangiorgi, E., and Capecchi, M.R. (2008). Bmi1 is expressed in vivo in intestinal stem cells. Nat. Genet. *40*, 915–920.

Sanjuan, M.A., Dillon, C.P., Tait, S.W.G., Moshiach, S., Dorsey, F., Connell, S., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Cleveland, J.L., Withoff, S., et al. (2007). Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. Nature *450*, 1253–1257.

Sanos, S.L., Bui, V.L., Mortha, A., Oberle, K., Heners, C., Johner, C., and Diefenbach, A. (2009). RORyt and commensal microflora are required for the differentiation of mucosal interleukin 22-

producing NKp46+cells. Nat. Immunol. *10*, 83–91.

Sansom, O.J., Reed, K.R., Hayes, A.J., Ireland, H., Brinkmann, H., Newton, I.P., Batlle, E., Simon-Assmann, P., Clevers, H., Nathke, I.S., et al. (2004). Loss of Apc in vivo immediately perturbs Wnt signaling, differentiation, and migration. Genes Dev. *18*, 1385–1390.

Santanam, U., Banach-Petrosky, W., Abate-Shen, C., Shen, M.M., White, E., and DiPaola, R.S. (2016). *Atg7* cooperates with *Pten* loss to drive prostate cancer tumor growth. Genes Dev. *30*, 399–407.

Sarkar, S. (2013). Regulation of autophagy by mTOR-dependent and mTOR-independent pathways: autophagy dysfunction in neurodegenerative diseases and therapeutic application of autophagy enhancers. Biochem. Soc. Trans. *41*, 1103–1130.

Sartor, R.B. (2008). Microbial Influences in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Gastroenterology *134*, 577–594.

Sasaki, K., Tsuno, N.H., Sunami, E., Tsurita, G., Kawai, K., Okaji, Y., Nishikawa, T., Shuno, Y., Hongo, K., Hiyoshi, M., et al. (2010). Chloroquine potentiates the anti-cancer effect of 5-fluorouracil on colon cancer cells. BMC Cancer *10*, 370.

Sasaki, K., Tsuno, N.H., Sunami, E., Kawai, K., Hongo, K., Hiyoshi, M., Kaneko, M., Murono, K., Tada, N., Nirei, T., et al. (2012). Resistance of colon cancer to 5-fluorouracil may be overcome by combination with chloroquine, an in vivo study. Anticancer. Drugs *23*, 675–682.

Sasaki, N., Sachs, N., Wiebrands, K., Ellenbroek, S.I., Fumagalli, A., Lyubimova, A., Begthel, H., van der Born, M., van Es, J., Karthaus, W.R., et al. (2016). Reg4+ deep crypt secretory cells function as epithelial niche for Lgr5+ stem cells in colon. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. E5399–E5407.

Sato, A., and Miyoshi, S. (1997). Fine structure of tuft cells of the main excretory duct epithelium in the rat submandibular gland. Anat. Rec. *248*, 325–331.

Sato, T., Vries, R.G., Snippert, H.J., van de Wetering, M., Barker, N., Stange, D.E., van Es, J.H., Abo, A., Kujala, P., Peters, P.J., et al. (2009). Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. Nature *459*, 262–265.

Sato, T., van Es, J.H., Snippert, H.J., Stange, D.E., Vries, R.G., van den Born, M., Barker, N., Shroyer, N.F., van de Wetering, M., and Clevers, H. (2011a). Paneth cells constitute the niche for Lgr5 stem cells in intestinal crypts. Nature *469*, 415–418.

Sato, T., Stange, D.E., Ferrante, M., Vries, R.G.J., Van Es, J.H., Van Den Brink, S., Van Houdt, W.J., Pronk, A., Van Gorp, J., Siersema, P.D., et al. (2011b). Long-term expansion of epithelial organoids from human colon, adenoma, adenocarcinoma, and Barrett's epithelium. Gastroenterology *141*, 1762–1772.

Schell, J.C., Wisidagama, D.R., Bensard, C., Zhao, H., Wei, P., Tanner, J., Flores, A., Mohlman, J., Sorensen, L.K., Earl, C.S., et al. (2017). Control of intestinal stem cell function and proliferation by mitochondrial pyruvate metabolism. Nat. Cell Biol. *19*, 1027–1036.

Schepers, A.G., Snippert, H.J., Stange, D.E., van den Born, M., van Es, J.H., van de Wetering, M., and Clevers, H. (2012). Lineage Tracing Reveals Lgr5+ Stem Cell Activity in Mouse Intestinal Adenomas. Science (80-.). *337*, 819–824.

Scherz-Shouval, R., Shvets, E., Fass, E., Shorer, H., Gil, L., and Elazar, Z. (2007). Reactive oxygen species are essential for autophagy and specifically regulate the activity of Atg4. EMBO J. *26*, 1749–1760.

Schlie, K., Westerback, A., DeVorkin, L., Hughson, L.R., Brandon, J.M., MacPherson, S., Gadawski, I., Townsend, K.N., Poon, V.I., Elrick, M.A., et al. (2015). Survival of Effector CD8 + T Cells during Influenza Infection Is Dependent on Autophagy. J. Immunol. *194*, 4277–4286.

Schmid, D., Pypaert, M., and Münz, C. (2007). Antigen-Loading Compartments for Major

Histocompatibility Complex Class II Molecules Continuously Receive Input from Autophagosomes. Immunity *26*, 79–92.

Schmidt, G.H., Wilkinson, M.M., and Ponder, B.A.J. (1985). Cell migration pathway in the intestinal epithelium: An in situ marker system using mouse aggregation chimeras. Cell *40*, 425–429.

Schmitz, K.J., Ademi, C., Bertram, S., Schmid, K.W., and Baba, H.A. (2016). Prognostic relevance of autophagy-related markers LC3, p62/sequestosome 1, Beclin-1 and ULK1 in colorectal cancer patients with respect to KRAS mutational status. World J. Surg. Oncol. *14*, 189.

Schneider, C., O'Leary, C.E., von Moltke, J., Liang, H.E., Ang, Q.Y., Turnbaugh, P.J., Radhakrishnan, S., Pellizzon, M., Ma, A., and Locksley, R.M. (2018). A Metabolite-Triggered Tuft Cell-ILC2 Circuit Drives Small Intestinal Remodeling. Cell.

Schonewolf, C.A., Mehta, M., Schiff, D., Wu, H., Haffty, B.G., Karantza, V., and Jabbour, S.K. (2014). Autophagy inhibition by chloroquine sensitizes HT-29 colorectal cancer cells to concurrent chemoradiation. World J. Gastrointest. Oncol. *6*, 74.

Schröder, N., and Gossler, A. (2002). Expression of Notch pathway components in fetal and adult mouse small intestine. Gene Expr. Patterns *2*, 247–250.

Schuijers, J., Van Der Flier, L.G., Van Es, J., and Clevers, H. (2014). Robust cre-mediated recombination in small intestinal stem cells utilizing the Olfm4 locus. Stem Cell Reports *3*, 234–241.

Schuijers, J., Junker, J.P., Mokry, M., Hatzis, P., Koo, B.K., Sasselli, V., Van Der Flier, L.G., Cuppen, E., Van Oudenaarden, A., and Clevers, H. (2015). Ascl2 acts as an R-spondin/wnt-responsive switch to control stemness in intestinal crypts. Cell Stem Cell *16*, 158–170.

Schwertman, P., Bekker-Jensen, S., and Mailand, N. (2016). Regulation of DNA double-strand break repair by ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like modifiers. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *17*, 379–394.

Schwitalla, S., Ziegler, P.K., Horst, D., Becker, V., Kerle, I., Begus-nahrmann, Y., Rudolph, K.L., Langer, R., Slotta-huspenina, J., Bader, F.G., et al. (2013a). Loss of p53 in Enterocytes Generates an Inflammatory Microenvironment Enabling Invasion and Lymph Node Metastasis of Carcinogen-Induced Colorectal Tumors. Cancer Cell *23*, 93–106.

Schwitalla, S., Fingerle, A.A., Cammareri, P., Nebelsiek, T., Göktuna, S.I., Ziegler, P.K., Canli, O., Heijmans, J., Huels, D.J., Moreaux, G., et al. (2013b). Intestinal Tumorigenesis Initiated by Dedifferentiation and Acquisition of Stem-Cell-like Properties. Cell *152*, 25–38.

Selvakumaran, M., Amaravadi, R.K., Vasilevskaya, I.A., and O'Dwyer, P.J. (2013). Autophagy inhibition sensitizes colon cancer cells to antiangiogenic and cytotoxic therapy. Clin. Cancer Res. *19*, 2995–3007.

Seshagiri, S., Stawiski, E.W., Durinck, S., Modrusan, Z., Storm, E.E., Conboy, C.B., Chaudhuri, S., Guan, Y., Janakiraman, V., Jaiswal, B.S., et al. (2012). Recurrent R-spondin fusions in colon cancer. Nature *488*, 660–664.

Settembre, C., Di Malta, C., Polito, V., Garcia Arencibia, M., Vetrini, F., Erdin, S., Erdin, S., Huynh, T., Medina, D., Colella, P., et al. (2011). TFEB links autophagy to lysosomal biogenesis. Science (80-.). *332*, 1429–1433.

Settembre, C., Zoncu, R., Medina, D.L., Vetrini, F., Erdin, S., Erdin, S., Huynh, T., Ferron, M., Karsenty, G., Vellard, M.C., et al. (2012). A lysosome-to-nucleus signalling mechanism senses and regulates the lysosome via mTOR and TFEB. EMBO J. *31*, 1095–1108.

Settembre, C., De Cegli, R., Mansueto, G., Saha, P.K., Vetrini, F., Visvikis, O., Huynh, T., Carissimo, A., Palmer, D., Jürgen Klisch, T., et al. (2013). TFEB controls cellular lipid metabolism through a starvation-induced autoregulatory loop. Nat. Cell Biol. *15*, 647–658.

Sharifi, M.N., Mowers, E.E., Drake, L.E., Collier, C., Chen, H., Zamora, M., Mui, S., and Macleod, K.F. (2016). Autophagy Promotes Focal Adhesion Disassembly and Cell Motility of Metastatic Tumor Cells through the Direct Interaction of Paxillin with LC3. Cell Rep. *15*, 1660–1672.

Sharma, R., Schumacher, U., Ronaasen, V., and Coates, M. (1995). Rat intestinal mucosal responses to a microbial flora and different diets. Gut *36*, 209–214.

Shi, C.S., and Kehrl, J.H. (2008). MyD88 and Trif target Beclin 1 to trigger autophagy in macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. *283*, 33175–33182.

Shi, C.S., and Kehrl, J.H. (2010). TRAF6 and A20 Regulate Lysine 63-Linked Ubiquitination of Beclin-1 to Control TLR4-Induced Autophagy. Sci. Signal. *3*, ra42.

Shi, C.S., Shenderov, K., Huang, N.N., Kabat, J., Abu-Asab, M., Fitzgerald, K.A., Sher, A., and Kehrl, J.H. (2012). Activation of autophagy by inflammatory signals limits IL-1β production by targeting ubiquitinated inflammasomes for destruction. Nat. Immunol. *13*, 255–263.

Shiba-Fukushima, K., Arano, T., Matsumoto, G., Inoshita, T., Yoshida, S., Ishihama, Y., Ryu, K.-Y., Nukina, N., Hattori, N., and Imai, Y. (2014). Phosphorylation of Mitochondrial Polyubiquitin by PINK1 Promotes Parkin Mitochondrial Tethering. PLoS Genet. *10*, e1004861.

Shimokawa, M., Ohta, Y., Nishikori, S., Matano, M., Takano, A., Fujii, M., Date, S., Sugimoto, S., Kanai, T., and Sato, T. (2017). Visualization and targeting of LGR5+ human colon cancer stem cells. Nature *545*, 187–192.

Shinagawa, K., Kitadai, Y., Tanaka, M., Sumida, T., Kodama, M., Higashi, Y., Tanaka, S., Yasui, W., and Chayama, K. (2010). Mesenchymal stem cells enhance growth and metastasis of colon cancer. Int. J. Cancer *127*, 2323–2333.

Shoshkes-Carmel, M., Wang, Y.J., Wangensteen, K.J., Tóth, B., Kondo, A., Massassa, E., Itzkovitz, S., and Kaestner, K.H. (2018). Subepithelial telocytes are an important source of Whits that supports intestinal crypts. Nature *557*, 242–246.

Shroyer, N.F., Helmrath, M.A., Wang, V.Y.C., Antalffy, B., Henning, S.J., and Zoghbi, H.Y. (2007). Intestine-Specific Ablation of Mouse atonal homolog 1 (Math1) Reveals a Role in Cellular Homeostasis. Gastroenterology *132*, 2478–2488.

Singh, R., Kaushik, S., Wang, Y., Xiang, Y., Novak, I., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Cuervo, A.M., and Czaja, M.J. (2009a). Autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. Nature *458*, 1131–1135.

Singh, R., Xiang, Y., Wang, Y., Baikati, K., Cuervo, A.M., Luu, Y.K., Tang, Y., Pessin, J.E., Schwartz, G.J., and Czaja, M.J. (2009b). Autophagy regulates adipose mass and differentiation in mice. J. Clin. Invest. *119*, 3329–3339.

Singh, S.B., Davis, A.S., Taylor, G.A., and Deretic, V. (2006). Human IRGM induces autophagy to eliminate intracellular mycobacteria. Science (80-.). *313*, 1438–1441.

Sir, D., Chen, W., Choi, J., Wakita, T., Yen, T.S.B., and Ou, J.J. (2008). Induction of incomplete autophagic response by hepatitis C virus via the unfolded protein response. Hepatology *48*, 1054–1061.

Van der Sluis, M., De Koning, B.A.E., De Bruijn, A.C.J.M., Velcich, A., Meijerink, J.P.P., Van Goudoever, J.B., Büller, H.A., Dekker, J., Van Seuningen, I., Renes, I.B., et al. (2006). Muc2-Deficient Mice Spontaneously Develop Colitis, Indicating That MUC2 Is Critical for Colonic Protection. Gastroenterology *131*, 117–129.

Snippert, H.J., van der Flier, L.G., Sato, T., van Es, J.H., van den Born, M., Kroon-Veenboer, C., Barker, N., Klein, A.M., van Rheenen, J., Simons, B.D., et al. (2010). Intestinal crypt homeostasis results from neutral competition between symmetrically dividing Lgr5 stem cells. Cell *143*, 134–144.

Snippert, H.J., Schepers, A.G., Van Es, J.H., Simons, B.D., and Clevers, H. (2014). Biased

competition between Lgr5 intestinal stem cells driven by oncogenic mutation induces clonal expansion. EMBO Rep. *15*, 62–69.

Sommer, F., and Bäckhed, F. (2013). The gut microbiota-masters of host development and physiology. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. *11*, 227–238.

Sommer, F., and Bäckhed, F. (2016). Know your neighbor: Microbiota and host epithelial cells interact locally to control intestinal function and physiology. BioEssays *38*, 455–464.

Sommer, F., Nookaew, I., Sommer, N., Fogelstrand, P., and Bäckhed, F. (2015). Site-specific programming of the host epithelial transcriptome by the gut microbiota. Genome Biol. *16*, 62.

Sompolinsky, H., Sejnowski, T., Zador, A.M., Lampl, I., Merzenich, M.M., Schreiner, C.E., Marchetti, C., Schiff, M., Reyes, A.D., Miller, K.D., et al. (2011). Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutica agents in mice. Science (80-.). *334*, 1573–1578.

Sosa, M., Bragado, P., Debnath, J., and Aguirre-Ghiso, J. (2013). Systems Biology of Tumor Dormancy. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. *734*, 73–89.

Sousa, C.M., Biancur, D.E., Wang, X., Halbrook, C.J., Sherman, M.H., Zhang, L., Kremer, D., Hwang, R.F., Witkiewicz, A.K., Ying, H., et al. (2016). Pancreatic stellate cells support tumour metabolism through autophagic alanine secretion. Nature *536*, 479–483.

de Sousa e Melo, F., Kurtova, A. V., Harnoss, J.M., Kljavin, N., Hoeck, J.D., Hung, J., Anderson, J.E., Storm, E.E., Modrusan, Z., Koeppen, H., et al. (2017). A distinct role for Lgr5+ stem cells in primary and metastatic colon cancer. Nature *543*, 676–680.

Spence, J.R., Lauf, R., and Shroyer, N.F. (2011). Vertebrate intestinal endoderm development. Dev. Dyn. *240*, 501–520.

Spencer, B., Potkar, R., Trejo, M., Rockenstein, E., Patrick, C., Gindi, R., Adame, A., Wyss-Coray, T., and Masliah, E. (2009). Beclin 1 Gene Transfer Activates Autophagy and Ameliorates the Neurodegenerative Pathology in -Synuclein Models of Parkinson's and Lewy Body Diseases. J. Neurosci. *29*, 13578–13588.

Stambolic, V., MacPherson, D., Sas, D., Lin, Y., Snow, B., Jang, Y., Benchimol, S., and Mak, T.W. (2001). Regulation of PTEN Transcription by p53. Mol. Cell *8*, 317–325.

Stanger, B.Z., Datar, R., Murtaugh, L.C., and Melton, D.A. (2005). Direct regulation of intestinal fate by Notch. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *102*, 12443–12448.

Stappenbeck, T.S., Hooper, L. V, and Gordon, J.I. (2002). Developmental regulation of intestinal angiogenesis by indigenous microbes via Paneth cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *99*, 15451–15455.

Stringari, C., Edwards, R.A., Pate, K.T., Waterman, M.L., Donovan, P.J., and Gratton, E. (2012). Metabolic trajectory of cellular differentiation in small intestine by Phasor Fluorescence Lifetime Microscopy of NADH. Sci. Rep. *2*, 568.

Strohecker, A.M., Guo, J.Y., Karsli-Uzunbas, G., Price, S.M., Chen, G.J., Mathew, R., McMahon, M., and White, E. (2013). Autophagy sustains mitochondrial glutamine metabolism and growth of BrafV600E-driven lung tumors. Cancer Discov. *3*, 1272–1285.

Stzepourginski, I., Nigro, G., Jacob, J., Dulauroy, S., Sansonetti, P.J., Eberl, G., and Peduto, L. (2017). CD34 + mesenchymal cells are a major component of the intestinal stem cells niche at homeostasis and after injury. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *114*, E506–E513.

Subramani, S., and Malhotra, V. (2013). Non-autophagic roles of autophagy-related proteins. EMBO Rep. *14*, 143–151.

Swann, J.B., Uldrich, A.P., Van Dommelen, S., Sharkey, J., Murray, W.K., Godfrey, D.I., and Smyth, M.J. (2009). Type I natural killer T cells suppress tumors caused by p53 loss in mice. Blood *113*, 6382–6385.

Taguchi, K., Motohashi, H., and Yamamoto, M. (2011). Molecular mechanisms of the Keap1-Nrf2 pathway in stress response and cancer evolution. Genes to Cells *16*, 123–140.

Takamura, A., Komatsu, M., Hara, T., Sakamoto, A., Kishi, C., Waguri, S., Eishi, Y., Hino, O., Tanaka, K., and Mizushima, N. (2011). Autophagy-deficient mice develop multiple liver tumors. Genes Dev. *25*, 795–800.

Takeda, N., Jain, R., LeBoeuf, M.R., Wang, Q., Lu, M.M., and Epstein, J.A. (2011). Interconversion Between Intestinal Stem Cell Populations in Distinct Niches. Science (80-.). 334, 1420–1424.

Taketo, M.M., and Edelmann, W. (2009). Mouse models of colon cancer. Gastroenterology *136*, 780–798.

Talloczy, Z., Jiang, W., Virgin, H.W. th, Leib, D.A., Scheuner, D., Kaufman, R.J., Eskelinen, E.L., and Levine, B. (2002). Regulation of starvation- and virus-induced autophagy by the eIF2alpha kinase signaling pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *99*, 190–195.

Tallóczy, Z., Virgin, H., and Levine B (2006). PKR-dependent autophagic degradation of herpes simplex virus type 1. Autophagy *2*, 24–29.

Tan, S., Peng, X., Peng, W., Zhao, Y., and Wei, Y. (2015). Enhancement of oxaliplatin-induced cell apoptosis and tumor suppression by 3-methyladenine in colon cancer. Oncol. Lett. *9*, 2056–2062.

Tanaka, M., Machida, Y., Niu, S., Ikeda, T., Jana, N.R., Doi, H., Kurosawa, M., Nekooki, M., and Nukina, N. (2004). Trehalose alleviates polyglutamine-mediated pathology in a mouse model of Huntington disease. Nat. Med. *10*, 148–154.

Tanaka, T., Kohno, H., Suzuki, R., Yamada, Y., Sugie, S., and Mori, H. (2003). A novel inflammationrelated mouse colon carcinogenesis model induced by azoxymethane and dextran sodium sulfate. Cancer Sci. *94*, 965–973.

Tanaka, T., Kohno, H., Suzuki, R., Hata, K., Sugie, S., Niho, N., Sakano, K., Takahashi, M., and Wakabayashi, K. (2006). Dextran sodium sulfate strongly promotes colorectal carcinogenesis in Apc(Min/+) mice: inflammatory stimuli by dextran sodium sulfate results in development of multiple colonic neoplasms. Int. J. Cancer *118*, 25–34.

Tang, A.H., and Rando, T.A. (2014). Induction of autophagy supports the bioenergetic demands of quiescent muscle stem cell activation. EMBO J. *33*, 2782–2797.

Tang, D., Kang, R., Cheh, C.W., Livesey, K.M., Liang, X., Schapiro, N.E., Benschop, R., Sparvero, L.J., Amoscato, A.A., Tracey, K.J., et al. (2010a). HMGB1 release and redox regulates autophagy and apoptosis in cancer cells. Oncogene *29*, 5299–5310.

Tang, D., Kang, R., Livesey, K.M., Cheh, C.W., Farkas, A., Loughran, P., Hoppe, G., Bianchi, M.E., Tracey, K.J., Zeh, H.J., et al. (2010b). Endogenous HMGB1 regulates autophagy. J. Cell Biol. *190*, 881–892.

Tang, D., Kang, R., Livesey, K.M., Kroemer, G., Billiar, T.R., Van Houten, B., Zeh, H.J., and Lotze, M.T. (2011). High-mobility group box 1 is essential for mitochondrial quality control. Cell Metab. *13*, 701–711.

Tasdemir, E., Maiuri, M.C., Galluzzi, L., Vitale, I., Djavaheri-Mergny, M., D'Amelio, M., Criollo, A., Morselli, E., Zhu, C., Harper, F., et al. (2008). Regulation of autophagy by cytoplasmic p53. Nat. Cell Biol. *10*, 676–687.

Terman, A. (1995). The effect of age on formation and elimination of autophagic vacuoles in mouse hepatocytes. Gerontology *41*, 319–325.

Tetteh, P.W., Basak, O., Farin, H.F., Wiebrands, K., Kretzschmar, K., Begthel, H., van den Born, M., Korving, J., de Sauvage, F., van Es, J.H., et al. (2016). Replacement of Lost Lgr5-Positive Stem Cells through Plasticity of Their Enterocyte-Lineage Daughters. Cell Stem Cell *18*, 203–213.

Le Texier, L., Lineburg, K.E., Cao, B., McDonald-Hyman, C., Leveque-El Mouttie, L., Nicholls, J., Melino, M., Nalkurthi, B.C., Alexander, K.A., Teal, B., et al. (2016). Autophagy-dependent regulatory T cells are critical for the control of graft-versus-host disease. JCI Insight *1*.

Tey, S.K., and Khanna, R. (2012). Autophagy mediates transporter associated with antigen processing- independent presentation of viral epitopes through MHC class I pathway. Blood *120*, 994–1004.

The Cancer Genome Atlas Network, Muzny, D.M., Bainbridge, M.N., Chang, K., Dinh, H.H., Drummond, J. a., Fowler, G., Kovar, C.L., Lewis, L.R., Morgan, M.B., et al. (2012). Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. Nature *487*, 330–337.

Thurston, T.L.M., Ryzhakov, G., Bloor, S., von Muhlinen, N., and Randow, F. (2009). The TBK1 adaptor and autophagy receptor NDP52 restricts the proliferation of ubiquitin-coated bacteria. Nat. Immunol. *10*, 1215–1221.

Thurston, T.L.M., Wandel, M.P., Von Muhlinen, N., Foeglein, Á., and Randow, F. (2012). Galectin 8 targets damaged vesicles for autophagy to defend cells against bacterial invasion. Nature *482*, 414–418.

Tian, H., Biehs, B., Warming, S., Leong, K.G., Rangell, L., Klein, O.D., and de Sauvage, F.J. (2011). A reserve stem cell population in small intestine renders Lgr5-positive cells dispensable. Nature *478*, 255–259.

Tinkum, K.L., Stemler, K.M., White, L.S., Loza, A.J., Jeter-jones, S., and Michalski, B.M. (2015). Fasting protects mice from lethal DNA damage by promoting small intestinal epithelial stem cell survival. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *112*, E7148–E7154.

Travassos, L.H., Carneiro, L.A.M., Ramjeet, M., Hussey, S., Kim, Y.G., Magalhes, J.G., Yuan, L., Soares, F., Chea, E., Le Bourhis, L., et al. (2010). Nod1 and Nod2 direct autophagy by recruiting ATG16L1 to the plasma membrane at the site of bacterial entry. Nat. Immunol. *11*, 55–62.

Trentesaux, C., Fraudeau, M., and Romagnolo, B. (2017). L'autophagie, l'homéostasie intestinale et ses pathologies. Médecine/Sciences *33*, 290–296.

Tripathi, D.N., Chowdhury, R., Trudel, L.J., Tee, A.R., Slack, R.S., Walker, C.L., and Wogan, G.N. (2013). Reactive nitrogen species regulate autophagy through ATM-AMPK-TSC2-mediated suppression of mTORC1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *110*, E2950–E2957.

Tritarelli, A., Oricchio, E., Ciciarello, M., Mangiacasale, R., Palena, A., Lavia, P., Soddu, S., and Cundari, E. (2004). p53 Localization at Centrosomes during Mitosis and Postmitotic Checkpoint Are ATM-dependent and Require Serine 15 Phosphorylation. Mol. Biol. Cell *15*, 3751–3737.

Tsai, Y.H., Vandussen, K.L., Sawey, E.T., Wade, A.W., Kasper, C., Rakshit, S., Bhatt, R.G., Stoeck, A., Maillard, I., Crawford, H.C., et al. (2014). ADAM10 regulates notch function in intestinal stem cells of mice. Gastroenterology *147*, 822–834.e13.

Tsuboi, K., Nishitani, M., Takakura, A., Imai, Y., Komatsu, M., and Kawashima, H. (2015). Autophagy protects against colitis by the maintenance of normal gut microflora and secretion of mucus. J. Biol. Chem. *290*, 20511–20526.

Tsukamoto, S., Kuma, A., Murakami, M., Kishi, C., Yamamoto, A., and Mizushima, N. (2008). Autophagy is essential for preimplantation development of mouse embryos. Science (80-.). *321*, 117–120.

Turan, A., and Mahmood, A. (2007). The Profile of Antioxidant Systems and Lipid Peroxidation Across the Crypt-Villus Axis in Rat Intestine. Dig. Dis. Sci. *52*, 1840–1844.

Uematsu, S., Fujimoto, K., Jang, M.H., Yang, B.-G., Jung, Y.-J., Nishiyama, M., Sato, S., Tsujimura, T., Yamamoto, M., Yokota, Y., et al. (2008). Regulation of humoral and cellular gut immunity by lamina propria dendritic cells expressing Toll-like receptor 5. Nat. Immunol. *9*, 769–776.

Uronis, J.M., Mühlbauer, M., Herfarth, H.H., Rubinas, T.C., Jones, G.S., and Jobin, C. (2009). Modulation of the Intestinal Microbiota Alters Colitis-Associated Colorectal Cancer Susceptibility. PLoS One *4*, e6026.

Vaiopoulos, A.G., Kostakis, I.D., Koutsilieris, M., and Papavassiliou, A.G. (2012). Colorectal Cancer Stem Cells. Stem Cells *30*, 363–371.

Vaishnava, S., Behrendt, C.L., Ismail, A.S., Eckmann, L., and Hooper, L. V (2008). Paneth cells directly sense gut commensals and maintain homeostasis at the intestinal host-microbial interface. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *105*, 20858–20863.

Valencia, T., Kim, J.Y., Abu-Baker, S., Moscat-Pardos, J., Ahn, C.S., Reina-Campos, M., Duran, A., Castilla, E.A., Metallo, C.M., Diaz-Meco, M.T., et al. (2014). Metabolic Reprogramming of Stromal Fibroblasts through p62-mTORC1 Signaling Promotes Inflammation and Tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell *26*, 121–135.

Valenta, T., Degirmenci, B., Moor, A.E., Herr, P., Zimmerli, D., Moor, M.B., Hausmann, G., Cantu, C., Aguet, M., and Basle, K. (2016). Wnt Ligands Secreted by Subepithelial Mesenchymal Cells Are Essential for the Survival of Intestinal Stem Cells and Gut Homeostasis. Cell Rep. *15*, 911–918.

VanDussen, K.L., Carulli, a. J., Keeley, T.M., Patel, S.R., Puthoff, B.J., Magness, S.T., Tran, I.T., Maillard, I., Siebel, C., Kolterud, a., et al. (2012). Notch signaling modulates proliferation and differentiation of intestinal crypt base columnar stem cells. Development *139*, 488–497.

Vázquez, P., Arroba, A.I., Cecconi, F., de la Rosa, E.J., Boya, P., and de Pablo, F. (2012). Atg5 and Ambra1 differentially modulate neurogenesis in neural stem cells. Autophagy *8*, 187–199.

Velcich, A., Yang, W., Heyer, J., Fragale, A., Nicholas, C., Viani, S., Kucherlapati, R., Lipkin, M., Yang, K., Augenlicht1, L., et al. (2002). Colorectal Cancer in Mice Genetically Deficient in the Mucin Muc2. Science (80-.). *295*, 1726–1729.

Velkova, A., Carvalho, M.A., Johnson, J.O., Tavtigian, S. V., and Monteiro, A.N.A. (2010). Identification of filamin A as a BRCA1-interacting protein required for efficient DNA repair. Cell Cycle *9*, 1421–1433.

Vera-Ramirez, L., Vodnala, S.K., Nini, R., Hunter, K.W., and Green, J.E. (2018). Autophagy promotes the survival of dormant breast cancer cells and metastatic tumour recurrence. Nat. Commun. *9*, 1944.

Vereecke, L., Vieira-Silva, S., Billiet, T., van Es, J.H., Mc Guire, C., Slowicka, K., Sze, M., van den Born, M., De Hertogh, G., Clevers, H., et al. (2014). A20 controls intestinal homeostasis through cell-specific activities. Nat. Commun. *5*, 5103.

Vermeulen, L., De Sousa E Melo, F., van der Heijden, M., Cameron, K., de Jong, J.H., Borovski, T., Tuynman, J.B., Todaro, M., Merz, C., Rodermond, H., et al. (2010). Wnt activity defines colon cancer stem cells and is regulated by the microenvironment. Nat. Cell Biol. *12*, 468–476.

Vermeulen, L., Morrissey, E., van der Heijden, M., Nicholson, A.M., Sottoriva, A., Buczacki, S., Kemp, R., Tavaré, S., and Winton, D.J. (2013). Defining Stem Cell Dynamics in Models of Intestinal Tumor Initiation. Science (80-.). *342*, 995–998.

Vogelstein, B., Fearon, E.R., Hamilton, S.R., Kern, S.E., Preisinger, A.C., Leppert, M., Nakamura, Y., White, R., Smits, A.M., and Bos, J.L. (1988). Genetic alterations during colorectal tumor development. N. Engl. J. Med. *319*, 525–532.

Waite, K.A., Waite, K.A., and Eng, C. (2003). BMP2 exposure results in decreased PTEN protein degradation and increased PTEN levels BMP2 exposure results in decreased PTEN protein degradation and increased PTEN levels. Hum. Mol. Genet. *12*, 679–684.

Wang, C., Liang, C.C., Bian, Z.C., Zhu, Y., and Guan, J.L. (2013). FIP200 is required for maintenance and differentiation of postnatal neural stem cells. Nat. Neurosci. *16*, 532–542.

Wang, C., Chen, S., Yeo, S., Karsli-Uzunbas, G., White, E., Mizushima, N., Virgin, H.W., and Guan, J.L. (2016a). Elevated p62/SQSTM1 determines the fate of autophagy-deficient neural stem cells by increasing superoxide. J. Cell Biol. *212*, 545–560.

Wang, Q., Xue, L., Zhang, X., Bu, S., Zhu, X., and Lai, D. (2016b). Autophagy protects ovarian cancer-associated fibroblasts against oxidative stress. Cell Cycle *15*, 1376–1385.

Wang, S., Xia, P., Huang, G., Zhu, P., Liu, J., Ye, B., Du, Y., and Fan, Z. (2016c). FoxO1-mediated autophagy is required for NK cell development and innate immunity. Nat. Commun. *7*, 11023.

Wang, Y., Nartiss, Y., Steipe, B., McQuibban, G.A., and Kim, P.K. (2012). ROS-induced mitochondrial depolarization initiates PARK2/PARKIN-dependent mitochondrial degradation by autophagy. Autophagy *8*, 1462–1476.

Wang, Y., Zhang, N., Zhang, L., Li, R., Fu, W., Ma, K., Li, X., Wang, L., Wang, J., Zhang, H., et al. (2016d). Autophagy Regulates Chromatin Ubiquitination in DNA Damage Response through Elimination of SQSTM1/p62. Mol. Cell *63*, 34–48.

Wang, Y., Zhu, W., and Zhao, Y. (2016e). Autophagy regulates DNA repair by modulating histone ubiquitination. Mol. Cell. Oncol. *3556*, 1–2.

Wang, Z., Tian, A., Benchabane, H., Tacchelly-benites, O., Yang, E., Nojima, H., and Ahmed, Y. (2016f). The ADP-ribose polymerase Tankyrase regulates adult intestinal stem cell proliferation during homeostasis in Drosophila. Development *143*, 1710–1720.

Warren, R.L., Freeman, D.J., Pleasance, S., Watson, P., Moore, R.A., Cochrane, K., Allen-Vercoe, E., and Holt, R.A. (2013). Co-occurrence of anaerobic bacteria in colorectal carcinomas. Microbiome *1*, 16.

Watson, A., Riffelmacher, T., Stranks, A., Williams, O., De Boer, J., Cain, K., MacFarlane, M., McGouran, J., Kessler, B., Khandwala, S., et al. (2015). Autophagy limits proliferation and glycolytic metabolism in acute myeloid leukemia. Cell Death Discov. *1*, 15008.

Wei, J., Long, L., Yang, K., Guy, C., Shrestha, S., Chen, Z., Wu, C., Vogel, P., Neale, G., Green, D.R., et al. (2016). Autophagy enforces functional integrity of regulatory T cells by coupling environmental cues and metabolic homeostasis. Nat. Immunol. *17*, 277–285.

Wei, Y., Sinha, S., and Levine, B. (2008). Dual Role of JNK1-Mediated Phosphorylation of Bcl-2 in Autophagy and Apoptosis Regulation. Autophagy *4*, 949–951.

Weichert, W., Knösel, T., Bellach, J., Dietel, M., and Kristiansen, G. (2004). ALCAM/CD166 is overexpressed in colorectal carcinoma and correlates with shortened patient survival. J. Clin. Pathol. *57*, 1160–1164.

Wenger, T., Terawaki, S., Camosseto, V., Abdelrassoul, R., Mies, A., Catalan, N., Claudio, N., Clavarino, G., De Gassart, A., Rigotti, F.D.A., et al. (2012). Autophagy inhibition promotes defective neosynthesized proteins storage in ALIS, and induces redirection toward proteasome processing and MHCI-restricted presentation. Autophagy *8*, 350–363.

Whelan, K.A., Chandramouleeswaran, P.M., Tanaka, K., Natsuizaka, M., Guha, M., Srinivasan, S., Darling, D.S., Kita, Y., Natsugoe, S., Winkler, J.D., et al. (2017). Autophagy supports generation of cells with high CD44 expression via modulation of oxidative stress and Parkin-mediated mitochondrial clearance. Oncogene *36*, 4843–4858.

Whitney, M.L., Jefferson, L.S., and Kimball, S.R. (2009). ATF4 is necessary and sufficient for ER stress-induced upregulation of REDD1 expression. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *379*, 451–455.

Wild, P., Farhan, H., McEwan, D.G., Wagner, S., Rogov, V. V., Brady, N.R., Richter, B., Korac, J., Waidmann, O., Choudhary, C., et al. (2011). Phosphorylation of the Autophagy Receptor Optineurin Restricts Salmonella Growth. Science (80-.). *333*, 228–233.

Wildenberg, M.E., Vos, A.C.W., Wolfkamp, S.C.S., Duijvestein, M., Verhaar, A.P., Te Velde, A.A., van den Brink, G.R., and Hommes, D.W. (2012). Autophagy Attenuates the Adaptive Immune Response by Destabilizing the Immunologic Synapse. Gastroenterology *142*, 1493–1503.e6.

Wlodarska, M., Thaiss, C.A., Nowarski, R., Henao-Mejia, J., Zhang, J.P., Brown, E.M., Frankel, G., Levy, M., Katz, M.N., Philbrick, W.M., et al. (2014). NLRP6 inflammasome orchestrates the colonic host-microbial interface by regulating goblet cell mucus secretion. Cell *156*, 1045–1059.

Wong, Y.C., and Holzbaur, E.L.F. (2014). Optineurin is an autophagy receptor for damaged mitochondria in parkin-mediated mitophagy that is disrupted by an ALS-linked mutation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *111*, E4439–E4448.

Wright, N.A., and Irwin, M. (1982). The kinetics of villus cell populations in the mouse small intestine. I. Normal villi: the steady state requirement. Cell Tissue Kinet. *15*, 595–609.

Wu, S., Rhee, K.-J., Albesiano, E., Rabizadeh, S., Wu, X., Yen, H.-R., Huso, D.L., Brancati, F.L., Wick, E., McAllister, F., et al. (2009). A human colonic commensal promotes colon tumorigenesis via activation of T helper type 17 T cell responses. Nat. Med. *15*, 1016–1022.

Xie, X., Koh, J.Y., Price, S., White, E., and Mehnert, J.M. (2015). Atg7 overcomes senescence and promotes growth of BrafV600E-driven melanoma. Cancer Discov. *5*, 410–423.

Xu, F., Li, X., Yan, L., Yuan, N., Fang, Y., Cao, Y., Xu, L., Zhang, X., Xu, L., Ge, C., et al. (2017). Autophagy Promotes the Repair of Radiation-Induced DNA Damage in Bone Marrow Hematopoietic Cells via Enhanced STAT3 Signaling. Radiat. Res. *187*, 382–396.

Xu, H., Balakrishnan, K., Malaterre, J., Beasley, M., Yan, Y., Essers, J., Appeldoorn, E., Thomaszewski, J.M., Vazquez, M., Verschoor, S., et al. (2010). Rad21-Cohesin Haploinsufficiency Impedes DNA Repair and Enhances Gastrointestinal Radiosensitivity in Mice. PLoS One *5*, e12112.

Xu, X., Araki, K., Li, S., Han, J.-H., Ye, L., Tan, W.G., Konieczny, B.T., Bruinsma, M.W., Martinez, J., Pearce, E.L., et al. (2014). Autophagy is essential for effector CD8+ T cell survival and memory formation. Nat. Immunol. *15*, 1152–1161.

Xu, Y., Jagannath, C., Liu, X. De, Sharafkhaneh, A., Kolodziejska, K.E., and Eissa, N.T. (2007). Tolllike Receptor 4 Is a Sensor for Autophagy Associated with Innate Immunity. Immunity *27*, 135– 144.

Yamamoto, K., Sato, T., Matsui, T., Sato, M., Okada, T., Yoshida, H., Harada, A., and Mori, K. (2007). Transcriptional Induction of Mammalian ER Quality Control Proteins Is Mediated by Single or Combined Action of ATF6α and XBP1. Dev. Cell *13*, 365–376.

Yan, K., Chia, L., and Li, X. (2012). The intestinal stem cell markers Bmi1 and Lgr5 identify two functionally distinct populations. Pnas *109*, 466–471.

Yan, K.S., Gevaert, O., Zheng, G.X.Y., Anchang, B., Probert, C.S., Larkin, K.A., Davies, P.S., Cheng, Z., Kaddis, J.S., Han, A., et al. (2017). Intestinal Enteroendocrine Lineage Cells Possess Homeostatic and Injury-Inducible Stem Cell Activity. Cell Stem Cell *21*, 78–90.e6.

Yang, A., Rajeshkumar, N. V., Wang, X., Yabuuchi, S., Alexander, B.M., Chu, G.C., Von Hoff, D.D., Maitra, A., and Kimmelman, A.C. (2014). Autophagy Is Critical for Pancreatic Tumor Growth and Progression in Tumors with p53 Alterations. Cancer Discov. *4*, 905–913.

Yang, L., Li, P., Fu, S., Calay, E.S., and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2010). Defective hepatic autophagy in obesity promotes ER stress and causes insulin resistance. Cell Metab. *11*, 467–478.

Yang, Q., Bermingham, N. a, Finegold, M.J., and Zoghbi, H.Y. (2001). Requirement of Math1 for secretory cell lineage commitment in the mouse intestine. Science *294*, 2155–2158.

Yang, S., Wang, X., Contino, G., Liesa, M., Sahin, E., Ying, H., Bause, A., Li, Y., Stomme, J.M., Dell'Antonio, G., et al. (2011). Pancreatic cancers require autophagy for tumor growth. Genes

Dev. 25, 717-729.

Yazdankhah, M., Farioli-Vecchioli, S., Tonchev, A.B., Stoykova, A., and Cecconi, F. (2014). The autophagy regulators Ambra1 and Beclin 1 are required for adult neurogenesis in the brain subventricular zone. Cell Death Dis. *5*, e1403–e1403.

Yilmaz, H., Katajisto, P., Lamming, D.W., Gu, Y., Birsoy, K., Dursun, A., Yilmaz, V.O., Selig, M., Nielsen, G.P., Mino-kenudson, M., et al. (2012). mTORC1 in the Paneth cell niche couples intestinal stem-cell function to calorie intake. Nature *486*, 490–495.

Yin, X., Farin, H.F., van Es, J.H., Clevers, H., Langer, R., and Karp, J.M. (2014). Niche-independent high-purity cultures of Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells and their progeny. Nat. Methods *11*, 106–112.

Youle, R.J., and Narendra, D.P. (2011). Mechanisms of mitophagy. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *12*, 9–14.

Yu, D.-H., Gadkari, M., Zhou, Q., Yu, S., Gao, N., Guan, Y., Schady, D., Roshan, T.N., Chen, M.-H., Laritsky, E., et al. (2015). Postnatal epigenetic regulation of intestinal stem cells requires DNA methylation and is guided by the microbiome. Genome Biol. *16*, 211.

Yu, T., Guo, F., Yu, Y., Sun, T., Ma, D., Han, J., Qian, Y., Kryczek, I., Sun, D., Nagarsheth, N., et al. (2017). Fusobacterium nucleatum Promotes Chemoresistance to Colorectal Cancer by Modulating Autophagy. Cell *170*, 548–563.e16.

Yu, W.M., Liu, X., Shen, J., Jovanovic, O., Pohl, E.E., Gerson, S.L., Finkel, T., Broxmeyer, H.E., and Qu, C.K. (2013a). Metabolic regulation by the mitochondrial phosphatase PTPMT1 is required for hematopoietic stem cell differentiation. Cell Stem Cell *12*, 62–74.

Yu, X., Muñoz-Alarcón, A., Ajayi, A., Webling, K.E., Steinhof, A., Langel, Ü., and Ström, A.L. (2013b). Inhibition of autophagy via p53-mediated disruption of ULK1 in a SCA7 polyglutamine disease model. J. Mol. Neurosci. *50*, 586–599.

Yue, W., Hamai, A., Tonelli, G., Bauvy, C., Nicolas, V., Tharinger, H., Codogno, P., and Mehrpour, M. (2013). Inhibition of the autophagic flux by salinomycin in breast cancer stem-like/progenitor cells interferes with their maintenance. Autophagy *9*, 714–729.

Yue, Z., Jin, S., Yang, C., Levine, A.J., and Heintz, N. (2003). Beclin 1, an autophagy gene essential for early embryonic development, is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *100*, 15077–15082.

Zalckvar, E., Berissi, H., Mizrachy, L., Idelchuk, Y., Koren, I., Eisenstein, M., Sabanay, H., Pinkas-Kramarski, R., and Kimchi, A. (2009a). DAP-kinase-mediated phosphorylation on the BH3 domain of beclin 1 promotes dissociation of beclin 1 from Bcl-XL and induction of autophagy. EMBO Rep. *10*, 285–292.

Zalckvar, E., Berissi, H., Eisenstein, M., and Kimchi, A. (2009b). Phosphorylation of Beclin 1 by DAP-kinase promotes autophagy by weakening its interactions with Bcl-2 and Bcl-X L. Autophagy *5*, 720–722.

Zatloukal, K., Stumptner, C., Fuchsbichler, A., Heid, H., Schnoelzer, M., Kenner, L., Kleinert, R., Prinz, M., Aguzzi, A., and Denk, H. (2002). p62 Is a Common Component of Cytoplasmic Inclusions in Protein Aggregation Diseases. Am. J. Pathol. *160*, 255–263.

Zhang, H., Bosch-Marce, M., Shimoda, L.A., Tan, Y.S., Baek, J.H., Wesley, J.B., Gonzalez, F.J., and Semenza, G.L. (2008). Mitochondrial Autophagy Is an HIF-1-dependent Adaptive Metabolic Response to Hypoxia. J. Biol. Chem. *283*, 10892–10903.

Zhang, H., Kong, X., Kang, J., Su, J., Li, Y., Zhong, J., and Sun, L. (2009a). Oxidative Stress Induces Parallel Autophagy and Mitochondria Dysfunction in Human Glioma U251 Cells. Toxicol. Sci. *110*, 376–388.

Zhang, Y., Goldman, S., Baerga, R., Zhao, Y., Komatsu, M., and Jin, S. (2009b). Adipose-specific

deletion of autophagy-related gene 7 (atg7) in mice reveals a role in adipogenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *106*, 19860–19865.

Zhao, J., Brault, J.J., Schild, A., Cao, P., Sandri, M., Schiaffino, S., Lecker, S.H., and Goldberg, A.L. (2007). FoxO3 Coordinately Activates Protein Degradation by the Autophagic/Lysosomal and Proteasomal Pathways in Atrophying Muscle Cells. Cell Metab. *6*, 472–483.

Zhao, X.L., Lin, Y., Jiang, J., Tang, Z., Yang, S., Lu, L., Liang, Y., Liu, X., Tan, J., Hu, X.G., et al. (2017). High-mobility group box 1 released by autophagic cancer-associated fibroblasts maintains the stemness of luminal breast cancer cells. J. Pathol. *243*, 376–389.

Zheng, Y.T., Shahnazari, S., Brech, A., Lamark, T., Johansen, T., and Brumell, J.H. (2009). The Adaptor Protein p62/SQSTM1 Targets Invading Bacteria to the Autophagy Pathway. J. Immunol. *183*, 5909–5916.

Zhou, D., Zhang, Y., Wu, H., Barry, E., Yin, Y., Lawrence, E., Dawson, D., Willis, J.E., Markowitz, S.D., Camargo, F.D., et al. (2011). Mst1 and Mst2 protein kinases restrain intestinal stem cell proliferation and colonic tumorigenesis by inhibition of Yes-associated protein (Yap) overabundance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *108*, 1312–1320.

Zhu, H., Wang, D., Liu, Y., Su, Z., Zhang, L., Chen, F., Zhou, Y., Wu, Y., Yu, M., Zhang, Z., et al. (2013). Role of the Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha induced autophagy in the conversion of non-stem pancreatic cancer cells into CD133+ pancreatic cancer stem-like cells. Cancer Cell Int. *13*, 119.

Zhu, L., Gibson, P., Currle, D.S., Tong, Y., Richardson, R.J., Bayazitov, I.T., Poppleton, H., Zakharenko, S., Ellison, D.W., and Gilbertson, R.J. (2009). Prominin 1 marks intestinal stem cells that are susceptible to neoplastic transformation. Nature *457*, 603–607.

Zmijewski, J.W., Banerjee, S., Bae, H., Friggeri, A., Lazarowski, E.R., and Abraham, E. (2010). Exposure to Hydrogen Peroxide Induces Oxidation and Activation of AMP-activated Protein Kinase. J. Biol. Chem. *285*, 33154–33164.

Zou, Y., Chen, Z., He, X., He, X., Wu, X., Chen, Y., Wu, X., Wang, J., and Lan, P. (2015). High expression levels of unc-51-like kinase 1 as a predictor of poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. Oncol. Lett. *10*, 1583–1588.

APPENDIX



> L'épithélium intestinal est la plus grande surface du corps exposée à l'environnement. L'homéostasie intestinale repose essentiellement sur l'intégrité des cellules épithéliales, processus complexe impliquant un équilibre avec la flore intestinale, le système immunitaire et les dépenses énergétiques liées au métabolisme. L'autophagie est au centre de ces fonctions et permet à l'épithélium de s'adapter à son environnement et aux différentes situations de stress en participant aux défenses antibactériennes, en contrôlant la composition de la flore intestinale, la réponse immunitaire et en participant à l'homéostasie énergétique. Une altération de ce mécanisme de protection est observée dans les maladies inflammatoires chroniques de l'intestin et le cancer colorectal. <

L'épithélium intestinal dont la fonction principale est d'assurer la digestion et l'absorption des nutriments doit se préserver contre les diverses menaces infectieuses et non infectieuses liées à l'ingestion. Différents stratagèmes lui permettent de se protéger et d'assurer son homéostasie. Le processus, incessant, d'autorenouvellement de son intégrité permet d'éviter l'accumulation de stress et de mutations [1]. L'épithélium assure également une fonction de barrière physique et chimique essentielle pour lutter contre les agressions de l'environnement. Les cellules épithéliales sécrétrices jouent un rôle fondamental dans cette fonction de protection grâce à la couche de mucus, fabriquée par les cellules caliciformes (goblet cells, en anglais), et aux molécules antimicrobiennes synthétisées notamment par les cellules de Paneth dans l'intestin grêle. De nombreuses cellules immunitaires résidentes de la muqueuse intestinale sondent les différents antigènes auxquels l'organisme est exposé et dirigent une réponse immunitaire adaptée : l'organisme tolère en effet les antigènes présentés par les microbes commensaux ; une réponse inflammatoire locale est en revanche induite contre les pathogènes afin d'empêcher une éventuelle

L'autophagie, l'homéostasie intestinale et ses pathologies

Coralie Trentesaux¹⁻³, Marie Fraudeau¹⁻³, Béatrice Romagnolo¹⁻³



 ¹Inserm, U1016, Institut Cochin, département développement, reproduction et cancer, équipe oncogenèse des épithéliums digestifs,
24, rue du faubourg Saint-Jacques, 75014 Paris, France ;
²Cnrs, UMR8104, Paris, France ;
³Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, France. <u>beatrice.romagnolo@inserm.fr</u>

infection systémique. Le maintien de cette homéostasie intestinale est assuré par un grand nombre de mécanismes cellulaires parmi lesquels la participation de l'autophagie apparaît de plus en plus évidente. Dans cette revue, nous avons choisi de détailler les fonctions essentielles de ce processus dans l'homéostasie intestinale, en particulier ses rôles spécifiques au sein des cellules épithéliales, afin de mieux comprendre son implication dans les pathologies inflammatoires et tumorales.

L'autophagie, un senseur de perturbations environnementales

Au-delà des fonctions connues de l'autophagie basale qui permettent la dégradation des agrégats protéiques et des organites altérés, plusieurs études réalisées au cours de cette dernière décennie ont mis en évidence des rôles qui s'avèrent spécifiques des types cellulaires. Stimulée en condition de stress, l'autophagie joue un rôle fondamental dans la cellule épithéliale intestinale. Elle participe à la défense antimicrobienne et à la composition de la flore. Elle permet également le maintien du métabolisme, en cas de rupture d'apport énergétique.

L'autophagie, un mécanisme de défense contre l'infection bactérienne

Régulation de la fonction sécrétrice des cellules épithéliales impliquées dans la défense antimicrobienne

L'épithélium constitue une barrière physique et chimique essentielle permettant de se défendre contre les agressions potentielles de l'environnement. La couche de mucus représente une barrière physique. Son épaisseur varie le long du tube digestif. Elle est maximale dans l'iléon et le côlon où elle permet la rétention de molécules antimicrobiennes, comme les défensines et les IgA sécrétées, limitant ainsi la présence de bactéries au contact immédiat de l'épithélium. Les cellules de Paneth, situées à la base des cryptes intestinales au niveau de l'intestin grêle contribuent à la production de telles défensines. Elles contiennent des granules de sécrétion renfermant des peptides antimicrobiens et des enzymes comme le lysosyme, les α -défensines (cryptdines), l'angiogénine-4 et RegIIIy (regenerating islet-derived protein 3 gamma). Bien que certains peptides antimicrobiens soient libérés de façon constitutive, la détection par les cellules de signaux d'origine bactérienne stimule également leur sécrétion. Les cellules de Paneth permettent ainsi de contrôler et limiter la colonisation de l'épithélium par la flore commensale et le protègent des pathogènes [2]. Plusieurs études ont révélé que les acteurs moléculaires de l'autophagie étaient impliqués dans les fonctions sécrétrices des cellules caliciformes et des cellules de Paneth (Figure 1). En effet, l'inactivation de gènes d'autophagie comme Atg5 (autophagy-related gene 5), Atg7, Atg16L1, Atg4b ou l'expression d'un allèle hypomorphe¹ d'Atg16L1 ($Atg16L1^{HM}$), chez la souris, conduit à une désorganisation des granules de sécrétion des cellules de Paneth et à un sévère défaut d'exocytose des peptides antimicrobiens [3]. Une expression de TNF α (tumor necrosis factor alpha), de leptine, d'adiponectine et une activation de la signalisation PPAR (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor) sont de plus retrouvées dans les cellules de Paneth isolées des souris exprimant l'allèle *Atg16L1^{HM}* (souris ATG16L1^{HM}) [4]. Toutefois, il est important de noter que les défauts observés dans les cellules de Paneth déficientes en autophagie semblent dépendre de plusieurs facteurs. En particulier, les souris ATG16L1^{HM} élevées en animalerie exempte d'organismes pathogènes spécifiques, présentent des cellules de Paneth avec une morphologie normale. Leurs défauts de sécrétion peuvent cependant être rétablis par une infection virale chronique, par une souche de norovirus (MNVCR6, murine norovirus strain CR6) [5].

Contrairement aux cellules de Paneth, les granules de sécrétion des cellules caliciformes ne présentent pas de différences morphologiques majeures lorsque l'autophagie est inhibée. Ces cellules accumulent cependant leurs granules de mucines et présentent des défauts de sécrétion (Figure 1). De telles altérations ont été observées dans des modèles de souris invalidées pour différents gènes Atg (Atg5, Atg16L1, Atg7), soulignant ainsi l'implication de la machinerie autophagique dans le processus de sécrétion via une interaction directe avec les endosomes [6-9]. Ces différentes études mettent donc en évidence l'importance de l'autophagie dans les fonctions de la barrière épithéliale intestinale. Elles montrent aussi le rôle fondamental qu'exerce l'exocytose des peptides antimicrobiens et des mucines dans le maintien de l'homéostasie intestinale. Elles permettent d'envisager les mécanismes à l'origine des pathologies qui affectent les patients atteints de la maladie de Crohn qui présentent des polymorphismes touchant les gènes de l'autophagie.



Figure 1. Effets de la perte de gènes de l'autophagie dans la fonction des cellules épithéliales sécrétrices. La sécrétion d'une couche de mucus par les cellules caliciformes et de molécules antimicrobiennes par les cellules de Paneth est essentielle pour le maintien de l'homéostasie intestinale. Ces images de microscopie électronique en transmission montrent les défauts liés à la sécrétion dans ces deux lignages épithéliaux après invalidation chez la souris du gène Atg7. On note en particulier une diminution du nombre de granules de sécrétion matures et un stress du réticulum endoplasmique dans les cellules de Paneth, ainsi que l'accumulation de granules non sécrétés dans les cellules caliciformes. Des phénotypes semblables sont retrouvés dans les modèles murins invalidés pour d'autres gènes de l'autophagie (Atg16L1, Atg5, Atg4b). Échelle : 1 μm. Les granules de sécrétion (cellules de Paneth) et les vésicules contenant le mucus (cellules caliciformes) sont indiqués par des flèches jaunes (>). Le réticulum endoplasmique des cellules de Paneth est indiqué par des flèches rouges (>).

Autophagie, stress du réticulum endoplasmique et cellules de Paneth

Au-delà des défauts de sécrétion des cellules de Paneth, l'inhibition de l'autophagie dans ces cellules conduit à un stress du réticulum endoplasmique responsable de l'accumulation de protéines mal repliées non matures. La signalisation UPR (*unfolded protein response*) est alors activée afin de réduire la synthèse globale des protéines, d'induire celle des protéines

¹ Un allèle est hypomorphe lorsque le produit du gène a la même fonction que le gène sauvage, mais qu'il est moins exprimé.



Figure 2. Conséquences de l'inhibition de l'autophagie dans l'épithélium intestinal. Un blocage de l'autophagie entraîne de nombreuses perturbations de l'homéostasie intestinale. Dans l'épithélium, on retrouve notamment des défauts dans les cellules caliciformes et les cellules de Paneth conduisant à une altération de la couche de mucus, un défaut de sécrétion de peptides antimicrobiens et une augmentation de la perméabilité de la barrière épithéliale. Associées à ces anomalies, on observe une translocation bactérienne à travers l'épithélium et une altération de la composition de la flore. Des défauts d'autophagie affectent également la fonction des cellules immunitaires avec plusieurs conséquences proinflammatoires.

chaperonnes impliquées dans le repliement des autres protéines, et d'augmenter l'activité protéosomale. Toutefois, si ce processus adaptatif échoue, un mécanisme d'apoptose est alors déclenché. L'implication de l'autophagie dans la réponse au stress du réticulum a été démontrée chez les souris déficientes pour le gène XBP1 (X-Box binding protein 1) spécifiquement dans les cellules de Paneth, qui deviennent incapables d'activer la réponse UPR [10]. La délétion du gène XBP1 conduit à une activation du processus autophagique et à des anomalies des cellules de Paneth à l'origine d'une iléite (inflammation de l'iléon). L'invalidation additionnelle d'un gène de l'autophagie (Atg7 ou Atg1611), chez les souris XBP1-^{/-}, conduit à une inflammation très sévère. Dans les cellules de Paneth, l'autophagie agit donc conjointement avec la réponse UPR, pour réguler l'homéostasie intestinale.

Implication de l'autophagie dans la composition de la flore intestinale et le contrôle de l'inflammation

La dérégulation de l'autophagie dans l'épithélium intestinal, à l'origine de la perte de capacité de production des défenses antimicrobiennes innées, conduit à des modifications de la flore intestinale. Deux études indépendantes, dont la nôtre, ont en effet récemment démontré que, chez la souris, l'invalidation d'Atg7 dans l'épithélium intestinal résultait en une altération de la composition de la flore intestinale (dysbiose), avec une plus forte prévalence du phylum Firmicutes et particulièrement de la classe des Clostridiales [9, 11], et un recrutement de différentes populations immunitaires [11]. Elle confère également une hyper-sensibilité à la colite induite par le dextran sulfate de sodium (DSS)² [9] qui est consécutive à la modification de la flore intestinale. Chez l'homme, l'iléon inflammé de patients atteints de la maladie de Crohn et porteurs du polymorphisme T300A du gène Atg16L1, présente également une dysbiose qui est marquée par une augmentation des Enterobacteriaceae, des Bacteroidaceae et des Fusobacteriaceae [12].

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ l'utilisation du DSS représente un modèle de colite induite chimiquement communément utilisé.

ynthèse 🚱 REVUES

La xénophagie

L'effet protecteur de l'autophagie vis-à-vis du microbiote intestinal est également renforcé par sa capacité à dégrader les bactéries présentes dans les cellules épithéliales intestinales et les macrophages. Ce processus sélectif de l'autophagie, appelé xénophagie, permet de cibler des bactéries intracellulaires, localisées dans le cytosol ou dans des vacuoles, et de limiter leur croissance. Dans la majorité des cas, des vésicules séquestrent les bactéries qui sont ensuite éliminées lors de la fusion avec les lysosomes. La dégradation des pathogènes permet ainsi de délivrer les antigènes microbiens aux molécules du complexe majeur d'histocompatibilité (CMH) de classe I et de classe II portées par les cellules présentatrices d'antigènes. L'autophagie participe ainsi directement à l'activation et au développement de la réponse lymphocytaire (lymphocytes de type Th[helper]1, Th2, Th17 et lymphocytes T cytotoxiques) permettant l'élimination des micro-organismes pathogènes. Une induction rapide de l'autophagie dans l'épithélium se produit lors d'infections de souris axéniques³ ou « conventionnelles » par des bactéries invasives pathogènes comme Salmonella Tiphimurium, Shigella flexneri ou des souches d'Escherichia coli particulières retrouvées associées à la maladie de Crohn, les AIEC (adherent-invasive Escherichia coli), mais également par des souches commensales comme *Enterococcus faecalis* [13-16]. Ces mêmes infections ne suscitent pas de réponse autophagique chez les souris dont les cellules épithéliales sont déficientes pour les gènes Atg5, Atg16L1 ou Atg7. Ajoutées aux défauts de sécrétion des cellules de Paneth et des cellules caliciformes, ces anomalies permettent la dissémination bactérienne et une infection systémique.

Rôle de l'autophagie dans la régulation métabolique

La carence nutritionnelle représente un stress majeur à l'origine de l'activation de l'autophagie par sa capacité d'inhiber mTORC1 (mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1), d'activer l'AMPK (AMPactivated protein kinase) et de déacétyler des gènes clés de l'autophagie (Atg5, Atg7 et Atg8), grâce à SIRT1 (Sirtuin 1). Des données expérimentales et des observations cliniques ont clairement démontré l'influence des nutriments et de leur disponibilité sur l'homéostasie intestinale. Au-delà de leur rôle dans l'immunité innée, les cellules de Paneth agissent comme senseur nutritionnel capable de stimuler la prolifération des cellules souches à la suite de l'inhibition de mTORC1 [17, 18]. Ainsi, la restriction calorique stimule la prolifération des cellules souches intestinales en affectant leur niche [17, 18]. Les cellules de Paneth interviennent également dans le maintien des cellules souches : elles sont ainsi nécessaires à la prolifération et la genèse d'organoïdes en culture à partir de cellules souches intestinales isolées [19, 20]. Notons également que la survie d'organoïdes issus de cellules souches sauvages et de cellules de Paneth déficientes en autophagie est altérée, confortant l'implication de l'autophagie dans la niche des cellules souches [7]. Étant donné l'importance de l'autophagie dans les processus de sécrétion des cellules de Paneth et de sa régulation par mTORC1, il apparaît fondamental d'étudier son implication directe au cours de la régénération cellulaire associée à la restriction calorique.

La déplétion en acides aminés représente un autre contexte métabolique connu pour stimuler l'autophagie [21]. En effet, des travaux récents suggèrent l'implication de l'autophagie dans le contrôle de l'inflammation et de l'intégrité de l'épithélium intestinal dans le contexte de la carence en acides aminés [22]. Ainsi, l'invalidation du gène GCN2 (general controlled nonrepressed 2), codant une kinase sensible au déficit en acides aminés, dans les cellules épithéliales, conduit à une inflammation très sévère caractérisée par une augmentation des lymphocytes T CD4⁺ produisant de l'IL(interleukine)-17 (une réponse immunitaire souvent associée aux colites), ainsi qu'une perte cryptique dans le côlon, après administration de DSS. Un lien entre effets de GCN2 sur l'homéostasie intestinale et autophagie a été suggéré. En effet, les souris invalidées pour les gènes Atg16L1, Atg5 ou Atg7 présentent également une sensibilité accrue au traitement par le DSS et révèlent des phénotypes qui sont similaires à ceux des souris GCN2-/-. Ces résultats renforcent donc la notion d'un rôle clé de l'autophagie dans le contrôle de l'homéostasie intestinale selon la disponibilité en acides aminés.

Plusieurs études suggèrent que la restriction calorique et l'activation de l'autophagie pourraient contribuer à l'allongement de la vie de nombreuses espèces animales [23, 24]. Chez le nématode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, les vers invalidés pour le gène eat-2, prédisposés à manger moins, vivent plus longtemps [25]. Ce gain de longévité des vers mutants serait le résultat d'une activation de l'autophagie dans l'intestin et d'une préservation de la perméabilité intestinale, qui s'altère au cours du vieillissement. D'autres données obtenues chez C. elegans et chez la drosophile suggèrent également que le maintien de l'homéostasie intestinale serait un gage de longévité. L'augmentation de la perméabilité intestinale pourrait donc participer au vieillissement en affectant le métabolisme, la réponse inflammatoire et le microbiote [26-28]. Ces résultats ouvrent ainsi de nouvelles pistes intéressantes à explorer chez les mammifères afin de mieux comprendre les effets de l'autophagie intestinale sur la longévité.

Autophagie et pathologies intestinales

Au vu des fonctions essentielles assurées par l'autophagie, il n'est pas surprenant qu'une dérégulation de ce processus contribue à des pathologies intestinales, en particulier, inflammatoires et tumorales.

³ Se dit d'un animal prélevé stérilement par césarienne, élevé toute sa vie à l'abri de toute contamination microbienne et dont le tube digestif ne contient aucun microorganisme.



Figure 3. Effets anti-tumoraux de l'inhibition de l'autophagie dans l'épithélium intestinal. Chez la souris, l'inhibition de l'autophagie empêche l'initiation tumorale via ses effets sur la flore intestinale et sur le microenvironnement immunitaire. Elle bloque la progression tumorale en induisant plusieurs stress menant à l'arrêt du cycle cellulaire et à l'apoptose des cellules tumorales.

Autophagie et prédisposition à la maladie de Crohn

La maladie de Crohn (MC) est une maladie inflammatoire complexe reposant sur des facteurs génétiques et environnementaux responsables d'un déséquilibre entre microbiote, épithélium intestinal et système immunitaire. Elle se caractérise en particulier par une augmentation de la perméabilité épithéliale, une dysbiose, un défaut de sécrétion de peptides antimicrobiens et de mucus, un stress du réticulum endoplasmique, une augmentation de la production de cytokines pro-inflammatoires (IL-1 β , IL-6, IFN γ [interféron gamma], TNF α , etc.) et une réponse immunitaire de type Th17. Plusieurs gènes de susceptibilité ont été décrits pour la maladie de Crohn : ATG16L1 et IRGM (immunity-related GTPase M), qui participent au processus autophagique; NOD2 (nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain 2), un récepteur de type NLR (Nod-like receptor) de l'immunité innée qui est également impliqué dans la régulation de l'autophagie. Un polymorphisme du gène ATG16L1 a été associé à la maladie [29] : le variant T300A du gène (*ATG16L1*^{T300A}) favorise en effet le clivage de la protéine par les caspases-3 et -7, conduisant à une diminution de son expression [7, 30]. Dans les modèles murins exprimant l'allèle ATG16L1^{T300A}, un défaut des cellules de Paneth, de xénophagie et une sécrétion accrue de la cytokine pro-inflammatoire IL-1eta par les macrophages sont observés [7]. D'autres modifications responsables d'une perte de régulation de l'autophagie et entraînant un défaut de xénophagie [31] sont retrouvées chez les patients atteints de maladie de Crohn : une délétion en amont du gène IRGM et plusieurs polymorphismes non codants. Les polymorphismes du gène NOD2 ont été les premiers à avoir été associés à la maladie. Ils restent à ce jour les facteurs de risques les plus significatifs [32]. NOD2 code un récepteur intracellulaire qui reconnaît le muramyl-dipeptide (MDP) présent à la surface de certaines bactéries. La détection du MDP par NOD2 induit une activation de la voie NFKB (nuclear factor kappa B) à l'origine d'une réponse immunitaire inflammatoire. Un « ménage à trois » faisant intervenir des interactions fonctionnelles entre NOD2, ATG16L1 et IRGM a été décrit pour la prise en charge intracellulaire des pathogènes et l'activation par le MDP illustrant le rôle de l'autophagie dans ce processus [33-35]. Via l'autophagie, NOD2 pourrait ainsi jouer un rôle essentiel dans le maintien de l'équilibre de la flore intestinale. Des études d'association ont également permis d'identifier d'autres polymorphismes associés à la maladie de Crohn dans des gènes d'autophagie, ULK1 (Unc-51-like autophagy-activating kinase 1), NDP52 (nuclear domain 10 protein 52), ainsi que dans des gènes pouvant affecter LRRK2 (leucine-rich repeat kinase 2) et PTPN2 (protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 2). Toutefois, les conséquences fonctionnelles de ces polymorphismes dans la pathologie restent à démontrer.

Bien que l'autophagie apparaisse à l'interface des différentes fonctions biologiques altérées dans la maladie de Crohn, les polymorphismes des gènes impliqués dans l'autophagie sont des facteurs de risques et n'ont actuellement pas de lien causal direct [29]. Des modèles murins
exprimant les variants des gènes IRGM ou ATG16L1 sont plus sensibles aux effets du DSS [4, 7, 36]; ils ne développent cependant pas d'inflammation intestinale spontanée.

Autophagie et cancer colorectal

L'autophagie est apparue récemment comme un facteur favorisant le développement du cancer colorectal (CRC). Une augmentation de l'expression de plusieurs marqueurs de l'autophagie (GABARAP [gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-associated protein], ULK1, LC3, Atg5, Atg7 ou Beclin-1) fréquemment retrouvée dans des lignées et dans des tissus humains isolés de CRC, est généralement associée à un mauvais pronostic. L'autophagie limiterait également l'action de certaines chimiothérapies [11, 37-41]. Lors d'une carence nutritionnelle, mimant les contraintes liées aux défauts de vascularisation des tumeurs, l'activation de l'autophagie permet la survie des cellules coliques cancéreuses. Deux études récentes ont renforcé cette notion dans des modèles murins de cancérogenèse colique. L'altération de l'autophagie, induite par la délétion conditionnelle du gène Atg7 dans les cellules épithéliales intestinales, affecte en effet la progression tumorale induite par la perte du gène suppresseur de tumeur APC (adenomatous polyposis coli) [11]. L'inhibition de l'autophagie, dans les cellules tumorales intestinales, est responsable d'un arrêt du cycle cellulaire, ce qui illustre l'addiction des cellules tumorales au processus d'autophagie, comme cela a été décrit pour les cancers mammaires, du poumon et du pancréas [42-44]. Les cellules tumorales intestinales n'exprimant pas le gène Atg7 présentent une diminution d'expression des enzymes de la glycolyse, une activation de p53, et du senseur énergétique universel AMPK. Des données similaires ont été obtenues dans un modèle murin invalidé pour le gène Atg5 dans les cellules épithéliales intestinales, et traité par le DSS et un agent carcinogène (AOM, azoxyméthane) [45]. Les cellules tumorales déficientes en autophagie présentent un stress du réticulum endoplasmique qui active la signalisation UPR qui est probablement inefficace, ce qui contribue à la mort des cellules cancéreuses. Il est donc vraisemblable que le rôle suppresseur de tumeur, ayant pour origine l'inhibition de l'autophagie dans l'intestin, illustre, là encore, l'implication fondamentale de l'autophagie dans le contrôle du métabolisme tumoral. L'autophagie permet aux cellules cancéreuses de s'adapter aux différentes situations de stress, de répondre aux nécessités énergétiques et en biomasse, pour permettre l'augmentation de leur division.

La perte du gène Atg7 dans la cellule épithéliale intestinale conduit à des modifications de la flore intestinale. L'utilisation d'une antibiothérapie suggère que ces modifications pourraient être responsables de la réponse immunitaire antitumorale. Les mécanismes restent cependant à définir. Ces données sont à relier à celles montrant que les patients homozygotes pour le variant ATG16L1^{T300A} présentent une activation de la signalisation interféron de type I et une meilleure survie [46]. L'autophagie apparaît donc être un partenaire à part entière dans le développement tumoral intestinal en agissant non seulement sur la cellule cancéreuse en contrôlant son métabolisme, mais également en intervenant sur le microenvironnement immunitaire et bactérien, deux alliés fondamentaux pour lutter contre le cancer.

Conclusion

Cinquante ans après la découverte de l'autophagie qui faisait suite à l'identification des lysosomes par Christian de Duve, la caractérisation des phénomènes biologiques qui lui sont associés permettent de mieux comprendre l'homéostasie intestinale, le développement tumoral et les maladies inflammatoires chroniques de l'intestin. Les données collectées ont ainsi permis d'illustrer l'importance de l'autophagie dans l'homéostasie de l'épithélium intestinal. Ce processus lui permet en effet de s'adapter aux nombreuses situations de stress auxquelles seul l'intestin est exposé, qu'elles soient intrinsèques, de par sa régénération incessante, ou liées à son microenvironnement. La dérégulation de l'autophagie a des effets qui sont spécifiques à certains types cellulaires présents au sein de cet épithélium. En particulier, des défauts touchant les cellules de Paneth ont été largement décrits. La sensibilité particulière de ces cellules pourrait être liée à leur longue durée de vie (environ 40 jours, les autres cellules épithéliales différenciées sont renouvelées tous les 3 à 4 jours), à leur production protéique élevée, ou à un rôle, non conventionnel, des protéines de l'autophagie spécifiques aux fonctions uniques de ces cellules.

L'inhibition de l'autophagie dans des modèles murins génétiquement modifiés suggère qu'une altération du processus, chez les patients à risque de développer des CRC, pourrait représenter une nouvelle stratégie thérapeutique. La mise en place d'une réponse immunitaire antitumorale, qui serait possible après inhibition de l'autophagie, pourrait accroître l'efficacité des traitements d'immunothérapie. Compte tenu de l'implication des cellules de Paneth dans la niche des cellules souches et du lien entre autophagie et cancer, il semble important, à présent, de déterminer si l'autophagie participe directement à la survie ou à l'activité des cellules souches intestinales. Son implication dans la maladie de Crohn apparaît plus complexe. L'identification d'autres facteurs génétiques ou environnementaux agissant de concert avec les polymorphismes déjà décrits pour leur rôle dans l'inflammation chronique est une étape fondamentale pour le développement de nouvelles cibles thérapeutiques et pour la prédiction des risques face à la maladie. ◊

SUMMARY

Contribution of autophagy to intestinal homeostasis and pathology

The intestinal epithelial cells are crucial mediators of intestinal homeostasis. The intestinal epithelium is the largest of the body's mucosal surfaces exposed to the environment. Intestinal homeostasis is essentially based on the maintenance of intestinal epithelial cell integrity, a complex process involving a balance between the intestinal flora, the immune system and the energy expenses linked to metabolism. Autophagy appears to be central to these functions and allows the epithelium to adapt to its environment and different stress situations by participating in antibacterial defense, by controlling the composition of the intestinal flora and the immune response, and by participating in energy homeostasis. Alterations of this protective mechanism are involved in inflammatory bowel diseases and colorectal cancer. **◊**

LIENS D'INTÉRÊT

Les auteurs déclarent n'avoir aucun lien d'intérêt concernant les données publiées dans cet article.

RÉFÉRENCES

- Barker N. Adult intestinal stem cells: critical drivers of epithelial homeostasis and regeneration. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2014; 15: 19-33.
- Vaishnava S, Behrendt CL, Ismail AS, et al. Paneth cells directly sense gut commensals and maintain homeostasis at the intestinal host-microbial interface. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008; 105: 20858-63.
- Stappenbeck TS. The role of autophagy in Paneth cell differentiation and secretion. Mucosal Immunol 2010; 3:8-10.
- Cadwell K, Liu JY, Brown SL, et al. A key role for autophagy and the autophagy gene Atg16l1 in mouse and human intestinal Paneth cells. Nature 2008; 456: 259-63.
- Cadwell K, Patel KK, Maloney NS, et al. Virus-plus-susceptibility gene interaction determines Crohn's disease gene Atg16L1 phenotypes in intestine. Cell 2010; 141: 1135-45.
- Patel KK, Miyoshi H, Beatty WL, et al. Autophagy proteins control goblet cell function by potentiating reactive oxygen species production. EMBO J 2013; 32: 3130-44.
- Lassen KG, Kuballa P, Conway KL, et al. Atg16L1 T300A variant decreases selective autophagy resulting in altered cytokine signaling and decreased antibacterial defense. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014; 111: 7741-6.
- Levy J, Romagnolo B. Autophagy, microbiota and intestinal oncogenesis. Oncotarget 2015; 6: 34067-8.
- Tsuboi K, Nishitani M, Takakura A, et al. Autophagy protects against colitis by the maintenance of normal gut microflora and secretion of mucus. J Biol Chem 2015; 290: 20511-26.
- Adolph TE, Tomczak MF, Niederreiter L, et al. Paneth cells as a site of origin for intestinal inflammation. Nature 2013; 503: 272-6.
- Levy J, Cacheux W, Bara MA, et al. Intestinal inhibition of Atg7 prevents tumour initiation through a microbiome-influenced immune response and suppresses tumour growth. Nat Cell Biol 2015; 17:1062-73.
- 12. Sadaghian Sadabad M, Regeling A, de Goffau MC, et al. The ATG16L1-T300A allele impairs clearance of pathosymbionts in the inflamed ileal mucosa of Crohn's disease patients. Gut 2015; 64: 1546-52.
- Benjamin JL, Sumpter R, Jr., Levine B, Hooper LV. Intestinal epithelial autophagy is essential for host defense against invasive bacteria. *Cell Host Microbe* 2013; 13: 723-34.
- 14. Chang SY, Lee SN, Yang JY, et al. Autophagy controls an intrinsic host defense to bacteria by promoting epithelial cell survival: a murine model. PLoS One 2013; 8: e81095.
- Conway KL, Kuballa P, Song JH, et al. Atg1611 is required for autophagy in intestinal epithelial cells and protection of mice from Salmonella infection. Gastroenterology 2013; 145:1347-57.
- Mimouna S, Bazin M, Mograbi B, et al. HIF1A regulates xenophagic degradation of adherent and invasive Escherichia coli (AIEC). Autophagy 2014; 10: 2333-45.
- Yilmaz OH, Katajisto P, Lamming DW, et al. mTORC1 in the Paneth cell niche couples intestinal stem-cell function to calorie intake. Nature 2012; 486: 490-5.
- Igarashi M, Guarente L. mTORC1 and SIRT1 cooperate to foster expansion of gut adult stem cells during calorie restriction. *Cell* 2016; 166: 436–50.
- Durand A, Donahue B, Peignon G, et al. Functional intestinal stem cells after Paneth cell ablation induced by the loss of transcription factor Math1 (Atoh1). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2012; 109: 8965-70.
- Sato T, van & JH, Snippert HJ, et al. Paneth cells constitute the niche for Lgr5 stem cells in intestinal crypts. Nature 2011; 469: 415–8.
- Galluzzi L, Pietrocola F, Levine B, Kroemer G. Metabolic control of autophagy. Cell 2014; 159: 1263-76.
- 22. Ravindran R, Loebbermann J, Nakaya HI, et al. The amino acid sensor GCN2 controls gut inflammation by inhibiting inflammasome activation. Nature 2016; 531: 523-7.
- Fontana L, Partridge L. Promoting health and longevity through diet: from model organisms to humans. Cell 2015; 161: 106-18.

- Madeo F, Zimmermann A, Maiuri MC, Kroemer G. Essential role for autophagy in life span extension. J Clin Invest 2015; 125: 85-93.
- 25. Gelino S, Chang JT, Kumsta C, et al. Intestinal autophagy improves healthspan and longevity in C. elegans during dietary restriction. PLoS Genet 2016; 12: e1006135.
- 26. Rera M, Clark RI, Walker DW. Intestinal barrier dysfunction links metabolic and inflammatory markers of aging to death in Drosophila. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2012; 109: 21528–33.
- Guo L, Karpac J, Tran SL, Jasper H. PGRP-SC2 promotes gut immune homeostasis to limit commensal dysbiosis and extend lifespan. *Cell* 2014; 156:109-22.
- 28. Clark RI, Salazar A, Yamada R, et al. Distinct shifts in microbiota composition during Drosophila aging impair intestinal function and drive mortality. Cell Rep 2015; 12: 1656-67.
- 29. Rioux JD, Xavier RJ, Taylor KD, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for Crohn disease and implicates autophagy in disease pathogenesis. Nat Genet 2007; 39: 596-604.
- Murthy A, Li Y, Peng I, et al. A Crohn's disease variant in Atg1611 enhances its degradation by caspase 3. Nature 2014; 506: 456-62.
- Brest P, Lapaquette P, Souidi M, et al. A synonymous variant in IRGM alters a binding site for miR-196 and causes deregulation of IRGM-dependent xenophagy in Crohn's disease. Nat Genet 2011; 43: 242-5.
- 32. Hampe J, Cuthbert A, Croucher PJ, et al. Association between insertion mutation in NOD2 gene and Crohn's disease in German and British populations. Lancet 2001; 357: 1925-8.
- 33. Travassos LH, Carneiro LA, Ramjeet M, et al. Nodl and Nod2 direct autophagy by recruiting ATG16L1 to the plasma membrane at the site of bacterial entry. Nat Immunol 2010; 11: 55-62.
- 34. Cooney R, Baker J, Brain O, et al. NOD2 stimulation induces autophagy in dendritic cells influencing bacterial handling and antigen presentation. Nat Med 2010; 16: 90-7.
- Chauhan S, Mandell MA, Deretic V. IRGM governs the core autophagy machinery to conduct antimicrobial defense. *Mol Cell* 2015; 58: 507-21.
- 36. Liu B, Gulati AS, Cantillana V, et al. Irgm1-deficient mice exhibit Paneth cell abnormalities and increased susceptibility to acute intestinal inflammation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2013; 305: G573-84.
- Miao Y, Zhang Y, Chen Y, et al. GABARAP is overexpressed in colorectal carcinoma and correlates with shortened patient survival. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2010; 57: 257-61.
- Zou Y, Chen Z, He X, et al. High expression levels of unc-51-like kinase 1 as a predictor of poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. Oncol Lett 2015; 10: 1583-8.
- 39. Schmitz KJ, Ademi C, Bertram S, et al. Prognostic relevance of autophagyrelated markers LC3, p62/sequestosome 1, Beclin-1 and ULK1 in colorectal cancer patients with respect to KRAS mutational status. World J Surg Oncol 2016; 14: 189.
- 40. Guo GF, Jiang WQ, Zhang B, et al. Autophagy-related proteins Beclin-1 and LC3 predict cetuximab efficacy in advanced colorectal cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2011; 17: 4779-86.
- 41. Park JM, Huang S, Wu TT, et al. Prognostic impact of Beclin 1, p62/ sequestosome 1 and LC3 protein expression in colon carcinomas from patients receiving 5-fluorouracil as adjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer Biol Ther 2013; 14:100-7.
- 42. Guo JY, Chen HY, Mathew R, et al. Activated Ras requires autophagy to maintain oxidative metabolism and tumorigenesis. Genes Dev 2011; 25: 460-70.
- 43. Rao S, Tortola L, Perlot T, et al. A dual role for autophagy in a murine model of lung cancer. Nat Commun 2014; 5 : 3056.
- Rosenfeldt MT, O'Prey J, Morton JP, et al. p53 status determines the role of autophagy in pancreatic tumour development. Nature 2013; 504: 296-300.
- 45. Sakitani K, Hirata Y, Hikiba Y, et al. Inhibition of autophagy exerts anticolon cancer effects via apoptosis induced by p53 activation and ER stress. BMC Cancer 2015; 15: 795.
- 46. Grimm WA, Messer JS, Murphy SF, et al. The Thr300Ala variant in ATG16L1 is associated with improved survival in human colorectal cancer and enhanced production of type I interferon. Gut 2015; 65: 456-64.

CHAPTER ONE

Intestinal Stem Cells and Their Defining Niche

Coralie Trentesaux, Béatrice Romagnolo¹

INSERM U1016, Institut Cochin, CNRS UMR8104, Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France ¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: beatrice.romagnolo@inserm.fr

Contents

<u>.</u> -	The Mammalian Intestinal Epithelium	,
5.	ISC and Their Markers	£
	2.1 Historical Models of ISC	c
	2.2 Markers for CBC Cells	2
	2.3 Markers for +4 Stem Cells	9
	2.4 Current View of ISC	7
	2.5 Progenitors as Potential ISC	œ
ъ.	Signaling Pathways Regulating Crypt Homeostasis	6
	3.1 Wht/β-Catenin Signaling	6
	3.2 Hedgehog, BMP, and PI3K/PTEN Signaling	14
	3.3 Notch Signaling	15
4.	Organoid Culture and the Experimental Niche	17
5.	The Epithelial Niche: Paneth Cells and Deep Crypt Secretory Cells	19
6.	The Mesenchymal Niche	23
۲.	The Microbial Niche	25
Rei	ferences	27

>1. THE MAMMALIAN INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

The adult mammalian intestinal epithelium consists of a single layer of cells folded upon itself creating cavities called crypts of Lieberkühn surrounded by connective mesenchyme. In the small intestine, the crypts are almost entirely composed of proliferative cells, with the exception of Paneth cells, a lineage first recognized for their ability to secrete antimicrobial peptides (AMP) that protect the crypt environment. As will be discussed later, these cells are also largely involved in the intestinal stem cell (ISC) niche.

© 2018 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

-

which make up over 80% of intestinal epithelial cells and whose function is to absorb dietary nutrients from the lumen. In addition, villi contain goblet cells that secrete a protective layer of mucus around the epithelium and enteroendocrine cells that produce hormones (Gordon, 1989). Three rarer microfold (M) cells associated with lymphoid follicles called Peyer's patches intestine, from the duodenum to the ileum, the length of the villi diminishes panies a diminishing need for absorption and a considerable increase in microbe density (Savage, 1977). The colon, where stool is compacted for excretion, has a flat surface with no villi; the bottom third of colonic crypts Carger epithelial folds called villi protrude outward into the intestinal lumen and less-characterized cell types are also found within the differentiated epithelium: tuft cells (Gerbe et al., 2011), cup cells (Madara, 1982), and (Kraehenbuhl & Neutra, 2000). Along the cephalocaudal axis of the small increases (Cheng, 1974; Darmoul & Ouellette, 1996). This gradient accomcontains proliferative cells while the upper crypt is differentiated. Microbe density is at its greatest in this segment of the intestine and, accordingly, the and contain exclusively differentiated cells. These are primarily enterocytes, and the amount of secretory cells namely goblet cells and Paneth cells, proportion of mucus-secreting goblet cells is considerably higher (Savage, (977). Paneth cells, however, are notably absent in the colon.

reaching the villus, then continue their columnar migration to the tip of crypt basal columnar cells (CBC) reside at the crypt bottom alongside Paneth 2016; Sato, van Es, et al., 2011). CBC give rise both to new CBC and to progenitors called transit amplifying (TA) cells that will rapidly proliferate and progressively differentiate as they migrate up the crypt. TA daughters will either be absorptive lineage progenitors, giving rise to enterocytes, or secretory progenitors that will give rise to goblet, enteroendocrine, and 1985). In the small intestine, cells become terminally differentiated upon as they migrate down to the bottom of the crypt. The position of a Paneth 1992). Three to 16 (depending on the study) actively dividing ISC, called Paneth cells (Bjerknes & Cheng, 1999; Schmidt, Wilkinson, & Ponder, the villus, where they are expelled and die in a process termed anoikis. Paneth cells, unlike the other progenitor lineages, terminally differentiate cell is therefore linked to its maturity, with the oldest and more mature with around two-thirds of the cells of each crypt dividing every 12 h, producing over 300 million new cells each day (Gordon, Schmidt, & Roth, cells in the small intestine and related secretory cells in the colon (Altmann, 1983; Bjerknes & Cheng, 1981b; Potten & Loeffler, 1987; Sasaki et al., The adult mouse intestine contains approximately 1.1 million crypts,

cells takes only 4-5 days (Cheng & Leblond, 1974b; Wright & Irwin, 1982). The 6-8-week lifespan of Paneth cells further distinguishes them from other Paneth cells found at the crypt base (Bjerknes & Cheng, 1981a). The entire process of proliferation, differentiation, and expulsion of intestinal epithelial differentiated cell types of the intestinal epithelium (Ireland, Houghton, Howard, & Winton, 2005).

as the gene expression profile of the isografts match those of the normal tissue gene programs are also conserved in cultured organoids from murine or human crypts (Middendorp et al., 2014), indicating that this "memory" is Epithelial patterning occurs not just along the crypt-villus axis, but also cutaneously develop into a histologically normal epithelium with a well-Strikingly, despite the absence of luminal contents, secretory goblet cells and Furthermore, the proportion and distribution of epithelial cell types as well segment it came from (Rubin, Roth, Birkenmeier, & Gordon, 1991; how retain a memory of their position-specific program. Region-specific intrinsic to the epithelium. Strengthening this notion, small intestinal organoids reimplanted into colonic epithelium reconstitute a self-renewing epithelium with features of the small intestine (Fukuda, Mizutani, & along the cephalocaudal axis. Fetal small intestinal isografts implanted subdeveloped lamina propria, enteric nervous system, and smooth muscle layer. Paneth cells are present, and the grafted tissue undergoes active peristalsis. Rubin, Swietlicki, Roth, & Gordon, 1992). This suggests that ISC some-Mochizuki, 2014).

2. ISC AND THEIR MARKERS 2.1 Historical Models of ISC

presence of CBC, undifferentiated proliferative cells capable of giving rise to the different intestinal epithelial lineages (and therefore said to be (Bjerknes & Cheng, 1999, 2002; Cheng & Leblond, 1974a). At the same Two historical models of ISC have been originally proposed but direct evi-Pioneer work by Cheng, Bjerknes, and Leblond using electron microscopy, H-thymidine incorporation, and clonal mutagenesis demonstrated the multipotent), at positions 1-4 from the bottom of the intestinal crypt time, works led by Potten recognized cells at the fourth position from the crypt bottom (+4) as capable of long-term ³H-thymidine label retention The identity of ISC has remained a subject of debate over the past decades. dence to illustrate their stemness was put forward only in the last decade.

cells. Without specific molecular markers to isolate them, it remained unclear (Potten, Hume, Reid, & Cairns, 1978), an established property of tissue stem whether the mitotically active CBC or the relatively quiescent labelretaining cells (LRC) ought to be considered as the bona fide ISC (Fig. 1).



involved in the regulation intestinal stem cells (ISC). The intestinal epithelium consists of a single layer of cells divided into two compartments: the differentiated compartment enterocytes and secretory goblet cells while the proliferative crypts harbor transit amplifying (TA) cells that progressively differentiate as they migrate up the crypt, secretory niche cells (Paneth cells in the small intestine, deep crypt secretory (DCS) cells in the colon), and ISC. Two types of ISC have been proposed: crypt basal columnar cells (LRC) at the +4 position expressing markers like Bmi1 have been proposed as reserve SC. Several signals-most notably canonical Wnt signaling-regulate ISC proliferation, differentiation, and response to microenvironmental changes. These signals come from epithelial cells, particularly Paneth or DCS cells, from mesenchymal cells and extracellular Fig. 1 Morphology of the small intestinal and colonic epithelium and niche signals (villi in the small intestine, crypt tops in the colon) primarily contain absorptive (CBC) reside in positions 0 to +4 from the crypt bottom, intercalated between Paneth or DCS cells in the small intestine and colon, respectively. CBC are actively cycling and classically recognized by their marker Lgr5. More guiescent, label-retaining cells matrix components present in the lamina propria, as well as from luminal nutrients, bacteria, and their metabolites. All these components and signals constitute the ISC niche.

2.2 Markers for CBC Cells

all Lgr5⁺ cells of a crypt undergo mitosis. In the colon, Lgr5⁺ cells are also EGFP-CreER^{T2} model. A comparison between Lgr5⁺ CBC and their progeny sorted by different levels of EGFP (high in CBC and low in their finger 43) (Hao et al., 2012), and $R\eta\beta$ (ring finger 3) (Koo et al., 2012). This protein) signaling inhibitor (Muñoz et al., 2012), Musashi-1, encoding an CBC. Lgr5 encodes a leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled inducible Cre-recombinase cassette was knocked in at the Lgr5 locus (Lgr5-EGFP-CreER^{T2}) allowed characterization of the Lgr5⁺ cells. In the adult small intestine, Lgr5⁺ cells are located at the base of the crypt, intermingled with Paneth cells. They are rapidly cycling since within 24h almost found at the crypt bottom interspersed with secretory cells but have slower cycling kinetics than in the small intestine. The generation of in vivo lineage mouse model indicated that Lgr5⁺ cells transmit lacZ staining to their progeny and repopulate the entire epithelium during homeostasis. Lgr5⁺ cells are long lived and contribute to tissue renewal over the entire lifetime of the mouse. Therefore, Lrg5 is a reliable marker of CBC (Barker et al., 2007), and Lgr5–EGFP–CreER^{T2} mice a valuable tool to understand their regulation. The ultimate proof of Lgr5⁺ CBC as ISC is the capacity of single isolated Lgr5⁺ cells cultured in vitro to generate structured intestinal organoids that contain the four major differentiated lineages of the intestinal epithe-2009). A CBC stem cell signature using gene expression and proteome profiling has been determined using FACS-purified Lgr5⁺ cells from the Lgr5⁻ progeny) provided a comprehensive Lgr5⁺ ISC signature of approximately catenin modulators and target genes such as Lgr5, Sox9, Asd2 (achaeatescute homolog 2), EphB2, Troy/Tnfrgf19, Axin2, Znff43 (zinc and ring and subsequent Lgr5⁺ cell signatures (Muñoz et al., 2012; van der Flier, van Gijn, et al., 2009) along with candidate-approach studies also provided several other verified CBC markers. Among the new markers identified, some related modular calcium binding 2), encoding a BMP (bone morphogenic RNA-binding protein (Potten et al., 2003), Prominin-1 (Zhu et al., 2009) The Clevers lab and collaborators identified Lgr5 as the first marker for transmembrane receptor first identified as a Wnt/ β -catenin target gene. Although Lgr5 labeling has proven difficult due to its low expression levels, he development of a mouse model in which an EGFP and tamoxifentracing from Lgr5⁺ cells using an Lgr5-EGFP-CreER^{T2}/Rosa26lacZ lium and that self-renew, as shown by continuous passages (Sato et al., 500 genes (Muñoz et al., 2012). The signature contains many Wnt/ β nave been confirmed as ISC markers by lineage tracing: Smoc2 (SPARC-

and notably *Olfin4*, which is highly expressed compared to other mentioned CBC markers and allows easy detection of CBC (Schuijers, Van Der Flier, Van Es, & Clevers, 2014; van der Flier, Haegebarth, Stange, van de Wetering, & Clevers, 2009). Ascl2, a basic helix–loop–helix transcription factor, was identified as a master regulator of CBC maintenance. The conditional deletion of *Asd2* results in the loss of CBC and its overexpression promotes drastic expansion of the ISC compartment (Reed et al., 2012; Schuijers et al., 2015; van der Flier, van Gijn, et al., 2009).

present in the adenoma indicating that they act as multipotent stem cells of Musashi-1, Ascl2, Olfm4, and EphB2 are expressed both in human CRC (CRC). In light of the high number of proliferative cells in the intestine and comparatively low occurrence of spontaneous intestinal tumors, it has long been proposed that only mutagenic hits accumulated in ISC could result in types bear the initial tumor-initiating mutations in humans, recent studies in 2009). Direct evidence has been obtained by the aberrant activation of Wnt signaling upon the inactivation of tumor suppressor Apc in Lgr5⁺ CBC, leading to a rapid onset of adenomas. In contrast, deletion of Apc in more gress to microadenomas. In addition, lineage tracing of Lgr 5^+ adenoma cells revealed that they fuel the growth of adenoma by generating all the cell types The identification of these CBC markers has allowed better characterization of ISC during homeostasis but also in disorders like colorectal cancer tumor development. Although it has proven difficult to ascertain which cell mice suggest that CBC are likely to be the CRC cell of origin (Barker et al., differentiated cells results only in ectopic proliferative foci which rarely prothe adenoma (Schepers et al., 2012). Many CBC markers including Lgr5, and in genetically induced murine adenomas (Fan et al., 2010; Jang et al., 2016; Jubb et al., 2006; Li et al., 2015; Potten et al., 2003).

2.3 Markers for +4 Stem Cells

The first +4 stem cell (+4SC) marker investigated by lineage tracing was Bmi1, a polycomb-repressing complex member essential in hematopoietic and neural stem cell self-renewal. In intestinal homeostasis, *Bmi1* is expressed at the +4 position in a minority of small intestinal crypts (around 10%) and particularly in the duodenum. By in vivo lineage tracing using a Bmi1-CrEER^{T2}/Rosa26lacZ mouse model and organoid culture experiments with sorted cells, Bmi1⁺ cells were shown to self-renew and give rise to the different epithelial lineages but with much slower cycling kinetics compared to Lrg5⁺ CBC (Sangiorgi & Capecchi, 2008; Yan, Chia, & Li, 2012).

In addition, ablation of $Bmi1^+$ cells using targeted expression of diphtheria toxin (DT) caused crypt loss consistent with stem cell defect.

Ablation of the Lgr5⁺ CBC using targeted expression of the DT receptor (DTR) caused an increase of Bmi1⁺ cells which can regenerate the Lgr5⁺ stem cell population and maintain intestinal homeostasis (Tian et al., 2011). Thus, these relatively quiescent +4SC, reminiscent of the LRC described by Potten, have been considered as reserve stem cells in case of the +4SC following injury, such as high dose of radiation (up to 12 Gy), Lgr5⁺ cells are rapidly lost whereas Bmi1⁺ cells expand and allow epithelial recovery though replenishment of Lgr5⁺ cells (Yan et al., 2012). In fact, Bmi1 has been shown to be involved in DNA damage response signaling; it may therefore play a direct role in the resistance of reserve stem cells to inradiation (Ginjala et al., 2011; Ismail, Andrin, McDonald, & Hendzel, 2010; Pan, Peng, Hungs, & Lin, 2011).

However, Bmi1-expressing cells are only present in a small proportion of crypts in the proximal small intestine and are not responsible for the postinjury regeneration throughout the distal small intestine or colon in these contexts (Tian et al., 2011; Yan et al., 2012). Other markers must therefore be used to identify the reserve stem cells in these regions. Coincidentally, *Tetr* (telomerase reverse transcriptase) also labels single cells at the +4 position that are slowly cycling, label retaining, resistant to radiation, and capable of regenerating the epithelium and Lgr5⁺ cells following injury (Breault et al., 2008; Montgomery et al., 2011). Other reported markers of +4SC include *Hopx* (homeodomain only) (Takeda et al., 2011), *Lrig1* (leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domains 1) (Powell et al., 2008, 2009). Remarkably, cells expressing these markers can give rise to CBC and, conversely, Lgr5⁺ cells can give rise to +4SC (Takeda et al., 2011).

2.4 Current View of ISC

The mutually exclusive nature of these two proposed stem cell populations, CBC and +4SC, has been extensively challenged in the literature in the past few years and appears less straightforward than initially thought. Single molecule in situ hybridization illustrates the restricted expression of certain markers like Lgr5, Msi1, Asd2, Olfm4, and EphB3 at the crypt bottom, but also that markers like Prominin-1 and Lig1 have a broader pattern of expression along the crypt axis including both the majority of $Lgr5^+$ and

TA cells (Itzkovitz et al., 2012). Likewise, Muñoz et al. clearly demonstrate that +4SC markers *Bmi1*, *Ten*, and *Hopx* are enriched in Lgr5⁺ CBC. This has been supported by several approaches both at the mRNA (Grün et al., 2015; Muñoz et al., 2012; van der Flier, van Gijn, et al., 2009) and protein levels (Schepers, Vries, van den Born, van de Wetering, & Clevers, 2011; Wong et al., 2012), indicating that these markers may not be specific to quiescent stem cells and that the exact relationship between CBC and +4SC still needs to be further defined.

2.5 Progenitors as Potential ISC

(Dll) 1, a Notch ligand, can revert to multipotent stem cells. Using a ferentiated enterocytes, Tetteh et al. demonstrated that upon eradication and not differentiated villus Alpi⁺ cells were able to dedifferentiate and to ence of Wnt signals (van Es, Haegebarth, et al., 2012; van Es, Sato, et al., only LRC by using a fluorescent-labeled histone H2B reporter construct tasis LRC express +4SC markers including Lrig1, Tett, and Hopx, but also Lgr5 and markers of early Paneth cells and enteroendocrine cells. Using an ingenious lineage tracing approach, they demonstrated that during sors are a subpopulation of Lgr5⁺ cells which can act as a potential ISC pool upon injury. More recently, enterocyte progenitors have been shown to of Lgr5⁺ cells through DT treatment, the proliferating crypt Alpi⁺ cells produce all differentiated cell types, thereby acting as an alternative source of ISC (Tetteh et al., 2016). Two new studies from the groups of Kuo and and further demonstrate the capacity of progenitors from this lineage to One study demonstrated that secretory progenitors expressing Delta-like Dll1–GFP–CreER $^{\rm T2}$ /Rosa26lacZ mouse model, lineage tracing indicated that secretory progenitors can revert to Lgr5⁺ ISC upon ablation of CBC by irradiation and form Lgr5⁺ ISC-containing organoids ex vivo in the pres-2012). Similarly, Buczacki and colleagues used and elegant model to mark (H2B-YFP) (Buczacki et al., 2013). They demonstrated that during homeo-However, upon epithelial injury induced by irradiation or chemotherapy treatment, LRC proliferate, and act as ISC to give rise to all differentiated cell lineages. This study therefore indicates that committed secretory precurprovide an alternative source of potential ISC. Using lineage tracing based on intestinal alkaline phosphatase (Alpi), a marker for progenitors and dif-Shivdasani categorize Bmi1-expressing cells as enteroendocrine progenitors, homeostasis LRC remain quiescent and express markers of Paneth cells. The plasticity of progenitor cells represents another source of potential ISC.

∞

dedifferentiate and replenish the Lgr5⁺ ISC pool in case of injury (Jadhav et al., 2017; Yan et al., 2017). Taken together, all these studies call into question the existence of a dedicated reserve stem cell population and rather highlight the plasticity of the intestinal epithelium along with the importance of maintaining the active ISC pool. Questions regarding the molecular drivers and the degree of this plasticity remain open. As a hypothesis, it could be argued that upon injury leading to loss of CBC, committed progenitors regain direct contact with the stem cell niche, which may participate to their dedifferentiation and revert them to stemness.

More than a way to visualize ISC and analyze their contributions to intestinal pathology, these markers allow for a better understanding of the interaction of ISC with their surroundings. Many questions regarding the functional relation between ISC and their direct microenvironment, or niche, can now be approached. What molecular signals are involved in crypt homeostasis and how do they affect ISC? What cell types constitute the niche and provide these signals? How are ISC capable of sensing and responding to microenvironmental changes? What delimits the "positional address" of ISC? Are ISC actively anchored to this position or, on the contrary, does the niche define "stemness"?

3. SIGNALING PATHWAYS REGULATING CRYPT HOMEOSTASIS

Proliferation, differentiation, and migration along the crypt-villus axis are tightly regulated by an array of interconnected signaling pathways. Both epithelial signals and epithelial–mesenchymal crosstalk act in concert to create a complex molecular environment supporting ISC activity. Below, we discuss the principal and best-characterized pathways essential to ISC homeostasis and the pathological consequences of their deregulation.

3.1 Wnt/ β -Catenin Signaling

The major regulatory pathway of the ISC compartment is the Wnt/ β catenin signaling pathway. In the absence of Wnt signals, free cytosolic β -catenin is recognized by a protein complex containing the tunnor suppressors Apc (adenomatous polyposis coli), Axin1, CK1 α (casein kinase 1 α), and GSK-3 β (glycogen synthase 3 β), called the β -catenin destruction complex. Indeed, CK1 α and GSK-3 β will phosphorylate serine and threonine residues of the β -catenin N-terminus, leading to its ubiquitination by E3 ubiquitin ligase β -TrCP and subsequent proteasonal degradation. Wnt ligands bind a

9

late and translocate to the nucleus, where it will bind transcription factor Tcf/Lef (T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor) to induce Wnt/β -catenin target genes (Logan & Nusse, 2004). Numerous studies have illustrated that ing cascade. Wnt/ β -catenin signal strength is dependent on several agonists scriptional response of the pathway. In CBC, Lgr5 and its homologs, Lgr4 enhancers and CBC growth factors that work by neutralizing Rnf43 and Frizzled (Fzd) receptor and coreceptor lipoprotein-related protein (Lrp5/6 and prevents β -catenin degradation. β -Catenin is therefore free to accumu-CBC homeostasis is dependent on the activity of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaland antagonists which may participate to the very context-dependent tranand Lgr6, constitute the receptors for R-spondins, potent Wnt signal Znrf3, two transmembrane E3 ligases that remove Wnt receptors from in the intestine). This interaction triggers a cascade of events involving phosphorylation of disheveled and membrane sequestration of Axin1 which, through mechanisms that remain unclear, inhibits the destruction complex, the cell surface (de Lau et al., 2011).

familial a denomatous polyposis (FAP) carry a germline mutation in one APC(Taketo & Edelmann, 2009). Apc-mutant mice develop large numbers of β-Catenin also plays a role at cell adhesion complexes, linking E-cadherin tom up. The major indicator of the role of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in the intestinal epithelium is the extensive effects of its deregulation. Patients with allele. They develop hundreds to thousands polyps in the large intestine mas that arise in Apc-mutant mice are similar to those in FAP patients adenomas in their small intestine and fewer in the large intestine which lifespan of these mice (Colnot et al., 2004). Use of a conditional Apc allele proliferation in the crypt compartment, along with impaired migration and tinal epithelium, β-catenin is mainly localized to the plasma membrane between epithelial cells, but also displays strong nuclear staining at the crypt bottom. Indeed, Wnt/β -catenin signaling is particularly active in CBC and Paneth cells and exhibits a decreasing gradient of activity from the crypt botand are at high risk for developing CRC (Miyoshi et al., 1992). Genetically engineered mouse models have been useful for modeling FAP; the adenorarely progress to invasive adenocarcinoma, likely linked to the short showed that loss of Apc is a critical event to initiate intestinal tumor development. Conditional deletion of both alleles of Apc specifically in the intestinal epithelium leads to β -catenin relocalization to the nucleus, intense cell differentiation throughout the epithelium (Andreu et al., 2005; Sansom et al., 2004). Moreover, a vast majority of human sporadic CRC carry to α -catenin and the actin cytoskeleton. Consequently, throughout the intes-

early driver mutations of *APC* or, less frequently, mutations on other genes encoding components of the canonical Wnt pathways like Axin2, R-spondins, Rnf43, or β -catenin itself (Fodde et al., 2001; Koo et al., 2012; Morin et al., 1997; Powell et al., 1992; Seshagiri et al., 2012). These tumors have a high level of nuclear β -catenin, and the intestine-specific expression of β -catenin mutants lacking its N-terminal phosphorylation sites in mice also leads to the development of such lesions (Harada et al., 1999; Romagnolo et al., 1999). The protumorigenic effects of *Apc* mutation therefore result in the constitutive activation of canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, which drives tumorigenesis. The fact that Apc deficiency acts as a driver and not just an initiating event in colorectal tumorigenesis has recently been underlined by Dow et al. In their study, restoring *Apc* in established tumors, even those carrying additional *Kna* and *Tp53* mutations, leads to their regression and the reestablishment of normal epithelial architecture (Dow et al., 2015).

versely, overstimulation of the pathway by injecting recombinant human R-spondin1 into mice induces rapid crypt proliferation involving β -catenin report demonstrated that Ascl2, a Wnt target gene expressed in CBC, acts Multiple studies have demonstrated that the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is essential for the homeostatic maintenance and proliferation of CBC. In the intestine, disruption of the pathway by deletion of either TdA or the 3-catenin gene Ctumb1 results in a fatal disruption of intestinal architecture with ablation of the proliferative crypts (Fevr, Robine, Louvard, & Huelsken, 2007; Ireland et al., 2004; Korinek et al., 1998; van Es, tion of the pathway by ectopic expression of Wnt antagonist Dickopff (Dkk) l also results in the loss of stem and progenitor cells (Kuhnert et al., 2004; Muncan et al., 2006; Pinto, Gregorieff, Begthel, & Clevers, 2003). Constabilization (Kim et al., 2005). Accordingly, conditional deletion of both Zmf3 and Rnf4 expands proliferation in the crypt and is protumorigenic (Hao et al., 2012; Koo et al., 2012). Although deletion of L_{gr5} has no effect on intestinal cell proliferation, inactivation of Lgr4 severely decreases crypt cell proliferation. Genetic deletion of Lgr4 and Lgr5 together completely abolishes proliferation and confirms that R-spondins act as major drivers of crypt self-renewal (de Lau et al., 2011). Lgr5⁺ CBC were shown to be highly responsive to such modulations in Wnt signaling, expanding upon stimulation by R-spondin1 or Apc loss and dying upon Dkk1-mediated nhibition of the pathway (Barker et al., 2009; Yan et al., 2012). A recent as a master regulator of the Lgr5 ISC transcriptional program: Ascl2 Haegebarth, et al., 2012; van Es, Sato, et al., 2012). More upstream disrup-

cooperates with β -catenin/Tcf4 complexes to switch on transcription of signature genes that define CBC identity (Schuijers et al., 2015).

a unique Wnt receptor, Fzd5, as opposed to other epithelial cells, which et al., 2005; van Es, van Gijn, et al., 2005). Intestine-specific deletion of Fzd5 also results in mislocalized Paneth cells lacking nuclear β -catenin as (Mmp) 7 is transcriptionally regulated by β -catenin and Tcf4 (Andreu tance in proliferation and ISC cell maintenance, is therefore also essential for tumors despite the absence of these cells in the healthy colonic mucosa Andreu et al., 2008; Crawford et al., 1999; van Es, Jay, et al., 2005; van Es, van Gijn, et al., 2005). Furthermore, in this context, Paneth cells are no longer restricted to the crypt bottom and while they do express the AMP cryptdin, they do not present mature secretion granules, suggesting that their differentiation is incomplete. The fact that Paneth cells express sion of genes encoding Cryptdins, EphB3, and matrix metalloprotease et al., 2008; Crawford et al., 1999; van Es, Jay, et al., 2005; van Es, van entiation of ISC daughters. Apc-deficient murine tumors overexpress Paneth cell-specific genes, and this surprisingly also applies to human colorectal well as Cryptdin and EphB3 expression. In fact, Paneth cell-restricted expres-Gijn, et al., 2005). Precise control of Wnt signaling, in addition to its impor-In addition to proliferation, Wnt/β -catenin signaling also affects differexpress Fzd6, supports a distinct Wnt response in these cells (van Es, Jay, Paneth cell differentiation and maturation (Andreu et al., 2008; van Es, Jay, et al., 2005; van Es, van Gijn, et al., 2005).

EphB3- or Ephrin-B1-knockout intestines also display delocalized Paneth cells (Batlle et al., 2002; Cortina et al., 2007). Ephrin-B ligands and their EphB receptors are cell sorting molecules notably involved in axon guidance tom. Specifically, Paneth cells express EphB3, Lgr5⁺ cells express both decrease EphB2 and increase Ephrin-B expression. Since the interaction between EphB receptors and Ephrin-B ligands has a repellant effect, this in the nervous system. In accord with their transcriptional activation by β-catenin, expression of EphB2 and EphB3 is the highest at the crypt bot-EphB3 and EphB2, and TA cells express decreasing levels of EphB2 as they migrate up the crypt. Expression of the Ephrin-B ligands is repressed by 3-catenin, so it follows the opposite pattern with the highest expression n differentiated cells and the lowest expression at the crypt bottom. Thereore, as cells migrate up the crypt and Wnt signaling decreases, they gradually nechanism keeps EphB-expressing Paneth and ISC restricted to the crypt The scattered localization of Paneth cells upon deregulation of Wnt signaling hints at its implication in migration along the crypt-villus axis as well.

;

bottom and prevents the downward migration of differentiating progenitors (Batlle et al., 2002). Knockout of both *EphB2* and *EphB3* in mice therefore results in dispersion of proliferative cells throughout the epithelium, intermingled with the differentiated cells. The effects of EphB/Ephrin-B interaction are thought to act, at least in part, through the regulation of tight functions via activation of ADAM (a disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain) family mediated cleavage of E-cadherin at interfaces between neighboring EphB- and Ephrin-B-expressing cells (Solanas, Cortina, Sevillano, & Batlle, 2011). Despite the overactivation of Wnt signaling in CRC, *EphB* expression is often silenced at the adenoma-carcinoma transition, promoting cancer progression through a mechanism dependent on E-cadherin-mediated adhesion (Batlle et al., 2005; Cortina et al., 2007).

suggesting that the two functions could be in stoichiometric competition 2000; Huber & Weis, 2001). Supporting this notion, high expression of β-Catenin can also directly affect cell adhesion and thereby migration through its direct interaction with E-cadherin. In fact, β -catenin was histortion of E-cadherin levels affects migration speed and organization along the crypt-villus axis-with overexpression of the E-cadherin gene Cdh1 inducing slower, structured migration and loss of E-cadherin resulting in disordered, rapid migration (Bondow, Faber, Wojta, Walker, & Battle, 2012; Hermiston, Wong, & Gordon, 1996; Schneider et al., 2010). Similarly, Syder, Gordon, & Kipnis, 1996). Proliferation in the crypt is also inversely linked to E-cadherin levels (Hermiston et al., 1996) and β -catenin is known to interact with E-cadherin and Tcfs through an overlapping binding region, E-cadherin correlates with lower tumorigenic potential of mutant β -catenin (Huels et al., 2015). It has even been proposed in cell culture models that cellular junctions appear unaffected by the deletion of β -catenin in the intestinal epithelium (Fevr et al., 2007). Evidently, the link between the opposing functions of β -catenin in Wnt signaling-mediated proliferation ically first recognized for its role in adherens junction complexes. Modulaoverexpression of Apc results in disordered migration (Wong, Hermiston, (Choi, Huber, & Weis, 2006; Graham, Weaver, Mao, Kimelman, & Xu, E-cadherin complexes could modulate more upstream Wnt receptor signaling (Maher, Flozak, Stocker, Chenn, & Gottardi, 2009). Contrarily, interand E-cadherin-dependent cell adhesion still needs to be untangled.

The Wnt activity gradient from the crypt bottom is in part established by the localized production of Wnt ligands. Crypt epithelial cells produce Wnt3, Wnt9b, and Wnt6 (Farin, Van Es, & Clevers, 2012; Gregorieff et al., 2005). Of these, Wnt3 is specifically expressed in Paneth cells. The

intestinal mesenchyme also produces Wnt ligands, namely Wnt2b, Wnt4, and Wnt5a, which have been linked to noncanonical Wnt signaling. Crypt epithelial cells in the small intestine and colon also express various Fzd receptors as well as different Tcfs. Furthermore, the mesenchyme near the differentiated epithelium also produces Wnt antagonists like Dkk in a localized manner (Gregorieff et al., 2005). All this combined makes for a rather intricate and complex regulation of Wnt signaling resulting in a Wnt activitypermissive niche in the stem cell and Paneth cell compartment and repression of canonical Wnt signaling in the differentiated epithelium.

3.2 Hedgehog, BMP, and PI3K/PTEN Signaling

Gli-mediated transcription of Hedgehog target genes. Hedgehog signaling is sequently phosphorylates Smad proteins 1, 5, or 8. These will then heterodimerize with Smad4 before translocating to the nucleus to induce duced by intravillus and intercryptic mesenchymal cells, and Bmpr1 is tion of proliferative and stem cells (van Dop et al., 2009). Conversely, either chymal signals. The Hedgehog receptor, Patched (Ptch), normally inhibits the constitutively active smoothened (Smo) receptor, thereby permitting cleavage of Gli transcription factors (Gli1, 2, and 3) into their repressive forms. Upon Hedgehog binding, Ptch is repressed, and Smo signaling allows exclusively paracrine in the adult intestine; Indian Hedgehog and Sonic Dop et al., 2009). Binding of BMP to its type 2 receptor, Bmpr2, results in transcription of target genes. In the intestine, BMP2 and BMP4 are proexpressed in differentiated cells and ISC but not in the proliferative TA cells lin1, Gremlin2, or Chordin-like 1 are expressed in subcryptic myofibroblasts and smooth muscle (He et al., 2004; Kosinski et al., 2007). It thus follows inhibition of Hedgehog or deregulation of the BMP pathway results in expansion of the ISC compartment, excessive crypt formation, and the for-Hedgehog (Ihh and Shh, the main Hedgehog ligands in the intestine) secreted by enterocytes binds Ptch receptors on neighboring mesenchymal cells, inducing BMP production from these cells (Madison et al., 2005; van the phosphorylation and activation of its type 1 receptor, Bmpr1, which sub-(Haramis et al., 2004; He et al., 2004). BMP antagonists like Noggin, Gremthat BMP activity affects only in villus epithelial cells. The constitutive activation of Hedgehog signaling results in increased BMP signaling and deplemation of hamartomatous polyps (Davis et al., 2015; Haramis et al., 2004; He et al., 2004; Madison et al., 2005; Qi et al., 2017). These lesions are Hedgehog-family proteins and BMPs link epithelial homeostasis to mesen-

typical of those found in patients with juvenile polyposis syndrome, often associated with *BMPR1A* or *SMAD4* mutations. Therefore, Hedgehog and BMP signaling restrain proliferation and promote differentiation, in opposition with Wnt/ β -catenin signaling.

polyp formation (He et al., 2007). This parallels the development of hog, BMP, and PTEN signaling is underlined in multiple studies In fact, modulation of either Hedgehog or BMP signaling affects nuclear enon, BMP signaling was shown to directly interfere with Wnt-mediated 3-catenin activation through a mechanism involving PI3K and PTEN activation and subsequent inhibition of Akt (He et al., 2004; Waite, Waite, & Eng, 2003). Similar to disruption of BMP signaling, deletion of PTEN leads to de novo crypt formation, induced Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, and hamartomatous lesions found in Cowden disease patients, known to inherit PTEN mutations (Liaw et al., 1997). Interestingly, the involvement of the stroma in the development of tumors associated with deregulated Hedge-(Auclair, Benoit, Rivard, Mishina, & Perreault, 2007; Beppu et al., 2008; Büller et al., 2015; Gerling et al., 2016; He et al., 2007; Howe et al., (998; Sneddon et al., 2006; van den Brink et al., 2004). These signaling pathways therefore simultaneously contribute to differentiation along the crypt-villus axis, determination of β -catenin active or inactive state despite 3-catenin levels and the expression of its target genes (Madison et al., 2005; van den Brink et al., 2004; van Dop et al., 2009). Explaining this phenoma gradient of Wnt, and interactions with the crypt-adjacent mesenchyme.

3.3 Notch Signaling

The Notch pathway is also key to ISC maintenance and daughter cell-fate determination. Contrary to the previously described signaling pathways, Notch signaling works by lateral inhibition between two adjacent cells. Notch ligands Dll1, Dll4, or Jagged1 at the cell surface will bind the Notch1 or 2 receptors on neighboring cells (Sander & Powell, 2004; Schröder & Gossler, 2002). Upon ligand binding, the receptor is cleaved by ADAM10, shedding its extracellular portion, and by a γ -secretase complex, releasing its intracellular domain (NICD). The NICD translocates into the nucleus and, alongside cofactors like RBPJK (recombination signal-binding protein for immunoglobulin KJ region), promotes the transcription of target genes involved in proliferation and differentiation, including Hes (hairy and enhancer of split)-family transcription factors. The best-characterized NICD target, *Hes1*, represses transcription of Notch ligands and of *Atoh1* (atonal

BHLH transcription factor 1, *Math 1* in mice), both key to secretory lineage commitment, as well as that of genes encoding cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors $p27^{Kip1}$ and $p57^{Kip2}$ (Milano et al., 2004; Obata et al., 2012; Stanger, Datr, Murtaugh, & Melton, 2005; Tsai et al., 2014; Yang, Bernnigham, Finegold, & Zoghbi, 2001).

Demitrack, Chung, & Samuelson, 2016; Riccio et al., 2008), ADAM10 et al., 2005), or multiple Hes genes (Ueo et al., 2012) or by treatment with van Gijn, et al., 2005; VanDussen et al., 2012) converts all proliferative cells are consequently lost (Carulli et al., 2016; VanDussen et al., 2012), leading to lack of epithelial regeneration, nutrient malabsorption, weight loss, and ing in ISC (Fre et al., 2011; Pellegrinet et al., 2011), and Olfm4 was established as a direct target of the NICD and RBPJK (VanDussen et al., 2012). On the other hand, expression of a constitutively active NCID results signaling does not appear necessary for absorptive lineage differentiation as imultaneous Math1 deletion and Notch disruption does not prevent Clevers, & Hassan, 2010). Furthermore, while the effects of Notch activation on proliferation are only possible in Wnt-activated cells, its effects on postulates that Wnt-induced stem cells are maintained in a Notch-high state by neighboring Notch ligand-expressing cells, and that upon exit from the tory lineage commitment. These cells will then repress such a commitment et al., 2011) and thereby sustain active Notch signals in their neighboring Signal inhibition all along the pathway by genetic deletion of Dll1 and (Tsai et al., 2014), RBPJK (van Es, Jay, et al., 2005; van Es, van Gjin, in the crypt into postmitotic secretory cells. This includes Lgr5⁺ ISC, which death. Accordingly, lineage tracing experiments reveal active Notch signalin increased proliferation and secretory cell depletion (Fre et al., 2005; Stanger et al., 2005). Math 1 deletion also results in depletion of all secretory lineages (Durand et al., 2012; Kim, Escudero, & Shivdasani, 2012; Yang et al., 2001). Notch signaling therefore maintains the proliferating ISC pool and suppresses secretory lineage engagement. Beyond this, however, Notch enterocyte differentiation (Kazanjian, Noah, Brown, Burkart, & Shroyer, 2010; Kim & Shivdasani, 2011; van Es, de Geest, van de Born, differentiation are Wnt independent (Fre et al., 2009). The current model expression of Dll1 and Math1 and repression of Notch, leading to their secrein their neighboring TA cells, ensuring an appropriate absorptive-tosecretory lineage ratio. Paneth cells express Notch ligands (Sato, van Es, Dll4 (Pellegrinet et al., 2011), Notch1 and Notch2 (Carulli, Keeley, γ-secretase inhibitors (Milano et al., 2004; van Es, Jay, et al., 2005; van Es, ISC niche, the bimodal nature of the pathway will result in some daughters'

15

ISC, although other sources of Notch ligands also likely exist in the crypt as stem cells are maintained despite the absence of Paneth cells in the colon and in the small intestine of *Math1*-knockout mice (Durand et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012).

Unsurprisingly, Notch signaling has been detected in both human and mouse intestinal adenomas, and aberrant Notch activation promotes adenoma formation in *Apc*-mutant mice (Fre et al., 2009; van Es, Jay, et al., 2005; van Es, van Gijn, et al., 2005). Conversely, γ -secretase inhibitor treatment partially converted adenoma cells of *Apc*-mutant mice into secretory cells, although this treatment is limited by its concurrent effects in the normal epithelium (van Es, Jay, et al., 2005; van Es, van Gijn, et al., 2005) and on other tissues. Furthermore, blocking Notch signaling does not prevent the initiation of Apc-mutant tumors, suggesting that β -catenin activation overrides the expected forced differentiation of proliferative cells (Peignon et al., 2011). Notably, Notch signaling is weaker in more advanced human carcinomas compared to adenomas, and its activation never leads to adenocarcinoma formation in *Apc*-mutant mice, indicating that Notch activation may be favorable (although not required) for tumor development but not for malignant progression (Fre et al., 2009).

▶ 4. ORGANOID CULTURE AND THE EXPERIMENTAL NICHE

(EGF) (Sato et al., 2009). Little is currently known about the effects of 'niche independent" growth of ISC, it actually highlights the importance of nents to organoid culture medium are Wnt agonist and Lgr5 ligand R-spondin1, the BMP antagonist Noggin, and epidermal growth factor expressed in the epithelium, especially in crypt CBC and TA cells (Yang et al., 2017), whereas Paneth cells highly express EGF ligands EFG and family receptor ErbB2 is also highly expressed on CBC (Sasaki et al., (Wong et al., 2012). Production of another EGF-family ligand, Amphiregulin, from intestinal lymphocytes has recently been implicated in epitheial regeneration (Monticelli et al., 2015). Furthermore, EGFR signaling activates the RAS pathway, of which several components are constitutively Although in vitro culture of intestinal crypts has often been labeled as a minimal molecular niche for proper ISC function. Among the key supple-EGF on ISC. In the adult intestine, EGF receptor (EGFR) is mainly 2016), although its activity appears to be negatively regulated by Lrig1 $\Gamma GF\alpha$ (transforming growth factor- α) (Sato, van Es, et al., 2011). EGFRactivated in later-stage CRC.

17

18

When isolated ISC rather than whole crypts are cultured, exogenous Wnt ligands (typically Wnt3a) must be added to the culture medium. Although this allows for ISC maintenance and proliferation, the resulting organoids no longer contain all the differentiated cells of the homeostatic epithelium but rather seem to consist largely of undifferentiated progenitors that form a spheroid structure (Sato, van Es, et al., 2011). This is likely due to the ubiquitous delivery of Wnt ligand, as opposed to the more homeostatic gradient created by coculture with Paneth cells. The implication of different signaling pathways in intestinal homeostasis can be tackled in vitro as organoids recapitulate the in vivo epithelial response—a hyperplastic crypt might develop into an undifferentiated spheroid whereas stem cell failure will lead to organoid death. This system also has the added advantage of easier manipulation of treatments and the possibility to follow epithelial response over time while excluding mesenchynnal response (Yin et al., 2014).

The supplemented growth factors described above apply for murine small intestinal crypts (without exogenous Wnt) or isolated stem cells (with added Wnt3a). Isolated colon crypts produce insufficient amounts of Wnt ligands to maintain colonic ISC in culture, therefore Wnt3a must be added for colonic organoid growth (Sato, Stange, et al., 2011). Like small intestinal organoids with exogenous Wnt, however, these do not properly differentiate. In the case of human small intestinal and colon crypts, addition of further factors is required for efficient long-term culture—gastrin, nicotinamide, an ALK receptor inhibitor, and an inhibitor of p38 MAPK (mitogenactivated protein kinase)—suggestive of additional important pathways in human ISC function. It is interesting to note that ISC presenting mutations in genes commonly mutated in CRC, or organoids derived from human colorectal tumors have decreasing needs for growth factors in the culture medium, suggesting a decreasing niche factor dependence in tumor stem cells (Drost et al., 2015; Fujii et al., 2016).

A final component that must not be neglected for ISC maintenance and organoid growth in vitro is the substrate upon which ISC are plated. In vivo, the epithelium is surrounded by an extracellular matrix (ECM) enriched in laminin at the crypt base. For organoid growth, ISC are embedded in laminin-rich matrigel. Isolated epithelial cells die by anoikis, a form of apoptosis following loss of matrix interactions, and the addition of ROCK signaling inhibitor Y-27632 to the culture medium also improves organoid formation, further highlighting the importance of matrix interactions (Sato et al., 2009). In vivo, the basal side of intestinal epithelial cells is in direct contact with a network of extracellular proteins that form the

odeling, cellular growth, and cell cycle progression. Differential distributions in later-stage CRC could promote anchorage-independent growth of chymal cells including subepithelial myofibroblasts. In the lamina propria, similar components including type I collagen and fibronectin form a nectin, inducing cytoplasmic signaling cascades that affect cytoskeleton remaffecting not just adhesion, but also proliferation, migration, and sensitivity to anoikis of epithelial cells. BM and ECM components as well as integrin signaling have been implicated in CRC. Like EGF, integrins also induce the Ras signaling cascade, therefore the activating KRAS and BRAF mutations tumor cells. Mmps are soluble or membrane-bound proteases produced both by the epithelium and mesenchyme that can remodel the BM and ECM, and several of these have also been implicated in CRC progression ent growth factors, like transforming growth factor β (TGF β), which pasement membrane (BM), including type IV collagen, laminin, and prothree-dimensional ECM. Integrins recognize laminin, collagen, and fibroof laminins and integrins have been observed along the crypt-villus axis, and inflammatory bowel disease. Lastly, the ECM can also sequester differbecome accessible by matrix remodeling or during epithelial damage teoglycans. BM components are produced both from epithelial and mesen-Hynes, 2009; Lussier, Basora, Bouatrouss, & Beaulieu, 2000; Murgia et al., 1998; Worthley, Giraud, & Wang, 2010).

5. THE EPITHELIAL NICHE: PANETH CELLS AND DEEP CRYPT SECRETORY CELLS

One epithelial cell type stands out with regard to its involvement in the ISC niche. Even as far back as the 1970s, Cheng and Leblond proposed a tight functional link between CBC and their position between Paneth cells. In link with their demarcating feature, large secretory granules filled with α -defensins (HD5 and HD6 in humans) and other AMP, Paneth cells were initially recognized for their role in innate immunity. Paneth cells normally release their granule contents into the crypt lumen in basal conditions and increasingly so in response to stimuli such as bacterial surface products and other TLR (Toll-like receptor) agonists (Ayabe et al., 2000; Vaishmava, Behrendt, Ismail, Eckmann, & Hooper, 2008) or proinflammatory cytokines like interferon gamma (Farin et al., 2014). Although α -defensins are constitutively expressed by Paneth cells under the control of the Wnt pathway and Tcf4 (Andreu et al., 2008; van Es, Jay, et al., 2005; van Es, van Gjjn, et al., 2005), even in the absence of luminal microbes before birth or in

germ-free conditions, other AMP are upregulated in the presence of bacteria (Ayabe et al., 2000; Harris, 1996; Pütsep et al., 2000). These AMP include lysozyme, secretory phospholipase A2, and Reg3 (regenerating islet-derived protein 3, Reg3A in humans, Reg3γ and Reg3β in mice). These secreted AMP not only protect the crypt epithelium from enteric pathogens (Vaishnava et al., 2008), but also directly affect the composition of the microbiota (Salzman et al., 2010). In this manner, Paneth cells regulate homeostatic interactions between the epithelium and the intestinal microbiota, which could have huge repercusions on the inflammatory, and therefore regenerative, state of the intestine.

experiments and the observed drift toward monoclonality of ISC within a affected (Durand et al., 2012). Paneth cells are therefore not required for cells for ISC function. Not only is the colon devoid of Paneth cells, but (Gregorieff et al., 2005; Sato, van Es, et al., 2011). This hints at a major role niche. As ISC divide and their numbers increase, they will neutrally compete or drift out of the niche and adopt a TA fate (Ritsma et al., 2014; Snippert that exits the niche. Both models are compatible with early lineage tracing single crypt (Gordon et al., 1992). Consistent with Paneth cells delimiting the ISC niche, partial ablation of Paneth cells results in a decrease in the number of Lgr5⁺ CBC, with the remaining CBC crowded around the 2007) and the regenerative capacity of ISC following irradiation is not zation, as CBC are retained at the crypt bottom despite the lack of Paneth cells. Although this may be shocking in light of the importance attributed to Paneth cells, several lines of evidence comfort the dispensability of Paneth Paneth cells also produce many of the essential trophic factors regulating the ISC niche, including Wnt3, Wnt6, Wnt9, Dll4, Dll1, EGF, and TGFα of these cells in the maintenance of ISC and regulation of their proliferation. On this basis, it has been proposed that the Paneth cell zone defines the ISC to either remain between Paneth cells and therefore maintain an ISC identity et al., 2010). An opposing hierarchical model argues that ISC divide mostly asymmetrically, giving rise to both a new stem daughter and a TA daughter remaining Paneth cells (Sato, van Es, et al., 2011). Surprisingly, the total elimination of Paneth cells does not result in the loss of ISC (Durand occupied by Paneth cells is filled by normal amounts of CBC with active Wnt/B-catenin signaling. In fact, proliferation is increased in Paneth cell-SC survival and proliferation. They are also not essential for stem cell localet al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012; Shroyer et al., 2007). The space normally deficient crypts (Durand et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012; Shroyer et al.,

19

the small intestines of certain mammalian species, namely dogs and pigs, also lack Paneth cells (Potten, Booth, & Pritchard, 1997). In vitro, however, isolated Paneth cell-deficient crypts cannot form

enchymal cells (Durand et al., 2012; Farin et al., 2012; Kabiri et al., 2014; satory mechanism should not be excluded. Of note, exogenous Wnt6 or in vivo but essential for the mesenchyme-independent growth of intestinal organoids in vitro (Farin et al., 2012). The absence of Paneth cells in vivo must therefore be compensated by other as-of-yet unknown niche cells likely providing compensatory Wnt in response to the lack of Paneth cell signals. Wnt3- or Paneth cell-deficient organoids can be maintained in culture by addition of exogenous Wnt3a or by coculture with intestinal mes-Sato, van Es, et al., 2011). Wnt2b is the only Wnt ligand normally expressed by the mesenchyme capable of rescuing Wnt3- or Paneth cell-deficient organoid growth; it has therefore been suggested as the potential compensatory Wnt signal in vivo (Farin et al., 2012). Of course, such a rescue has not Wnt9b also rescue Wnt3-deficient organoid growth, suggesting that the amount produced by the crypt epithelial cells is not sufficient to compensate Wnt3 loss. Recently, Farin et al. further examined the establishment of the Wnt3 gradient from Paneth cells. Surprisingly, they found Wnt3 to act not brane of cells at the crypt bottom that is diluted up the crypt by cell division (Farin et al., 2016). They also report that Wnt3 does not localize in Paneth Wnt3, the expression of which is dispensable for stem cell maintenance been formally demonstrated in vivo, and the existence of another compenas a diffusible gradient but as a Fzd-bound signal on the basolateral memcell secretion granules, implying that it is secreted through another mechanism. This is in agreement with a previous report that put forward a Rab8a organoids (Durand et al., 2012). The same is true of Paneth cell-derived vesicle-dependent secretion of Wnt ligands (Das et al., 2015).

Paneth cells have been shown not just to provide a defined niche for ISC, but also to orchestrate their response to nutrient availability. It makes sense for the intestinal epithelium, whose principal function is nutrient absorption, to be highly responsive to diet and nutrient availability. In response to calorie restriction, villi shorten along with the TA compartment, while CBC numbers increase. This increase in ISC numbers and proliferation is accompanied by an increase in Paneth cells. Inhibition of mTORC1 (mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1) is a classically described cellular response to nutrient depirvation. In 2012, Yilmaz and coworkers showed that the augmented ISC renewal following calorie restriction is dependent on reduced

tion of Paneth cells: supporting ISC metabolism, and orchestrating their leads to an increase in ISC numbers along with decreased Paneth cell numbers ignaling therefore overrides direct nutrient sensing in ISC to coordinate a enhanced organoid formation. The authors therefore propose that Paneth adaptation to their metabolic environment. Paradoxically, a high-fat diet also (Beyaz et al., 2016). This is supposedly by a mechanism involving peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor & (PPAR&) signaling in CBC conferring and mTORC1 signaling in ISC, promoting their self-renewal. Paneth cell proper response (Igarashi & Guarente, 2016). A new study by Rodriguez-Coman et al. showed that while Lgr5⁺ CBC have high mitochondrial activity, Paneth cells show high glycolysis levels. Blocking the glycolytic activity ture, while blocking oxidative phosphorylation in CBC also reduced organoid formation. On the other hand, providing lactate to Lgr5⁺ CBC cells, through their high glycolytic activity, provide lactate to CBC, enabling their high mitochondrial metabolism and proliferative capacity (Rodríguez-Colman et al., 2017). These studies put forward an entirely new niche funcmTORC1 activity in Paneth cells, resulting in increased extracellular cyclic ADP ribose production (Yilmaz et al., 2012). Igarashi and Guarente comslemented this study by showing that this paracrine signal activates Sirtuin1 of Paneth cells hindered their ability to support organoid formation in cul-Paneth-independent growth in vitro.

along with goblet cell markers, although their signature matches that of Although Paneth cells are absent in the colon, Lgr5 $^+$ CBC are still found coined "deep crypt secretory" (DCS) cells in 1983 by G.G. Altmann, are distinct from goblet cells but still contain mucous vacuoles in their cytoplasm. Morphologic analysis of DCS cells reveals many shared features with DCS cells and found that they express several other Notch and EGF ligands intercalated between secretory cells in the colon mucosa. These cells, first small intestine Paneth cells: they have a highly developed endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi complex for glycoprotein production, they mature as they migrate down from the midcrypt to the crypt base, and their numbers vary ground in mind, Rothenberg et al. identified a new goblet cell type that and EGF. These cells can be recognized by marker cKit, also expressed by small intestinal Paneth cells, and intercalate between Lgr5⁺ CBC in the colon (Rothenberg et al., 2012). These cells were also shown to express (ust recently, Sasaki et al. characterized the gene expression profile of ${
m Reg4}^+$ from the proximal to the distal colon (Altmann, 1983). With this backexpresses several factors involved in ISC maintenance, such as Dll1, Dll4, Reg4 (regenerating islet-derived 4) and correspond to Altmann's DCS cells.

21

Paneth cells more closely than that of goblet cells. Specific ablation of DTRexpressing DCS cells upon DT treatment led to a loss of Lgr5⁺ stem cells (Sasaki et al., 2016). Consistently, coculture of Lgr5⁺ stem cells with cKit⁺ and Reg4⁺ DCS cells improves organoid growth while the disruption of DCS cells hinders it. Finally, DCS cell numbers are regulated by Notch signaling, as is the case for Paneth cells (Rothenberg et al., 2012; Sasaki et al., 2016). One key difference stands out between the two cell types: DCS cells, unlike Paneth cells, do not produce any Wnt ligands (Sasaki et al., 2016), although colon Lgr5+ cells do depend on them for growth in vitro (Sato, Stange, et al., 2011). As in the Paneth cell-deficient small intestine, another extraepithelial source of Wnt likely exists in the colon to maintain ISC homeostasis.

6. THE MESENCHYMAL NICHE

mesenchymal communication, although the specific mesenchymal cell types tioned Hedgehog and BMP signals, canonical and noncanonical Wnt ligands ing fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, smooth muscle cells, vascular pericytes decrypting the complex interactions between mesenchymal cells and the sets of stromal cells and their functions. Stromal cells have been shown to play a crucial role in homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium as well as in its response to different physiological stresses. Several key signaling pathways involved are not yet fully established. These signals include the aforemenand Wnt antagonists, EGF ligands and R-spondins, as well as ECM components. Moreover, as small intestinal organoids lack the formation of extruding villi, the lamina propria is likely also necessary for complete crypt-villus The lamina propria comprises various mesenchymal cell types, includand endothelial cells, enteric neurons, and hematopoietic cells. Of course, intestinal epithelium relies on ongoing characterization of the different subregulating epithelial proliferation and differentiation involve epithelialaxis patterning and morphology. Importantly, stromal cells have additionally been shown to contribute to intestinal tumor development and progression (Powell, Pinchuk, Saada, Chen, & Mifflin, 2011).

As previously noted, stromal cells provide Wnt signals both in the colon, where epithelial niche cells do not produce Wnt ligands, and in the small intestine, in complement to Paneth cells. Similar to the epithelial deletion of Wnt3 by Farin et al. or Paneth cell ablation by Durand et al., Kabiri and coworkers used epithelium-specific genetic ablation of *Porcu*, encoding the ER O-acetlytransferase Porcupine required for Wnt secretion and

and surrounding mesenchyme) or whole-body deletion of Wntless (another cupine in both epithelial cells and myofibroblasts still does not disrupt crypt homeostasis suggests that other Wnt-producing cells of the lamina propria (CD31), hematopoietic (CD45), and myofibroblast (α -smooth muscle necessary for organoid growth in vitro (Kabiri et al., 2014). On the other nand, pharmacologic inhibition of Porcupine (affecting both the epithelium protein required for Wnt secretion) results in Lgr5⁺ ISC loss (Kabiri et al., deficient organoid growth can be rescued by coculture with intestinal stromal cells (Kabiri et al., 2014), proving the compensatory ability of the intestinal stroma in this context. Several stromal cell types located adjacent to the epithelium, including subepithelial myofibroblasts, secrete Wnt2b balance out the lack of Wnt ligand from these cells (San Roman, layewickreme, Murtaugh, & Shivdasani, 2014). A new report focused on CD34⁺ gp38⁺ mesenchymal cells, which are negative for endothelial Coculture of organoids with these cells results in the formation of highly (encoding R-spondin1) as compared to other lamina propria mesenchymal cell types (Stzepourginski et al., 2016). These cells could therefore be an essential mesenchymal component of the ISC niche. In line with this, depletion of mesenchymal cells expressing Foxl1 (forkhead box L1, previously known as Fkh6), a transcription factor notably expressed in CD34+ gp38 + cells, results in disrupted epithelial morphology including loss of stem activity, to demonstrate that epithelial Wnts were dispensable in vivo but 2014; Valenta et al., 2016). Kabiri et al. further demonstrate that Porcupineand Wnt5a (Valenta et al., 2016). The fact that simultaneous deletion of Poractin) markers and surround crypts in both the small intestine and colon. proliferative spheroids, similar to addition of exogenous Wnt. Moreover, this overrules the need for R-spondin supplementation. Indeed, CD34⁺ $gp38^+$ crypt stromal cells express high levels of Wnt2b, Grenlin1, and Rspo1 and proliferative cells (Aoki et al., 2016).

Immune cells also reside in the lamina propria and can interact with the epithelium and its stem cells. Defined subsets of hematopoietic cells such as y6 T lymphocytes (Komano et al., 1995) or macrophages (Bansal, Trinath, Chakravorty, Patil, & Balaji, 2011) have been reported to affect epithelial homeostasis or recovery following infection or tissue damage, although the signals involved in these interactions remain unclear. Coculture of intestinal organoids with isolated lamina propria lymphocytes stimulates Lgr5⁺ CBC expansion and growth of the organoids in a way that is dependent on interleukin (IL)-22 production. The same effect is recapitulated both with isolated group 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) and with recombinant IL-22

in a dose-dependent manner. This process is independent of Paneth cells or altered Wnt, Notch, or EGF activity, instead relying on Stat3 signaling in ISC (Lindemans et al., 2015). Upon injury in vivo, crypt-adjacent ILCs, which lack antigen receptors but respond to IL-23, produce IL-22 while epithelial cells upregulate their expression of the IL-22 receptor, overall promoting epithelial regeneration (Hanash et al., 2012; Lindemans et al., 2015). In counterpart, exacerbated IL-22 signals can promote tumorigenesis in the intestine (Huber et al., 2012; Kirchberger et al., 2013), emphasizing its effects on ISC.

>7. THE MICROBIAL NICHE

protective effect of Lactobacillus on crypt cells in the context of irradiation dize and metabolize butyrate create a luminal gradient of butyrate down the the contents of the intestinal leumen, incluing passing digested foods but also the resident microbiota. In germ-free mice and rats, epithelial kinetics are slowed (Abrams, Bauer, & Sprinz, 1963; Alam, Midtvedt, & Uribe, 1994; Reikvam et al., 2011), suggesting a direct or indirect effect of the microbiota on ISC dynamics. Aside from an indirect effect on immune cell-epithelium bacteria could affect ISC. Intestinal epithelial cells express NADPH oxidases like Nox1 that produce reactive oxygen species (ROS) as an antimicrobial tion of stem and progenitor cells (Jones et al., 2013; Myant et al., 2013). Specific bacterial species (including Lactobacillus rhamnosis but not Escherichia coli) induce epithelial ROS and subsequent proliferation in a Nox1-dependent manner (Jones et al., 2013). Later, Jones et al. further showed a cytovia the activation of an antioxidant response mediated by Nrt2 (nuclear factor erythroid 2) (Jones et al., 2015). Another mechanism by which the microbiota affects ISC is through microbial metabolites, several of which were discovered to suppress colon stem and progenitor cell proliferation butyrate, a product of bacterial dietary fiber fermentation, had the most drastic effects, suppressing proliferation at low concentrations and inducing apoptosis at concentrations closer to those found in the colon lumen. The authors postulate that the crypt architecture and colonocytes' ability to oxicrypt regulating stem and progenitor cell proliferation. Interestingly, Opposite to the lamina propria, the intestinal epithelium is exposed to cross-talks, Jones et al. identified one mechanism through which commensal defense mechanism. Well-regulated levels of ROS can stimulate proliferain a recent screen by Stappenbeck's group (Kaiko et al., 2016). Of these, butyrate-mediated inhibition of proliferation depends on epigenetic changes

26

involving histone deacetylase 3 (HDAC3), previously reported to link bacterial signals to epithelial response in the intestine (Alenghat et al., 2013).

work by Sansonetti's group revealed the existence of a restricted set of inantly aerobic population resembles the microbiota found in the midgut of k-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells) signaling and production of bacteria in colonic crypts of healthy mice, which they termed the "cryptspecific core microbiota" (Pédron et al., 2012). Interestingly, this predominvertebrates, hinting at a potential coevolutionary selection of commensals favoring proper gut dynamics. Host cells can recognize microbial signals via pattern recognition receptors (PRR), including transmembrane TLR and cytoplasmic Nod-like receptors (NLR). The stimulation of PRR by their stream adaptor molecule MyD88 (myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88), often resulting in induction of MAPK and NF-kB (nuclear factor proinflammatory cytokines. Both the commensal microbiota and MyD88 genesis (Rakoff-Nahoum & Medzhitov, 2007). These observations were made all the more relevant by reports of direct expression of PRR TLR4 and Nod2 (nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2) by Lgr5⁺ ISC directly. The stimulation of these PRR in vivo or in organoid cultures has drastically different effects on ISC; whereas treatment (Neal et al., 2012), treatment with the Nod2 agonist muramyl dipeptide munication with luminal microbes and can thereby adjust their response to the luminal microenvironment. These studies also bring a new perspective Because of their localization furthest from luminal contents in the corresponding antigens induce a signaling cascade via their common downactivity are required for epithelial recovery from DSS-induced colitis, revealing a surprising regenerative effect of microbiota-induced PRR signaling in the gut (Rakoff-Nahoum, Pglino, Eslami-Varzaneh, Edberg, & Medzhitov, 2004). MyD88 signaling also contributes to intestinal tumoriwith TLR4 antigen lipopolysaccharide induces apoptosis of Lgr5⁺ ISC protects them from regenerative or ROS-induced stress (Nigro, Rossi, on the reported link between the presence of particular commensals and pathogens and the development of CRC (Castellarin et al., 2011; Dejea mucus- and AMP-protected crypt bottom, it was long thought that homeotatic ISC benefited from a sterile environment. Challenging this notion, Commere, Jay, & Sansonetti, 2014). Stem cells are therefore in direct comet al., 2014; Kostic et al., 2012, 2013; Machida-Montani et al., 2007).

Through its unique organization and multifaceted microenvironment, the intestinal system truly expands the boundaries of what is classically called the stem cell niche. Taking into account not just epithelial signals but also

those from the mesenchyme and lumen, ISC are able to continuously regen-	Barker, N., van Es, J. H., Kuipers, J., Kujala, P., van den Born, M., Cozijnsen, M., et al (2007) Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon hy marker cene I or
erate an epithelium adapted to the microenvironment they are faced with. Despite the continuous and ranid reseneration of this enithelium, cross-talk	Nature, 449(7165), 1003–1007. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06196. Roula F Borneil J Bordel J Loubhaer S Crearchieff A and Aborn M and 2005.
and redundancy between ISC niche components allow for a tightly con-	Datter, D., Datterin, J., Deguter, T., Jounnieet, S., Oregotieri, A., Vali de Dotti, M., et al. (2002) Corrigendum: EphB receptor activity suppresses colorectal cancer progression. <i>Nature</i>
trolled, robust system, and prevent unrestrained proliferation and tumori-	436(7052), 881. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03941. Barlle F Henderson I T Bechtrel H Van den Born M W V Sancho F Huls G
genesis. Understanding the intricate regulatory networks behind this is	et al. (2002). β-Catenin and TCF mediate cell positioning in the intestinal epithelium by
made considerably easier with the development of modern techniques of	controlling the expression of EphB/EphrinB. Cell, 111(2), 251–263. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01015-2.
genetic manipulation and ex vivo culture that will no doubt lead to great	Beppu, H., Mwizerwa, O. N., Beppu, Y., Dattwyler, M. P., Lauwers, G. Y., Bloch, K. D.
	et al. (2009). Stromal mactivation of DMPLKH leads to colorectal epititetial over- growth and polyp formation. Oncogene, 27(8), 1063–1070. https://doi.org/10.1038.
REFERENCES	sj.onc.1210720. Beyaz, S., Mana, M. D., Roper, J., Kedrin, D., Saadatpour, A., Hong, S., et al. (2016). High-
Abrams, G., Bauer, H., & Sprinz, H. (1963). Influence of the normal flora on mucosal mor-	fat diet enhances stemness and tumorigenicity of intestinal progenitors. Nature 53117592) 53–58 httms://doi.org/10.1038/nature17173
phology and cellular renewal in the ileum. A comparison of germ-free and conventional mice Talwatory Investigation 12 355–364	Bjerknes, M., & Cheng, H. (1981a). The stem-cell zone of the small intestinal epithelium. I
Alam, M., Midtvedt, T., & Uribe, A. (1994). Differential cell kinetics in the ileum and colon	Evidence from Paneth cells in the adult mouse. The American Journal of Anatomy, $160(1)$
of germfree rats. Standinarian Journal of Gastroenterology, 29(5), 445–451.	31-03. Bierknes, M., & Cheng, H. (1981b). The stem-cell zone of the small intestinal epithelium
Alenghat, I., Osborne, L. C., Saenz, S. A., Kobuley, U., Ziegler, C. G., Mullican, S. E., et al. (2013) Histone deacervlase 3 coordinates commensal-bacteria-demendent intestinal	III. Evidence from columnar, enteroendocrine, and mucous cells in the adult mouse. The
homeostasis. Nature, 504(7478), 153–157. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12687.	American Journal of Anatomy, $160(1)$, $77-91$.
Altmann, G. G. (1983). Morphological observations on mucus-secreting nongoblet cells in	рјеткиех, ич., о Спецв, гг. (1979). Слопа ападуки от шоцке пискипаг ерипенаг ргоgециоту. Gastroenteroloov. 116(1). 7–14.
the deep crypts of the rat ascending colon. <i>The American Journal of Anatomy</i> , 167(1), 95–117 https://doi.org/10.1002/sis.1001670109	Bjerknes, M., & Cheng, H. (2002). Multipotential stem cells in adult mouse gastric epithe-
Andreu, P., Colnot, S., Godard, C., Gad, S., Chafey, P., Niwa-Kawakita, M., et al. (2005).	lium. American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 283(3)
Crypt-restricted proliferation and commitment to the Paneth cell lineage following Apc	G/6/-G/1/. https://doi.org/10.1152/apg0.00415.2001. Bondow B L Faher M L. Woitz K L Walker F. M & Battle M A (2012) F-cadherir
loss in the mouse intestine. Development, 132, 1443–1451. https://doi.org/10.1242/ dev.01700.	is required for intestinal morphogenesis in the mouse. Developmental Biology, 371(1)
Andreu, P., Peignon, G., Slomianny, C., Taketo, M. M., Colnot, S., Robine, S., et al.	1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2012.06.005.
(2008). A genetic study of the role of the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling in Paneth cell differ-	Dreault, D. 1., Min, I. M., Carlone, D. L., Farila, L. G., Ambruzs, D. M., Henderson, D. E. et al. (2008). Generation of mTert-GFP mice as a model to identify and study tissue pro-
entiation. Levelopmental Biology, 324, 288–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vdhio 2008 09 027	genitor cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America
Aoki, R., Shoshkes-Carmel, M., Gao, N., Shin, S., May, C. L., Golson, M. L., et al. (2016).	105(30), 10420–10425. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0804800105.
Fox11-expressing mesenchymal cells constitute the intestinal stem cell niche. <i>Cellular and</i>	buczacki, S. J. a., Zecchnir, rr. 1., Nicholson, A. M., Kussel, K., Vermeuleth, L., Keinp, K. et al. (2013). Intestinal label-retaining cells are secretory precursors expressing Lgr5
jemgh.2015.12.004.	Nature, 495(7439), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11965.
Auclair, B. A., Benoit, Y. D., Rivard, N., Mishina, Y., & Perreault, N. (2007). Bone mor-	buller, N. V. J. A., Коsekrans, S. L., Ivletcarle, С., Heymans, J., V an Dop, W. A., Fessler, E. et al. (2015). Stromal Indian hedgehog signaling is required for intestinal adenoma for-
phogenetic protein signaling is essential for terminal differentiation of the intestinal secre- tory cell lineage. <i>Castroenterology</i> 133(3): 887–896. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.	mation in mice. Gastreenterology, 148(1), 170–180.e6. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro
entro.2007.06.0666.	2014.10.006. Camili A I Veolor T M Dominisch E S Chunz I & Samuchen I C (2016)
Ayabe, T., Satchell, D. P., Wilson, C. L., Parks, W. C., Selsted, M. E., & Ouellette, A. J.	Cartun, A. J., Neetey, J. 199, Dennuack, E. S., Chung, J., & Sannetson, L. C. (2010) Notch recentor regulation of intestinal stem cell homeostasis and crypt regeneration
(2000). Secretion of microbicidal alpha-defensins by intestinal Paneth cells in response to bacteria. <i>Nature Immunology</i> , 1(2), 113–118. https://doi.org/10.1038/77783.	Developmental Biology, 402(1), 98-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2015.03.012
Bansal, K., Trinath, J., Chakravortty, D., Patil, S. A., & Balaji, K. N. (2011). Pathogen-	Notch. Costallorin M Wieman D I Frances I D Wieman I Frances I D Duardini I at al
specific TLR2 protein activation programs macrophages to induce Wnt-beta-catenin sienaling. <i>Iournal of Biological Chemistry</i> . 286(42), 37032-37044. https://doi.org/	(2011). Fusbacterium nucleatum infection is prevalent in human colorectal carcinoma
10.1074/jbc.M111.260414.	Genome Research, 22, 299–306. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.126516.111. Chang H /1974) Origin differentiation and remeaval of the four main enrichelial cell trues in
Barker, N., Ridgway, R. A., van Es, J. H., van de Wetering, M., Begthel, H., van den Born M er al (2009). Crvnr stem celle as the cells-of-orioin of intestinal cancer	the mouse small intestine. II. Mucous cells. The American Journal of Anatomy, 141(4)
Nature, 457(7229), 608–611. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07602.	481–501.

28

Coralie Trentesaux and Béatrice Romagnolo

27

Intestinal Stem Cells and Their Defining Niche

Uneng, H., & Lebiond, C. F. (1974a). Ungin, amerenation and renewal of the four main anithalial call trues in the moure small intestine. V. I Initiation theory of the anian of the	rarm, H. F., Jordens, I., Mosa, M. H., Dasak, O., Korving, J., Lauricho, D. V. F., et al. 2016) Visualization of a short-range Wint conditant in the intestinal stem_cell wiche
four epithelial cell types. The American Journal of Anatomy, 141(4), 537–561.	Nature, 530(7590), 340–343. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16937.
Cheng, H., & Leblond, C. P. (1974b). Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main	Farin, H. F., Karthaus, W. R., Kujala, P., Rakhshandehroo, M., Schwank, G., Vries, R. G.J.,
epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine. I. Columnar cell. The American Journal of	et al. (2014). Paneth cell extrusion and release of antimicrobial products is directly con-
Zhatomy, 141(4), 401–479. Choi. H. L. Huber. A. H., & Weis. W. I. (2006). Thennodynamics of B-catenin–lieand inter-	uoueu by initiute cen-derived Iriv-Y. <i>ine Journal of Experimental Inteature</i> , 211(1), 1393–1405, https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20130753.
actions: The roles of the N- and C-terminal tails in modulating binding affinity. <i>Journal of</i>	Farin, H. F., Van Es, J. H., & Clevers, H. (2012). Redundant sources of Wnt regulate intes-
Biological Chemistry, 281(2), 1027–1038. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M511338200.	tinal stem cells and promote formation of Paneth cells. Castroenterology, 143(6),
Colliot, S., INIWA-KAWAKITA, M., HAINAITA, G., GODAITA, C., LE PLEINET, S., FLOUDTOIT, C., ET AI. (2004)	1310–1329.e/. ntups://d01.01g/10.1023/J.gastro.2012/06.031. Eavr T R ahine S I anvard D & Huelden I (2007) Wht/heta-catentin is essential for
Influence of genetic and environmental modifiers. Laboratory Investigation, 84,	itestinal homeostasis and maintenance of intestinal stem cells. <i>Molecular and Cellular Biol-</i>
1619–1630. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.3700180.	ogy, 27(21), 7551–7559. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.01034–07.
Cortina, C., Palomo-Ponce, S., Iglesias, M., Fernández-Masip, J. L., Vivancos, A.,	Fodde, R., Fodde, R., Smits, R., Smits, R., Clevers, H., & Clevers, H. (2001). APC, signal
Whissell, G., et al. (2007). EphB–ephrin–B interactions suppress colorectal cancer pro- mession by commermentalizing numor cells. <i>Nature Compile</i> 39(11): 1376–1383. https://	transduction and genetic instability in colorectal cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer, 1(1), 55–67 https://doi.org/10.1038/35094067
doi.org/10.1038/ng.2007.11.	Fre, S., Hannezo, E., Sale, S., Huyghe, M., Lafkas, D., Kissel, H., et al. (2011). Notch lin-
Crawford, H. C., Fingleton, B. M., Rudolph-Owen, L. A., Goss, K. J. H., Rubinfeld, B.,	eages and activity in intestinal stem cells determined by a new set of knock-in mice. <i>PLoS</i>
Polakis, P., et al. (1999). The metalloproteinase matrilysin is a target of β -catenin trans-	<i>One</i> , 6(10), e25785. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025785.
activation in intestinal tumors. Omogene, 18(18), 2883–2891. https://doi.org/10.1038/	Fre, S., Huyghe, M., Mourikis, P., Robine, S., Louvard, D., & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S.
	(2005). Notch signals control the fate of infiniture progenitor cells in the intestine.
Darmoul, D., & Ouellette, A. J. (1996). Positional specificity of defensin gene expression	Nature, 435(/044), 964–968. https://doi.org/10.1058/nature03589.
reveals r'ancur cen necerogeneuy in mouse sman mesune. Ameman journar of raysoogy, 27400-168_74	rre, S., Fallavi, S. K., Frluygire, IVI., Lae, IVI., Jalissen, KF., KODIIIe, S., et al. (2007). INOLUI and Wint eitmale commentivaly control call architeration and humorizametic in the integr
Das S. Yu. S. Sakamori, R. Vedula, P., Feng. O., Flores I., et al. (2015). Rab8a vesicles	time. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 106(15).
regulate W nt ligand delivery and Paneth cell maturation at the intestinal stem cell niche.	6309–6314. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0900427106.
Development, 142(12), 2147–2162. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.121046.	Fujii, M., Shimokawa, M., Date, S., Takano, A., Matano, M., Nanki, K., et al. (2016).
Davis, H., Irshad, S., Bansal, M., Rafferty, H., Boitsova, T., Bardella, C., et al. (2015). Aber-	A colorectal tumor organoid library demonstrates progressive loss of niche factor require-
rant epithelial GREM1 expression initiates colonic tumorigenesis from cells outside the	ments during tumorigenesis. Cell Stem Cell, 18(6), 827-838. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
stem cell niche. Nature Mediane, 21(1), 62–70, https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3750.	stem.2016.04.003.
de Lau, W., Barker, N., Low, I. Y., Koo, BK., Li, V. S. W., I eunissen, H., et al. (2011).	Fukuda, M., Mizutani, I., & Mochizuki, W. (2014). Small intestinal stem cell identity is
Lgro nomologues associate with wrt receptors and mediate K-spondin signaling. Nature 476/7360 203-207 https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10337	maintained with functional Panetin cells in neterotopically granted epitinenium onto the colory <i>Comme & Douolonnicut</i> 28, 1752–1757, https://doi.org/10.1101/cmd.245233.114
Deiea. C. M., Wick. E. C., Hechenbleikner, E. M., White, I. R., Mark Welch. I. L.	Gerbe. F. Van Es. I. H., Makrini, L., Brulin, B., Mellitzer, G., Robine. S., et al. (2011).
Rossetti, B. I., et al. (2014). Microbiota organization is a distinct feature of proximal	Distinct ATOH1 and Neurog3 requirements define tuft cells as a new secretory cell type
colorectal cancers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of Amer-	in the intestinal epithelium. Journal of Cell Biology, 192(5), 767-780. https://doi.org/
ia, 111(51), 18321–18326. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1406199111.	10.1083/jcb.201010127.
Dow, L. E., O'Rourke, K. P., Simon, J., Tschaharganeh, D. F., Van Es, J. H., Clevers, H.,	Gerling, M., Büller, N. V. J. A., Kirn, L. M., Joost, S., Frings, O., Englert, B., et al. (2016).
et al. (2015). Apc restoration promotes cellular differentiation and reestablishes crypt	Stromal Hedgehog signalling is downregulated in colon cancer and its restoration
nonreostasis in colorectal cancer. $ceu, 101, 1009$ –1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. c_{ell} 2015/05/033	restrains tuniour growth. Ivature Communications, 7, 12221. https://doi.org/10.1026/ ncomms12331
Drost, J., van Jaarsveld, R. H., Ponsioen, B., Zimberlin, C., van Boxtel, R., Buils, A., et al.	Ginjala, V., Nacerddine, K., Kulkarni, A., Oza, J., Hill, S. J., Yao, M., et al. (2011). BMI1 is
(2015). Sequential cancer mutations in cultured human intestinal stem cells. Nature,	recruited to DNA breaks and contributes to DNA damage-induced H2A ubiquitination
521(7550), 43-47. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14415.	and repair. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 31(10), 1972–1982. https://doi.org/10.1128/
Durand, A., Donanue, D., retgnon, ס., בניטעדופעז, ר., כאקוומיע, אי, אטווואוווזץ, כ., כנ או. (2012). Functional intestinal stem cells after Paneth cell ablation induced by the loss of tran-	MCD:00201-10. Gordon, J. I. (1989). Intestinal epithelial differentiation: New insights from chimeric and
scription factor Math1 (Atoh1). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United	transgenic mice. The Journal of Cell Biology, 108(4), 1187-1194. Retrieved from
States of America, 109(23), 8965–8970. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1201652109.	http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcg?artid=2115507&
ran, L. F., Dong, W. G., Jiang, C. Q., Ata, D., Lao, F., X Tu, Q. F. (عربان). Expression of putative stem cell genes Musashi-1 and betal-integrin in human colorectal adenomas and	toot=pmcentrezxrenaertype=abstract. Gordon. I. I., Schmidt, G. H., & Roth, K. A. (1992). Studies of intestinal stem cells using
adenocarcinomas. International Journal of Colorectal Disease, 25(1), 17–23. https://doi.org/	normal, chimeric, and transgenic mice. The FASEB Journal, 6(12), 3039-3050.
10.1007/s00384-009-0791-2.	Retrieved from http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/cr.2017.59.

Coralie Trentesaux and Béatrice Romagnolo

Intestinal Stem Cells and Their Defining Niche

Igarashi, M., & Guarente, L. (2016). mTORC1 and SIR T1 cooperate to foster expansion of gut adult stem cells during calorie restriction. <i>Cell</i> , <i>166</i> (2), 436-450. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2016.055.044. Ireland, H., Houghton, C., Howard, L., & Winton, D. J. (2005). Cellular inheritance of a Cre-activated reporter gene to determine Paneth cell longevity in the murine small intes- tine. <i>Developmental Dynamic</i> , <i>233</i> (4), 1332–1336. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.20446. Ireland, H., Kemp, R., Houghton, C., Howard, L., Clarke, A. R., Sansom, O. J. et al. (2004). Inducible Cre-mediated control of gene expression in the murine gastrointestinal tract: Effect of loss of β-catenin. <i>Gastroentenology</i> , <i>126</i> (5), 1236–1246. https://doi.org/	 10.1053/j.gastro.2004.03.020. Ismail, H., Andrin, C., McDonald, D., & Hendzel, M. J. (2010). BMI1-mediated hixtone ubiquitylation promotes DNA double-strand break repair. <i>Journal of Cell Biology</i>, <i>191</i>(1), 45–60. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201003034. Itzkovitz, S., Lyubimova, A., Blat, I., Maynard, M., Van Es, J., Lees, J., et al. (2012). Single molecule transcript counting of stem cell markers in the mouse intestine. <i>Nature Cell Biol-</i> ogy, <i>14</i>(1), 106–114. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2384.Single. Jadhav, U., Saxena, M., O'Neill, N. K., Saadapour, A., Yuan, G. C., et al. (2016). Dynamic 	 reorganization of chromatin accessibility signatures during dedifferentiation of secretory precursors into Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells. <i>Coll Stem Coll</i>, <i>21</i>(1), 65–77. Jang, B. G., Kim, H. S., Kim, K. J., Rhee, YY. Kim, W. H., & Kang, G. H. (2016). Distribution of intestinal stem cell markers in colorectal precancerous lesions. <i>Histopathology</i>, <i>68</i>(4), 567–577. https://doi.org/10.1111/his.12787. Jones, R. M., Desai, C. Darby, T. M., Luo, L., Wolfarth, A. A., Scharer, C. D., et al. (2015). Lactobacilli modulate epithelial cytoprotection through the Nrf2 pathway. <i>Cell Report</i>, <i>12</i>, 1217–1225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.07.042. Jones, R. M., Luo, L., Ardita, C. S., Richardson, A. N., Kwon, Y. M., Mercante, J. W., et al. (2013). Symbiotic lactobacilli stimulate gut epithelial proliferation via Nox-mediated generation of reactive oxygen species. <i>The EMBO Journal</i>, <i>32</i>(23), 3017–3028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.244. 	 Jubb, A. M., Chalasani, S., Frantz, G. D., Smits, R., Grabsch, H. I., Kavi, V., et al. (2006). Achaete-scute like 2 (ascl2) is a target of Wnt signalling and is upregulated in intestinal neoplasin. Onogene. 25(24), 3445–3457. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1209382. Kabiri, Z., Greicius, G., Madan, B., Biechele, S., Zhong, Z., Zaribafzadeh, H., et al. (2014). Stroma provides an intestinal stem cell niche in the absence of epithelial Wnts. Development, 141, 2206–2215. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.104976. Kaiko, G. E., Ryu, S. H., Koues, O. I., Collins, P. L., Solnica-Krezel, L., Pearce, E. J., et al. (2016). The colonic crypt protects stem cells from microbiota-derived metabolites. Cell, 167(4), 1137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.10.034. 	 Kazanjian, A., Noah, T., Brown, D., Burkart, J., & Shroyer, N. F. (2010). Atonal homolog 1 is required for growth and differentiation effects of Notch/Y-secretase inhibitors on normal and cancerous intestinal epithelial cells. <i>Gastneuteology</i>, <i>139</i>(3), 918–928.e6. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastno.2010.05.081. Kim, TH., Escudero, S., & Shivdasani, R. A. (2012). Intact function of Lgr5 receptorexpressing intestinal stem cells in the absence of Paneth cells. <i>Poceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</i>, <i>109</i>(10), 3932–3937. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113890109. Kim, KA., Kakitani, M., Zhao, J., Oshima, T., Tang, T., Binnerts, M., et al. (2005). Mitogenic influence of human R-spondin1 on the intestinal epithelium. <i>Science</i>, <i>309</i>(5738), 1256–1259. https://doi.org/10.1126/stence.11112521. Kim, T. H., & Shivdasani, R. A. (2011). Genetic evidence that intestinal Notch functions vary regionally and operate through a common mechanism of muth repression. <i>Journal of Biological Chemistry</i>, <i>286</i>(13), 11427–11433. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.188797.
 Graham, T. A., Weaver, C., Mao, F., Kimelman, D., & Xu, W. (2000). Crystal structure of a β-catenin/T cf complex. <i>Cell</i>, 103(6), 885–896. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092- 8674(00)00192-6. Gregorieff, A., Pinto, D., Begthel, H., Destrée, O., Kielman, M., & Clevers, H. (2005). Expression pattern of Wnt signaling components in the adult intestine. <i>Castroentenlogy</i>, 129(2), 626–638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gastro.2005.06.007. Griin, D., Lyubimova, A., Kester, L., Wije/rands, K., Basak, O., Sasaki, N., et al. (2015). Single-cell messenger RNA sequencing reveals rare intestinal cell types. <i>Nature</i>, 525(7568), 251–255. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14966. 	Hanash, A. M., Dudakov, J. A., Hua, G., O'Connor, M. H., Young, L. F., Singer, N. V., et al. (2012). Interleukin-22 protects intestinal stem cells from immune-mediated tissue damage and regulates sustivity to graft versus host disease. <i>Immunity</i> , <i>37</i> (2), 339–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.028. Hao, HX., Xie, Y., Zhang, Y., Charlat, O., Oster, E., Avello, M., et al. (2012). ZNRF3 promotes Wnt receptor turmover in an R-spondin-sensitive manner. <i>Nature</i> , <i>485</i> (7397), 195–200. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11019. Harada, N., Tamai, Y., Ishikawa, T. O., Sauer, B., Takaku, K., Oshima, M., et al. (1999).	 Intestinal polyposis in mice with a dominant stable mutation of the β-catenin gene. <i>The EMBO Journal</i>, <i>18</i>(21), 5931-5942. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.21.5931. Haranis, AP. G., Begthel, H., van den Born, M., van Es, J., Jonkheer, S., Offerhaus, G. J. A., et al. (2004). De novo crypt formation and juvenile polyposis on BMP inhibition in mouse intestine. <i>Science (New York, NYY)</i>, <i>303</i>(5664), 1684–1686. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1093587. Harris, A. (1996). Human enteric defensins. <i>Journal of Biological Chemistry</i>, <i>271</i>(8), 4038–4045. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.8.4038. He, X. C., Yin, T., Grindley, J. C., Tian, Q., Sato, T., Tao, W. A., et al. (2007). PTEN-deficient intestinal stem cells initiate intestinal polyposis. <i>Nature Genetic</i>, <i>39</i>(2), 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1928. He, X. C., Zhang, J., Tong, WG., Tawik, O., Ross, J., Scoville, D. H., et al. (2004). BMP 	 signaling inhibits intestinal stem cell self-renewal through suppression of Wnr-β-catenin signaling. Nature Genetics, 36(10), 1117–1121. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1430. Hemiston, M. L., Wong, M. H., & Gordon, J. I. (1996). Forced expression of E-cadherin in the mouse intestinal epithelium slows cell migration and provides evidence for non-autonomous regulation of cell fate in a self-renewing system. Genes and Development, 10, 855–996. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.10.8.985. Howe, J. R., Ringold, J. C., Sunmers, R. W., Mitros, F. A., Nishimura, D. Y., & Stone, E. M. (1998). A gene for familial juvenile polyposis maps to chromosome 18q21.1. The American Journal of Human Genetic, 62(5), 1129–1136. https://doi.org/ 	 10.1086/301840. Huber, S., Gaglianil, N., Zenewicz, L. A., Huber, F. J., Bosurgi, L., Hu, B., et al. (2012). IL-22BP is regulated by the inflammasome and modulates tumorigenesis in the intestine. 22BP is regulated by the inflammasome and modulates tumorigenesis in the intestine. <i>Inflammatory Bowel Disease Monitor</i>, <i>13</i>(3), 108–109. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11535. Huber, A. H., & Weis, W. I. (2001). The structure of the B-catenin/E-cadherin complex and the molecular basis of diverse ligand recognition by B-catenin. <i>Cell</i>, <i>105</i>, 391–402. https://doi.org/10.1105/S0092-8674(01)00330-0. Hueb, D. J., Ridgway, R. A., Radulescu, S., Leushacke, M., Camphell, A. D., Biswas, S., entlys://doi.org/10.1155/20092-8674(01)0330-0. Hueb, D. J., Ridgway, R. A., Radulescu, S., Leushacke, M., Camphell, A. D., Biswas, S., entlys://doi.org/10.1155/20092-8674(01)0330-0. Hues, D. J., Ridgway, R. A., Radulescu, S., Leushacke, M., Camphell, A. D., Biswas, S., entlys://doi.org/10.1155/20092-8674(01)0330-0. Hues, D. J., Ridgway, R. A., Radulescu, S., Leushacke, M., Camphell, A. D., Biswas, S., entlys://doi.org/10.1155/2009.

32

Coralie Trentesaux and Béatrice Romagnolo

31

Intestinal Stem Cells and Their Defining Niche

Niche	
Defining	
Their	
Cells and	
I Stem	
ntestina	

- Kirchberger, S., Royston, D. J., Boulard, O., Thornton, E., Franchini, F., Szabady, R. L., et al. (2013). Innate lymphoid cells sustain colon cancer through production of interleukin-22 in a mouse model. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 210(5), 917–931. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20122308.
- Komano, H., Fujiura, Y., Kawaguchi, M., Matsumoto, S., Hashimoto, Y., Obana, S., et al. (1995). Homeostatic regulation of intestinal epithelia by intraepithelial gamma delta T cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 001(3), 6147–6151, https://doi.org/10.1073/science.013.014316147
 - 92(13), 6147–6151. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.92.13.6147.
 Koo, B. K., Spit, M., Jordens, I., Low, T. Y., Stange, D. E., van de Wetering, M., et al. (2012). Tumour suppressor RNR43 is a stem-cell E3 ligase that induces endocytosis of Wirt recentros. *Nature* 488(7413), 665–660 https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11308
- of Wnt receptors. Nature, 488(7413), 665–669. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11308. Korinek, V., Barker, N., Moerer, P., Van Donselaar, E., Huls, G., Peters, P. J., et al. (1998). Depletion of epithelial stem-cell compartments in the small intestine of mice lacking Tcf-4. Nature, 19, 379–383.
- Kosinski, C., Li, V. S. W., Chan, A. S. Y., Zhang, J., Ho, C., Tsui, W. Y., et al. (2007). Gene expression patterns of human colon tops and basal crypts and BMP antagonists as intestinal stem cell niche factors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(39), 15418–15423. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0707210104.
 - Kostic, A. D., Chun, E. Robertson, L. Glickman, J. N., Gallin, C. A., Michaud, M., et al. (2013). Fusobacterium nucleatum potentiates intestinal tumorigenesis and modulates the tumor-immune microenvironment. *Cell Host & Microbe*, *14*(2), 207–215. https://doi.
- org/10.1016/j.chom.2013.07.007. Kostic, A. D., Gevers, D., Pedamallu, C. S., Kostic, A. D., Gevers, D., Pedamallu, C. S., et al. (2012). Genomic analysis identifies association of Fusobacterium with colorectal carcinoma. *Genome Research*, 22, 292–298. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.126573.111.
 - Kraehenbuhl, J.-P., & Neutra, M. R. (2000). Epithelial M cells: Differentiation and function. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, 16(1), 301–332. Retrieved from http:// www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.16.1.301%5Cnpapers2:// publication/doi/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.16.1.301.
- Kuhnert, F., Davis, C. R., Wang, H.-T., Chu, P., Lee, M., Yuan, J., et al. (2004). Essential requirement for Wnt signaling in proliferation of adult small intestine and colon revealed by adenoviral expression of Dickkopf-1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(1), 266–271. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2536800100.
- In Contract of America, 10(1), 200–201. https://doi.org/10.1010/071018-2230000100. Li, N. Yousefi, M. Nakauka-Ddamba, A. Li, F. Vandivier, L. Parada, K. et al. (2015). The Mis family of RNA-binding proteins function redundantly as intestinal oncoproteins. Call Reports, 13(11), 2440–2455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.11.022.
- Liaw, D., Marsh, D. J., Li, J., Dahia, P. L., Wang, S. I., Zheng, Z., et al. (1997). Germline mutations of the PTEN gene in Cowden disease, an inherited breast and thyroid cancer syndrome. *Nature Genetics*, 16(1), 64–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0597-64.
- Lindemans, C. A., Calafiore, M., Mertelsmann, A. M., O'Connor, M. H., Dudakov, J. A., Jenq, R. R., et al. (2015). Interleukin-22 promotes intestinal-stem-cell-mediated epithelial regeneration. *Nature*, 528(7583), 560–564. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16460.
 - Logan, C. Y., & Nusse, R. (2004). The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 20(1), 781–810. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.20.010403.113126.
- Lussier, C., Basora, N., Bouatrouss, Y., & Beaulieu, J. F. (2000). Integrins as mediators of epithelial cell-matrix interactions in the human small intestinal mucosa. *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 51(2), 169–178. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0029 (20001015)51:2<169::AID-IEMT8>3.0.CO:2-A.
- Machida-Montani, A., Saszuki, S., Inoue, M., Natsukawa, S., Shaura, K., Koizumi, Y., et al. (2007). Atrophic gastritis, Helicobacter pylori, and colorectal cancer risk: A case-control study. *Helicobacter*, 12(4), 328–332. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-5378.2007.00513.x.

- Madara, J. L. (1982). Cup cells: Structure and distribution of a unique class of epithelial cells in guinea pig, rabbit, and monkey small intestine. *Gastnoentenology*, *83*(5), 981–994. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0016-5085(82)80064-4.
- Madison, B. B., Braunstein, K., Kuizon, E., Portman, K., Qiao, X. T., & Gumucio, D. L. (2005). Epithelial hedgehog signals pattern the intestinal crypt-villus axis. *Development* (*Cambridge, England*), 132(2), 279–289. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01576.
 - Maher, M. T., Flozak, A. S., Stocker, A. M., Chenn, A., & Gottardi, C. J. (2009). Activity of the β-catenin phosphodestruction complex at cell-cell contacts is enhanced by cadherinbased adhesion. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 186(2), 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.200811108.
- May, R., Riehl, T. E., Hunt, C., Sureban, S. M., Anant, S., & Houchen, C. W. (2008). Identification of a novel putative gastrointestinal stem cell and adenoma stem cell marker, doublecortin and CaM kinase-like-1, following radiation injury and in adenomatous polyposis coli/multiple intestinal neoplasia mice. *Stem Cells*, 26(3), 630–637. https:// doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0621.
 - May, R., Sureban, S. M., Hoang, N., Riehl, T. E., Lightfoot, S. A., Ramanujam, R., et al. (2009). Doublecortin and CaM kinase-like-1 and leucine-rich-repeat-containing G-protein-coupled receptor mark quiescent and cycling intestinal stem cells, respectively. Stem Cells, 27(10), 2571–2579. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.193.
 - Middendorp, S., Schneeberger, K., Wiegerinck, C. L., Mokry, M., Akkerman, R. D. L., Van Wijngaarden, S., et al. (2014). Adult stem cells in the small intestine are intrinsically programmed with their location-specific function. *Stem Cells*, *32*(5), 1083–1091. https:// doi.org/10.1002/stem.1655.
 - Milano, J., McKay, J., Dagenais, C., Foster-Brown, L., Pognan, F., Gadient, R., et al. (2004). Modulation of Notch processing by gamma-secretase inhibitors causes intestinal goblet cell metaplasia and induction of genes known to specify gut secretory lineage differentiation. *Toxiological Sciences*, 82(1), 341–338. https://doi.org/10.1093/1003564/254.
- Miyoshi, Y., Ando, H., Nagase, H., Nishisho, I., Horii, a., Miki, Y., et al. (1992). Germ-line mutations of the APC gene in 53 familial adenomatous polyposis patients. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89(10), 4452–4456. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.10.4452.
- Montgomery, R. K., Carlone, D. L., Richmond, C. A., Farilla, L., Kranendonk, M. E. G., Henderson, D. E., et al. (2011). Mouse telomerase reverse transcriptase (mTert) expression marks slowly cycling intestinal stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(1), 179–184. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1013004108.
 - Monticelli, L. A., Osborne, L. C., Noti, M., Tran, S. V., Zaiss, D. M. W., & Artis, D. (2015). IL-33 promotes an innate immune pathway of intestinal tissue protection dependent on amphiregulin–EGFR interactions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America, 112(34), 10762–10767. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1509070112.
- Morin, P. J., Sparks, A. B., Korinek, V., Barker, N., Clevers, H., Vogelstein, B., et al. (1997). Activation of b-catenin–Tcf signaling in colon cancer by mutations in b-catenin or APC. *Science*, 275, 1787–1790.
- Muncan, V., Sansom, O. J., Tertoolen, L., Phesse, T. J., Begthel, H., Sancho, E., et al. (2006). Rapid loss of intestinal crypts upon conditional deletion of the Wnt/Tcf-4 target gene c-Myc. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 26(22), 8418–8426. https://doi.org/10.1128/ MCB.00821-06.
- Muñoz, J., Stange, D. E., Schepers, A. G., van de Wetering, M., Koo, B.-K., Itzkovitz, S., et al. (2012). The Lgr5 intestinal stem cell signature: Robust expression of proposed quiescent "+4" cell markers. *The EMBO Journal*, 31(14), 3079–3091. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/emboj.2012.166.

ŝ

 Powell, S. M., Zilz, N., Beazer-Barclay, Y., Bryan, T. M., Hamilton, S. R., Thibodeau, S. N., et al. (1992). APC mutations occur early during colorectal tumori- genesis. <i>Nature, 359</i>(6392), 235–237. https://doi.org/10.1038/359235a0. Pütsep, K., Axelson, L. G., Bonnan, A., Middvedt, T., Nomark, S., Bonnan, H. G., et al. (2000). Germ-free and colonized mice generate the same products from enteric prodefensins. <i>Journal of Biological Chemistry, 275</i>(51), 40478–40482. https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M00786200. Qi, Z., Li, Y., Zhao, B., Xu, C., Liu, Y., Li, H., et al. (2017). BMP restricts stemmess of intestinal Lg75 + stem cells by directly suppressing their signature genes. <i>Nature Communications,</i> 8, 13824. https://doi.org/10.1038/100.013924. 	 geness unough ure adaptor protein MyDroo, <i>Statue</i>, <i>51</i> (750-4), 124–127. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1140488. Rakoff-Nahoum, S., Pglino, J., Eslami-Varzaneh, F., Edberg, S., & Medzhitov, R. (2004). Recognition of commensal microflora by toll-like receptors in required for intestinal homeostasis. <i>Cell, 118</i>, 229–241. Reed, K. R., Tunster, S. J., Young, M., Carrico, A., John, R. M., & Clarke, A. R. (2012). Entopic overexpression of <i>Ascl</i> does not accelerate tumourigenesis in Apc^{Min} mice. <i>Gut</i>, <i>61</i>(10), 1435–1438. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300842. Reidvam, D. H. Erofeev, A., Sandvik, A., Grcic, V., Jahnsen, F. L. Gaustad, P., et al. (2011). Depletion of murine intestinal microbiota: Effects on gut mucosa and epithelial gene expression. <i>PLoS One</i>, <i>6</i>(3), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017996. Riccio, O., van Gijn, M. E., Bezdek, A. C., Pellegrinet, L., van Es, J. H., Zimber-Strobl, U., et al. (2008). Loss of intestinal crypt progenitor cells owing to inactivation of both Notch1 and Notch2 is accompanied by derepression of CDK inhibitors p27Kip1 and 	 p57Kip2. EMBO Reports, 9(4), 377–383. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2008.7. Risma, L., Ellenbrock, S. I. J., Zomer, A., Snippert, H. J., De Sauvage, F. J., Simons, B. D., et al. (2014). Intestinal crypt homeostasis revealed as single-stem-celllevel by in vivo live imaging. <i>Nature</i>, 507, 362–365. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12972. Rodriguez-Colman, M. J., Schewe, M., Meerlo, M., Stiger, E., Gerrits, J., Pras-Raves, M., et al. (2017). Intestinal expt metabolic identities in the intestinal crypt supports stem cell function. <i>Nature</i>, 543, 424–427. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21673. Romagnolo, B., Berrebi, D., Saadi-Keddoucci, S., Porteu, A., Pichard, A. L., Peuchmaur, M., et al. (1999). Intestinal dysplasia and adenoma in transgenic mice after overexpression of an activated β-catenin. <i>Caner Resarch</i>, 59, 3875–3879. Rothenberg, M. E., Nusse, Y., Kalisky, T., Lee, J., Jalerha, P., Scheren, F., et al. (2012). Identification of a fxit. Action for a contractory base secretory cell that supports Lgr5 + stem cells in mice. Gastroentenlogy, 142(5), 1195–1205.e6. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2012.02.006. 	 Rubin, D. C., Roth, K. a., Birkenmeier, E. H., & Gordon, J. I. (1991). Epithelial cell differentiation in normal and transgenic mouse intestinal isografis. <i>The Journal of Cell Biology</i>, <i>113</i>(5), 1183–1192. Rubin, D. C., Swietlicki, E., Roth, K. A., & Gordon, J. I. (1992). Use of fetal intestinal isografis from normal and transgenic mice to study the programming of positional information along the duodenal-to-colonic axis. <i>Journal of Biological Chemistry</i>, <i>267</i>(21), 15122–15133. Salaran, N. H., Hung, K., Haribhai, D., Chu, H., Karlsson-Sjöberg, J., Amir, E., et al. (2010). Enteric defensins are essential regulators of intestinal microbial ecology. <i>Nature Immunology</i>, <i>11</i>(1), 7(6–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1825. San Roman, A. K., Jayevickreme, C. D., Mutraugh, L. C., & Shivdasani, R. A. (2014). Wn secretion from epithelial cells and subepithelial myofibroblasts is not required in the mouse intestinal stem cell niche in vivo. <i>Stem Cell Reports</i>, <i>2</i>(2), 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.12.012.
 Murgia, C., Blaikie, P., Kim, N., Dans, M., Petrie, H. T., & Giancotti, F. G. (1998). Cell cycle and adhesion defects in mice carrying a targeted deletion of the integrin β4 cytoplasmic domain. <i>The EMBO Journal</i>, <i>17</i>(14), 3940–3951. Myant, K. B., Cammareri, P., McGhee, E. J., Ridgway, R. A., Huels, D. J., Cordero, J. B., et al. (2013). ROS production and NF-kB activation triggered by RAC1 facilitate WNTT-driven intestinal stem cell proliferation and colorectal cancer initiation. <i>Cell Stem Cell</i>, <i>12</i>(6), 761–773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2013.04.006. Neal, M. D., Sodhi, C. P., Jia, H., Dyer, M., Egan, C. E., Yazji, I., et al. (2012). Toll-like receptor 4 is expressed on intestinal stem cells and regulates their proliferation and apoptosis via the p53 up-regulated modulator of apoptosis. <i>Journal of Biological Chemistry</i>, <i>287</i>(44), 37290–37308. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.3758B1. 	 Pugto, L., Nosh, N., Commerc, F., Th., Jay, F., & Sansoneut, F.J. (2014). The cytosone oncterial peptidogycan sensor Nod2 affords stem cell protection and links microbes to gut epithelial regeneration. <i>Cell Host & Microbe</i>, <i>15</i>(6), 792–798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chom.2014.05.003 Obata, Y., Takahashi, D., Ebisawa, M., Kakiguchi, K., Yonemura, S., Jinnohara, T., et al. (2012). Epithelial cell-intrinsic notch signaling plays an essential role in the maintenance of gut immune homeostasis. <i>The Journal of Immunology</i>, <i>188</i>(5), 2427–2436. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1101128. Pan, M. R., Peng, G., Hungs, W. C., & Lin, S. Y. (2011). Monoubiquitination of H2AX protein regulates DNA damage response signaling <i>Journal of Biological Chemistry</i>, <i>286</i>(32), 28599–28607. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.256297. Pédron, T., Mulet, C., Danga, C., Frangeul, L., Chervaux, C., Grompone, G., et al. (2012). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00116-12. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00116-12. 	 Peignon, G., Durand, A., Cacheux, W., Ayrault, O., Terris, B., Laurent-Puig, P., et al. (2011). Complex interplay between b-catenin signalling and Norch effectors in intestinal tumorigenesis. <i>Cut, 60</i>, 166-176. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2009.204719. (2011). Complex interplay between b-catenin signalling and Norch effectors in intestinal tumorigenesis. <i>Cut, 60</i>, 166-176. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2009.204719. Pellegrinet, L., Rodilla, V., Liu, Z., Chen, S., Koch, U., Espinosa, L., et al. (2011). DII1- and DII4-mediated notch signaling are required for homeostasis of intestinal stem cells. <i>Gastroenterology</i>, 140(4), 1230-1240. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2011.01.005. Pinto, D., Gregorieff, A., Begthel, H., & Clevers, H. (2003). Canonical Wnt signals are essential for homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium. <i>Genes and Development</i>, 17(14), 1709-1713. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.267103. Potten, C. S., Booth, C., & Prichard, D. M. (1997). The intestinal epithelial stem cell: nuccoal governor. <i>International Journal of Experimental Pathology</i>, 78(4), 219–243. https://eni.org/10.1046/j.1365-2013.197728052.x. Potten, C. S., Booth, C., Tudor, G. L., Booth, D., Brady, G., Hurley, P., et al. (2003). Iden-potten, C. S., Booth, C., Tudor, G. L., Booth, D., Brady, G., Hurley, P., et al. (2003). Iden- 	 tification of a putative intestinal stem cell and early lineage marker, musashi-1. Differentiation, 71(1), 28–41. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-0436.2003.700603.x. Potten, C. S., Hume, W. J., Reid, P., & Caims, J. (1978). The segregation of DNA in epithelial stem cells. <i>Cell</i>, <i>15</i>(3), 899–906. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(78) 90274.x. Potten, C. S., & Loeffler, M. (1987). A comprehensive model of the crypts of the small intestine of the mouse provides insight into the mechanisms of cell migration and the proliferation hierarchy. Journal of <i>Theoretical Biology</i>, <i>127</i>(4), 381–390. Potten, C. S., & Loeffler, M. (1987). A comprehensive model of the crypts of the small intestine of the mouse provides insight into the mechanisms of cell migration and the proliferation hierarchy. Journal of <i>Theoretical Biology</i>, <i>127</i>(4), 381–390. Powell, D. W., Pinchuk, I. V., Saada, J. L., Chen, X., & Mifflin, R. C. (2011). Mesenchynal cells ofthe intestinal lamina propria. <i>Annual Review of Physiology</i>, <i>73</i>(1), 213–237. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phys06.170.01646. Powell, A. E., Wang, Y. Li, Y., Poulin, E. J., Means, A. L., Washington, M. K., et al. (2012). The pan-ErbB negative regulator lrig1 is an intestinal stem cell marker that functions as a tumor suppressor. <i>Cell</i>, <i>149</i>(1), 146–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.042.

35

36

Coralie Trentesaux and Béatrice Romagnolo

Intestinal Stem Cells and Their Defining Niche

1 1 4		
F	heir Jetining	
ċ		
	ntectina	

- Sander, G. R., & Powell, B. C. (2004). Expression of notch receptors and ligands in the adult gut. The Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry: Official Journal of the Histochemistry Society, 52(4), 509–516. https://doi.org/10.1177/002215540405200409.
- Sangiorgi, E., & Capecchi, M. R. (2008). Bmi1 is expressed in vivo in intestinal stem cells. *Nature Genetics*, 40(7), 915–920. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.165. Sansom, O. J., Reed, K. R., Hayes, A. J., Ireland, H., Brinkmann, H., Newton, I. P., et al.
 - (2004). Loss of Paper, N.Y., Taylor and J. F. Farthand, M.Y. Farthand, M.Y. Farthand, M. K. Sandar, J. K. K. 2004). Loss of Apprending the internet of the
- States, Y., Sachs, Y., WICORLIS, Y., LICHOLOGA, S. Y., HULBGHI, Y., SUGUED, W. Y., CH. (2016). Reg4+ deep crypt secretory cells function as epithelial niche for Lgr5+ stem cells in color. *Porceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113, E5399–E5407.Sato, T., Stange, D. E., Ferrante, M., Vries, R. G. J., Van Es, J. H., Van Den Brink, S., et al.
- otto, 1., Stange, D. E., Ferrante, M., Vres, K. G. J., Van Es, J. H., Van Den Brunk, S., et al. (2011). Long-term expansion of epithelial organoids from human colon, adenoma, adenocarcinoma, and Barrett's epithelium. *Castroenterology*, 141(5), 1762–1772. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2011.07.050.
 - Sato, T., van Es, J. H., Snippert, H. J., Stange, D. E., Vries, R. G., van den Born, M., et al. (2011). Paneth cells constitute the niche for Lgr5 stem cells in intestinal crypts. *Nature*, 469(7330), 415–418. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09637.
- Sato, T., Vries, R. G., Snippert, H. J., van de Wetering, M., Barker, N., Stange, D. E., et al. (2009). Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. *Nature*, 459(7244), 262–265. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07935.
 - Savage, D. (1977). Microbial ecology of the gastrointestinal tract. Amual Review of Microbiology, 31, 107–133.
 - Schepers, A. G., Snippert, H. J., Stange, D. E., van den Born, M., van Es, J. H., van de Wetering, M., et al. (2012). Lineage tracing reveals Lgr5 + stem cell activity in mouse intestinal adenomas. *Science*, 337, 819–824. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1229223. Schepers, A. G., Vries, R., van den Born, M., van de Wetering, M., & Clevers, H. (2011). Lgr5
 - intestinal stem cells have high telomerase activity and randomly segregate their chromointestinal stem cells have high telomerase activity and randomly segregate their chromosomes. *The EMBO Journal*, 30(6), 1104–1109. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.26.
- Schmidt, G. H., Wilkinson, M. M., & Ponder, B. A. J. (1985). Cell migration pathway in the intestinal epithelium: An in situ marker system using mouse aggregation chimeras. *Cell*, 40(2), 425–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(85)90156-4.
- Schneider, M. R., Dahlhoff, M., Horst, D., Hirschi, B., Trülzsch, K., Müller-Höcker, J., et al. (2010). A key role for E-cadherin in intestinal homeostasis and Paneth cell maturation. *PLoS One*, 5(12), e14325. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014325.
- Schröder, N., & Gossler, A. (2002). Expression of Notch pathway components in fetal and adult mouse small intestine. Gene Expression Patterns, 2, 247–250. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1.
- Schuijers, J., Junker, J. P., Mokry, M., Hatzis, P., Koo, B. K., Saselli, V., et al. (2015). Ascl2 acts as an R-spondin/Wnt-responsive switch to control stemmess in intestinal crypts. *Cell Stem Cell*, 16, 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.12.006.
 - Schuijers, J., Van Der Flier, L. G., Van Es, J., & Clevers, H. (2014). Robust Cre-mediated recombination in small intestinal stem cells utilizing the Olfm4 locus. *Stem Cell Reports*, 3(2), 234–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.05.018.
 - Seshagiri, S., Stawiski, E. W., Durinck, S., Modrusan, Z., Storm, E. E., Conboy, C. B., et al. (2012). Recurrent R-spondin fusions in colon cancer. *Nature*, 488(7413), 660–664. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11282.
 - Shroyer, N. F., Helmrath, M. A., Wang, V. Y. C., Antalffy, B., Henning, S. J., & Zoghbi, H. Y. (2007). Intestine-specific ablation of mouse atonal homolog 1 (Math1) reveals a role in cellular homeostasis. *Gastreenterology*, 132(7), 2478–2488. https://doi. org/10.1053/j.gastro.2007.03.047.

37

- Sneddon, J. B., Zhen, H. H., Montgomery, K., van de Rijn, M., Tward, A. D., West, R., et al. (2006). Bone morphogenetic protein antagonist gremlin 1 is widely expressed by cancer-associated stromal cells and can promote tumor cell proliferation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(40), 14842–14847. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0606857103.
 - Snippert, H. J., van der Flier, L. G., Sato, T., van Es, J. H., van den Born, M., Kroon-Veenboer, C., et al. (2010). Intestinal crypt home ostasis results from neutral competition between symmetrically dividing Lgr5 stem cells. *Cell*, 143(1), 134–144. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2010.09.016.
- Solanas, G., Cortina, C., Sevillano, M., & Batlle, E. (2011). Cleavage of E-cadherin by ADAM10 mediates epithelial cell sorting downstream of EphB signalling. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(9), 1100–1107. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2298.
 - Stanger, B. Z., Datar, R., Murtaugh, L. C., & Melton, D. A. (2005). Direct regulation of intestinal fate by Notch. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 102(35), 12443–12448. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0505690102.
 - Stzepourginski, I., Nigro, G., Jacob, J., Dulauroy, S., Sansonetti, P. J., et al. (2016). CD34+ mesenchymal cells are a major component of the intestinal stem cells niche at homeostasis and after injury. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114(4), E506–E513.
- Takeda, N., Jain, R., LeBoeuf, M. R., Wang, Q., Lu, M. M., & Epstein, J. A. (2011). Interconversion between intestinal stem cell populations in distinct niches. *Saence*, 334(6061), 1420–1424. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1213214.
 - Taketo, M. M., & Edelmann, W. (2009). Mouse models of colon cancer. Gastroenterology, 136(3), 780–798.
- Tetteh, P. W., Basak, O., Farin, H. F., Wiebrands, K., Kretzschmar, K., Begthel, H., et al. (2016). Replacement of lost lgr5-positive stem cells through plasticity of their enterocyte-lineage daughters. *Cell Stem Cell*, *31*(14). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. stem.2016.01.001.
- Tian, H., Biehs, B., Warming, S., Leong, K. G., Rangell, L., Klein, O. D., et al. (2011). A reserve stem cell population in small intestine renders Lgr5-positive cells dispensable. *Nature*, 478(7368), 255–259. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10408.
- Tsai, Y. H., Vandussen, K. L., Sawey, E. T., Wade, A. W., Kasper, C., Rakshit, S., et al. (2014). ADAM10 regulates notch function in intestinal stem cells of mice. *Gastroenterology*, 147(4), 822–834.e13. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2014.07.003.
- Ueo, T., Imayoshi, I., Kobayashi, T., Ohtsuki, T., Seno, H., Nakase, H., et al. (2012). The role of Hes genes in intestinal development, homeostasis and tumor formation. *Development*, 139(6), 1071–1082.
 - Vaishnava, S., Behrendt, C. L., Ismail, A. S., Eckmann, L., & Hooper, L. V. (2008). Paneth cells directly sense gut commensals and maintain homeostasis at the intestinal hostmicrobial interface. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(52), 20858–20863. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0808723105.
- Valenta, T., Degirmenci, B., Moor, A. E., Herr, P., Zimmerli, D., Moor, M. B., et al. (2016). Wnt ligands secreted by subepithelial mesenchymal cells are essential for the survival of intestinal stem cells and gut homeostasis. *Cell Reports*, 15, 911–918. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.03.088.
- van den Brink, G. R., Bleuming, S. a., Hardwick, J. C. H., Schepman, B. L., Offerhaus, G. J., Keller, J. J., et al. (2004). Indian Hedgehog is an antagonist of Wnt signaling in colonic epithelia cell differentiation. *Nature Genetics*, *36*(3), 277–382. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1304.
 - van der Flier, L. G., Haegebarth, A., Stange, D. E., van de Wetering, M., & Clevers, H. (2009). OLFM4 is a robust marker for stem cells in human intestine and marks a subset of colorectal cancer cells. *Gastroenterology*, 137(1), 15–17. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. gastro.2009.05.035.

- van der Flier, L. G., van Gijn, M. E., Hatzis, P., Kujala, P., Haegebarth, A., Stange, D. E., et al. (2009). Transcription factor achaete scute-like 2 controls intestinal stem cell fate. *Cell*, *136*(5), 903–912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.031.
- van Dop, W. A., Uhmann, A., Wijgerde, M., Sleddens-Linkels, E., Heijmans, J., Offerhaus, G.J., et al. (2009). Depletion of the colonic epithelial precursor cell compartment upon conditional activation of the hedgehog pathway. *Gastroenterology*, 136(7), 2195–2203.e7. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2009.02.068.
 - van Es, J. H., de Geest, N., van de Born, M., Clevers, H., & Hasan, B. A. (2010). Intestinal stem cells lacking the Math1 turnour suppressor are refractory to Notch inhibitors. *Nature Communications*, *1*(2), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomns1017.
- van Es, J. H., Haegebarth, A., Kujala, P., Itzkovitz, S., Koo, B.-K., Boj, S. F., et al. (2012). A critical role for the Wnt effector Tcf4 in adult intestinal homeostatic self-renewal. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 32(10), 1918–1927. https://doi.org/10.1128/ MCB.06288–11.
- van Es, J. H., Jay, P., Gregorieff, A., van Gijn, M. E., Jonkheer, S., Hatzis, P., et al. (2005). Wnt signalling induces maturation of Paneth cells in intestinal crypts. *Nature Cell Biology*, 7(4), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1240.
- van Es, J. H., Sato, T., van de Wetering, M., Lyubimova, A., Yee Nee, A. N., Gregorieff, A., et al. (2012). Dll1+ secretory progenitor cells revert to stem cells upon crypt damage. *Nature Cell Biology*, 14(10), 1099–1104. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2581.
- van Es, J. H., van Gijn, M. E., Riccio, O., van den Born, M., Vooijs, M., Begthel, H., et al. (2005). Notch/Y-secretase inhibition turns proliferative cells in intestinal crypts and adenomas into goblet cells. *Nature*, 435(7044), 959–963. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature03659.
- VanDussen, K. L., Carulli, a. J., Keeley, T. M., Patel, S. R., Puthoff, B. J., Magness, S. T., et al. (2012). Notch signaling modulates proliferation and differentiation of intestinal crypt base columnar stem cells. *Development*, 139(3), 488–497. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/dev.070763.
 - Waite, K. A., Waite, K. A., & Eng, C. (2003). BMP2 exposure results in decreased PTEN protein degradation and increased PTEN levels BMP2 exposure results in decreased PTEN protein degradation and increased PTEN levels. *Human Molecular Genetic*, 12(6), 679–684. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddg069.
- Wong, M. H., Hermiston, M. L., Syder, A. J., Gordon, J. I., & Kipnis, D. M. (1996). Forced expression of the tumor suppressor adenomatosis polyposis coli protein induces disordered cell migration in the intestinal epithelium (catenins/E-cadherin/embryonic stem cells/chimeric mice). *Cell Biology*, *93*, 9588–9593.
- Wong, V. W. Y., Stange, D. E., Page, M. E., Buczacki, S., Wabik, A., Itami, S., et al. (2012). Lrig1 controls intestinal stem-cell homeostasis by negative regulation of ErbB signalling. *Nature Cell Biology*, 14(4), 401–408. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2464.
- Worthley, D. L., Giraud, A. S., & Wang, T. C. (2010). The extracellular matrix in digestive cancer. *Cancer Microenvironment*, 3(1), 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12307-010-0053-4.
- Wright, N. A., & Irwin, M. (1982). The kinetics of villus cell populations in the mouse small intestine. I. Normal villi: The steady state requirement. *Cell and Tissue Kinetics*, 15(6), 593–609
- Yan, K., Chia, L., & Li, X. (2012). The intestinal stem cell markers Bmi1 and Lgr5 identify two functionally distinct populations. *PNAS*, 109(2), 466–471. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pmas.1118857109/-/DCSupplemental.www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/ pmas.1118857109.
- Yan, K. S., Gevaert, O., Zheng, G. X. Y., Anchang, B., Probert, C. S., Larkin, K. A., et al. (2017). Intestinal enteroendocrine lineage cells possess home ostatic and injury-inducible stem cell activity. *Cell Stem Cell*, 21(1), 78–90.

- Yang, Q., Bermingham, N. a., Finegold, M. J., & Zoghbi, H. Y. (2001). Requirement of Math1 for secretory cell lineage commitment in the mouse intestine. *Science (New York, NY)*, 294(5549), 2155–2158. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1065718.
- Yang, Y. P., Ma, H., Starchenko, A., Huh, W. J., Li, W., Hickman, F. E., et al. (2017). A chimeric Effr protein reporter mouse reveals Effr localization and trafficking in vivo. *Cell Reports*, 19(6), 1257–1267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.04.048.
 - Yilmaz, H., Katajisto, P., Lamming, D. W., Gu, Y., Birsoy, K., Dursun, A., et al. (2012). mTORC1 in the Paneth cell niche couples intestinal stem-cell function to calorie intake. *Nature*, 486, 490–495. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11163.
 - Yin, X., Farin, H. F., van Es, J. H., Clevers, H., Langer, R., & Karp, J. M. (2014). Nicheindependent high-purity cultures of Lgr5 + intestinal stem cells and their progeny. *Nature Methods*, 11(1), 106–112.
- Zhu, L., Gibson, P., Currle, D. S., Tong, Y., Richardson, R. J., Bayazitov, I. T., et al. (2009). Prominin 1 marks intestinal stem cells that are susceptible to neoplastic transformation. *Nature*, 457(7229), 603–607. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07589.



Titre : Rôles de l'autophagie dans l'homéostasie des cellules souches intestinales

Mots clés : cellules souches, autophagie, intestin, cancer colorectal

Résumé : Le renouvellement de l'épithélium intestinal repose sur la prolifération incessante de cellules souches intestinales (CSI) capables de régénérer l'intégralité de l'épithélium en 3 à 5 jours. Des altérations de ces dernières sont à l'origine de la transformation tumorale. L'étude des mécanismes impliqués dans la protection des CSI face à différents stress est donc essentielle pour mieux comprendre l'homéostasie et les pathologies intestinales. Dans un modèle de souris prédisposées à développer des tumeurs suite à la perte du gène *Apc*, notre équipe a pu précédemment démontrer une activation de l'autophagie nécessaire à la croissance tumorale. Nos travaux visent à étudier le rôle de ce processus catabolique dans l'homéostasie des CSI. Pour ce faire, nous utilisons des modèles murins génétiquement modifiés et des cultures d'organoïdes afin d'étudier les effets de l'inhibition de l'autophagie dans l'homéostasie intestinale et en particulier dans les CSI.

Nos travaux indiquent que l'inhibition de l'autophagie par l'invalidation du gène *Atg7* conduit à une activation de p53 et à l'apoptose spécifique des CSI. L'invalidation simultanée du gène *Tp53* empêche la mort des CSI déficientes en autophagie. De plus, au long terme, ces souris développent des tumeurs, contrairement aux souris invalidées uniquement pour les gènes *Atg7* ou *Tp53*. Nous avons donc émis l'hypothèse que l'inhibition de l'autophagie sensibilisait les CSI à l'apoptose suite à une accumulation de dommages cytotoxiques. Par une analyse d'expressions géniques des CSI issues de cryptes contrôles et invalidées pour le gène *Atg7*, nous avons mis en évidence une altération des réponses associées au stress oxydant et à la réparation de l'ADN. Confirmant ces signatures, nous avons observé des dommages de l'ADN dans les cryptes déficientes en autophagie et un défaut de réparation de ces dommages suite à une irradiation. Nous observons également une accumulation d'espèces réactives de l'oxygène dans les CSI déficientes en autophagie associée à une atténuation de la réponse antioxidante médiée par NRF2. Des traitements antibiotiques à large-spectre ou antioxydants améliorent la survie des CSI déficientes en autophagie et de la flore intestinale sur la mort des CSI. Nos travaux indiquent donc un rôle important de l'autophagie dans la protection et le maintien des CSI. Nos travaux indiquent donc un rôle important de l'autophagie dans la protection et le maintien des CSI, de par son contrôle des espèces réactives de l'oxygène, du microenvironnement bactérien et des voies de réparation de l'ADN.

Title: Role of autophagy in intestinal stem cell homeostasis

Key Words: stem cells, autophagy, intestine, colorectal cancer

Abstract: The renewal of the intestinal epithelium relies on the continuous proliferation of stem cells capable of regenerating the entire epithelium every 3 to 5 days. These intestinal stem cells (ISC) are thought to be the cell of origin for colorectal cancer. Thus, characterizing the mechanisms involved the protection of ISC against different stresses is key to understanding both intestinal homeostasis and tumor development. In tumoral tissue from mice predisposed to intestinal tumor development following the loss of the tumor suppressor gene Apc, our laboratory previously showed an upregulation of autophagy required for tumor growth. Our work aims to understand the role of this catabolic mechanism in the homeostasis of ISC. To this end, we use genetically modified mouse models and intestinal organoid culture to study the effects of autophagy inhibition in intestinal homeostasis and in particular in ISC.

We found that the inhibition of autophagy upon deletion of the gene Atg7 results in p53 activation and apoptosis of ISC specifically. The simultaneous deletion of Tp53 prevents the death of autophagy-deficient ISC. Moreover, over time, mice deficient for both Atg7 and Tp53 develop tumors, contrary to those deficient for either Atg7 or Tp53 alone. We therefore hypothesized that the inhibition of autophagy sensitizes ISC to p53-mediated apoptosis as a result of accumulated pro-tumorigenic damages. Transcriptomic analysis on sorted control or Atg7-deficient ISC revealed aterations in oxidative stress and DNA damage responses. Confirming these signatures, we observed DNA damages in autophagy-deficient crypts along with a defect in the repair of induced damages following irradiation. We additionally observed an accumulation of reactive oxygen species in autophagy-deficient ISC linked to a downregulation of the NRF2-mediated antioxidant response. Wide-spectrum antibiotic or antioxidant treatments improve the survival of autophagy-deficient ISC and support the contribution of both reactive oxygen species and the intestinal microbiota to the death of ISC. Our work therefore reveals an important function of autophagy in the integrity and maintenance of ISC by controlling reactive oxygen species, the microbial microenvironment and DNA repair pathways.